
 
 
 

PORT COMMISSION MEETING 
100 E STREET, COLUMBIA CITY, OR 97018 

June 11, 2025 

8:30 A.M. 

 

The Port Commission Meeting will be in person. In accordance with state law, the meeting will be accessible 

via telephone or Zoom. Members of the public may attend the meeting electronically by: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81782074730 

 

Call-In: (253) 215-8782 Meeting ID: 817 8207 4730 Passcode: 299106 

 

 

PUBLIC BUDGET HEARING:  FISCAL YEAR 2026 BUDGET 

 

I. CALL PUBLIC BUDGET HEARING TO ORDER (President, Brian Fawcett) 

A. Flag Salute 

B. Roll Call 

 

II. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

(Limited to 2 min. per person unless prior authorization is obtained) 

 
 

THE COMMISSION MEETING WILL BEGIN IMMEDIATELY  

FOLLOWING THE BUDGET HEARING 

 
I. CALL COMMISSION MEETING TO ORDER (President, Brian Fawcett) 

II. ADDITIONS TO AGENDA 

III. CONSENT AGENDA (Items marked with an asterisk are adopted by a single 

motion unless a Commissioner requests otherwise.) 

A. * Approval of Minutes: April 29, 2025 Budget Committee and May 14, 2025  

 Commission Meeting  

B.  * Finance Report: June 2025 

C.  * May 2025 Check Register (A) and electronic payments in the total 

amount of $453,954.91 . 

IV. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
(Limited to 2 min. per person unless prior authorization is obtained) 

 

 

 

 

Page 1 of 216 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81782074730


 
 

V.  

   
   

   
 

 

VI.   

     

   
 

VII.   

   

 

   
 

   

  

   
  

   
 

   
 

   

  
 

VIII.    

IX.   

X.   

 
 

XI.  

        

 
   

 
 

XII.  

NEW  BUSINESS

A. Resolution 2025-15  Guy Glenn, Jr.
REINSTATING  THE  PORT  TAX

B. Resolution 2025-16  Guy Glenn, Jr.
ADOPTING THE  FY 2025-26  BUDGET

OLD  BUSINESS

A. Marina  Update  Miriam  House

B. Lignetics/Neighbors Update  Sean P. Clark

NEW  BUSINESS  (cont.)

A. Resolution 2025-09  Miriam House 
MARINA MOORAGE RATES

B. Resolution 2025-10  Miriam House 
MARINA MOORAGE FEES

C. Resolution 2025-11  Miriam House 
MARINA RV PARK & DUMP STATION  FEES

D. Resolution  2025-12  Miriam House 
MARINA:  OSMB GRANT FOR PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE

E. Resolution 2025-13  Lacey Tolles 
AIRPORT: RUNWAY REHAB CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

F. Resolution 2025-14  Lacey Tolles 
AIRPORT:  EASTSIDE PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE SCOPE OF WORK

G. Resolution 2025-19  Bob  Salisbury 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH CLATSKANIE  FIRE DISTRICT

EXECUTIVE  DIRECTOR’S  REPORT

COMMISSIONER  REPORTS

EXECUTIVE  SESSION
The Board will hold an Executive Session to deliberate with persons designated to negotiate real 
property transactions under ORS 192.660 (2)(e) and to consider exempt public records, including

written legal advice  from Port General Counsel, which is privileged under ORS 40.225, exempt 
from disclosure under ORS 192.355(9)(a), and pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(f),  and to review and

evaluate the employment-related performance of the Port Executive Director pursuant to ORS 
192.660(2)(i).

CONTINUED NEW  BUSINESS

A. Resolution 2025-17  Amy  J.  Bynum
  AIRPORT: AMERICAN JET CENTER PURCHASE & SALE AGREEMENT

B. Resolution 2025-18   Amy J. Bynum 
AIRPORT: AMERICAN JET CENTER GROUND LEASE

ADJOURNMENT

Page 2 of 216 



 
 

Upcoming Meetings and Events 

June 19  Juneteenth – Port Office Closed 

June 25 TBD Port Commission Work Session 

July 1 5:30 p.m. Scappoose Bay Marina Advisory Committee 

July 4  Fourth of July – Port Office Closed 

July 9 8:30 a.m. Port Commission Meeting 

 
Agenda times and order of items listed are estimated and are subject to change without 

notice. This facility is ADA-accessible. If you need special accommodation, please contact 

the Port office at (503) 397-2888 or TTY (800) 735-1232, at least 48 hours before the 

meeting. 

 

Pursuant to ORS 192.640 (1) the Port of Columbia County Commission reserves the right to 

consider and discuss, in either Open Session or Executive Session, additional subjects which 

may arise after the agenda is published. 
 

Page 3 of 216 



 

PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 
BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING 

April 29, 2025 
10:00 a.m. 

 

The Port of Columbia County held a Budget Committee meeting at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, April 29, 2025 
at the Port office and via Zoom (*) video conferencing with the following people present: 

 
 

Committee Members  Staff Members  

Chip Bubl Bob Gadotti Sean P. Clark Amy Bynum 
Nick Sorber Paul Langner Guy Glenn, Jr. Bob Salisbury 
Nancy Ward Rachel Armitage Miriam House Elliot Levin 
Brian Fawcett* Daniel Garrison Christa Burns Elizabeth Millager* 

Robert Keyser* Rachael Barry Lacey Tolles Brittany Scott* 

 Noelle Linden* Sydell Cotton* 
Guests in attendance:   

Rani Nowling   

Ralph Culpepper   

 

The Port of Columbia County Budget Committee Meeting was called to order by Commission Vice 
President, Chip Bubl at 10:00 a.m. 

 

Mr. Bubl welcomed the Committee members, asked for introductions, and called for nominations for 
the Budget Committee chairperson. Nancy Ward moved to nominate Bob Gadotti as the Committee 
Chair. Dan Garrison seconded the nomination. There being no further nominations, Vice President Bubl 
called for a vote. Motion carried unanimously, 10-0. 
 
Chairman Gadotti asked Port Executive Director Sean Clark and Port Finance Manager Guy Glenn for 
their budget messages.  
 
Mr. Clark came forward with his recommendation to reassess the tax levy at a rate of 0.0886 per 
thousand of assessed value, which will raise over $500,000 annually in revenue. He explained that, 
despite a challenging year, the Port completed several long-planned capital improvements – most 
notably upgrades at Scappoose Bay Marine Park and the Scappoose Airport – by utilizing state and 
federal grants. Mr. Clark proposed that if the tax is approved the Port will leverage the funds collected 
to state and federal grant matches. This will allow the Port to continue to invest in economic growth, 
capital investment, and public recreation within the district. 
 
Executive Finance Manager Guy Glenn gave a PowerPoint presentation on the Fiscal Year 2025-26 
Proposed Budget. Mr. Glenn went over the budget strategies from the Strategic Business Plan (SBP), 
emphasizing the importance of financial reserves, fiscal responsibility, asset preservation and long-
term strategic investments. A key component of Mr. Glenn’s budget message is the Port’s need to 
invest in infrastructure in excess of $50 million over the next ten to fifteen years. In 2023, the Port was 
required to record a $22.1 million liability on its annual financial statements for environmental cleanup.  
Recoding this liability decreased the Port’s net position. With the combined need to invest in existing 
and future infrastructure, economic development initiatives, and environmental remediation, the Port is 
not in a position to forgo collecting tax revenue. A budget public hearing is scheduled for June 11 
followed by adoption of the budget by the Port Commission and filing with the County. The Strategic 
Business Plan and FY25-26 Proposed Budget are on file at the Port office. 
 
Chairman Gadotti asked for public comment.  

Page 4 of 216 



 
Reni Nowling expressed her concern with extending loans and asked what measures are being taken 
to maximize accounts receivables to avoid relying on loans or levies from the general public. She 
pointed out that in any business, especially public agencies, tight control over receivables and payables 
is essential to maintain financial health. Mr. Glenn responded that the Port has a low amount of debt 
for a public agency and all of the Port’s loans have low interest rates. He stated that most public 
agencies carry a common debt to spread costs out on long-term infrastructure and that the Port is not 
in a position to pay down loans at this time. He views the Port’s debt as manageable due to the deposit 
accounts earning higher interest than what is being paid on the loans. The Port is actively working with 
tenants on restructuring leases, setting up payment agreements, and monitoring their progress. Nancy 
Ward mentioned a large receivable from the NEXT Renewable Energy (NEXT) project at Port Westward 
(PWW) which has been temporarily reduced until the project becomes shovel ready. 
 
Chairman Gadotti then opened the floor for questions or comments from the Committee. The Port 
Commission and the Budget Committee held a discussion on the tax levy and the citizen Budget 
Committee recommended reinstating the Port tax at a rate of 0.0886% per $1,000 of assessed value for 
the proposed FY25-26 budget. 
 
Rachel Armitage asked if the $2.7 million for grant funding was already in the door.  Mr. Clark confirmed 
that is the amount included in the state grant application. Ms. Armitage also mentioned concerns around 
tariffs and interest rates and asked how the budget accounts for a worst case scenario if materials are 
not coming in and costs are increased. Mr. Clark commented that the Port does not currently have 
commodities that are being exported but should NEXT come on board that could be a concern for a 
future fiscal year. 
 
Dan Garrison inquired about Return on Investment (ROI) on a $60 million project and whether there is 
a clear revenue stream.  Mr. Glenn clarified that amount includes the $22 million Pope & Talbot site 
cleanup and the major work at PWW which is the Port’s biggest earner. Mr. Clark added that maintaining 
and upgrading the dock at PWW maintains a cash-generating asset and there is unused capacity for 
more cargo.  
 
Paul Lagner asked what is foreseen for the rise in the Professional Services numbers. Mr. Glenn 
responded that most of that increase is related to Information Technology (IT), security, and the one-
time expense of moving the server in-house, which should save money later. Mr. Langer also inquired 
about the $20,000 that is budgeted for a material handler and suggested purchasing from an auction 
or leasing the equipment  Mr. Langer also asked about the $250,000 shown for the Clearwater Dock 
project and Mr. Clark stated that amount is only for the preliminary work which includes engineering, 
permitting and replacement of some of the piles. The existing piles are in good shape, but a few need 
to be replaced and full marine construction would cost much more. Lastly, Mr. Langer proposed using 
airport paving grant funds to pre-purchase asphalt binder while oil prices are currently down. Mr. Clark 
agreed that cost-saving ideas and grant compliance for public entities are worth exploring. 
 
Nancy Ward stated that she was new on the Port Commission when the tax was removed from the 
budget and assumed it would be permanent. She inquired about what was different then and said she 
did not recall grant matching as part of the conversation at that time. Mr. Clark indicated that when the 
tax was eliminated, the Port had completed some projects and received insurance funds. He recalled 
a previous Executive Director, Pat Trapp, stating that the tax should not be eliminated because it would 
reduce bonding capacity. Mr. Clark added that grants are highly effective tools for leveraging local 
money to secure larger amounts from state or federal sources, often with a multiplier effect. He also 
mentioned a previous Intergovernmental Partnership Program (IPP) that allowed local entities to apply 
for funding for projects that invested money back into the community.  
 
Port staff have made various efforts to inform the community about Port activities through local media, 
social media and a tour of community meetings. They have also given presentations to local 
organizations including Kiwanis, Rotary, Economic Development Committees, Chambers of 

Page 5 of 216 



Commerce, and Advisory Committees. These presentations are intended to build public awareness and 
support by showcasing the Port as a local economic engine. 
 
Robert Keyser commented that the vote was not to permanently eliminate the tax and that it is an annual 
decision on whether to assess the levy or not. Mr. Keyser clarified that the reason behind the previous 
decision not to use the tax levy was because the Port was financially stable at the time and chose to 
pass on that benefit to the taxpayers. He said the only way he will support reinstating the tax is to fulfill 
the Port’s financial obligations and not for general operating expenses. 
 
Rachael Barry shared that in the run-up to this meeting she had conversations with friends and 
neighbors and nearly everyone she spoke with, except for one individual, was supportive of reinstating 
the tax. She stated that the community members she spoke with strongly support the mission and work 
of the Port. They were less concerned with how the funds would be used but rather with the cost and, 
at the proposed rate of $0.0886 per thousand, no one expressed concern.  
 
Ms. Ward asked Ralph Culpepper for his view and Mr. Culpepper responded that he had not heard any 
mention of the top line. He said Port employees should be out recruiting customers to increase revenue 
and that it is nice to see the Port’s Executive Director doing outreach now. Ms. Ward asked Mr. 
Culpepper whether he believed the Port had taken sufficient steps to increase revenue and whether 
the proposed tax levy was justified.  Mr. Culpepper expressed skepticism about the necessity of the 
tax. Mr. Clark agreed that the Port aims to grow revenue and bring business to Columbia County.  
 
Brian Fawcett stated his firm opposition to using taxpayer dollars to fund the cleanup of Pope & Talbot, 
an industrial site that was polluted by a private corporation, particularly under pressure from the Oregon 
Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ). Mr. Fawcett stated his belief that this financial 
responsibility should not fall on local citizens. He said he remains undecided about other potential uses 
for the tax and is open to learning more through the ongoing community outreach campaign.  
 
Mr. Gadotti asked for a motion to approve the FY25-26 Proposed Budget in the total amount of 
$23,108,209. 
 
Paul Langner made a motion to approve the budget as presented. Rachael Barry seconded the motion. 
Chairman Gadotti called for a vote and the motion carried 9-1. 
 
Mr. Gadotti asked for a motion to approve the tax levy for the 2025-26 fiscal year. 
 
Paul Langner made a motion to reinstate the tax levy at the rate of 0.0886% per $1,000 of assessed 
value for the proposed FY25-26 budget. Rachael Barry seconded the motion. Motion carried 8-2. 
 
Mr. Gadotti called for a motion to adjourn. 
 
Daniel Garrison motioned, Nick Sorber seconded a motion to adjourn. 

 
There being no other business, the budget meeting adjourned at 11:45 a.m. 

 
 

                     June 11, 2025            

President Date Commission Approved 
 
 
 

 

Secretary 

Page 6 of 216 



 COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
MAY 14, 2025 
100 E. STREET 

COLUMBIA CITY, OREGON 97018 

1 
 

 
The Port of Columbia County held a Board meeting at 8:30 a.m. on Wednesday, May 14, 2025 at 
the Port office and via Zoom (*) video conferencing with the following people present: 

   

President Brian Fawcett called the Port of Columbia County Commission Meeting to order at  
8:30 a.m. All Commissioners were present. 
 
Additions To Agenda 
Brian Fawcett asked the Commission if there were any additions to the agenda. There were no 
additions. 
 
Consent Agenda 
Robert Keyser moved, Nick Sorber seconded a motion to adopt consent agenda items A, B, and 
C: April 9, 2025 Minutes, May 2025 Finance Report, and April 2025 Check Register and 
electronic payments in the total amount of $463,940.42. Motion carried, 5-0. 
 
Comments From the Public 
Betsy Johnson asked to reserve her comment for later in the meeting. The Commission agreed. 
 
New Business 
Executive Director Review Discussion 
The Commission held a discussion on the Executive Director review process. Port General Counsel 
Bob Salisbury outlined the current policy which states that the Commission President and one other 
Commissioner conduct the final review. However, historically all five Commissioners have 
participated in the review process. HR Consultant Sarah Stephenson will help to guide the process 
this year to include input from all Commissioners, with the Chair and one other Commissioner 
synthesizing the feedback into one final version. This is a more efficient method for refining the 
Executive Director review.  The Commission gave consensus for all Commissioners to be involved 

Commissioners  Staff  

Brian Fawcett President Sean P. Clark Executive Director 

Chip Bubl Vice President 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

+ 

 

Amy Bynum Deputy Executive Director 

Nancy Ward 2nd Vice President Bob Salisbury Port General Counsel 

Nick Sorber Treasurer Guy Glenn Executive Finance Manager 

Robert Keyser Secretary Miriam House Operations Manager 

  Elliot Levin North County Ops. & Terminal Mgr. 

Guests  Elizabeth Millager* Property Manager 

Sarah Stephenson Humane Resources Lacey Tolles Airport Manager 

Betsy Johnson Scappoose Christa Burns Administrative Assistant II 

Mark Smith  Brittany Scott* Finance Assistant 

Jay Tappan St. Helens Noelle Linden* Administrative Assistant 

Jason Moon    

Helen Johnson Columbia City   

Bob Gadotti* Scappoose   

Susan Tolleshaug* St. Helens   

Jasmine Lillich* Clatskanie   

Kyle Melton* Bare Roots Land & Home   

Page 7 of 216 



 

 

2 
 

in the review process. Mr. Salisbury also informed the Commission that a new evaluation form for 
all staff was created with assistance from Ms. Stephenson and input from Port staff. The evaluation 
now includes a two-step process consisting of a staff self-evaluation followed by a supervisor 
review. Ms. Stephenson will facilitate the process but will not evaluate or influence content directly. 
This process aims for a streamlined and consistent review approach involving all Commissioners. 
The next regular Commission meeting will include an Executive Session to review the Executive 
Director’s evaluation. Mr. Salisbury stated that he will send the evaluation form to Commissioners 
ahead of the meeting for review. The Commission agreed to have Ms. Stephenson join the 
Executive Session. Mr. Keyser will call in and submit input ahead of time. Mr. Clark also mentioned 
a board self-assessment offered through the Special Districts Association of Oregon (SDAO) that 
the Port Commission could potentially incorporate in upcoming assessments.  
 
Old Business 
Marina Update: Marina Study Sub-Committee 
Port Executive Director Sean Clark provided an update on the Scappoose Bay Marine Park (SBMP) 
following the recent study by BST Associates. At the Marina Advisory Committee on March 4, many 
ideas were brought up to address marina challenges, including forming a Marina Study Sub-
Committee to guide the next phase of action. There was consensus that the subcommittee should 
include a mix of stakeholders including two Port Commissioners, members of the Marina Advisory 
Committee, and outside community members to bring diverse perspectives. Commissioner Bubl 
and Commissioner Sorber will join the subcommittee on behalf of the Port Commission. Mr. Keyser 
suggested reaching out to former Port Commissioner Chris Iverson to gauge his interest in joining. 
Commissioners all expressed interest in being directly involved in the planning and decisions that 
will shape the future of the marina, and pointed out the broad impact the marina has on the local 
community. There was discussion about community engagement and holding an appreciation event 
for marina volunteers. The Commission suggested inviting BST Associates and Mr. Glenn said Port 
staff will be meeting with them on May 15. Port tenant Next Adventure announced they will be 
closing all of their locations this year. They plan to continue operating the Scappoose Bay site 
through at least September. Port staff have started contacting local tourism and travel organizations  
about maintaining services.  
 
Lignetics/Neighbors Update 
Mr. Clark noted that Lignetics Plant Manager Steve Nelson was unable to attend the meeting, but 
Mr. Nelson reported that he spoke with Columbia City resident Jan Schollenberger who had 
experienced some dust issues. Mr. Nelson speculated that the dust was likely from road traffic 
rather than the facility itself. Mr. Nelson visited Ms. Schollenberger to investigate and said the dust 
had different characteristics than previous incidents. Mr. Clark said they would follow up with her to 
ensure everything is satisfactory. Once Lignetics upgrades their transformer, they plan to replace 
the hammermill which should help to further reduce the dust. Lignetics continues to produce pellets 
and is operating within its permit. Mr. Clark said more updates are to follow.  
 
New Business 
Berry Global Rail Agreement 
Port Deputy Executive Director Amy Bynum informed the Commission that the Port recently signed 
a Rail Agreement with Berry Global outlining their share of future maintenance costs of the 
Multnomah rail spur. Berry Global utilizes a small portion of the Multnomah Spur for transporting 
their products. Ms. Ward asked how it has been working with Berry Global. Ms. Bynum responded 
that they have been a longstanding user of the Multnomah Spur and a good community partner 
for the Port.                                                            

Page 8 of 216 



 

 

3 
 

Budget Discussion & Community Giving Program 
Mr. Clark stated that Executive Finance Manager Guy Glenn was available to answer any questions 
about the budget. Mr. Clark also requested that the Commission decide on an amount to budget for 
the Community Giving Program. Mr. Salisbury stated that Resolution 2025-01 implemented a new 
Community Giving Policy to offer two awards throughout the year in August and February. The 
program allows entities to submit applications for support which are then reviewed by a Committee 
comprised of two Port Commissioners and Port staff. A brief discussion was held to determine how 
much to allocate in the budget for the total yearly amount. The Commission agreed to move forward 
with $2,000 to be split among multiple requests, not given as a single reward.  
 
Resolution 2025-08 
APPROVING CENTURY WEST SCOPE OF WORK FOR RUNWAY REHABILITATION PHASE III – 
BIDDING AND CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 

Airport Manager Lacey Tolles presented Resolution 2025-08 for approval to submit a grant 
application to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) for the Century West scope of work for 
Runway Rehabilitation Phase III in the amount of $279,614.00. Ms. Tolles reported that in 2021 the 
Oregon Department of Aviation (ODAV) commissioned a pavement evaluation study which 
indicated the Scappoose Airport runway surface needed rehabilitation by 2026. The FAA will 
reimburse 95 percent, or $2,650,633.00 and the Port will be responsible for 5 percent, or 
$13,980.00. Mr. Fawcett inquired about mitigation options for the runway closure. Ms. Tolles 
responded that Port staff are studying other airports and considering alternative solutions such as 
converting the taxiway to a temporary runway, an adjacent grass strip, or night work. She clarified 
that the FAA would need to approve any change orders and would not fund additional costs for 
mitigation measures taken. The bid for a contractor closes on May 15 at 3:00 p.m. and the lowest 
responsible bidder will be selected. The grant award is expected in August 2025 and construction 
is targeted for Summer 2026. Ms. Tolles also noted that weather restricts the project to summer 
months. Tenants will be formally notified once the Port receives grant confirmation. Ms. Tolles also 
provided an update on the April 25 Airport Advisory Committee (AAC). The Committee and Port 
Staff reviewed and discussed feedback on two key documents: the Airport Use Permit, or Through 
the Fence (TTF) agreement, and the Airport Minimum Standards. Ms. Tolles explained that the 
Minimum Standards provide guidelines for airport operations. Port staff are still working on fine-
tuning those documents. Mr. Keyser stated that Advisory Committees are appointed by the 
Commission to provide feedback to the Commission, and he wants to ensure that all of the 
Committee’s comments are heard. Ms. Tolles said she welcomes all feedback from the AAC and 
the Port Commission.  
 
Committee member Betsy Johnson provided public comment. Ms. Johnson stated that Airport Use 
Permits, or TTF agreements, should be negotiable and not based on a one-size-fits-all approach. 
Ms. Johnson proposed that the Airport Use Permit template be clearly communicated as guidance 
rather than a contract. She also expressed concern over whether attaching the Minimum Standards 
to contracts makes them enforceable as legal terms. Ms. Johnson said opinions were mixed on pre-
submitting questions and comments. She commended Port staff for their recent progress and 
willingness to explore options. Ms. Johnson also accentuated the need for timely responses to 
prospective tenants, avoiding bureaucratic language in documents, and supporting a welcoming 
business environment. There are also concerns over the proposed 60-day full runway closure. Ms. 
Johnson reported on the ongoing pursuit of Project Spice, a major economic development initiative 
narrowed down to two possible locations: Scappoose and Quebec. She emphasized the 
significance of the Columbia Commerce Center as an industrial development opportunity, with $70 
million in investment and large potential to drive long-term economic growth. Ms. Johnson 

Page 9 of 216 



 

 

4 
 

expressed her appreciation to Port staff and the Committee on behalf of the Airport community. Port 
staff and Commissioners acknowledged the need for a collaborative approach and flexibility in 
agreements to help attract more business to the Scappoose Airport.   
 
Nancy Ward moved, Chip Bubl seconded a motion to adopt Resolution 2025-08. The motion 
carried unanimously, 5-0. 
 
Executive Director’s Report 
Executive Director Sean P. Clark gave an update on the Port’s recent outreach efforts related to 
the Port tax. Mr. Clark and Ms. Bynum presented at several local civic events including the 
Scappoose Economic Development Committee on April 17, St. Helens Kiwanis on May 2, 
Scappoose Bay Marine Park Advisory Committee on May 6, Columbia County Rotary on May 7 
and Rainier Chamber on May 8. Upcoming presentations will be at Clatskanie Kiwanis on May 27, 
the Scappoose Airport Advisory Committee on June 2 and Clatskanie Chamber on June 5. Mr. 
Clark said the Port updates have been well received with a positive response to reassessing the 
Port tax. Mr. Clark indicated that the tax is necessary for the Port to pay for its environmental 
remediation and seismic resiliency obligations. Ms. Ward inquired about outreach targeted to the 
broader sector and suggested attending the local political organization meetings. The Port has 
renewed its partnership with Metro Watch for security at Trestle Beach, which has helped reduce 
incidents by ensuring the area is cleared before the gate closes at 7:00 p.m. Port staff met with the 
St. Helens Parks and Trails Commission on April 22 to discuss a potential future trail loop. Mr. Clark 
went on a tour of the Port’s South County facilities with County Commissioner Kellie Jo Smith on 
April 23 and took a tour of the Scappoose Drainage Improvement Company (SDIC) on May 13 with 
their General Manager Chase Christenson. Mr. Clark, along with Commissioners Fawcett and 
Ward, will participate in the National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI) walk on Saturday, May 17. 
Other upcoming events include Clatskanie Kiwanis on May 27, the Scappoose Adventure Fest on 
May 31 and the Scappoose Airport Advisory Committee meeting on June 2. The Executive Director 
Report is on file at the Port office.  
 
Commissioner Reports 
Nancy Ward reported that her and Mr. Fawcett are sponsoring the NAMI walk and hoping other 
Commissioners will join them at McCormick Park. She stated that she was impressed with the 
SDIC tour and Mr. Christenson’s knowledge and professionalism. 
 
Chip Bubl attended the Marina Advisory Committee meeting on May 4. 

 
Nick Sorber did not have a report. 
 
Robert Keyser stated he will be presenting the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) to the 
Clatskanie Fire District at tonight’s meeting.  
 
Brian Fawcett said he is excited to be part of the upcoming NAMI walk and confirmed that it 
starts at 10am. 

 
Executive Session 
The Board held an Executive Session to deliberate with persons designated to negotiate real 
property transactions under ORS 192.660(2)(e) and to consider exempt public records, including 
written legal advice from Port General Counsel, which is privileged under ORS 40.225, exempt 
from disclosure under ORS 192.355(9)(a), and pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(f). 

Page 10 of 216 



 

 

5 
 

 
THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, THE MEETING 
ADJOURNED AT 10:43 A.M. 
 
 
 

___________________________________________      June 11, 2025 
President  Date Adopted  
 
 

___________________________________________ 
Secretary 

Page 11 of 216 



PORT OF

Columbia
County

STAFF REPORT

DATE:

TO:

FROM

June 11,2025

Port Commission Board

Guy Glenn
Executive Finance Manager

May 2025 Financial Update

Finance Report

RE:

Discussion:

lncome Statement and Gheck Register: The May Preliminary lncome Statement and May
31st, 2025 Balance Sheet are attached in addition to the combined May check register and
electronic disbursments. I have also included notes on the income statement for your reference

Cash and Investments as of May 31, 2025: $ 14,792,525.98

. BMO-$ 273,342.70

. LGIP-$ 9,774,189.72

. LGIP-$ 2,499,644.86

. LGIP-$ 2,245,348.70

Ghecks and electronic payments issued in May o12025 total: $453,954.91

May Highlights:

. FY26 Budget Approved; Public Hearing & Adoption scheduled for June 11th
t FY25 Audit preliminary work/prep for June 30th year end
. FY26 Rate Adjustment Process (CPl)
. Annual Reviews - Staff
r Remote server now being hosted locally
. BST Marina planning proposal
o Project management and grant support
o FY26 employee benefits plan renewal

Page 12 of 216 



Port of Columbia County

lncome Statement
for the period ending

May 31 ,2025

Note: Rents & Reimbursements - includes 1.) 51.75 million in non-recurring insuronce recovery, and 2.)

approximotely SZ.IS million in Accts Receivoble and late fees, ossuming full recovery, not odjusted for ony

uncollectible portion. NetPosition reported does not adjust forthese twofoctors, totoling roughly 53.93 million.

Yr To Date Annual % Prior YTD lncreaseCurrent
Remainino Actual (Decrease)Actual Actual Budqet

Resources

0.0o/o 8,236 (8,011)Property Taxes 1 225
88148,762 521.074 559,057 6.8% 520,1 93Licenses and Permits

377.177 7.522.278 4.528,U6 -66.1olo 6,066,264 1,456,014Rents and Reimbursements

730,000 32.1% 380,M5 115,124Terminal Services 34,401 495,770
107,300 12,580Bayport RVPark 7,225 119,881 147,860 18.9%

45.89215,087 103,836 0.0o/o 57,944Parking Fees

51 51 91,000 99.9% 22,393 (22,U2)Launch Fees

5,400 35.8% 2,510 956Other Marina Fees 570 3,466
78.5% 377,292 (97,1 59)Grants 116,384 280,1 33 1,305,000

0Loan Proceeds 0.0%
183.38856.487 M3,797 376,757 -70.9o/o 460,409lnterest Earnings

0.0% 0lnterGovernmental lncome

0.0% 0Contributions

2.664.118 (2,366,613)Miscellaneous lncome 50,993 297,505 50,000 -495.0o/o

0.0%

7,793,620 -28.2% 10.667.305 -679,290Total Resources 707,137 9,988,015

Requiremenfs

243.935 2,258,935 2,906,505 22.3o/o 2,290,315 (31,380)Personnel Services

1.901,418 3.771.568 49.6% 2,573,317 (671,899)Materials and Services 152,600
49.20 704,007 1,404,879CapitalOutlay 3,231 2,108,886 4,152,000

-48.4% 695,851 (21.828\Debt Service 574,O23 386,742

6,439,958 100.0% 0Contingency

6.263.490 579.771Total Requiremenfs 399,766 6,843,261 17,656,773 61.20/

4,403,815 (1,259,062)Chanqe in Net Position 307,372 3,144,7il

Page 13 of 216 



Port of Columbia County
Balance Sheet - May 31,2025

llllav llllav

2025 2024
ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and lnvestment 15.047,249 12.575.738
Cash restricted for debt payments 925.838
Receivables, net of allowances 1,459,578 387,537
Prepaid Expenses 27.796
Total current assets 16,506,827 13,916,909

Noncurrent assets
Capital Assets

Depreciable capital assets 64.116.527 63,908,238
Non depreciable capital assets 12.573.851 12.090.960
Accumulated depreciation (36.265.424\ (34,062,558)
Capital assets, net 40.424.954 41,936,640

Receivables from other organizations 1.455.969 1.593.711

Total noncurrent assets 41,880,923 43,530,351

Deferred outflows of resources 285.578 285.578
Total Assets and deferred outflows s8.673.329 57.732.838

LIABILITIES AiID NET POSITION

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 9.868 (3.851)

Accrued interest payable 90,738 77,291
Retainage Payable

Accrued payroll costs 587 @37\
Compensated balances 199.969 169.742
Deferred revenue (26,998) (1 08)
Deposits 435.712 681,298
Notes payable and assessment debt - current 372,072 268,1 96
Total current liabilities 1.081,948 1.192.131

Noncurrent liabilities
Notes Payable 4.431.351 4.702.099
Special assessment debt with government commitment 1,310,253 1,455.970
Environmental Clean-up Liab. RR Ave 22.1 00.000 19.600.000
Net pension liability 865,616 865,616
Total noncurrent liabilities 28.707.220 26.623,685

Deferred infloua of resources

Net position
lnvestment in capital assets, net of related debt 29.519.113 29.519.1 13
Unrestricted (3,807,1 80) (4,964,564)
Restricted for debt payments 925,838
Current Year Income (loss) 3.172.228 4.436.635
Total net position 28.8U.161 29,917.022

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and net position 58 673.328 57.732.838

Page 14 of 216 



Port of Columbia County
Voucher Approval List - May 2025

Check Number Vendor lD Vendor Name Document Dat Check Amount Voided

46413 BAREOOl Bare Roots Land & Home LLC 5/1/202s $8,000.00 No

46414 BLUEOOl Blue Heron Septic and Drain Service 5/1/202s $3,200.00 No

46415 CHRIOO2 Chris O Janitorial LLC 5/1/2025 $2,738.66 No

46416 coBR001 Cobra Management Services-Accrue s/1/2025 $9s.00 No

46417 GADOOOl Robert Gadotti sl1/202s $551.25 No

46418 LEVIOO,l Elliot Levin s/1/202s $ 170.80 No

46419 OAMAOOl OAMA s/1/202s $1 5s.00 No

46/20 oREGo l 3 Oregon Water Resources Department 5/1/2025 $780.00 No

46/21 PORTOO2 Portland General Electric s/1/202s $8,104.43 No

4M22 SHEROOl Sherwin-Williams sl1/202s $149.12 No

46423 SHREOOl Shred Northwest, lnc s/1/202s $6o.oo No

46424 srsc001 Gina Sisco 5/1/2025 $44.80 No

46425 SOLUOOl Solutions Yes, LLC sl1/202s $212.00 No

46/26 TOLLOOl Lacey Tolles s/1/202s $129.94 No

46427 voYAoo l Voya - State of Oregon 5/1/202s $4,834.00 No

46428 ACEHOOl Ace Hardware s/8/202s $715.86 No

46429 ACEHOO2 Ace Hardware 5/8/2025 $1M.31 No

46430 AMBIOOl Ambient lT Solutions s/8/202s $1,3s2.00 No

46/31 BYNUOOl Amy Bynum 5/8/2025 $274.86 No

46432 CITYOOl City of Columbia City s/8/2025 $2s8.49 No

46/.33 ctTY005 City of Clatskanie s/8/202s $86.87 No

46434 CMGOOOl CMG Oregon LLC 5/8/2025 $240.00 No

46435 coMC001 Comcast 5/8/202s $102.75 No

46436 coMc003 Comcast Business-Ethernet 5/8/202s $3,147.8s No

46437 CSAPOOl CSA Planning Ltd. s/8/202s $ 1,3s8.2s No

46438 DAHLOOl Dahlgren's Do lt Best s/8/202s $260.81 No

46439 DtGr001 Digital Graphiti 5/8/2025 $ 12s.00 No

46MO FINEOOl Encore Business Solutions s/8/2025 $1 12.s0 No

46441 HRAVOOl HRA VEBA Plan 5/8/2025 $4,304.00 No

46442 HUDSOOl Hudson Garbage Service 5/8/2025 $1,010.00 No

46443 HUDSOO2 Hudson Portable Toilet Service s/8/202s $502.04 No

46444 KtTC001 Kitchens & More NW, Tolmie Enterprises 5/8/2025 $440.00 No

46445 KPFFOOl KPFF, lnc s/8/202s $2,s80.00 No

46446 LAWROOl Lawrence Oil Company s/8/202s $21.00 No

4U47 LOOPN001 LoopNet 5/8/2025 $677.82 No

46448 MARIOO2 Maritime Fire & Safety Association s/8/202s $270.00 No

46449 OAWUOOl Oregon Association of Water Utilities 5/8/2025 $7s.so No

46450 OREGOO4 Oregon Department of State Lands s/8/202s $514.08 No

46/51 oREr001 O'Reilly Auto Enterp.ises LLC 5/8/2025 $80.27 No

46452 PACr005 Pacific Office Automation s/8/202s $357.00 No

46453 PORTOOl American City Business Journal s/8/2025 $220.00 No

46454 QUILOOl Quill s/8/202s $494.78 No

46455 SAIFOOl SAIF Corp s/8/2025 $3,994.35 No

46456 SDAOOOl SDAO s/8/2025 $21,s80.00 No

46457 sDrs001 SDIS 5/8/2025 $1,269.70 No

Page 15 of 216 



46458 SHEROOl Sherwin-Williams s/8/2025 $147.26 No

46459 SUNSOOl Sunset Auto Parts 5/8/2025 $69.27 No

46/,60 WARDOOl Nancy Ward s/8/2025 $1 13.40 No

46/61 WASTOO2 Waste Management of OR, lnc. s/8/202s $34.64 No

46/62 wrLc001 Wilcox & Flegel 5/8/2025 $4M.42 No

46463 ATTMOOi AT&T Mobility s/1s/2025 $'1,034.ss No

46464 BEMIOOl Bemis Printing & Graphics 5l1s/202s $ 190.00 No

46465 CENTOOl CenturyLink s/1s/2025 $2s1.76 No

46466 coLU023 Columbia County Office of Emergency Management 5/15/2025 $4,922.44 No

4U67 COLUO26 Columbia County Transfer Station 5/1s/2025 $1 12.87 No

46468 DAILOO2 Daily Journal of Commerce - Seattle s/1s/2025 $179.80 No

46469 MARIOO4 Marine Floats Corporation sl15/202s $250.00 No

46470 oRKt001 Orkin LLC s/1s/202s $1 00.00 No

46471 PORTOO2 Portland General Electric 5/15/2025 $8,710.214 No

46472 SHREOOl Shred Northwest, lnc s/1s/202s $60.00 No

46473 soLU001 Solutions Yes, LLC 5/15/202s $88.00 No

4U74 SUNSOO2 watkins Tractor & Supply dba 5/15/2025 $314.28 No

46475 SUPPOO2 Home Depot Pro s/15/202s $194.08 No

46476 VOYAOOl Voya - State of Oregon s/1s/202s $4,834.00 No

4U77 wooD001 Woods Logging Supply s/1s/2025 $263.79 No

46478 c&ER001 C&E Holdings lnc 5/16/202s $47,000.00 No

46479 AMBIOOl Ambient lT Solutions 5/22/2025 $43.7s No

46480 CENTOOl CenturyLink s/22/202s $ 1 04.98 No

46/81 CENTOO3 CenturyLink 5/22/2025 $s6.63 No

46482 COBROOl Cobra Management Services-Accrue s/22/202s $9s.00 No

46483 coMc001 Comcast 5/22/202s $2,662.36 No

4648r'. COMCOO2 Comcast Business-Office Phones 5/22/2025 $1,145.96 No

46485 GADOOOl Robert Gadotti s/22/202s $s51.s0 No

46486 KOLDOOl Culligan s/22/202s $ 135.45 No

46487 KPFFOOl KPFF. lnc 5/22/2025 $1 s1.20 No

46488 MARIOO4 Marine Floats Corporation 5/22/202s $2s0.00 No

46/89 OREGOlT Oregon Government Finance Officers Association 5/22/2025 $125.00 No

46490 PRESOOl Forrest Preston s/22/2025 $209.9s No

46491 sALr002 Robert Salisbury s/22/202s $362.60 No

46492 soNr001 Sonitrol Pacific 5/22/2025 $438.40 No

46493 SUPPOOz Home Depot Pro 5/22/202s $102.66 No

46/.94 wtLc001 Wilcox & Flegel 5/22/2025 $521.48 No

46495 BAREOOl Bare Roots Land & Home LLC s/29/2025 $4,000.00 No

46496 BUBLOOl Chip Bubl s/29/2025 $300.00 No

46497 CABLOOl Cable Huston 5/29/2025 $413.23 No

46498 coMc001 Comcast s/29/202s $102.75 No

46499 CONSOOl Consor North America, lnc 5/29/2025 $ 1,123.00 No

46s00 FAWCOOl Brian Fawcett 5/29/202s $300.00 No

46501 KEYSOOl Robert Keyser s/29/2025 $300.00 No

46502 LOWTOOl Low Tide Logging LLC 5/29/2025 $300.00 No

46s03 NASAOOl Natlonal Association of State Agencies for Surplus Properties s/29/202s $39.00 No

46504 QUILOOl Quill 5/29/2025 $288.71 No

46505 SHREOOl Shred Northwest, lnc 5/29/202s $60.00 No

2 Page 16 of 216 



45505 soNt001 Sonitrol Pacific 5/29/202s $5,647.00 No

46507 soRB001 Nick Sorber s/29/202s $300.00 No

46508 SUPPOO2 Home Depot Pro s/29/202s $s8.02 No

46509 TOLLOOl Lacey Tolles s/29/202s $1 84.57 No

46s10 VOYAOOl Voya - State of Oregon 5/29/2025 $4,s34.00 No

4651 1 WARDOOl Nancy Ward s/29/202s $300.00 No

46512 BSTAOOl BST Associates 5/29/2025 $14,800.00 No

46513 cHRr002 Chris O Janitorial LLC s/29/2025 $2,738.66 No

ACH001700-002 05152s crrYo02 City of Scappoose 5/14/2025 $104.7s No

ACH003008-002 051 525 ctTYo02 City of Scappoose 5/14/2025 $24.48 No

ACH0401 25 BANKOOl BMO Financial Group 5/29/202s $4,360.9s No

ACH050525 STANOO2 The Standard s/s/2025 $2,340.60 No

ACH051 225 PERSOOl Oregon Public Employees Retirement System s/13/202s $10,174.11 No

ACH05282s PERSOOl Oregon Public Employees Retirement System s/29/202s $10,933.31 No

ACHl 1033s01 051625 CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD s/1612025 $393.s0 No

ACH 1T9P-PP44-FMR3 AMAZOOl Amazon Capital Services s/28/202s $su.43 No

ACH200s670000 61025 crTYo03 City of St. Helens s/29/202s $983.33 No

ACH230s703000 61025 ctTYO03 city of st. Helens s/29/202s $127.41 No

ACH2651864-7 5302s NWNAOO,l NW Natural Gas Company dba s/29/202s $123.71 No

4CH4227443398 crNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 5/13/202s $61.s9 No

4CH4228916147 crNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 5/29/2025 $61.s9 No

ACH42296148s4 ctNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 5/29/2025 $61.s9 No

ACH4302 MYSYOOl My System Shield LLC 5/29/202s $3,106.00 No

ACH5102503 0s162s CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD 5/16/2025 $29.1 s No

ACHs102503 0s1625 CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD 5/16/2025 $ 16.00 No

ACH5103600 051625 CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD s/16/202s $219.42 No

ACH5111001 0s1525 CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD 5/16/2025 $73.1 0 No

ACH5259405332 ctNT002 Cintas Corporation No 3 s/29/202s $26.96 No

ACH8r'.O7481462 ctNT001 Cintas First Aid & Safety 5/29/2025 $108.00 No

ACH90057300 0s1625 CLATOO2 Clatskanie PUD s/16/202s $94.70 No

ACH931 9068144 CINTOO2 Cintas Corporation No 3 s/29/2025 $216.00 No

124 ACH and Check Payments - Sub Total $222,100.63

Electronic Bank Transactions

DAJ000007398 5-1-25 RV Resv Refund 3111 s/1/202s 1 1s.00 No

DAJ000007399 5-1-25 MO Merch Fee 3111 s/1/202s 757.35 No

DAJ000007400 5-1-25 MO Merch Fee 8888 5/1/2025 179.99 No

DAJ000007401 5-1-25 MO Merch Fee 8904 s/1/202s 682.54 No

DAJ000007404 5-2-25 RV Park Res Refund 31 1 1 s/2/202s 8s.00 No

DAJ000007406 5-1-25 MO ACH Bank Fee 4862 5/1/202s 0.35 No

DAJ00000741 5 5-7-25 Yarbor AP lnvalid Acct 5/7/2025 219.00 No

DAJ000007424 5-9-25 Accrue Reimbursement 5/9/zOZs 79.59 No

DAJ000007426 5-1-25 K Larson Pymt Reiection sl1/2025 219.00 No

DAJ000007432 5-12-25 Accrue Reimbursement 5/12/202s 662.48 No

D4J000007463 5-20-25 Accrue Claim Reimburse s/20/2025 486.25 No

DAJ000007469 5-21-25 Accrue Claim Reim. 5/21/202s 2,707.65 No

DAJ000007474 5-22-25 MO Bank Fee s/22/202s 560.37 No

DAJ000007480 5-23-25 Accrue Claim Reimburse s/23/202s 104.53 No

DAJ000007485 5-28-25 RV Park Refund 31 1 1 5/28/2025 1,210.00 No

DAJ000007489 BMO CC Credit On Account sl30/2025 564.14 Yes

wD1000007383 ADP PPE 04262025 PPD 05022025 s/1/202s 73,595.M No

3 Page 17 of 216 



wD1000007405 5-2-25 Cardinal Srvs Payroll s/2/202s 2,217.60 No

wD100000741 9 ADP Closeout GS 05.08.25 s/8/202s 8,040.s1 No

wD1000007425 5-9-25 ADP Payroll Fees 5/9/2025 84.86 No

wD1000007433 ADP PPEOs1O25 PPD 051625 s/1sl202s 67,946.s9 No

wD1000007445 5-1 6-25 Cardinal Services s/16/2025 2,464.00 No

wD1000007470 ADP PPE 052425 PPD 053025 s/29/202s 66,323.1 8 No

wD1000007479 5-23-25 ADP Payroll Fees 5/23/2O2s 84.86 No

wD1000007495 5-30-25 Cardinal Srvs Pavroll 5/30/2025 2,464.00 No

Electronic Bank Transactions - Sub Total $231,8s4.28

Total Check and Electronic Disbursements $453,954.91

4 Page 18 of 216 



PORY OF COtUMBtA COUiIW

Request for Reimbursement and Commissloner Stipend

It lJ lhe policy of the Pon gf Columbia County io rei.nbur!c commiriioocrr tor legitimate erocns!t made or coitt incurrcd bv
commlitioners in the course of conductin8 Port bullnet3. All tequerti tol rclmbbrtcmenl msrt include reccipls oa other adequrle

documentatlon, Vehicle reimburJem.nt may be rnade for lh. u5e of i personal vehicle tor otficial busin!rs only.

Commisrioner Srlan Fawcett Date ot Requeu 31271202,5

f(u
I ccrfify that the cxpenjcs southt to be reimburJcd were incurred ln the courte of officlal PORT butincts and were paid bY me trom my

own lund!. I atfirm ihc 3ccutacy of*'r#^)''toaot-c\6 
- { aa''\o

- O\$ --tt

qe'rresledg$

b>eD'

F,vZ* Faatut

I

ErDente or Milcasc Reimburtcment

0atc 0escrlotlon
Meeting
sriocnd Miles Oalven 2019 irtc Mileaft

Mealr and
oth?t lotal

01.07.2025
5cap 8ay Marine Park Advirory
Committac s 90.00 0.?000 s 3 s

0r.12.202S s so-oo s s sRevlew Packct 0.7@0

3 18.2001.13.2025 Meetlnr w/ 5ean s s0.00 26 0.7000 5 18.20 s

01,15.202s Cornmiirion Meelint s 50.00 26 0.7000 s 18.20 5 I 18.20

01.28.2025 0ock Discussion g so.00 0.7000 I I s

01.29.2025 NEfT event s 50.00 88 0.7000 s 6r.60 a I 6r.60

301.3 1.2025 Phone calli / short m€ctinPt s 90.00 0.7000 s s

02.04.2025 CitY Countv Oinner 3 50.00 30 0.7000 s 2r.00 s s 21.00

s s 53.0002.05.2025 Meetinr w/ 6lobal s s0.00 90 0.7000 s 63.00

3 22.00 s 174.5002.06.2025 SDAO Confercncc s 50.00 218 0.7000 I 152.60

02.07,2025 S0AO Conference s 50.00 0.7000 5 s s

o.7000 t 3 502.08.2025 S0AO Confcrencr s s0.00

3 152.6002.09.2025 iDAO Conlerencc 3 50.00 218 0.7000 s 152,60 9

s02.10.2025 Revl€w Packet s s0.00 0,7000 s 5

s 21.00I SO.00 30 0.7000 s 21.00 502.1.1.2025 Marina mtg, mt8 w/ CET, 5ean

( qooo o.7000 s 18.20 s s 18.2002.12.2025 CommisJlon McetinE 26

3 s s02.28.2025 Phone crll! / Jhorl meetinr! I 50.00 0.7000

o.7000 s s s03.02.2025 Revicw Packet I 50.00

33 50-00 0.7000 s s03.04.202 5

Mtt w,/ scott Parke.. Scap gay Advisory
committ€e mlg

q 18.20 s s 18.2003.05.202S Commliilon Meatinr 3 50.00 26 0.7000

I 18.20 3 5 18.20o3.18.102 5 Mcctinr w/ Scan I 50.00 26 0.7000

I s (
03.2!.202S Review Packel 3 50.00 0.7000

s 3 s0t.26.2025 Committlon Meetine s 50.00 0.7000

3 s I03.27.2025 Phona callt / !hort me€lingi 3 50.00 0.7000

$ ,ro.rdI 1.200.00 804.00 s 56:.80 5 22.00TO'AL REOUEST€D REIMBURSTMENI
0

Signature

bp- b16 -ol
9

LL'OO

Page 19 of 216 



RESOLUTION NO.  2025-15 
 

IMPOSING THE TAX 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that the following ad valorem property taxes are hereby imposed 
upon the assessed value of all taxable property within the district for tax year 2025-2026 only: 
 
At the rate of $0.0886 per $1,000 of assessed value for permanent tax rate. 
 

CATEGORIZING 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that the taxes imposed are hereby categorized for purposes of Article 
XI section 11b as: 
 
Subject to the General Government Limitation 
Permanent Rate Tax         $0.0886/$1000 
 
 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia County as follows: 
The above resolution statements were approved and declared, 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025 by the following vote: 
 
 
AYES:      NAYS:    
 

 
Port of Columbia County 

 
 

  
By:                                                                         
       President 

Attested By: 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Secretary 
 
 

Page 20 of 216 



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-16 
 
 

ADOPTING THE FY 2025-2026 BUDGET, MAKING APPROPRIATIONS 
 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia County hereby adopts the 
budget for the fiscal year 2025-2026 in the total amount of $23,108,209.  This budget is now on file at 100 E 
Street in Columbia City, Oregon. 
 

MAKING APPROPRIATIONS 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that the amounts shown below are hereby appropriated for the fiscal year beginning 
July 1, 2025, for the following purposes: 
 

Enterprise Fund 

Executive $           867,389 

Business Development & Planning  655,006 

Finance/Administration  956,370 

Facilities & Property Management           5,258,271 

Terminal Services           2,492,852 

Not Allocated to Organizational Unit or Program:            

Personnel Services   $           17,000 

Materials and Services                24,500 

Debt Service              383,507 

Contingency           12,453,314 

Total    $   23,108,209   

 

 

(*amounts with asterisks must match) 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia County as follows: The 
above resolution statements were approved and declared 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025 by the following vote: 
 
 

AYES:     NAYS:    
 
Port of Columbia County 
 

 
 

By:                                                                        
       President 

Attested By: 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 

Secretary 

Total Appropriations, All Funds    23,108,209* 

Total Unappropriated, All Funds        0 

TOTAL ADOPTED BUDGET $   23,108,209* 

Page 21 of 216 



 
Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Port of Columbia County 

2025-2026 APPROVED BUDGET 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22 of 216 



 
Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
   

 

 

     

     

 

  

    

 

   

      

     

     

     

   

    

 

   

    

    

     

 

PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY
2025-2026  APPROVED  BUDGET

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Budget Messages

Executive  Director’s  Message  ......................................................................................................1

Finance  Manager’s  Message........................................................................................................3

Budget Summary

Summary of Resources and Requirements................................................................................11

Resources  Detail.........................................................................................................................12

Department Detail

Executive……...............................................................................................................................13

Business  Development  &  External  Communications………………………………………………... ............14

Finance  Administration..............................................................................................................15

Facility &  Property  Management...............................................................................................16

Terminal  Services.......................................................................................................................  17

Non-Departmental.....................................................................................................................  18

All  Department...........................................................................................................................19

Appendix

Capital Projects  ..........................................................................................................................20

Debt  Service  ...............................................................................................................................21

Organization  Chart  .....................................................................................................................22

Port of  Columbia County  Commissioners/Budget  Committee ..................................................23

Page 23 of 216 



 
Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE 
 

I am pleased to present the Approved Fiscal Year (FY) 2025-26 Budget for review and approval. 
This budget reflects our commitment to fiscal responsibility and sustainability, while continuing 
to invest in our strategic priorities. 
 
Over the past year, the Port has completed 
several important projects from our 10-
year Capital Improvement Plan, which 
identifies the Port’s highest priority 
infrastructure projects. Leveraging state 
and federal grant funding, we were able to 
complete upland improvements at 
Scappoose Bay Marine Park, rehabilitate 
pavement along the westside taxiways at 
Scappoose Airport, and install an 
emergency generator system at Scappoose 
Airport for regional disaster preparedness.  

 
While we celebrate these achievements, 
we are also faced with some significant 
challenges. Most notable is the estimated $30 million environmental cleanup of the former Pope 
& Talbot Wood Treating Site along the Multnomah Channel in St. Helens. Pope & Talbot treated 
logs with creosote at the site from 1912 to 1960. After they ceased operations, the Port 
purchased the property in 1963. Pope & Talbot later went bankrupt, leaving the Port 
responsible. In 2023, the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) approved a 
cleanup plan for the upland and in-water creosote contamination, and we are now applying for 
federal grants so we can begin the effort. This will be a multi-year project as we work with DEQ 
and continue to apply for grants to secure the necessary funding. 

 
The Port is also trying to secure federal grant funding to modernize the Port Westward Beaver 
Dock for seismic resiliency. In 2022, the state passed Senate Bill 1567 requiring the seismic 
retrofitting of large fuel storage and distribution facilities within 10 years to withstand a Cascadia 
9.0 earthquake. While the Port does not own fuel storage tanks, the law extends to piers and 
mooring structures, making Port Westward the only public entity affected by the new 
regulation. The Port was recently awarded a $2.7 million Connect Oregon grant to begin this 
work, but the total cost to retrofit the entire dock is estimated at over $60 million.  

 
 Additionally, a recent feasibility study of the Scappoose Bay Marine Park found that the marina 

operates at a loss of $549,000 per year. The study found that the marina accounts for 44% of 
the Port’s overall net operating income, constraining the Port’s ability to make capital 
improvements throughout the district.  

 

1 

Page 24 of 216 



 
Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
  

The Port is also faced with aging infrastructure and deferred maintenance needs throughout its 
properties. Together, these challenges far outspend the combined revenues from our tenant 
leases, permits, and licenses, which amount to a little more than $5 million per year.  

 
To help address this funding gap, the Port is proposing to reassess its tax levy of $0.0886 per 
thousand of assessed value, which it has not assessed since the onset of the COVID pandemic in 
2020. For a property owner with an assessed value of $300,000 this would amount to $26.58 
per year and will raise over $500,000 annually in revenue that the Port will invest in the 
community through direct capital improvements. 
 
By using state and federal grant opportunities, we can leverage the Port’s funds for a 50–80% 
return on investment. For example, the recent $800,000 upland improvement project at 
Scappoose Bay Marine Park was made possible by a 50% grant match from the Oregon State 
Marine Board. Public financing support is necessary for the Port to continue to invest in 
economic growth, capital investment, and public recreation within the district. 
 
I want to thank the Port Commission for its continued leadership, the dedicated community 
volunteers who serve on our Port committees, and our talented staff. Their collective efforts 
make it possible for us to maintain a fiscally responsible budget while we advance our shared 
vision of a diverse regional economy with thriving local businesses, quality jobs, and 
opportunities for all.  
 
Respectfully, 

 
Sean P. Clark 
Executive Director

2 

Page 25 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

EXECUTIVE FINANCE MANAGER’S MESSAGE 
 
Port Background - The Port of Columbia County is a special district in Columbia County, Oregon. The 

boundaries of the Port District span 51 miles along the Columbia River from the Clatsop County line in the 

northwest of Columbia County, to the Multnomah County line in the southeast, and includes the cities of 

Scappoose, St. Helens, Columbia City, Rainier, and Clatskanie. 

The Port was created in 1940 under Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 

Chapter 777 to promote economic development in the Port 

District, primarily through the lease and development of 

industrial property. Port dollars are used to purchase and 

develop land, infrastructure, and facilities. The Port plays a 

significant role in the attraction, retention, and expansion of 

businesses, resulting in job growth and increasing the local tax 

base. 

Today, the Port of Columbia County owns 8 industrial properties 

with 2,400 acres, including sites with excellent highway, rail, 

airport, and maritime access. The Port also owns and 

manages recreational properties at Scappoose 

Airport, Scappoose Bay Marine Park, and Bayport RV Park & 

Campground.  

 
Vision 

A diverse regional economy with thriving local businesses, quality jobs, and opportunities for all. 

Mission Statement 

Create a positive economic impact while maintaining livability and adapting to change. 

Guiding Principles 

• Fiscal Responsibility 

• Environmental Sustainability 

• Adaptability 

• Accountability 

• Integrity 

• Opportunities for All 

 

 

Port District Boundary Map – Port of Columbia County  

3 

Page 26 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 
 

BUDGET OVERVIEW 
 

The Approved Budget for Fiscal Year (FY) 2025-26 totals $ 23.11 million, which is an increase from the FY 
2024-25 Adopted Budget of $17.6 million. Several factors contributed to this increase including the 
strategic reprioritization of capital expenditures and receipt of insurance/dedicated funds.  
 
The Port’s Strategic Business Plan identifies several strategies to support the financial performance of the 
Port through monitoring and coordination: 
 

• Strategy 1.1: Maintain financial reserve policy target guidelines as approved by the Port. 

• Strategy 1.2: Maintain an operating reserve of at least 90 days to ensure operating revenues 

will cover project operating and maintenance expenditures. 

• Strategy 1.3: Prepare long-term capital projections, including cash-funded capital, available 

grant funding, existing debt service, and new debt obligations due to future borrowing. 

Prioritize capital projects based on public need, assessed need, government mandates, 

public safety, tenant/customer needs, and positive cashflow to the Port. 

• Strategy 1.4: Continue to revise and maintain fixed asset thresholds based on capital 

projects. 

• Strategy 1.5: Continue to develop an ongoing comprehensive financing plan for prudent 

utilization and leverage of the Port’s assets and capacity. 

• Strategy 1.6: Provide a diverse and stable stream of operating revenues generated through 

ongoing investment. 

 

Financial Reserves 

 

Financial reserves are an important part of fiscal responsibility. Reserves are used to help manage risk and 

better position the Port for any type of unplanned financial need when that need may arise. In addition, 

financial reserves are needed to assist with the completion of future planned projects. Funds reserved for 

these longer-term projects can enable the Port to competitively pursue grants and other external sources 

of funding. Leveraging Port funds greatly improves the Port’s ability to execute projects, both large and 

small, amplifying local investment and its related economic impacts within Columbia County.  

 

The Approved Budget provides a contingency of $12,246,313. Within this amount, a total of $3 million in 

has been designated as operating reserves to mitigate for future unplanned expenditures. Another $4.7 

million is dedicated to the Pope & Talbot site ($2.7 million) and Port Westward ($2.5 million). The 

remaining Contingency of $4,546,313 will assist the Port in completing current projects while continuing 

to engage in the process of investing in future projects. The Port is not currently positioned to contribute 

recurring revenue to reserves without a stable source of non-operating revenue or increased operating 

revenues. 

 

 

4 

Page 27 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 
 

 
Major Assumptions 

 
Overall, most property leases provide for annual increases tied to the Western Region Consumer Price 
Index (CPI). Where applicable, the CPI increase assumed for the 2025-26 fiscal year is 2.5% - 2.8% 
compared to 3.5% last year. The Marina Moorage and Airport hangar fees will be adjusted this year and 
are scheduled to increase going into this summer. These rates have traditionally been adjusted every two 
years; however, we are in the process of modifying this practice to have the adjustments made annually. 
Rates at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park will also be evaluated, and most likely modified, going into this 
next fiscal year based on the results in the feasibility study completed earlier this month.  
 
 
Most existing building and property leases are assumed to continue. The revenue forecast is conservative 
and does not include any new tenants beyond those with executed agreements as of April 2025. The Port 
is currently coordinating and working on prospective relationships with future tenants. A reduction of 
approximately $1.12 million in FY26 annual lease revenue is reflected in the budget. Recovery of this 
deferred revenue, and late fees, from FY24 and FY25, has not been factored into the budget.  
 
The Approved budget includes $500,000 in non-operating tax revenue. The Port has not collected tax 
revenue since 2020, as stated in the Executive Director’s message above. These locally generated funds 
better position the Port to continue investing in Columbia County in alignment with strategic priorities 
and the Port’s mission of positive economic development. 
 

The proposed overall Resources for FY26 are illustrated in the graph below: 
 

5 

Page 28 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 

Grant Funding 
 

As of April 25, 2025, the Port has secured the following new grants totaling $2.7 million for the 
proposed Capital Projects: 

 

• Connect Oregon Grant ($2.7 million): Port Westward Beaver Dock – Phase 1 
Seismic ($3.9 million Total Budgeted Project Cost) 

 

The Port is currently in the process of closing out several FAA and ODAV grants (Airport) in 
addition to an Oregon State Marine Board grant (Scappoose Bay Marine Park).  

 

Requirements 

 

The Port’s approved budget can be broken into the following categories. As previously 
mentioned, the Contingency category (53%) is comprised of dedicated funds, emergency 
reserves for unplanned expenses, and reserves for future strategic investments. The budgeted 
requirements of the Port are illustrated in the graph below: 
 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

6 

Page 29 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
Capital Projects 
 
The Approved 2025-2026 budget includes $3.512 million in estimated Port cash required to completed 10 
capital projects. In addition to Port cash, $2.70 million in grant funding has been secured to assist with 1 of 
the projects. The Port in 2016-2017 revised its fixed asset thresholds, so some projects that would have been 
capitalized will be included in repairs and maintenance. 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Capital Investments made by the Port of Columbia County 
 

Over the past 14 fiscal years, the Port has invested over $40 million throughout the district. The chart on 
the next page shows the level of spending by site for FY 2011- FY 2024. 

CAPITAL BUDGET BY SITE - APPROVED FY 2025-2026 
BUDGET* 

7 

Page 30 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

  

 

 Operating Revenue 
 

There are about 42 commercial/ industrial tenants spread throughout the Port’s facilities and over 100 
individual tenants each at the airport and marina. Combined budgeted revenues for all tenant leases, 
permits, and licenses are approaching $6 million annually. The amounts budgeted do not include past due 
or deferred revenue. The following chart shows the proposed revenue by site for FY 2025-26. 
 
Operating revenue growth is an important consideration for the Port to continue its core mission to create 
a positive economic impact in the County. Investing in new projects that materially raise operating revenue 
is necessary to position the Port to operate in an environment with escalating costs. Being strategic and 
prioritizing projects that achieve this objective will take discipline and a long-term commitment to develop 
and execute projects and cultivate strategic relationships in the public and private sectors.  

8 

Page 31 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Operating Expenditures  
 
Beginning in FY 2016-2017, expenditures are allocated by object classification in each program including 
Personnel Services, Materials and Services, and Capital Outlay. The only exception is Debt Service and 
Operating Contingency, which will be reported in the non-departmental section. The graph below looks at 
the total Proposed expenditures by program. 
 
The Approved budget estimates operating costs to be held at 5%. Staffing full-time equivalents remain at 19 
FTE. The Proposed budget includes a COLA wage increase of 2.5% and up to 5% merit increases. PERS rates 
are adjusted every three years and our specific OPSRP rate will increase by 3.86%. Health insurance 
premiums have increased by approximately 13% with exposure mitigated by a higher deductible plan and 
Port funded HRA. 
 
Escalating operating costs are an ongoing challenge across the economy in large part due to inflationary 
pressures beyond our ability to control. Prudently managing expenses is a priority for the Port and this 
budget reflects our cost-conscious approach to management, while also continuing to provide funding 
needed to maintain our existing assets and provide the necessary services needed to operate the Port.  

 
 
 

 

 

 

9 

Page 32 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
It is important for the budget to align with the Port’s Strategic Business Plan and identify key priorities 
and objectives. A key element of financial accountability is risk management, and this is in part from the 
prudent leadership of the Board of Commissioners and the Executive Director. This budget document 
illustrates the expected financial performance of the Port of Columbia County for the coming fiscal year 
if assumptions materialize as stated. 

 

The Port maintains and continuously seeks to improve a system of financial controls and processes that 
are in place to ensure public-informed decision-making, fiscal accountability, and transparency. 

 

 

Guy Glenn, Jr.  
Executive Finance Manager 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 

10 

Page 33 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
This table summarizes actual amounts from Fiscal Years 2022-2024, the adopted amounts for the Fiscal Year 
2025 budget, which ends on June 30th this year, and proposed amounts for the Fiscal Year 2026 budget.  
 
The following pages provide additional details and figures, which have been incorporated into this summary. 
 

 
 

  

 Summary of Resources & Requirements
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted

Resources by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-2025 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-2026 FY 2025-2026

Property Taxes 14,945$          11,065$          8,237$            0$                    500,000$        500,000$        500,000$        

Licenses and Permits 607,845$        681,705$        694,860$        559,057$        595,350$        595,350$        595,350$        

Rents and Reimbursements 4,541,939$     4,737,732$     5,137,047$     4,298,527$     4,019,299$     4,019,299$     4,019,299$     

Terminal Services 577,512$        578,254$        721,615$        730,000$        657,900$        657,900$        657,900$        

Bayport RV Park 143,375$        158,992$        117,157$        147,860$        134,400$        134,400$        134,400$        

Launch Fees/Other Marina Fees 93,821$          86,246$          118,595$        96,400$          128,100$        128,100$        128,100$        

Grants 259,877$        47,035$          377,292$        1,305,000$     2,720,000$     2,720,000$     2,720,000$     

Loan -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Interest Earnings 132,348$        249,144$        516,220$        376,757$        425,000$        425,000$        425,000$        

Tenant Capital Reimbursement -$                     -$                     230,018$        230,018$        230,018$        230,018$        230,018$        

Miscellaneous/Insurance Proceeds 1,155,105$     983,616$        3,616,026$     50,000$          50,000$          50,000$          50,000$          

Subtotal 7,526,767$    7,533,789$    11,537,068$ 7,793,621$    9,460,068$    9,460,067$    9,460,068$    

Beginning Fund Balance 7,370,256$     8,092,245$     9,771,350$     9,771,350$     13,648,141$  13,648,141$  13,648,141$  

Fund Total 14,897,024$ 15,626,034$ 21,308,417$ 17,564,971$ 23,108,209$ 23,108,208$ 23,108,209$ 

Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Adopted Adopted 

 Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-2025 FY 2025-2026 FY 2025-2026 FY 2025-2026

Personnel Services 1,847,130$     2,038,102$     2,513,075$     2,906,505$     3,135,848$     3,135,848$     3,135,848$     

Materials and Services 1,823,242$     2,159,804$     2,370,134$     3,679,763$     3,837,880$     3,837,880$     3,837,880$     

Capital Outlay 628,272$        732,368$        741,454$        4,152,000$     3,511,911$     3,511,911$     3,511,911$     

Transfers -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Debt Service 1,190,990$     653,182$        765,391$        386,743$        383,507$        383,507$        383,507$        

Subtotal 5,489,634$    5,583,456$    6,390,054$    11,125,011$ 10,869,146$ 10,869,146$ 10,869,146$ 

Contingency 1,315,145$     271,228$        1,270,222$     6,439,959$     12,239,063$  12,239,063$  12,239,063$  

Ending Fund Balance 8,092,245$     9,771,350$     13,648,141$  -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Fund Total 14,897,024$ 15,626,034$ 21,308,417$ 17,564,971$ 23,108,209$ 23,108,209$ 23,108,209$ 

11 

Page 34 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 Resources  Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted

Resources by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-2025 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Property Taxes

Current Year's Taxes 0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      500,000$          500,000$          500,000$          

Prior Year's Taxes 14,945$            11,065$            8,237$              0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      

Total Property Taxes 14,945$           11,065$           8,237$              0$                      500,000$         500,000$         500,000$         

Licenses

Hangar Rentals 315,171$          313,481$          342,721$          321,650$          346,500$          346,500$          346,500$          

Slip Rentals 260,023$          235,883$          242,058$          237,404$          248,850$          248,850$          248,850$          

Total Licenses 575,194$         549,364$         584,779$         559,054$         595,350$         595,350$         595,350$         

Rents and Reimbursements

Leases and Permits - Industrial/Commercial

Industrial Parks:

Columbia City 348,393$          390,978$          356,571$          443,572$          440,007$          440,007$          440,007$          

McNulty Creek 41,534$            44,232$            46,663$            48,063$            49,984$            49,984$            49,984$            

Milton Creek 218,895$          224,568$          228,329$          245,616$          241,923$          241,923$          241,923$          

Multnomah 788,232$          836,770$          833,562$          924,936$          1,012,707$       1,012,707$       1,012,707$       

Port Westward 1,928,478$       2,141,480$       1,015,283$       1,036,135$       598,402$          598,402$          598,402$          

Railroad Corridor 29,736$            31,536$            22,996$            22,205$            36,370$            36,370$            36,370$            

Scappoose Bay Marine Park 36,087$            37,232$            39,245$            40,422$            42,641$            42,641$            42,641$            

Scappoose Airport 565,165$          460,216$          478,875$          578,910$          628,949$          628,949$          628,949$          

Sub Total Leases/Permits - Industrial /Commercial 3,956,520$       4,167,012$       3,021,523$       3,339,859$       3,050,984$       3,050,984$       3,050,984$       

Reimbursements

Property Taxes 115,421$          133,938$          138,217$          145,126$          157,967$          157,967$          157,967$          

Miscellaneous 10,226$            8,098$              19,017$            10,184$            12,360$            12,360$            12,360$            

Property Insurance 120,742$          108,371$          145,203$          216,159$          133,335$          133,335$          133,335$          

Water and Sewage 69,246$            95,813$            244,716$          247,200$          319,300$          319,300$          319,300$          

O&M 293,060$          258,910$          272,264$          340,000$          345,354$          345,354$          345,354$          

Tenant Capital Improvement 684,569$          0$                      92,276$            230,018$          230,018$          230,018$          230,018$          

Subtotal Reimbursements 1,293,264$       605,130$          911,693$          1,188,687$       1,198,333$       1,198,333$       1,198,333$       

Total Rents and Reimbursements 5,249,784$      4,772,142$      3,933,216$      4,528,546$      4,249,317$      4,249,317$      4,249,317$      

Terminal Services

Dockage 277,512$          293,169$          360,623$          340,000$          311,750$          311,750$          311,750$          

Wharfage 300,000$          285,084$          360,992$          390,000$          346,150$          346,150$          346,150$          

Total Terminal Services 577,512$         578,253$         721,615$         730,000$         657,900$         657,900$         657,900$         

Marina/RV Park

Campground Sites/Coin Showers 142,820$          158,992$          117,857$          147,860$          134,400$          134,400$          134,400$          

Launch Permit (Making Day Use - all categories 55,823$            49,574$            115,790$          91,000$            123,900$          123,900$          123,900$          

Parking 33,602$            33,492$            0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      

Other 3,876$              3,180$              2,805$              5,400$              4,200$              4,200$              4,200$              

Total Marina/ RV Park 236,121$         245,238$         236,452$         244,260$         262,500$         262,500$         262,500$         

Grants

Federal Grants 245,250$          0$                      182,456$          770,000$          2,720,000$       2,720,000$       2,720,000$       

State Grants 7,127$              47,035$            194,836$          535,000$          0$                      0$                      0$                      

Total Grants 252,377$         47,035$           377,292$         1,305,000$      2,720,000$      2,720,000$      2,720,000$      

Total Loan Proceeds 0$                      483,186$         0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      

Insurance Reimbursement 0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      

Total Interest Earnings 132,316$         249,144$         516,220$         376,757$         425,000$         425,000$         425,000$         

Miscellaneous

Late Fees 3,774$              14,626$            37,286$            25,000$            25,000$            25,000$            25,000$            

Promissory Note Interest 0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      0$                      

Miscellaneous Income 484,745$          583,736$          38,456$            25,000$            25,000$            25,000$            25,000$            

Total Miscellaneous 488,519$         598,362$         75,742$           50,000$           50,000$           50,000$           50,000$           

Subtotal 7,526,768$       7,533,789$       6,453,554$       7,793,619$       9,460,067$       9,460,067$       9,460,067$       

Beginning Fund Balance 7,370,256$       8,092,245$       9,771,350$       9,771,350$       13,648,141$    13,648,141$    13,648,141$    

 Total All Resources 14,897,024$   15,626,034$   16,224,904$   17,564,969$   23,108,209$   23,108,208$   23,108,208$   

12 

Page 35 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Department Requirements Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted 

Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Personnel Services

Full-Time Equivalent 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0

Salaries and Wages 132,400$   173,068$   395,618$      442,448$      478,711$      478,711$      478,711$      

Payroll Taxes 14,136$     27,704$     36,194$        51,805$        53,557$        53,557$        53,557$        

Employee Benefits 42,699$     56,298$     102,087$      108,209$      131,871$      131,871$      131,871$      

Total Personnel Services 189,235$  257,072$  533,898$     602,462$     664,139$     664,139$     664,139$     

Materials and Services

Professional and Contract Services 57,533$     61,783$     19,049$        99,600$        50,000$        50,000$        50,000$        

Legal Services 386,765$   212,443$   11,992$        385,000$      75,000$        75,000$        75,000$        

Audit Services 0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Advertising/Marketing/Promotions 131$          4,797$       1,456$           1,650$           1,250$          1,250$          1,250$          

Property Taxes/Waterway Leases 0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Insurance 0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Utilities 4,513$       2,611$       2,041$           3,410$           4,000$          4,000$          4,000$          

Operating Supplies 0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Office Supplies 12,426$     18,637$     1,146$           4,400$           4,500$          4,500$          4,500$          

Postage 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Maintenance & Repairs 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Minor Equipment Purchase 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Vehicle Maintenance 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Subscriptions 2,990$       539$          458$              3,410$           1,000$          1,000$          1,000$          

Registration, Dues & Fees 47,720$     72,379$     49,883$        67,100$        42,500$        42,500$        42,500$        

Travel & Training Expenses 22,202$     27,508$     16,588$        26,100$        25,000$        25,000$        25,000$        

Permits & Fees 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

    Miscellaneous 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Total Materials and Services 534,280$  400,697$  102,613$     590,670$     203,250$     203,250$     203,250$     

Capital Outlay

Land 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Buildings 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Improvements 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Machinery and Equipment 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Vehicles 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Infrastructure 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Total Capital Outlay 0$              0$              0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                 0$                 

Debt Service

Principal 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Interest 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Total Debt Service 0$              0$              0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                 0$                 

Total Contingency 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Total Ending Fund Balance 0$               0$               0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Total Budget 723,515$  657,769$  636,511$     1,193,132$  867,389$     867,389$     867,389$     

Executive

13 

Page 36 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 Department Requirements Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted 

Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Personnel Services

Full-Time Equivalent 2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

Salaries and Wages 167,185$   251,124$   257,189$   311,450$   334,600$     334,600$   334,600$   

Payroll Taxes 13,303$     20,523$     22,836$     41,344$     42,026$       42,026$     42,026$     

Employee Benefits 31,537$     71,793$     75,889$     102,083$   115,980$     115,980$   115,980$   

Total Personnel Services 212,025$  343,444$  355,914$  454,880$  492,606$    492,606$  492,606$  

Materials and Services

Professional Services 54,497$     5,756$       61,739$     60,000$     65,000$       65,000$     65,000$     

Legal Services 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Audit Services 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Advertising/Marketing/Promotions 50,283$     65,668$     52,898$     85,000$     60,000$       60,000$     60,000$     

Property Taxes/Waterway Leases 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Insurance 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Utilities 1,814$       3,232$       3,084$       3,500$       7,500$         7,500$       7,500$       

Operating Supplies 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Office Supplies 741$          404$          1,197$       1,400$       1,400$         1,400$       1,400$       

Postage 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Maintenance & Repairs 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Minor Equipment Purchase 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Vehicle Maintenance 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Subscriptions 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Registration, Dues & Fees 5,520$       19,365$     11,197$     12,000$     13,500$       13,500$     13,500$     

Travel & Training Expenses 4,783$       18,107$     12,516$     20,156$     15,000$       15,000$     15,000$     

Permits & Fees 0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

    Miscellaneous 0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Total Materials and Services 117,638$  112,532$  142,631$  182,056$  162,400$    162,400$  162,400$  

Capital Outlay

Land 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Buildings 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Improvements 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Machinery and Equipment 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Vehicles 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Infrastructure 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Total Capital Outlay 0$              0$              0$              0$                 0$              0$              

Debt Service

Principal 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Interest 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Total Debt Service 0$              0$              0$              0$                 0$              0$              

Total Contingency 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Total Ending Fund Balance 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                 0$               0$               

Total Budget 329,663$  455,976$  498,545$  636,936$  655,006$    655,006$  655,006$  

Business Development & External Communications

14 

Page 37 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 
  

 Department Requirements Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted 

Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Personnel Services

Full-Time Equivalent 4.5 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0

Salaries and Wages 319,095$   361,898$   455,535$   405,462$   446,775$     446,775$   446,775$   

Payroll Taxes 25,527$     27,831$     33,052$     48,056$     48,118$        48,118$     48,118$     

Employee Benefits 89,095$     103,626$   151,521$   172,008$   213,728$     213,728$   213,728$   
Total Personnel Services 433,717$  493,356$  640,107$  625,526$  708,620$     708,620$  708,620$  

Materials and Services

Professional Services 40,286$     76,415$     61,500$     85,000$     115,000$     115,000$   115,000$   

Legal Services 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Audit Services 23,300$     24,500$     25,000$     28,750$     36,000$        36,000$     36,000$     

Advertising/Marketing/Promotions 2,371$       786$          358$          1,000$       1,000$          1,000$       1,000$       

Property Taxes/Waterway Leases 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Insurance 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Utilities 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Operating Supplies 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Office Supplies 12,409$     17,085$     17,463$     17,500$     19,500$        19,500$     19,500$     

Postage 3,567$       4,444$       3,885$       5,500$       5,500$          5,500$       5,500$       

Maintenance & Repairs 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Minor Equipment Purchase 11,597$     4,830$       10857 18000 18,000$        18,000$     18,000$     

Vehicle Maintenance 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Subscriptions -$           0$               200 250 250$             250$          250$          

Registration, Dues & Fees 725$          1,110$       2,563$       2,000$       3,500$          3,500$       3,500$       

Travel & Training Expenses 2,214$       1,031$       4,837$       6,250$       6,250$          6,250$       6,250$       

Permits & Fees 24,816$     28,850$     46,032$     32,750$     50,000$        50,000$     50,000$     

    Miscellaneous 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Total Materials and Services 121,285$  159,051$  172,695$  197,000$  255,000$     255,000$  255,000$  

Capital Outlay

Land 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Buildings 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Improvements 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Machinery and Equipment 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Vehicles 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Infrastructure 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Total Capital Outlay 0$              0$              0$              0$              0$                 0$              0$              

Debt Service

Principal 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Interest 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Total Debt Service 0$              0$              0$              0$              0$                 0$              0$              

Total Contingency 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Total Ending Fund Balance 0$               0$               0$               0$               0$                  0$               0$               

Total Budget 555,002$  652,407$  812,802$  822,526$  963,620$     963,620$  963,620$  

FINANCE ADMINISTRATION

15 

Page 38 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 Department Requirements Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted 

Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Personnel Services

Full-Time Equivalent 6.0 7.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0

Salaries and Wages 529,641$      517,767$      513,337$      616,946$      653,836$       653,836$      653,836$      

Payroll Taxes 44,130$        40,543$        42,463$        64,526$        70,418$         70,418$        70,418$        

Employee Benefits 183,234$      227,311$      257,296$      299,085$      342,556$       342,556$      342,556$      

Total Personnel Services 757,005$     785,628$     813,095$     980,556$     1,066,810$  1,066,810$ 1,066,810$ 

Materials and Services

Professional Services 110,714$      141,635$      132,832$      255,000$      150,000$       150,000$      150,000$      

Legal Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Audit Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Advertising/Marketing/Promotions 1,291$          1,335$          1,500$          1,500$          1,500$           1,500$          1,500$          

Property Taxes/ Water Leases 143,492$      161,151$      164,827$      176,626$      180,000$       180,000$      180,000$      

Insurance 299,188$      345,510$      404,043$      491,753$      510,000$       510,000$      510,000$      

Utilities 212,185$      258,550$      197,316$      247,158$      250,000$       250,000$      250,000$      

Operating  Supplies 21,273$        29,010$        60,764$        27,091$        45,000$         45,000$        45,000$        

Office Supplies 2,874$          2,714$          2,500$          3,000$          3,000$           3,000$          3,000$          

Postage 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Maintenance & Repairs 110,415$      118,506$      318,947$      855,800$      1,013,500$   1,013,500$  1,013,500$  

Minor Equipment Purchase 12,000$        1,540$          12,467$        15,600$        35,000$         35,000$        35,000$        

Vehicle Maintenance 13,613$        18,844$        15,816$        24,833$        25,000$         25,000$        25,000$        

Subscriptions 0$                  200$             200$             300$              300$             300$             

Registration, Dues & Fees 1,125$          664$             1,041$          3,301$          3,250$           3,250$          3,250$          

Travel & Training Expenses 1,040$          617$             9,870$          10,857$        10,000$         10,000$        10,000$        

Permits & Fees 29,547$        25,341$        8,495$          34,827$        60,000$         60,000$        60,000$        

    Miscellaneous 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Total Materials and Services 958,757$     1,105,417$ 1,330,618$ 2,147,544$ 2,286,550$  2,286,550$ 2,286,550$ 

Capital Outlay

Land 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Buildings 0$                  0$                  -$              150,000$      

Improvements 620,772$      699,942$      1,493,523$  800,000$      1,869,911$   1,869,911$  1,869,911$  

Machinery and Equipment 7,500$          0$                  -$              452,000$      35,000$         35,000$        35,000$        

Vehicles 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  

Infrastructure 0$                  0$                  0$                  800,000$      

Total Capital Outlay 628,272$     699,942$     1,493,523$ 2,202,000$ 1,904,911$  1,904,911$ 1,904,911$ 

Debt Service

Principal 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Interest 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Total Debt Service 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                  0$                 0$                 

Total Contingency 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Total Ending Fund Balance 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                   0$                  0$                  

Total Budget 2,344,034$ 2,590,987$ 3,637,236$ 5,330,100$ 5,258,271$  5,258,271$ 5,258,271$ 

Facility & Property  Management

16 

Page 39 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 Department Requirements Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted 

Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Personnel Services

Full-Time Equivalent 2.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0

Salaries and Wages 162,336$      98,080$        107,691$      112,625$      119,838$     119,838$      119,838$      

Payroll Taxes 16,379$        8,094$          10,011$        13,251$        12,907$       12,907$        12,907$        

Employee Benefits 51,927$        41,691$        38,103$        45,681$        53,927$       53,927$        53,927$        

Total Personnel Services 230,642$     147,866$     155,805$     171,557$     186,672$    186,672$     186,672$     

Materials and Services

Professional Services 9,135$          37,487$        47,150$        85,000$       85,000$        85,000$        

Legal Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Audit Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Advertising/Marketing/Promotions 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Property Taxes/Waterway Leases 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Insurance 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Utilities 23,255$        23,265$        18,212$        26,450$        24,780$       24,780$        24,780$        

Operating Supplies 78$                314$             667$             780$             1,000$         1,000$          1,000$          

Office Supplies 1,449$          0$                  -$              810$             -$             -$              -$              

Postage 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Maintenance & Repairs 1,315,145$  299,188$      858,888$      420,000$      750,000$     750,000$      750,000$      

Minor Equipment Purchase 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Vehicle Maintenance 2,636$          2,068$          -$              5,250$          -$             -$              -$              

Subscriptions 0$                  0$                  -$              300$             300$             300$             300$             

Registration, Dues & Fees 1,190$          810$             1,025$          1,155$          1,100$         1,100$          1,100$          

Travel & Training Expenses 9,209$          3,131$          2,790$          5,723$          5,000$         5,000$          5,000$          

Permits & Fees 30,180$        34,301$        32,199$        37,400$        39,000$       39,000$        39,000$        

    Miscellaneous 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Total Materials and Services 1,392,276$ 363,077$     951,268$     545,018$     906,180$    906,180$     906,180$     

Capital Outlay

Land 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Buildings 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Improvements 0$                  0$                  29,975$        1,950,000$  1,400,000$  1,400,000$  1,400,000$  

Machinery and Equipment 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Vehicles 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Infrastructure 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Total Capital Outlay 0$                 0$                 29,975$       1,950,000$ 1,400,000$ 1,400,000$ 1,400,000$ 

Debt Service

Principal 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Interest 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Total Debt Service 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                 

Total Contingency 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Total Ending Fund Balance 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                 0$                  0$                  

Total Budget 1,622,918$ 510,943$     1,137,048$ 2,666,574$ 2,492,852$ 2,492,852$ 2,492,852$ 

Terminal Services

17 

Page 40 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 Department Requirements Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted 

Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Personnel Services

Salaries and Wages 13,500$        9,950$          11,906$        19,200$        15,000$          15,000$          15,000$          

Payroll Taxes 1,005$          800$             2,350$          2,280$          2,000$            2,000$            2,000$            

Employee Benefits 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  -$                -$                -$                

Total Personnel Services 14,505$       10,750$       14,256$       21,480$       17,000$         17,000$         17,000$         

Materials and Services

Professional Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Intergovernmental Support/Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Legal Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Audit Services 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Advertising/Marketing/Promotions 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Property Taxes/Waterway Leases 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Insurance 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Utilities 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Operating Supplies 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Office Supplies 9,000$          9,000$          9,000$          9,000$          7,500$            7,500$            7,500$            

Postage 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Maintenance & Repairs 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Minor Equipment Purchase 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Vehicle Maintenance 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Subscriptions 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Registration, Dues & Fees 3,500$          3,240$          5,140$          6,168$          5,000$            5,000$            5,000$            

Travel & Training Expenses 8,000$          6,791$          11,250$        13,500$        12,000$          12,000$          12,000$          

Permits & Fees 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

    Miscellaneous 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Total Materials and Services 20,500$       19,031$       25,390$       28,668$       24,500$         24,500$         24,500$         

Capital Outlay

Land 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Buildings 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Improvements 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Machinery and Equipment 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Vehicles 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Infrastructure 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Total Capital Outlay 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                 0$                   0$                   0$                   

Debt Service

Principal 622,077$      255,950$      312,591$      226,355$      232,406$        232,406$        232,406$        

Interest 568,913$      397,232$      452,801$      160,387$      151,101$        151,101$        151,101$        

Total Debt Service 1,190,990$ 653,182$     765,392$     386,742$     383,507$       383,507$       383,507$       

Total Contingency 1,315,145$  271,228$      1,270,222$  6,439,959$  12,239,063$  12,239,063$  12,239,063$  

Total Ending Fund Balance 0$                  0$                  0$                  0$                    0$                    0$                    

Total Budget 2,541,140$ 682,963$     2,075,260$ 6,876,849$ 12,664,070$ 12,664,070$ 12,664,070$ 

Non-Departmental

18 

Page 41 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 Department Requirements Detail
Actual Actual Actual Revised Proposed Approved Adopted 

Expenditures by Category FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26 FY 2025-26

Personnel Services

Full-Time Equivalent 17.5 18.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0

Salaries and Wages 1,366,960$     1,411,887$     1,741,274$     1,973,131$     2,048,760$     2,048,760$     2,048,760$     

Payroll Taxes 116,784$        125,495$        146,905$        226,262$        229,026$        229,026$        229,026$        

Employee Benefits 423,024$        500,720$        624,896$        707,112$        858,062$        858,062$        858,062$        

Total Personnel Services 1,906,769$    2,038,102$    2,513,075$    2,906,505$    3,135,848$    3,135,848$    3,135,848$    

Materials and Services

Professional and Contract Services 302,043$        285,589$        312,607$        546,750$        465,000$        465,000$        465,000$        

Legal Services 182,433$        212,443$        11,992$          385,000$        75,000$          75,000$          75,000$          

Audit Services 23,500$          24,500$          25,000$          28,750$          36,000$          36,000$          36,000$          

Advertising/Marketing/Promotions 86,348$          72,586$          56,212$          89,150$          63,750$          63,750$          63,750$          

Property Taxes/Waterway Leases 134,522$        161,151$        164,827$        176,626$        180,000$        180,000$        180,000$        

Insurance 242,279$        345,510$        404,043$        491,753$        510,000$        510,000$        510,000$        

Utilities 187,490$        287,658$        220,653$        280,518$        286,280$        286,280$        286,280$        

Operating Supplies 23,564$          29,324$          62,577$          27,871$          46,000$          46,000$          46,000$          

Office Supplies 28,139$          38,840$          22,306$          36,110$          28,400$          28,400$          28,400$          

Postage 6,000$            13,444$          3,885$            5,500$            13,000$          13,000$          13,000$          

Maintenance & Repairs 310,832$        417,694$        1,177,835$     1,275,800$     1,763,500$     1,763,500$     1,763,500$     

Minor Equipment Purchase 22,000$          6,370$            12,467$          33,600$          53,000$          53,000$          53,000$          

Vehicle Maintenance 10,492$          20,912$          15,816$          30,083$          25,000$          25,000$          25,000$          

Subscriptions 3,120$            539$                858$                4,160$            1,850$            1,850$            1,850$            

Registration, Dues & Fees 56,787$          94,328$          65,709$          88,423$          63,850$          63,850$          63,850$          

Travel & Training Expenses 34,759$          53,634$          46,601$          82,586$          66,250$          66,250$          66,250$          

Permits & Fees 69,979$          95,283$          86,726$          97,084$          161,000$        161,000$        161,000$        

    Miscellaneous 0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    

Total Materials and Services 1,724,286$    2,159,805$    2,690,115$    3,679,764$    3,837,880$    3,837,880$    3,837,880$    

Capital Outlay

Land 0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    

Buildings 0$                    0$                    0$                    150,000$        0$                    0$                    0$                    

Improvements 620,772$        732,368$        741,654$        2,750,000$     3,491,911$     3,491,911$     3,491,911$     

Machinery and Equipment 7,500$            0$                    0$                    452,000$        20,000$          20,000$          20,000$          

Vehicles 0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    

Infrastructure 0$                    0$                    0$                    800,000$        0$                    0$                    0$                    

Total Capital Outlay 628,272$       732,368$       741,654$       4,152,000$    3,511,911$    3,511,911$    3,511,911$    

Debt Service

Principal 622,077$        255,950$        312,591$        226,355$        232,406$        232,406$        232,406$        

Interest 568,913$        397,232$        452,801$        160,387$        151,101$        151,101$        151,101$        

Total Debt Service 1,190,990$    653,182$       765,392$       386,742$       383,507$       383,507$       383,507$       

Total Contingency 1,315,145$     271,228$        3,062,743$     6,439,958$     12,239,063$  12,239,063$  12,239,063$  

Total Ending Fund Balance 0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    0$                    

Total Budget 6,765,462$    5,854,685$    9,772,979$    17,564,969$ 23,108,209$ 23,108,209$ 23,108,209$ 

All Department

19 

Page 42 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 

 

Capital Projects
Fiscal year 2026

Proposed

PROJECTS FY 2025-26

CBC
No capital projects 0$               

Columbia City
Total: Phase 1 - Clearwater Dock Piles 250,000$    

McNulty Creek

Total: Site Readniness - Engineering & Permitting 200,000$    

Milton Creek Industrial Park

Total: Roof Assessment/Replacement Allowance 180,000$    

Multnomah Industrial Park
Shop Building - Roof Replacement 38,000$          

Roof Assessment/Replacement Allowance 250,000$        

Total: Multnomah Industrial Park 288,000$    

Port Westward
Beaver Dock - Seismic Ph. 1 3,900,000$     

Contingency 200,000$        

Connect OR Grant (2,700,000)$   

SubTotal: Beaver Dock - Seismic Ph. 1 - Net Port Cash 1,400,000$    

Beaver Dock - Substructure - Walkway 250,000$       

Total: Port Westward 1,650,000$ 

Pope & Talbot at Railroad Ave.
Total: Pope & Talbot - Action Area 1 500,000$    

SB Marine Park
No capital Projects 0$               

Scappoose Airport
Runway Rehab Phase III 323,911$    

General Admin & Operations
All Terrain Forklift 20,000$          

Accounting/CRM Software Conversion $100,000

Total: General Admin & Operations 120,000$    

Total Capital Projects 3,511,911$     

Note: Major Maintenance Projects Included in Department Budgets

20 

Page 43 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

Debt Service

Final Balance at Budget

Interest Payment July 1, 2025 FY 2025-26

Active

Debt service

Loans

CPBR Rail/Col County      

Oregon Aero Building 3.92 12.01.32 598,464$        94,980$        

Mult. Bldg. B improv. 3.30 12.01.37 99,667$          10,364$         

RainShadow Labs 3.37 01.01.26 158,547$        11,869$         

Mult. Composite Bldg E 3.43 01.01.40 709,393$        62,371$         

SIA Water/Sewer 3.96 04.01.45 450,151$        32,963$         

SA Hangar Bldg 3.31 10.01.41 2,358,084$     170,959$      

Planned

Loans

None -$                -$              

    

      

Total requirements 4,374,305$     383,507$      

N
o

te
s

 Category

21 

Page 44 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

22 

Page 45 of 216 



Port of Columbia County FY 2025-2026 APPROVED Budget 
 

 

 

 
PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY COMMISSION 

Port of Columbia County Commissioners are elected by Port District residents and serve a four-year term. 
 

Position Name  Title Term of 
Office 

Position 1 Nancy Ward 2nd Vice 
President 

2023-2027 

Position 2 Chip Bubl Vice President 2023-2027 

Position 3 Nick Sorber Treasurer 2023-2027 

Position 4 Robert Keyser Secretary 2021-2025 

Position 5 Brian Fawcett President 2021-2025 

 
Budget Committee members consist of the Port Commissioners and an equal number of citizens appointed 

by the Commission to serve three-year terms. Currently, appointed members include: 

 
Position Name  Term of Office 

Position 1 Rachel Armitage 2024-2026 

Position 2 Dan Garrison 2024-2026 

Position 3 Rachael Barry 2023-2025 

Position 4 Paul Langner 2024-2026 

Position 5 Robert Gadotti 2023-2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
               
            
 
 
 
 

 

23 

Page 46 of 216 



 

 

 
 
 

    
Res. 2025-09 
STAFF REPORT 
 

DATE: June 11, 2025 
TO: Port Commission 

FROM: Guy Glenn, Jr., Executive Finance Manager 
 Miriam House, Operations Manager  
 Elizabeth Millager, Property Manager 

RE: Marina Moorage Rate 6.3% Increase – Effective July 1, 2025 

Discussion 
Historically, the rates for Scappoose Bay Marina non-commercial tenants have been adjusted 
by resolution every other year. The last increase to Marina rates was approved by the Board 
effective August 9, 2023. In this cycle, staff calculated the two-year Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
effect, amounting to a 6.3% increase. Attached is a spreadsheet showing the historical as well 
as proposed rates.  
 
Staff are recommending an increase equal to the two-year CPI for all Marina rates.  The recent 
marina study completed by BST & Associates indicates that Scappoose Bay Marine Park rates 
are at the lower end of pricing. This adjustment will better position Scappoose Bay Marine Park, 
assist with the rising costs of operations and lessen competition with local marinas per our 
mission. A market adjustment above CPI rates may need to be considered in the near future.  
 
The Marina Advisory Committee members have reviewed the proposed rates and voted in favor 
of supporting the increase of 6.3% to all rates.  
 
Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution 2025-09, increasing the moorage rates at Scappoose Bay Marine Park by 
6.3% effective July 1, 2025. 
 

Marina Moorage Rate 
Adjustments  

Page 47 of 216 



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-09  
   

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING MOORAGE RATES AT THE SCAPPOOSE 
BAY MARINE PARK AND REPEALING RESOLUTION 2023-17 

  
WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2007-01 authorizes the Port Commission to establish 

and charge rates at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park and the Port Commission adopted 
the current moorage rate schedule in Resolution 2023-17; and  
  

WHEREAS, historically the Port has adjusted the rate schedule according to the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) every two years, which in this cycle would amount to a 6.3% 
increase in rates; Now, therefore  
  

BE IT RESOLVED by the Port Commission that the following are established as 
moorage rates at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park:  
  

TYPE OF FEE     MONTHLY AMOUNT  
Open Moorage without Utilities   $4.72/feet x boat length  
Open Moorage with Utilities   $6.15/feet x boat length  
20’ Uncovered without Utilities       $94.00  
25’ Uncovered without Utilities   $118.00  
30’ Uncovered with Utilities   $185.00  
30’ Covered with Utilities    $233.00  
Boathouse Moorage (by area):  

0 – 800 square feet    $154.00  
801 – 1,000 square feet   $185.00  
over 1,000 square feet   $0.1981 per square foot  

Floating Home (by area):    $0.3468 per square foot, but  
not less than $580.00 per month  

Additional Floats (by area):    $0.0866 per square foot  
  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Resolution No. 2023-17 is hereby repealed and the 
fees established herein take effect on July 1, 2025.  
  

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025 by the following vote:  
  
AYES: _____             NAYS: _____    
ABSTAIN: _____     PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY  

  
By:  __________________________  
 President   

Attested By:  
 
__________________________  
Secretary  

Page 48 of 216 



 

 

 
 
 

    
Res. 2025-10 
STAFF REPORT 
 

DATE: June 11, 2025 
TO: Port Commission 

FROM: Guy Glenn, Jr., Executive Finance Manager 
 Miriam House, Operations Manager  
 Elizabeth Millager, Property Manager 

RE: Marina Fee Increase 6.3% – Effective January 1, 2026 

Discussion 
Historically, the fees for Scappoose Bay Marina non-commercial tenants have been adjusted by 
resolution every other year. The last increase to Marina fees was approved by the Board 
effective January 1, 2024. In this cycle, staff calculated the two-year Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
effect, amounting to a 6.3% increase. Attached is a spreadsheet showing the historical as well 
as proposed fees.  
 
Staff are recommending an increase equal to the two-year CPI for all Marina fees except for the 
Daily Use Fee and the fee for In-County Senior and Military annual passes, which would remain 
the same. These adjustments will better position Scappoose Bay Marine Park, assist with the 
rising costs of operations and lessen competition with local marinas per our mission.  
 
The Marina Advisory Committee reviewed the proposed fees and voted in favor of supporting 
the increase of 6.3%.  
 
Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution 2025-10, increasing the moorage fees at Scappoose Bay Marine Park by 6.3% 
effective January 1, 2026. 
 

Marina Fee Adjustments  

Page 49 of 216 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-10 
 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING DAILY and ANNUAL USE FEES AT THE 
SCAPPOOSE BAY MARINE PARK AND REPEALING RESOLUTION 2023-18 

 
WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2007-01 authorizes the Port to establish and charge 

fees at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park; and 
 

WHEREAS, historically the Port has evaluated the fee schedule every other year 
taking Consumer Price Index (CPI) and other market factors into account; and 
 

WHEREAS, staff finds that in this cycle a CPI-based adjustment would amount to 
a 6.3% increase in the fees; and 
 

WHEREAS, staff recommend that the Daily Use fee and the fee for In-County 
Senior and Military annual passes be excluded from the 6.3% adjustment and remain the 
same; now, therefore 

 
BE IT RESOLVED that the following fees are hereby established for the 

Scappoose Bay Marine Park: 
 
TYPE OF FEE        AMOUNT OF FEE 
Daily Use Fee (Parking and/or Launch) $10.00 
Annual Use Pass (Parking and/or Launch) 
     In-County Residents $91.00 
     Out-of-County Residents $120.00 
Discounted Annual Use Pass for Persons Over 62 Years  
or Qualified Military (Parking and/or Launch) 
     In-County Residents $51.00 
     Out-of-County Residents $71.00 
Transient Moorage Fee $25.00 
Fine for No User Fee Ticket or Annual Pass Displayed or Parking Violation $50.00 
Fines Doubled in Posted Areas $100.00 
Boat Trailer Parking (tenant only) $32.00  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Executive Director, or his designee, provide passes 

to those who pay the appropriate fees. Passes must be displayed when launching watercraft or 
parking at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park.  Fines will be assessed for any vehicle without the 
appropriate pass. Moorage, boathouse, and floating home tenants of the Scappoose Bay Marine 
Park shall be entitled to receive one annual use pass as part of their tenancy.  Floating home 
tenants shall be entitled to receive one additional annual use pass. The maximum number of 
discounted annual use passes is limited to two per person in one calendar year. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Resolution 2023-18 is hereby repealed and the fees 

established herein take effect on the 1st day of January 2026. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025 by the following vote: 
 

AYES:   NAYS:    ABSTAIN: _____ 
        
 
ATTESTED BY:      PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 
 
       By:        
Secretary       President 

Page 50 of 216 



 

 

 
 
   
Res. 2025-11 
STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE: June 11, 2025 

TO: Port Commission 

FROM: Guy Glenn, Jr., Executive Finance Manager 
 Miriam House, Operations Manager  
 Elizabeth Millager, Property Manager 

RE: Increase RV Park Fee to $40/night and Dump Station Fee to $25- Effective July 1, 2025 

Discussion 
The Bayport RV Park and Campground has been successful, with largely positive comments from our 
guests and other marina patrons. One of the most frequent comments had been the need for an RV 
dump station, which was installed and became operational in 2022. The system is fully automated and 
located to minimize demand for operations personnel. The service provider (Sanistar) recommended at 
the time of installation to set the user fee at $25. The Marina Advisory Committee resolved to set the fee 
at $15 instead. At the current rate, we are not seeing the return on investment as desired and the costs 
for servicing the system have risen over the years.  
 
The Marina Advisory Committee has discussed the value of the dump station, operational costs, 
comparative fees and accessibility. After thoughtful consideration, the Committee, by unanimous vote, 
recommended that the fee be increased to $25 per use. Staff believe this amenity has improved 
occupancy and provides convenience to not only our guests but to other travelers and users. The 
Committee and Port staff believe that neither occupancy nor frequency of use would be hindered by this 
increase. 
 
The Bayport RV Park was constructed back in 2013 and since then the overnight guest fee has been 
adjusted only once, while costs of utilities, labor and maintenance have increased greatly. Port staff and 
the Marina Advisory Committee have looked at market rates for private, and publicly owned parks. 
Currently private parks are charging $60-$75 per night whether full hookups are available or not. Oregon 
State Park fees range from $30 to $42 ($40 power/water), in addition to charging a 25% fee for non-
residents. As our RV park provides power and water the Committee and Port staff recommend increasing 
overnight guest fees to $40 and suggest using State Parks as a comparative guide for future fee 
adjustments. 
 
Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution 2025-11, increasing the dump station fee to $25.00 and increasing RV park guest fees 
to $40.00 per night at Scappoose Bay Marine Park, effective July 1, 2025. 

 
RV Park and Dump Station 

Fee Adjustments 

Page 51 of 216 



   
 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-11  
 

  A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING BAYPORT RV PARK AND  
DUMP STATION FEES AT THE SCAPPOOSE BAY MARINE PARK  

AND REPEALING RESOLUTION 2013-38 
  

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2007-01 authorizes the Port to establish and charge 
rates at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park and the Port Commission adopted the current 
moorage rate schedule in Resolution 2013-38; and  
  

WHEREAS, Port staff recommend that fees for overnight stays at the RV Park and 
fees for the Marine Park dump station be reviewed for adjustments every two years; and 
 

WHEREAS, Port staff recommend that the RV Park fee adjustments use Oregon 
State Park rates as a comparative guide; Now, therefore 

  
BE IT RESOLVED that the following fees are hereby established at the Scappoose 

Bay Marine Park:  
  

TYPE OF FEE     MONTHLY AMOUNT  
RV Park Guest Fee     $40.00 per night  
Dump Station Fee     $25.00 per use 

  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Resolution No. 2013-38 is repealed and the fees 

established herein take effect on July 1, 2025.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Executive Director shall promulgate and apply 

administrative rules as needed from time to time regarding use of the RV Park and its facilities, to 
include a restriction of not more than fourteen (14) consecutive days of RV parking. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Executive Director may establish group rates as 

deemed appropriate. 
  

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025 by the following vote:  
  
AYES: _____             NAYS: _____    
ABSTAIN: _____     PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY  

  
By:  __________________________ 

 President 
Attested By:         
 
__________________________  
Secretary  

Page 52 of 216 



   

 

 

 
 
Resolution 2025-12 

STAFF REPORT 

DATE:  June 11, 2025 
TO:  Port Commission 
FROM:  Miriam House – Operations Manager 
RE: OSMB Grant for $45,597.48 with Port match of $15,199.16 

Painting and Pavement Maintenance 
 
Discussion 
The Port submitted a grant request to the Oregon State Marine Board (OSMB) in May  
2025 to fund two maintenance projects at the Scappoose Bay Marine Park. The first 
project is for pavement crack fill, sealcoat and striping and the second is to repaint the 
public restrooms and gazebo.  
 
As a major recreation destination, it is imperative that we protect infrastructure from 
deterioration. The pavement work will extend the lifespan of the asphalt by preventing 
water intrusion, oxidation, and other damage from the elements and also prevent 
potholes. To preserve access for motorized and nonmotorized users, it is vital that this 
preventative maintenance be done on a regular three-year cycle. This project has been 
budgeted for FY25 and is planned to be completed this summer.  

The Marine Park public restrooms and gazebo are aging assets that are heavily used. 
Painting the gazebo, the interior and exterior of the public restrooms, and applying a 
weather sealer to the exposed wood will shield against further damage from inclement 
weather, condensation and daily use.   

The OSMB reviewed our application and awarded the Port a Small Grant in the amount 
of $45,597.48 with a Port match of $15,199.16 but the project must be completed by June 
30, 2025. The total amount towards painting and pavement maintenance is $60,796.64.  

Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution No. 2025-12, authorizing acceptance of OSMB Small Grant offer 
#2425-24 of $45,597.48 for maintenance costs for the Scappoose Bay Marine Park, and 
approval of the associated $15,199.16 cash match.  

Scappoose Bay Marine Park  
OSMB Grant for Painting and  

Pavement Maintenance  

Page 53 of 216 



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-12 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN OREGON STATE MARINE 
BOARD GRANT FOR PAINTING AND PAVEMENT 

MAINTENANCE AT THE SCAPPOOSE BAY MARINE PARK 
 

WHEREAS, the parking areas and driveways of the Port’s Scappoose Bay Marine 
Park, while fundamentally sound, need crack sealing, surface sealcoating and striping; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the aging and heavily used public restroom and gazebo buildings 

need painting and maintenance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Oregon State Marine Board (OSMB) provides funding for such 

improvement projects from its Boating Facility Grant funds; and   
 
WHEREAS, the Port submitted a Small Grant Application and was awarded 

funding of $45,597.48 from OSMB with a Port match of $15,199.16 for a total of 
$60,796.64; and  

 
WHEREAS, Port Staff find the grant conditions and requirements acceptable and 

recommend acceptance of the attached Grant Agreement; Now, therefore, 
 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia County:  
 
The Board approves the Oregon State Marine Board Small Grant offer #2425-24 

for $45,597.48, and the associated $15,199.16 Port match, and authorizes the Executive 
Director to sign the attached Grant Agreement. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025, by the following vote: 
 

AYES: _____             NAYS: _____ PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 
ABSTAIN: _______ 
 

By:  _____________________________ 
        President 

Attested By:  
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary 
 

Page 54 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 1 of 17

  

BOATING FACILITY GRANT 
INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

Agreement No. 2425-24 

This Agreement is between the State of Oregon acting by and through its State Marine Board 
(“OSMB”) and the Port of Columbia County (“Recipient”), each a “Party” and, together, the 
“Parties”. 

SECTION 1: AUTHORITY 

This Agreement is authorized by ORS 190.110. OSMB is authorized to provide grants for 
boating facility projects under ORS 830.150 and OSMB has sufficient small grant funds available 
within its current biennial budget and has authorized expenditure on the Recipient’s Project as 
defined below, and the Recipient agrees to comply with Boating Facility Grant Program rules in 
OAR 250-014 and other OSMB adopted policies and procedures. 

SECTION 2: PURPOSE 

The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the obligations of both Parties in the development 
of recreational boating facilities at Scappoose Bay Marina, for the crack seal, seal coat, and 
restriping of the boat trailer parking, access aisles, and maneuver areas that support the boat 
ramp and repaint the public restroom, hereinafter called the “Project,” as described in the 
Recipient’s Small Grant Application 2425-24.  With this reference, the Small Grant Application is 
made part of this Agreement.  If a conflict exists between the Small Grant Application and this 
Agreement, the Agreement will govern. 

SECTION 3: EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION 

3.1 Term. This Agreement is effective on the date of the last signature and terminates on the 
date 10 years after the date of Project completion or the date of final payment issuance, 
whichever is later, unless terminated earlier in accordance with Section 16. 

3.2 Project Completion.  The Project shall be completed, and final billing for the Project shall be 
submitted to OSMB, on or before June 30, 2025. Unless approved in writing, OSMB shall not 
be obligated to disburse any payments after this date. 

SECTION 4: AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES 

4.1 OSMB’s Authorized Representative is: 

Janine Belleque, Boating Facilities Program Manager                                                                         
PO Box 14145, 435 Commercial Street NE Suite #400, Salem Oregon 97309 
(503) 877-7850 Office, Janine.Belleque@boat.oregon.gov 

4.2 Recipient’s Authorized Representative is: 

Miriam House, Operations Manager 
PO Box 190, Columbia City, OR 97018 
503-928-3259 Office, house@portofcolumbiacounty.org  

4.3 A Party may designate a new Authorized Representative by written notice to the other Party. 

SECTION 5: RESPONSIBILITIES OF EACH PARTY 

Page 55 of 216 

mailto:Janine.Belleque@boat.oregon.gov
mailto:house@portofcolumbiacounty.org


SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 2 of 17

  

5.1 Responsibilities of Recipient:  

5.1.1 Project Timeline. The Recipient is responsible for maintaining the project timeline for 
all dates and activities outlined as the Recipient’s responsibility as identified in 
Attachment “A”. 

5.1.2 Matching Cash Funds.  The Recipient shall contribute the total sum of $15,199.16 in cash 
as described in the Small Grant Application. 

5.1.3 Matching Non-cash Resources. The Recipient shall contribute the total sum of $0.00 
administrative match and $0.00 force account labor, materials, or equipment. These are 
non-reimbursable items. 

5.1.4 Construction.  The Recipient shall award and monitor the contractor’s performance 
under the construction contract or construction consultant contract in such a manner as 
to ensure compliance with Project plans and specifications.  The Recipient must notify 
OSMB immediately of any proposed change in Project design, cost modifications, 
proposed change orders or modification of scope. The Recipient shall be responsible for 
all costs associated with unauthorized changes or modifications unless otherwise 
specifically agreed to in writing by OSMB. 

5.1.5 Commercial and Other Uses. 

a. For purposes of this Section 5, Commercial Use means any activity on or 
affecting the Project that was not described in the Small Grant 
Application or not approved pursuant to OSMB Policy 93-06 or 93-02, 
where the Recipient: 

1. has financial profit as a goal, 

2. charges any fees or receives any benefit to provide services, supplies 
or goods, or 
allows third parties to charge any fees or receive any benefit to 
provide services, supplies or goods. 

b. Commercial Use is prohibited. 

c. Recipient must have the capability to make an ordinance, rule, or other 
regulation to the effect that the Projects are for the benefit of 
recreational boaters, including, but not limited to prohibiting single cars 
from parking in boat trailer parking spots. If, in the sole discretion of 
OSMB, the use by non-recreational boaters such as swimmers, 
fishermen, divers, crabbers, impact recreational boating uses or 
diminishes the useful life of the Project, then the Recipient must 
establish and enforce its ordinance, rule, or other regulation. 

d. If Project funded a pumpout or dump station in a marina or short-term 
tie-up dock, the Recipient must include language in its moorage 
agreement requiring use of the pumpout and/or dump station if a boat 
has a holding tank or marine toilet. 

e. Recipient must restrict use of the Project to only boats that comply with 
ORS 830.770 and 830.775. 

Page 56 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 3 of 17

  

5.1.6 Project Sign. If the existing credit sign is faded or damaged, it will need to be replaced. 

5.1.7 Publications and Advertising. The Recipient shall include the following statement if 
publishing any report, news release or publication regarding the project: “Partial funding 
was provided by the Oregon State Marine Board Boating Facility Grant Program investing 
fees and marine fuel taxes paid by motorized boaters.” 

5.1.8 Public Access to Project.  During the term of this Agreement the Recipient shall allow 
open and unencumbered public access to the Project to all persons without regard to 
race, color, religious or political beliefs, sex, national origin, or place of primary residence. 

5.1.9 User Fees.  Recipient shall notify and request written approval from OSMB of any user 
fees charged to recreational boaters for the use of the improvements described herein 
throughout the term of this Agreement.  Fees charged shall be reasonable and are subject 
to review and approval by OSMB.  If user fees are charged for the use of the completed 
Project, the Recipient shall maintain sufficient records and accounting procedures that 
demonstrate all of the gross income from the fees is used to defray direct operational 
costs (for example, maintenance and repair costs) for the Project.  User fees may affect 
Maintenance Assistance Program, as described in OAR 250-014-0040 eligibility on 
publicly owned and operated Projects. 

5.1.10 Maintenance. The Recipient shall at all times be responsible for the maintenance and 
operation of the Project and related facilities during the term of the Agreement. This does 
not restrict the Recipient’s ability to subcontract for the performance of maintenance and 
operation services. Such subcontractors would be subject to Section 5.1.12, 
Indemnification by Subcontractors. 

5.1.11 Payments.  Recipient agrees to: 
a. Make payment promptly as due to all contractors, subcontractors, 

vendors or any other persons supplying labor or materials for the 
Project; 

b. All employers, including Recipient that employ subject workers as 
defined in ORS 656.027, shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall 
provide workers’ compensation insurance coverage for those workers, 
unless they meet the requirement for exemption under ORS 
656.126(2). Recipient shall require and ensure that each of its 
subcontractors complies with these requirements (unless inapplicable 
as a matter of federal law); and 

c. Not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against OSMB, 
due to any construction or maintenance activities at the Project. 

5.1.12 Alternative Dispute Resolution. The Parties should attempt in good faith to resolve any 
dispute arising out of this agreement.  This may be done at any management level, 
including at a level higher than persons directly responsible for administration of the 
agreement.  In addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly selected mediator or 
arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short of litigation. 

5.1.13 Indemnification by Subcontractors. The Recipient shall take all reasonable steps to 
cause its contractor(s) that are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003, 
if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the State of Oregon and its officers, 

Page 57 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 4 of 17

  

employees and agents (“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, 
liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses (including attorneys’ fees) arising from a tort (as 
now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260) caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in 
part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of  Recipient’s contractor or any of the 
officers, agents, employees or subcontractors of the contractor( “Claims”).  It is the 
specific intention of the Parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for 
Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be 
indemnified by the contractor from and against any and all Claims. 

5.1.14 Boating Facility Operation. The Parties have entered into other grant agreement(s), 
1300, 1326, 1460, 1501, 1553, 1679, and 1732, which provide for the Recipient to operate 
boating facilities, including but not limited to, [restrooms, boat trailer parking, docks, 
boat ramps].  The Recipient shall continue to operate those boating facilities for the 
duration of this Agreement, even if the terms of the other grant agreement(s) have 
expired. 

5.2 Responsibility of OSMB: 

5.2.1 OSMB shall pay Recipient as described in Sections 6 and 7. 

SECTION 6: CONDITIONS TO DISBURSEMENT 

6.1 Conditions Precedent to Any Reimbursement.  OSMB shall not be obligated to disburse 
any of the grant funds to reimburse the Recipient for Project costs hereunder unless OSMB 
has received from the Recipient: 

a. Prior to Project solicitation or construction, the final architectural and 
engineering plans, specifications, and cost estimate(s), statement of 
work, request for proposals or other documentation for the Project, 
documents must be in form and substance satisfactory to OSMB; 

b. Prior to Project construction a copy of all required, federal, state, and 
local permits or approvals for the Project; and 

c. A copy of the contractor’s, vendor’s, supplier’s bid pricing, unless the 
Recipient is completing the Project; and 

d. Reimbursement Requests must be submitted on the approved OSMB 
Boating Facility Grant Reimbursement form along with all supporting 
documentation. Reimbursements shall be prorated between the Parties 
based on the percentage of their respective cash contributions as set 
forth in Section 5 and Section 7. 

6.2 Conditions Precedent to Partial Progress Payment(s).  OSMB shall not be obligated to 
make partial progress reimbursement payment(s) hereunder until supporting 
documentation of the percentage of Project completion has been received, reviewed, and 
approved by OSMB. In no event shall OSMB disburse more than ninety percent (90%) of the 
amount indicated in Section 7.1. as progress payments. 

6.3 Conditions Precedent to Final Payment.  OSMB shall not be obligated to make final 
payment hereunder until the following have been completed or supplied: 

a. Supporting documentation in form and content determined by OSMB, 

Page 58 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 5 of 17

  

has been received reviewed and approved by OSMB; and 

b. Recipient provides a minimum of three photographs detailing the 
completed work. One photo must be of the installed sign crediting OSMB 
with funding the Project; and 

c. Inspection and approval of the Project by OSMB. 

SECTION 7: COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT TERMS 

7.1 Grant Funds.  Upon approval by its governing body, OSMB shall provide grant funds in the 
amount of $45,597.48 Boating Facility Grant to the Recipient to fund the Project. OSMB shall 
not provide to the Recipient, and the Recipient shall not use any funds described in this 
section for administrative or for accounting costs whether or not related to this Agreement. 

7.2 Payments.  After the Recipient awards the contract for the Project, and activities commence, 
OSMB shall, upon receipt of the Recipient’s request for reimbursement and appropriate 
documentation all in form and substance satisfactory to OSMB, disburse funds to the 
Recipient in accordance with Section 6 “CONDITIONS TO DISBURSEMENT”. 

7.3 Overpayment.  In the event that the aggregate amount of OSMB’s interim progress 
payments to the Recipient exceeds the allowable reimbursable costs of the Recipient for the 
Project, the Recipient agrees to refund to OSMB the amount paid in excess of such allowable 
expenses within thirty (30) days of final billing by the Recipient or the Project Completion 
Date, whichever is earlier. 

7.4 Disallowed Costs. The Recipient agrees that payment(s) made by OSMB under this 
Agreement shall be subject to offset or reduction for any amounts previously paid hereunder 
that are found by OSMB not to constitute allowable costs under this Agreement based on the 
results of an audit examination. If such disallowed amount exceeds the payment(s), the 
Recipient shall pay OSMB the amount of such excess within 30 days after written notice of 
disallowed costs is provided by OSMB. 

7.5 Cost Savings.  Any cost savings realized on the Project shall be prorated between the Parties 
based on the percentage of their respective cash contributions as set forth in Section 7.1. and 
Section 5.1 “RESPONSIBILITIES OF EACH PARTY.” 

SECTION 8: REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Recipient represents and warrants to OSMB that: 

8.1 Recipient is a Port duly organized and validly existing. Recipient has the power and authority 
to enter into and perform this Agreement; 

8.2 The making and performance by Recipient of this Agreement (a) have been duly authorized 
by Recipient, (b) do not and will not violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, 
regulation, or order of any court, regulatory commission, board, or other administrative 
agency or any provision of Recipient’s charter or other organizational document and (c) do 
not and will not result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under 
any other agreement or instrument to which Recipient is party or by which Recipient may be 
bound or affected.  No authorization, consent, license, approval of, or filing or registration 
with or notification to any governmental body or regulatory or supervisory authority is 
required for the execution, delivery or performance by Recipient of this Agreement, other 

Page 59 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 6 of 17

  

than those that have already been obtained; 

8.3 This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Recipient and constitutes a legal, 
valid and binding obligation of Recipient enforceable in accordance with its terms; 

8.4 Recipient has the skill and knowledge possessed by well-informed members of the industry, 
trade or profession most closely involved in providing the services under this Agreement, 
and Recipient will apply that skill and knowledge with care and diligence to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement in a professional manner and in accordance with the 
highest standards prevalent in the related industry, trade or profession; and 

8.5 Recipient shall, at all times during the term of this Agreement, be qualified, professionally 
competent, and duly licensed to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

The representations and warranties set forth in this section are in addition to, and not in 
lieu of, any other representations or warranties provided by Recipient. 

SECTION 9: GOVERNING LAW, CONSENT TO JURISDICTION 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Oregon without regard to principles of conflicts of law. Any claim, action, suit or proceeding 
(collectively “Claim”) between OSMB or any other agency or department of the State of Oregon, 
or both, and Recipient that arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be brought and 
conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County for the State of 
Oregon; provided, however, if a Claim must be brought in a federal forum, then it shall be 
brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the United States District Court for the 
District of Oregon. In no event shall this Section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon 
of any form of defense or immunity, whether sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, 
immunity based on the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United States or 
otherwise, to or from any Claim or from the jurisdiction of any court.  RECIPIENT, BY 
EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE IN PERSONAM JURISDICTION 
OF SAID COURTS. 

SECTION 10: OWNERSHIP OF WORK PRODUCT 

10.1 As used in this Section 10 and elsewhere in this Agreement, the following terms have the 
meanings set forth below: 

10.1.1 Project Ownership.  OSMB acknowledges and agrees that the Project is the exclusive 
property of the Recipient. OSMB is neither responsible nor liable in any manner for the 
construction, operation or maintenance of the Project. 

SECTION 11: NO DUPLICATE PAYMENT 

The Recipient shall not be compensated for, or receive any other form of duplicate, overlapping 
or multiple payments for the same work performed under this Agreement from any agency of 
the State of Oregon, including, but not limited to, the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, or 
the United States of America or any other party. 

SECTION 12: CONTRIBUTION 

12.1 If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging a tort as 
now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 (a “Third Party Claim”) against a Party (the “Notified 

Page 60 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 7 of 17

  

Party”) with respect to which the other Party (the “Other Party”) may have liability, the 
Notified Party shall promptly notify the Other Party in writing of the Third-Party Claim and 
deliver to the Other Party, along with the written notice, a copy of the claim, process and all 
legal pleadings with respect to the Third Party Claim that have been received by the Notified 
Party.  Each Party is entitled to participate in the defense of a Third-Party Claim, and to 
defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing.  Receipt by the Other Party of 
the notice and copies required in this Section and a meaningful opportunity for the Other 
Party to participate in the investigation, defense and settlement of the Third-Party Claim 
with counsel of its own choosing are conditions precedent to the Other Party’s contribution 
obligation under this Section 12 with respect to the Third-Party Claim.   

12.2 With respect to a Third-Party Claim for which OSMB is jointly liable with Recipient (or would 
be if joined in the Third-Party Claim ), OSMB shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Recipient  in such proportion as is appropriate to 
reflect the relative fault of OSMB on the one hand and of Recipient on the other hand in 
connection with the events that resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 
amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of OSMB 
on the one hand and of Recipient on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, 
among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 
opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, 
fines, or settlement amounts. OSMB’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to the 
same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law if the State had sole liability in the 
proceeding.  

12.3 With respect to a Third-Party Claim for which Recipient is jointly liable with OSMB (or would 
be if joined in the Third-Party Claim), Recipient shall contribute to the amount of expenses 
(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred and paid or payable by OSMB in such proportion as is appropriate to 
reflect the relative fault of Recipient on the one hand and of OSMB on the other hand in 
connection with the events that resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 
amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of 
Recipient on the one hand and of OSMB on the other hand shall be determined by reference 
to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and 
opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, 
fines, or settlement amounts. Recipient’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to 
the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law if it had sole liability in the 
proceeding. 

SECTION 13: REMEDIES 

13.1 In the event Recipient is in default under Section 16.3, OSMB may, at its option, pursue any or 
all of the remedies available to it under this Agreement and at law or in equity, including, but 
not limited to:  (a) termination of this Agreement under Section 16, (b) reducing or 
withholding payment for work or Work Product that Recipient has failed to deliver within 
any scheduled completion dates or has performed inadequately or defectively, (c) requiring 
Recipient to perform, at Recipient’s expense, additional work necessary to satisfy its 
performance obligations or meet performance standards under this Agreement, (d) initiation 

Page 61 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 8 of 17

  

of an action or proceeding for damages, specific performance, or declaratory or injunctive 
relief, or (e) exercise of its right of recovery of overpayments under Section 14 (in addition to 
the remedies provided in Section 7.3)  of this Agreement or setoff, or both.  These remedies 
are cumulative to the extent the remedies are not inconsistent, and OSMB may pursue any 
remedy or remedies singly, collectively, successively or in any order whatsoever. 

13.2 In the event OSMB is in default under Section 16.3 and whether or not Recipient elects to 
exercise its right to terminate this Agreement under Section 16, or in the event OSMB 
terminates this Agreement under Sections 16.1, 16.2, or 16.3,  Recipient’s sole monetary 
remedy will be (a) for work compensable at a stated rate, a claim for unpaid invoices for 
work completed and accepted by OSMB, for work completed and accepted by OSMB within 
any limits set forth in this Agreement but not yet invoiced, for authorized expenses incurred, 
and for interest within the limits of ORS 293.462, less any claims OSMB has against Recipient, 
and (b) for deliverable-based work, a claim for the sum designated for completing the 
deliverable multiplied by the percentage of work completed on the deliverable and accepted 
by OSMB, for authorized expenses incurred, and for interest within the limits of ORS 293.462, 
less previous amounts paid for the deliverable and any claims that OSMB has against 
Recipient.  In no event will OSMB be liable to Recipient for any expenses related to 
termination of this Agreement or for anticipated profits. If previous amounts paid to 
Recipient exceed the amount due to Recipient under this Section 13.2, Recipient shall 
promptly pay any excess to OSMB. 

SECTION 14: RECOVERY OF OVERPAYMENTS 

In addition to the remedies provided in Section 7.4, if payments to Recipient under this 
Agreement, or any other agreement between OSMB and Recipient, exceed the amount to which 
Recipient is entitled, OSMB may, after notifying Recipient in writing, withhold from payments 
due Recipient under this Agreement, such amounts, over such periods of times, as are necessary 
to recover the amount of the overpayment.   

SECTION 15: LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

EXCEPT FOR LIABILITY ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO SECTION 12, NEITHER PARTY WILL 
BE LIABLE FOR INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR OTHER INDIRECT DAMAGES ARISING 
OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE LIABILITY 
CLAIM IS BASED IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY, 
PRODUCT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE.   NEITHER PARTY WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES 
OF ANY SORT ARISING SOLELY FROM THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TERMS. 

SECTION 16: TERMINATION 

16.1 Termination for Convenience. The Recipient may terminate this Agreement at any time 
upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to OSMB; provided, however, that the Recipient 
shall, within thirty (30) days of such termination, reimburse OSMB for all funds contributed 
by OSMB to the Project; provided further that until the Recipient has fully reimbursed OSMB 
for such funds, the Recipient shall comply with the terms hereof. Delinquent payments shall 
bear interest at the rate of 8 percent, or, if such rate shall exceed the maximum rate allowed 
by law, then as such maximum rate, and shall be payable on demand. 

Page 62 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 9 of 17

  

16.2 Termination Because of Non-Appropriation or Project Ineligibility. OSMB, as provided 
in Section 27 “FORCE MAJEURE,” may modify or terminate this Agreement and at any time 
upon 30 days prior written notice to the Recipient, may modify or terminate this Agreement 
if: 

a. OSMB fails to receive funding or allotments, appropriations, limitations, 
or other expenditure authority at levels sufficient to pay for the 
allowable costs of the Project to be funded hereunder or should any 
state law, regulation or guideline be modified, changed or interpreted in 
such a way that the Project, or any portion of the Project, is no longer 
eligible for facility grant funds as described in ORS 830.150. 

b. In the event insufficient funds are appropriated for the payments under 
this Agreement and the Recipient has no other lawfully available funds, 
then the Recipient may terminate this Agreement at the end of its 
current fiscal year, with no further liability to OSMB.  The Recipient shall 
deliver written notice to OSMB of such termination no later than 30 days 
from the determination by the Recipient of the event of non-
appropriation. OSMB shall pay for all authorized Project costs expended 
up to the date of written notice of termination. 

16.3 Termination for Default. OSMB, at any time upon 30 days prior written notice of default to 
the Recipient, may modify or terminate this Agreement if: 

a. The design, permitting, or construction of the Project is not pursued 
with due diligence; or 

b. The Recipient’s fee simple title to or other interest in the construction 
sites or Project is not sufficient, legal, and valid; or 

c. The construction of the Project is not permissible under federal, state, or 
local law; or 

d. The Recipient, does not abide by the nondiscrimination and affirmative 
action provisions of this Agreement; or 

e. The Recipient, without the prior written approval of OSMB, uses the 
funds provided by OSMB hereunder to build any project other than the 
Project described in the final architectural and engineering drawings 
approved by OSMB; or 

f. The construction is not completed in a good and workmanlike manner 
or fails to comply with any required permits; or 

g. During the term of this Agreement, the Recipient fails to perform any 
obligation or requirement of this Agreement, including, but not limited 
to, exceeding the length of stay at a short term tie-up dock, allowing non-
recreational boating use such as crabbing, fishing, swimming, diving or 
other activities to impact a recreational boaters ability to use the Project 
or coveys the Project or the Project property or any part thereof or 
converts the use of the Project or the Project property to a use that 
precludes free and unencumbered recreational public boating access. 

Page 63 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 10 of 17

  

h. The Recipient defaults under any other agreement between the Parties. 

16.4 Rights and Remedies. The Recipient shall, within 30 days of its receipt of a notice of default, 
reimburse OSMB for all funds contributed by OSMB to the Project. Further, OSMB shall have 
any and all rights and remedies available at law or in equity. 

SECTION 17: NONAPPROPRIATION 

OSMB’s obligation to pay any amounts and otherwise perform its duties under this Agreement 
is conditioned upon OSMB receiving funding, appropriations, limitations, allotments, or other 
expenditure authority sufficient to allow OSMB, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 
discretion, to meet its obligations under this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement may be 
construed as permitting any violation of Article XI, section 7 of the Oregon Constitution or any 
other law limiting the activities, liabilities, or monetary obligations of OSMB. 

SECTION 18: AMENDMENTS 

The terms of this Agreement may not be altered, modified, supplemented, or otherwise 
amended, except by written agreement of the Parties. 

SECTION 19: NOTICE 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any notices to be given relating to 
this Agreement must be given in writing by facsimile, email, personal delivery, or postage 
prepaid mail, to a Party’s Authorized Representative at the physical address, fax number or 
email address set forth in this Agreement, or to such other addresses as either Party may 
indicate pursuant to this Section 20. Any notice so addressed and mailed becomes effective five 
(5) days after mailing.  Any notice given by personal delivery becomes effective when actually 
delivered. Any notice given by email becomes effective upon the sender’s receipt of 
confirmation generated by the recipient’s email system that the notice has been received by the 
recipient’s email system. Any notice given by facsimile becomes effective upon electronic 
confirmation of successful transmission to the designated fax number. 

SECTION 20: SURVIVAL 

All rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement will cease upon termination of 
this Agreement, other than the rights and obligations arising under Sections 9, 10, 12, 14, 15 
and 20 hereof and those rights and obligations that by their express terms survive termination 
of this Agreement; provided, however, that termination of this Agreement will not prejudice any 
rights or obligations accrued to the Parties under this Agreement prior to termination. 

SECTION 21: SEVERABILITY 

The Parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining 
terms and provisions will not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties will be 
construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not contain the particular term or provision 
held to be invalid. 

SECTION 22: COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, all of which when taken together 
shall constitute one agreement, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories to the same 

Page 64 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 11 of 17

  

counterpart.  Each copy of the Agreement so executed constitutes an original. 

SECTION 23: COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 

23.1 Compliance with Law Generally. Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local 
laws, regulations, executive orders and ordinances applicable to Recipient and the  
Agreement.    Oregon False Claims Act. Recipient acknowledges the Oregon False Claims 
Act, ORS 180.750 to 180.785, applies to any action by Recipient pertaining to this Agreement, 
including the procurement process relating to this Agreement that constitutes a "claim" (as 
defined by ORS 180.750(1)).  By its execution of this Agreement, Recipient certifies the 
truthfulness, completeness, and accuracy of any statement or claim it has made, it makes, it 
may make, or causes to be made that pertains to this Agreement.  In addition to other 
penalties that may be applicable, Recipient further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes 
to be made, a false claim or performs a prohibited act under the Oregon False Claims Act, the 
Oregon Attorney General may enforce the liabilities and penalties provided by the Oregon 
False Claims Act against Recipient.  Recipient understands and agrees that any remedy that 
may be available under the Oregon False Claims Act is in addition to any other remedy 
available to the State or OSMB under this Contract or any other provision of law. 

23.2 Tax Compliance.  As set forth on Exhibit B, Recipient has complied with the tax laws of this 
state and the applicable tax laws of any political subdivision of this state.  Recipient shall, 
throughout the duration of this Agreement and any extensions, comply with all tax laws of 
this state and all applicable tax laws of any political subdivision of this state.  For the 
purposes of this Section, “tax laws” includes:  (i) All tax laws of this state, including but not 
limited to ORS 305.620 and ORS chapters 316, 317, and 318;  (ii) Any tax provisions imposed 
by a political subdivision of this state that applied to Recipient, to Recipient’s property, 
operations, receipts, or income, or to Recipient’s performance of or compensation for any 
work performed by Recipient;  (iii) Any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of 
this state that applied to Recipient, or to goods, services, or property, whether tangible or 
intangible, provided by Recipient; and (iv) Any rules, regulations, charter provisions, or 
ordinances that implemented or enforced any of the foregoing tax laws or provisions. 

Any failure to comply with the provisions of this subsection 23.3 constitutes a material 
breach of this Agreement.  Further, any failure to comply with Recipient’s certifications set 
forth in Exhibit B also shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement.  Any failure to 
comply shall entitle OSMB to terminate this Agreement, to pursue and recover any and all 
damages that arise from the breach and the termination of this Agreement, and to pursue 
any or all of the remedies available under this Agreement, at law, or in equity, including but 
not limited to: 

23.2.1 Termination of this Agreement, in whole or in part; 

23.2.2 Offsetting against any amount owed to Recipient, and withholding of amounts 
otherwise due and owing to Recipient, in an amount equal to State’s setoff right, 
without penalty; and 

23.2.3 Initiation of an action or proceeding for damages, specific performance, declaratory 
or injunctive relief.  OSMB may recover any and all damages suffered as the result of 
Recipient's breach of this Agreement, including but not limited to direct, indirect, 
incidental and consequential damages, costs of cure, and costs incurred in securing 

Page 65 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 12 of 17

  

replacement Services and applications. 

In addition, this Agreement will be reported to the Oregon Department of Revenue.  The 
Department of Revenue may take any and all actions permitted by law relative to the 
collection of taxes due to the State of Oregon or a political subdivision, including (i) 
garnishing the Recipient’s compensation under this Agreement or (ii) exercising a right of 
setoff against Recipient’s compensation under this Agreement for any amounts that may be 
due and unpaid to the State of Oregon or its political subdivisions for which the Department 
of Revenue collects debts. 

These remedies are cumulative to the extent the remedies are not inconsistent, and OSMB 
may pursue any remedy or remedies singly, collectively, successively, or in any order 
whatsoever.  

SECTION 24: INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS 

The Parties agree and acknowledge that their relationship is that of independent contracting 
parties and that Recipient is not an officer, employee, or agent of the State of Oregon as those 
terms are used in ORS 30.265 or otherwise. 

SECTION 25: PERSONS NOT TO BENEFIT 

No member of or delegate to Congress, resident commissioner, officer, agent or employee of the 
United States of America, member of the Oregon Legislative Assembly, elected official of the 
State of Oregon, or official, agent, or employee of the State of Oregon, or elected member, officer, 
agent, or employee of any political subdivision, municipality or municipal corporation of the 
State of Oregon shall be admitted to any share or part of this Agreement or derive any financial 
benefit that may arise therefrom. 

SECTION 26: INTENDED BENEFICIARIES 

OSMB and Recipient are the only parties to this Agreement and are the only parties entitled to 
enforce its terms.  Nothing in this Agreement provides, is intended to provide, or may be 
construed to provide any direct or indirect benefit or right to third persons unless such third 
persons are individually identified by name herein and expressly described as intended 
beneficiaries of this Agreement. 

SECTION 27: FORCE MAJEURE 

Neither Party is responsible for any failure to perform or any delay in performance of any 
obligations under this Agreement caused by fire, civil unrest, labor unrest, natural causes, or 
war, which is beyond that Party's reasonable control.  Each Party shall, however, make all 
reasonable efforts to remove or eliminate such cause of failure to perform or delay in 
performance and shall, upon the cessation of the cause, diligently pursue performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement.  OSMB may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to 
Recipient after reasonably determining that the failure or delay will likely prevent successful 
performance of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 28: ASSIGNMENT AND SUCESSORS IN INTEREST 

Recipient may not assign or transfer its interest in this Agreement without the prior written 

Page 66 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 13 of 17

  

consent of OSMB and any attempt by Recipient to assign or transfer its interest in this 
Agreement without such consent will be void and of no force or effect.  OSMB’s consent to 
Recipient’s assignment or transfer of its interest in this Agreement will not relieve Recipient of 
any of its duties or obligations under this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement will be 
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto, and their respective successors and 
permitted assigns. 

SECTION 29: SUBCONTRACTS 

Recipient shall not, without OSMB’s prior written consent, enter into any subcontracts for any 
of the work required of Recipient under this Agreement.  OSMB’s consent to any subcontract 
will not relieve Recipient of any of its duties or obligations under this Agreement. 

SECTION 30: TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE 

Time is of the essence in Recipient’s performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

SECTION 31: MERGER, WAIVER 

This Agreement and all exhibits and attachments, if any, constitute the entire agreement 
between the Parties on the subject matter hereof.  There are no understandings, agreements, or 
representations, oral or written, not specified herein regarding this Agreement.  No waiver or 
consent under this Agreement binds either Party unless in writing and signed by both Parties.  
Such waiver or consent, if made, is effective only in the specific instance and for the specific 
purpose given.  EACH PARTY, BY SIGNATURE OF ITS AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE, 
HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT, UNDERSTANDS IT, AND 
AGREES TO BE BOUND BY ITS TERMS AND CONDITIONS. 

SECTION 32: RECORDS MAINTENANCE AND ACCESS 

Recipient shall maintain all financial records relating to this Agreement in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, Recipient shall maintain any other 
records, books, documents, papers, plans, records of shipments and payments and writings of 
Recipient, whether in paper, electronic or other form, that are pertinent to this Agreement in 
such a manner as to clearly document Recipient's performance. All financial records, other 
records, books, documents, papers, plans, records of shipments and payments and writings of 
Recipient, whether in paper, electronic or other form, that are pertinent to this Agreement, are 
collectively referred to as “Records.” Recipient acknowledges and agrees that OSMB and the 
Oregon Secretary of State's Office and the federal government and their duly authorized 
representatives will have access to all Records to perform examinations and audits and make 
excerpts and transcripts. Recipient shall retain and keep accessible all Records for a minimum 
of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required by applicable law, following 
termination of this Agreement, or until the conclusion of any audit, controversy or litigation 
arising out of or related to this Agreement, whichever date is later. Subject to foregoing 
minimum records retention requirement, Recipient shall maintain Records in accordance with 
the records retention schedules set forth in OAR Chapter 166. 
 

SECTION 33: HEADINGS 

The headings and captions to sections of this Agreement have been inserted for identification 

Page 67 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 14 of 17

  

and reference purposes only and may not be used to construe the meaning or to interpret this 
Agreement. 
 

SECTION 34: ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

Recipient shall comply with the additional requirements set forth in Exhibit C, attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference. 

SECTION 35: AGREEMENT DOCUMENTS 

This Agreement consists of the following documents, which are listed in descending order of 
precedence: this Agreement less all exhibits, the Small Grant Application, attached Exhibit A 
(the Project Timeline), Exhibit B (Certificate of Tax Compliance), and Exhibit C (Additional 
Requirements). 

SECTION 36: SIGNATURES 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates set forth 
below. 

STATE OF OREGON acting by and through its State Marine Board. 

______________________________________________________________________ _____________________ 
Larry Warren, Director Date 

 

Port of Columbia County 

                            
Name/Title               Date 

 

Approved for Legal Sufficiency in accordance with ORS 291.047 

___Approval Authorized by Letter _________________ August 2, 2017 

Steven Marlowe, Assistant Attorney General Date 

Page 68 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 15 of 17

  

EXHIBIT A 

PROJECT TIMELINE 

 

Responsibility Date Description 

OSMB May 2025 Contract awarded, begin work 

OSMB Ongoing 
Provide assistance to Recipient 

throughout process. 

Recipient June 2025 
Receive contractor invoices, issue 

payment and request final 

reimbursement from OSMB. 

OSMB July 2025 
Issue final reimbursement, close the grant 

and term of the grant begins. 

Page 69 of 216 



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 16 of 17

  

EXHIBIT B 

CERTIFICATION OF TAX COMPLIANCE 

The individual signing on behalf of Recipient hereby certifies and swears under penalty of 
perjury to the best of the individual’s knowledge that:   

1.  The number shown on this form is Recipient's correct taxpayer identification;  

Federal Tax Number: 93-6012258 

Oregon Tax Number: 005140901-1 

Unique Identity Identifier: 046401423                                       

2.   Recipient is not subject to backup withholding because: 

(i) Recipient is exempt from backup withholding,  

(ii) Recipient has not been notified by the IRS that Recipient is subject to backup 
withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends, or  

(iii) the IRS has notified Recipient that Recipient is no longer subject to backup 

withholding. 

3.  S/he is authorized to act on behalf of Recipient; s/he has authority and knowledge regarding 

Recipient's payment of taxes,  

4.  For a period of no fewer than six calendar years preceding the Effective Date of this Contract, 
Recipient faithfully has complied with:  

(i) All tax laws of this state, including but not limited to ORS 305.620 and ORS chapters 
316, 317, and 318; 

(ii) Any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this state that applied to 

Recipient, to Recipient’s property, operations, receipts, or income, or to Recipient’s 
performance of or compensation for any work performed by Recipient; 

(iii) Any tax provisions imposed by a political subdivision of this state that applied to 

Recipient, or to goods, services, or property, whether tangible or intangible, provided by 
Recipient; and  

(iv) Any rules, regulations, charter provisions, or ordinances that implemented or 
enforced any of the foregoing tax laws or provisions.  

 

Recipient Signature___________________________________  Date_____________________________________ 

 

Page 70 of 216 

Miriam House
Typewriter
May 20, 2025



SM 2425-24 – Boating Facility Grant: State Funds  Page 17 of 17

  

EXHIBIT C 

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

1. Notify OSMB in advance of when work is scheduled to share information on our 
website, social media and Opportunities and Access Report. 
 

2. Recipient will post notices onsite to inform recreational boaters of when work will be 
happening. 
 

Page 71 of 216 



 

                                                     

Res. 2025-13 
STAFF REPORT  
 
DATE:  June 11, 2025 
TO:  Port Commission 
FROM:               Lacey Tolles, Airport Manager  
RE: Scappoose Airport Runway Rehabilitation Phase III - Bid Approval  
 

Discussion 
The Oregon Department of Aviation (ODAV) commissioned a 2021 study to evaluate the 
pavement at the Scappoose Airport and the runway condition was determined to need 
rehabilitation by 2026. 
 
In 2025, Airport Engineer Century West submitted a Federal Aviation Administration 
(“FAA”) grant on behalf of the Port for Phase III of the Runway Rehabilitation Project.  
Following a public Invitation to Bid process, Century West reviewed the bids under criteria 
established by the FAA which directs that the lowest cost, most responsible bidder be 
selected. The lowest cost, most responsible bid was from Western United Civil Group, 
LLC.  
 
Cost Breakdown 
Total:  $ 3,759,089.00  
FAA 95%  $ 3,571,135.55 
ODAV:  $     147,200.00  
Port:  $        40,754.00 

    
Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution 2025-13, authorizing the Executive Director to sign the attached contract 
with Western United Civil Group, LLC of $ 3,759,089.00 
 

Scappoose Airport 

Runway Rehabilitation Project - 
Bid Award Contract 

Page 72 of 216 



RESOLUTION NO. 2025-13 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE SELECTION OF WESTERN 

UNITED CIVIL GROUP, LLC FOR THE SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT RUNWAY 
REHABILITATION PROJECT 

WHEREAS, the Scappoose Airport has prioritized Runway 15/33 pavement 
rehabilitation in the Airport Master Plan and Capital Improvement Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Oregon Department of Aviation commissioned a 2021 study to 
evaluate the pavement at the Scappoose Airport and the runway condition was 
determined to need rehabilitation by 2026; and   

WHEREAS, Port staff and Century West (“Port Airport Engineer of Record”) 

solicited an Invitation to Bid under FAA rules and received two bids; and 

WHEREAS, Port staff and the Port Airport Engineer of Record thoroughly 
evaluated the bid and selected Western United Civil Group, LLC as the lowest cost, 
responsible bidder who provides lasting quality, excellent workmanship and professional 
service; and 

WHEREAS, Port staff finds the Scope of Work reasonable at $3,759,089.12.  
 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia County 

as follows:  

The Board authorizes the Executive Director to execute a contract for the Runway 
Rehabilitation Project with Western United Civil Group, LLC in the amount of 
$3,759,089.12.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of June 11, 2025, by the following vote: 

AYES: _____             NAYS: _____  Port of Columbia County 

ABSTAIN: ______ 

By:  __________________________ 
 President 

Attested By:  

 

__________________________ 
Secretary 

Page 73 of 216 



 
 

SCAPPOOSE RUNWAY REHABILITATION PROJECT 
A.I.P. PROJECT No. 3-41-0056-034-2025 

PROJECT AGREEMENT 
 
THIS Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into this ___day, of _________, 2025, by and between 
Western United Civil Group LLC (“Contractor”), with an address of 26819 173rd Street E, 
Buckly, Washington, 98321 and the PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY, a municipal corporation 
and Port District of the State of Oregon, with an address of P.O. Box 190, Columbia City, Oregon 
97018 (“the Port”). 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual undertakings and subject to the terms set 
forth below and intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as follows:  
 
1. SERVICES: The Contractor will commence the work required by the Contract Documents 
(Exhibit 1, Linked here: Exhibit 1: Project Documents  within 10 calendar days after the date of 
the notice to proceed and complete the construction within 24 days unless the period for 
completion is extended otherwise by written agreement. 
 
(“Project”). See Exhibit 2 attached and incorporated by reference, (collectively hereinafter 
referred to as the “Services”). This Agreement is for all Services proposed and purchased from 

Contractor, including labor, equipment, any necessary materials beyond those that may be 
provided by the Port, overhead, ancillary costs, profit, and any other aspect of performance 
contemplated in this Agreement. 
 
2.  COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT:  See Exhibit 2 for reference. The total cost for the 
Services is agreed to be $3,759,089.12, not to exceed $$3,759,089.12, for all upgrades, subject to 
additional costs or credits as jointly agreed upon by the Contractor and the Port, per Section 6.  
The Contractor agrees to perform all the Services described in the full Invitation to Bid Contract 
Documents attached as Exhibit 1, incorporated by reference. The Port retains the right to calculate 
and hold back retainage until such time as full performance of all project Services is confirmed by 
the Port.  
 
3.  INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR:  Contractor shall be fully independent and shall not act as 
an agent or employee of the Port.  Contractor shall be solely responsible for its employees and 
subcontractors, and for their compensation, benefits, contributions, and taxes, if any.  Contractor 
to comply with all applicable regulations of the Oregon Bureau of Labor and Industries (BOLI), 
as may be required by law. 
 
4.  INSURANCE:  Contractor shall carry Worker’s Compensation Insurance as required by 

applicable law and Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily 
injury and property damages.  Contractor shall procure, and continuously maintain during the term 

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

June1st

Page 74 of 216 

https://portsthelens.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/Ed2Q7wtezm9HkHCpYm0V0UoBNAhhtCrJTBvBS4ySK--WqQ?e=CXbWrF


of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability Insurance with 
combined single limits, or their equivalent, of not less than $2,000,000.00 for each occurrence and 
a $4,000,000.00 aggregate for bodily injury and/or property damage.  It shall also include 
contractual liability coverage for the indemnity provided under this Agreement, shall name the 
Port as an Additional Insured under the liability provisions, and shall be in sufficient form to 
protect both Contractor and Port against claims of third persons for personal injury, death or 
property damage arising from the service performed by Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  
Contractor is to provide proof of such insurance in the form of a Certificate or similar instrument 
within 30 days of contract execution or prior to Contractor entering the Property or doing any work 
on the Project, whichever occurs first.  The Port requires and shall be entitled to any broader 
coverage and/or higher policy limits maintained by the Contractor. Any and all available insurance 
proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available 
to the Contractor. 
 
5.  PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTS AND CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS -- REQUIRED 
CONDITIONS:  Contractor understands and agrees or certifies that: 

A. They are registered, and licensed and bonded as a specialty or general contractor in 
the State of Oregon and that such registration license and bond shall remain in full force 
and effect throughout the entire duration of this contract. 
B. If Contractor fails, neglects, or refuses to make prompt payment of any claim for 
labor or services furnished to the contractor or a subcontractor by any person, or the 
assignee of the person, in connection with the public works contract as such claim becomes 
due, the proper officer or officers of the public agency may pay such claim and charge the 
amount of the payment against funds due or to become due the contractor by reason of the 
contract, per ORS 279C.515.  
C. No person will be employed for more than 10 hours in any one day, or 40 hours in 
any one week except in cases of necessity, emergency, or where the public policy 
absolutely requires it, and in such cases the person so employed must be paid at least time 
and one-half the regular rate of pay for all time worked: 
(1) For all overtime in excess of eight hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when the 
work week is five consecutive days, Monday through Friday; or  

(2) For all overtime in excess of 10 hours a day or 40 hours in any one week when 
the work week if four consecutive days, Monday through Friday; and  

(3) For all work performed on Saturday and on any legal holiday specified in ORS 
279C.540, and per ORS 279C.520 (1). 
D. The contractor must give notice to employees who work on this contract in writing, 
either at the time of hire or before commencement of work on the contract, or by posting a 
notice in a location frequented by employees, of the number of hours per day and days per 
week that the employees may be required to work, per ORS 279C.520 (2). 
E. Contractor must promptly, as due, make payment to any person, co-partnership, 
association or corporation, furnishing medical, surgical and hospital care or other needed 
care and attention, incident to sickness or injury, to employees of such contractor, of all 
sums which the contractor agrees to pay for such services and all moneys and sums which 
the contractor collected or deducted from the wages of the contractor's employees pursuant 
to any law, contract or agreement for the purpose of providing or paying for such service, 
per ORS 279C.530. 

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 75 of 216 



F. Contractor acknowledges they understand Prevailing Wage Laws and associated 
requirements. Projects over $50,000 are to be paid prevailing wage rates per the prevailing 
wage provisions of ORS 279C.800-870 when applicable. Contractor to comply with all 
applicable regulations of the Oregon Bureau of Labor and Industries (BOLI), as may be 
required by law. 
G. Contractor is required to have a public works bond filed with the Construction 
Contractors Board before starting work on the project, unless exempt under ORS 
279C.836(4), (7), (8) or (9), and require such a bond in every subcontract unless exempt 
under the same ORS provisions. 

 
6.  CHANGES:  To be coordinated and negotiated by the Port and Contractor before 
commencement of any work identified as a result.  The Contractor is to communicate the additional 
requirement(s) prior to commencement of any additional work and to provide an estimate of 
expected time and costs for the expected additional work.  Upon receipt, and after review and 
agreement, the Port will issue a change order authorizing the additional work.  Based on the change 
order, supplemental compensation may be authorized per Section 3.  Likewise, should any work 
specified in Exhibit 1 be determined not to be necessary or desired in the course of the project, 
the initiating party will notify the other and a written change order will be produced and agreed to 
by both parties.  In that case, a credit to the Port may be authorized per Section 3. 
 
7.  PORT RESPONSIBILITIES:  The Port agrees to: (i) provide Contractor all available material, 
data, and information pertaining to the Project or the Services; (ii) convey and discuss such 
material, data and information with Contractor; (iii) ensure cooperation of Port employees; and 
(iv) assist in a liaison capacity with any tenants currently leasing or renting any facilities, buildings 
or other structures that may be impacted by the Services. 
 
8.  INDEMNIFICATION:   

A. Contractor agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the Port, including its 
Commissioners, officers, volunteers, agents and employees, (using legal counsel 
acceptable and approved by Port) for, from and against any and all costs, claims, actions, 
liabilities or expenses (including, without limitation, all costs, demands, charges, suits, 
judgments, fines, penalties, liabilities, debts, attorneys’ fees and causes of action), of 

whatsoever nature of character, including without limitation, claims, losses and expenses 
for property damage, bodily injury or death, which may be imposed upon or claimed 
against or incurred by the Port and which arise from any of the following, except and to 
the extent resulting from the Port’s gross negligence or willful misconduct: (a) any act, 
omission or negligence of the Contractor or the Contractor’s partners, officers, directors, 

agents, employees, invitees or Subcontractors; (b) any use, occupation, management or 
control of Port property by the Contractor or the Contractor’s employees, agents, 

subcontractors, or suppliers, whether or not due to the Contractor’s own act or omission 

and whether or not occurring on Port property; (c) any condition created on Port property 
by the Contractor or the Contractor’s employees, agents, Subcontractors, or suppliers, and 
any accident, injury or damage arising from the condition; (d) any breach, violation or 
nonperformance of any of the Contractor’s obligations under this Contract; or (e) any 

damage caused by the Contractor or the Contractor’s employees, agents, subcontractors, or 

suppliers on or to Port property. 

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 76 of 216 



B. Waiver of Subrogation.  Each party waives any right of action that it and/or its 
insurance carrier(s) might have against the other party (or its commissioners, employees 
and agents) for any loss, cost, damage, or expense (collectively, “Loss”) covered by any 
property insurance policy or policies maintained or required to be maintained pursuant to 
this Agreement.  If any party’s applicable insurance policies do not allow the insured to 

waive the insurer’s rights of recovery prior to a Loss, such party shall cause such policies 
to be endorsed to allow the waivers of subrogation required by this Section.  
 

9.  SITE ACCESS:  The Port shall provide unimpeded and timely access to any site necessary for 
the successful and timely completion of Services per this Agreement.   
 
10.  SAFETY:  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to furnish safety devices and safeguards to 
its employees as well as any other workers under its direct supervision. Furthermore, the 
Contractor shall adopt and use safe practices, methods, operations and processes while performing 
the Services under this contract.  The Contractor is liable for all fines, including fines and costs 
incurred by the Port due to labor and industry violations directly attributable to the Contractor. 
 
11.  SEVERABILITY:  If any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms 
and provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of Contractor and the Port shall 
be construed as if this Agreement did not contain the particular term or provision held invalid. 
 
12.  GOVERNING LAW:  This agreement shall be governed by, interpreted under and construed 
and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon. Any litigation arising out of this 
agreement shall be brought in Columbia County, Oregon, with the substantially prevailing party 
entitled to legal fees and costs including but not limited to those incurred in negotiation, mediation, 
arbitration, litigation and appeal. 
 
13.  FORCE MAJEURE:  Neither party shall be liable for any delay or inability to perform caused 
by: act of God; extremely adverse weather conditions, strikes or labor troubles, hostilities, war or 
government action; act of terrorism; riot or civil commotion; fire or explosion; and/or any other 
similar or dissimilar circumstances which arises and is not within the direct control of a party. 
 
14.  COUNTERPARTS:  This agreement may be executed in counterparts each of which shall be 
deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument.  A facsimile or PDF electronically sent signature hereto shall be deemed equivalent to 
an original. 
 
15.  TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE:  The Port, may, without cause and at any time, 
terminate this Agreement, in whole or in part, by written notice to the Contractor.  In the event of 
such termination, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment for work performed and 
demobilization. Contractor will not be entitled to any other costs, damages, or allowances for 
overhead or profit on work not performed or provided.  
 
16.  LIENS:  The Contractor agrees that if any lien is filed or if a claim of any nature is asserted 
against the Port on account of any obligation of the Contractor, the Contractor shall, within five 

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 77 of 216 



(5) days thereafter, at its own cost and expense, cause such lien or claim to be satisfied or 
discharged. The Contractor’s failure to do so shall constitute a default hereunder. 
 
17.  ATTORNEYS’ FEES:   If any suit, action, or arbitration is instituted to interpret or enforce 

the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other party 
such sums as a court may adjudge reasonable as attorneys' fees at trial, on appeal, or on any 
petition for review, and in any proceedings in bankruptcy or arbitration, in addition to all other 
sums provided by law. 
 
18.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Agreement, with its Exhibits, constitutes the entire Agreement 
between Contractor and the Port for the Services.  All understandings and agreements between 
Contractor and Port and representations by either party concerning this Agreement are contained 
within this Agreement.  No waiver, consent, modification, amendment or change in the terms of 
this Agreement shall bind either party unless in writing and signed by both parties.  Any written 
waiver, consent, modification, amendment or change only in the specific instance and for the 
specific purpose given.   
 
IN WITNESS hereof, Contractor and the Port, having caused their respective duly 
authorized representatives to sign this Agreement, do hereby acknowledge that they have 
read this Agreement, understand it, and agree to be bound by its terms and conditions as of 
the Effective Date listed above.  
 
 
 
CONTRACTOR         PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 
 
 
By:  _____________________________      By:  ______________________________ 
 
Name: ___________________________      Name:  _Sean P. Clark________________  
 
Title:  ____________________________     Title:  __Executive Director ___________ 
 
 
 

Exhibit 2 (Insert Contractor Bid) 

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Josiah Thomas

Owner

Signer ID: LSJPKIR015...

Page 78 of 216 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY

SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT

RUNWAY 1 5.33 REHABILITATION PROJECT

A.l.P. PROJECT No. 3-41 -0056-034-2025

BIDDER'S CHECKLIST

To all Plan Holders and/or Prospective Bidders:

Use the following checklist to ensure that your bid package is complete upon submittal to the
Owner on the date listed in the lnvitation to Bid. This checklist has been prepared and furnished
to aid Bidders in including all necessary supporting information with their bid. Bidder's submittals
shall include, but are not limited to, the following:

Ghecked

, including "Evidence
\^/

ink or tvoed
\/

allAddend"**"
I addenda are in

(

'/
(
(
(

(

1 0. Buy American Certification.

11. Bidder's Bond or other Security. lnclude an executed Bid Bond or other
Security in the amount of ten percent (1lo/o) of the total bid amount.

12. Power-of-Attorney for Surety's Agent to execute Bidder's Bond.

{
acceptable Bid

\/

1. Contractor's Qualification Statement, in accordance with Section 20-02
of Competency" and "Evidence of Financial Responsibility".

2. Proposal (Bid) Fully Executed. Complete the Proposal in clearly written
characters. Changes may be made provided allchanges are initialed.

3. Acknowledgement of Addenda (on Proposal). Acknowledge receipt of
are strongly encouraged to contact the Owner/Engineer to verify that al
hand prior to submittal of the bid package.

4. Certification of Non-segregated Facilities.

5. Bidder's Statement on previous contracts subject to EEO Clause.

6. Letter of lntent (if DBE subcontractors are to be used).

7. Restrictions of Federal Public Works Projects.

8. Tax Delinquency and Felony Convictions.

9. Bidders Certification.

13. Complete and submit the First-tier
the advertisement for bids. Failure
declared "non-responsive".

14. Bidders List. The Bidder shall submit the name, address, DBE status, ?ge, and gross
receipts of all firms bidding or quoting subcontracts on DOT-assisted projects. The attached

Subcontractors Disclosure Form prior to the time listed in
to submit the disclosure form will result in the bid beinq

,,/ "

form in the Proposal shall be used to report
submitted with the Bidder's sealed proposal

this information. The Bidders List shall bz

15. Submit the bid package, prior to the Bid Closing time, at the place indicated
to Bid. The bid package shall be enclosed in an opaque, sealed envelope,
project title, date of the opening, and the name and address of the Bidder.

in the lnvitation
marked with ther

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING BIDDER'S CHECKLIST APRIL2025 | +rzaos.oos.or

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 79 of 216 

Lacey Tolles
Typewriter
Exhibit 2



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY
SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT

RUNWAY 15.33 REHABILITATION PROJECT

A.l.P. PROJECT No. 3-41 -0056-034-2025

TO: Lacey Tolles, Airport Coordinator
Port of Columbia County
100 E Street
Columbia City, Oregon 97018

Contractor Western United CivilGrouo LLC

Contractor's State License No. 239867

Contractor's State Tax Reg. No 87-2053907

Federal Tax lD No. 87-2053907

This Proposal is submitted as an offer by the undersigned, having examined the Contract
Documents and considered all conditions to be encountered, to enter into a Contract with the Port
of Columbia County ("Owner") to furnish all labor, materials, and equipment, and to perform all
work necessary to complete this project, in accordance with the Contract Documents, in
consideration of the amounts stated in this Proposal.

BIDDERS DECLARATION:

The undersigned, hereinafter called the Bidder, declares that the only persons or parties
interested in this proposal are those named herein, that this proposal is, in all respects, fair and
without fraud, that it is made without collusion with any official of the Owner, and that the proposal
is made without any connection or collusion with any person making another proposal on this
contract.

The Bidder further declares that the Bidder has carefully examined the Contract Documents for
the construction of the project, that the Bidder has personally inspected the site, that the Bidder
is satisfied as to the quantities involved, including the fact that the description of the quantities of
work and materials, as included herein, is brief and is intended only to indicate the general nature
of the work and to identify the said quantities with the detailed requirements of the Contract
Documents, and that this proposal is made according to the provisions and under the terms of
the Contract Documents, which documents are hereby made a part of this proposal.

The Bidder further declares that the provisions required pertaining to Federal and State prevailing
wage rates shall be included in his contract and wilt be complied with.

The Bidder further agrees that the Bidder has exercised the Bidder's own judgment regarding
the interpretation of subsurface information and has utilized all data believed to be pertinent
from the Engineer, Owner, and other sources in arriving at the Bidder's conclusions.

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL -1 of20 APRIL 2025 | +rzaoo.ooo.or

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 80 of 216 



coArsTRUc TIME LIMITS:

The Bidder agrees to begin work within ten (10) calendar days after the date of the Port's written
Notice to Proceed and to substantially complete the construction of all work within Seventy-five
(75) calendar days, with a final completion date at ninety (90) days. Contract time will commence
on the Notice to Proceed date.

ln the event that certain items not required for substantial completion, as defined in the
Supplementary Conditions herein, but required for final completion of the work as put forth in this
Contract Document fail to arrive at the work site in time to be properly installed during normal
working hours within the time allowed for substantial completion of the work, then an allowance
of not more than thirty (30) calendar days following the receipt of the last item required will be
given to the Contractor to effect the final completion of said work.

NOTICE TO PROCEED:

The Owner reserves the right to delay the Notice to Proceed until such time that soil conditions
and weather conditions are conducive to efficient construction and project funds are secured.
No work shall begin prior to issuance of Notice to Proceed by the Owner.

No adjustments will be made to the pricing established in this proposal regardless of when Notice
to Proceed is issued. No work shall begin prior to issuance of Notice to Proceed by the Owner.

Notice to Proceed for work segments shall be as follows:

1. NTP for commencement of material, product and equipment submittals process;
Production and/or procurement of materials and long lead-time items for construction.
NTP is anticipated on or about August 25, 2025, at the convenience of the Owner. The
NTP is contingent on the Port receiving the FAA grant funding.

2. Notice to Proceed for construction is anticipated on or around August 25, 2025, at the
convenience of the Owner. No adjustments will be made to the pricing established in this
proposal regardless of when Notice to Proceed is issued. The NTP is contingent on the
Port receiving the FAA grant funding.

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES:

The Owner shall be entitled to liquidated damages of $2,000 per calendar day, for non-use, and
for failure of the Bidder to complete the work within the specified contract time. ln addition, for
work restrictions that have daily time certain (specific work hour) requirements, the liquidated
damages will be assessed at an hourly rate of $100 per hour, for non-use.

ln addition:

A. The Bidder further agrees to pay liquidated damages for expenses incurred by the Owner
for unscheduled employment of the Engineer during the contract time overrun.

B. As compensation for expenses incurred for unscheduled employment of the Engineer, the
Contractor shall be assessed an additional liquidated damage equal to the expense
incurred for each day that the work remains uncompleted beyond the contract period. The

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL -2of20 APRIL 2o2s | *tz+oo.ooo.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 81 of 216 



liquidated damage amounts shall also apply to phases or work areas that have limited or
specific time constraints.

C. The Bidder further agrees to pay liquidated damages according to the following hourly
rates for the unscheduled employment of the Engineer necessitated by the Contractor:

1. Working more than ten (10) hours per day, more than five (5) days per week and
Saturdays (time and one-half), and holidays, and Sundays (double time).

2. Furnishing materials or equipment not in conformance with Contract Documents
necessitating redesign by the Engineer.

3. Working beyond the time of completion established in the Notice to Proceed with
Construction.

D. The Engineering budget will be analyzed at the end of the project to determine whether
any unscheduled employment of the Engineer, durinq the scheduled contract time,
resulted in a cost savings to the Owner. lf, as a result of working more than ten hours per
day, five days per week, the Contractor completes the project within the scheduled time,
and if the overtime results in a reduced contract time and cost savings to the Owner, no
liquidated damages will be assessed for the unscheduled employment of the Engineer
durinq the scheduled contract time. Liquidated damages will be assessed as stipulated for
each day the work remains uncompleted beyond the scheduled contract time.

Straiqht
Time

Time and One-Half
Mon.-Sat.

Double Time Sundavs
and Holidavs

Engineer $175.00/Hr. $175.00/Hr $175.00/Hr

Resident Project Rep. $120.00/Hr $180.00/Hr $240.00iHr

Out of Pocket Cost
material, equipment,
su pplies, transportation,
subsistence

At
Cost+10%

At cost+10% At Cost+10%

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL-3of20 APRIL 2o2s | *tzaos.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 82 of 216 



BASIS OF AWARD:

Bidders must bid all portions and bid schedules for all of the work. The bidder understands that
the award shall be made to the lowest responsible and responsive bidder for the total of Schedule
A and Schedule B. The Owner reserves the right to withdraw any item(s) orAlternates from award
consideration. Contract is subject to receipt of FAA grant funding.

DBE GOAL:

Contract Goals: 9.0% goal has been established for this project.

Bidders List: The Bidder shall submit the name, address, DBE status, ?ge, and gross receipts
of all firms bidding or quoting subcontracts on DOT-assisted projects. The attached form in the
Proposal shall be used to report this information. The Bidders List shall be submitted with the
Bidder's sealed proposal.

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL-5of2O APRIL2o2s | +rzaos.oos.or

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 83 of 216 



SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT . RUNWAY 15.33 REHABILITATION PROJECT PHASE III

BID PRICING FORMS

Bidder Gompany Name: Western United Civil Group LLC City, State: Yacolt. WA

ESTIMATE OF QUANTITIES: Quantities indicated below are intended to serve only as a guide to Bidders, and are not to be construed as a
guarantee. All quantities are estimated, and are for Bid purposes only. Payment will be made based on actual, measured quantities.

The bidder proposes to furnish all material, equipment and labor, and perfom all work for the Port of Columbia County, in strict accordance with
the invitation to Bid and Specifications attached, on the basis of the lump sum and unit prices as follows:

TOTAL BID SCHEDULE A:
16
15
I 4
13
1 2
11

1 0
I
B

7
6
5
4
3
2
1

BID SCHEDULE A. RUNWAY REHABILITATION

Bid
Item

Seedinq (ltem T-901-5.1 )

Temoorary Runwav and Taxiwav Markino (ltem P-620-5.3)
Markinq (ltem P-620-5.2)
Emulsified Asphalt Tack Coat (ltem P-603-5.1)
Emulsified Asphalt Prime Coat (ltem P-602-5,1)
Asohalt Surface Course (ltem P-401-8.1)
Crushed Aqgreqate Base Course (ltem P-209-5.1)
Seoaration Geotextile (ltem P-209-5.2)
Unclassified Excavation (ltem P-1 52-4.1 )
Cold Millino (ltem P-101-5.3)
Pavement Removal (ltem P-101-5.1)
Temporarv Erosion Control Measures (ltem C-102-5.1b)
lnstallation and Removal of Silt Fence (ltem C-102-5.1a)
Construction Stakins (Section 01406)
Temporary Flaoqinq, Markins and Siqninq (Section 01300)
Mobilization (ltem C-1 05)

Description

KSF
SF
SF

GAL
GAL
TON
CY
SY
CY
SY
SY
LS
LF
LS
LS
LS

Unit

100
27,256
27,256

5,873
3.544
9,913
5.220

11,807
5.220

48,939
11,807

1

11,700
1

1

1

Estimated
Quantitv

$200.00
$1 20
$1.00
$5.00
$5 00

$157.00
$A7 00
$2.00

$42.50
$3.30

$9.46
$20,000.00
$4.69
$6s,000.00
$40,000.00

$370,000.00

Unit
Price

$3,101 ,659.12

$20,000.00
s32.707.20
$27,256.00
$29,365.00
$17,720.00
$1.556.341.00
s34q 74n OO

$23.614.00
$221.850.00

$161 .498.70
$111.694.22

$20,000.00
s54 873 00
s65.000.00
$40 000 00
$370.000.00

Extended
Price

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL-6of20 APRIL 2025 | xzaos.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 84 of 216 



Bid
Item

Estimated Unit
Price

Extended
PriceDesc n Unit

BID SCHEDULE B. RUNWAY REPLACEMENT
1 Removal of Existi Item L-125-5 EA 70

$6 720 00
$2,800.00

$13 440 00
$1 .120.00
$16,800.00

$1 .120.00
$13,400,00
$10,000.00
$12,300.00
$2,800.00
$5,000.00
$7,840.00
$64,800.00

$21,600.00

$0.00
$15.500.00
$96,000.00

$133,650.00

$50.400.00

$33,930.00

$38,610.00

$85.000.00
$12.000.00

$560.00
$2.800.00
s6 720 nO

$1 120 00
$16.800.00
$1.120.00
$13,400.00
b10,000.00
$1 2 30n OO

$2.800.00
$5,000.00
ssAO OO

sl 350 00

$1,350.00

$o 00
s15.500.00
$48.000.00

$13.50
$2 80

$3.e0

$3.e0

s8.500.00
s6.000.00

12
1

2
1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

14
48

16
0
1

2

9,900
18,000

8.700

9,900
1 0
2

EA
EA
EA
LS
EA
LS
LS
LS
LS
EA
EA
EA
EA

EA
EA
EA
EA

LF
LF

LF

LF
EA
EA

Removalof Existino Guidance Siqns (ltem L-125-5.1)
Requlator and Existinq ElectricalVault Equipment Removal (ltem L-109-7.6)
Removalof Existino PAPIs (ltem L-125-5,6)
Removal of Existinq REILs (ltem L-125-5.8)
New 7,5 kW Constant Current Requlator (ltem L-109-7.1)
New work in the existing electrical panelboard (ltem L-109-7.2)
lnstallation of Equipment within existinq vault (ltem L-109-7.3)
Liqhtino Control Panel - 4 Relay (ltem L-109-7,4)
New L-854 pilot control paneland radio (ltem L-109-7.5)
PAPI Boost Transformer (ltem L-125-5.12)
Electrical Handhole (ltem L-1 15-5,1 )

L-867 Juction Base Can tem L-115-5.
Medium Ru hts D L-861 Item L-125-5
Medium lntensity Runway Threshold Lights (LED; L-86 1SE(L)) (ltem L-125-
5.11
Medium lnten L hts 1.861 L Item L-125-5,4

I ht E LE tem L-125-5.9
Precision Path lndicators I 4 L-BBO Item L-125-5

Non-encased, 1-way 2" PVC Electrical Conduit and Trenching (ltem L-110-

5.1
No. 8 AWG 5kv C Cable lnstalled in Conduit L-1 08-5.1

No, 6 AWG with No, B AWG GND, 600V, THWN-2 or XHHW-2 Cable,
lnstalled in Conduit Cable Item L-108-5
No. 6 AWG, Solid, Bare Copper Counterpoise Wire, lnstalled in

Trench/Above the Conduit lncluding Connectionsfferminations (ltem L-1 0B-

5,3
Hold Si NS mL-125-5.1
Exit Si ns Item L-125-5.

2
3
4
5
6
7
B

9
10
11

12
13
14

15
16
16
17

1 B

1 I

20

2 1

22
23

TOTAL BID SCHEDULE B:

TOTAL BID: A+B $3,759,089.12

ADDENDUM 1&2INCLADED

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL -7 of 20 APR|L 2025 | +tZ+O0.OOS.O1

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 85 of 216 



BID BOND:

Accompanying this Proposal is a certified check, cashier's check or bid bond payable to the Port
of Columbia County, Oregon, in the sum of:

10/" ol Total bid Dollars t0% ), said
amount being equal to ten percent (10%) of the Total Bid Amount, based on the foregoing prices.
lf this proposal shall be accepted by the Port of Columbia County and the undersigned shall fail to
execute a satisfactory Public lmprovement Contract, performance bond, and payment bond within
seven (7) days from the date of the Notice of Award, then the Owner may, at its option, determine
that the undersigned has abandoned the Contract and thereupon this proposal shall be null and
void, and the above check or bond accompanying this proposal shall be forfeited to and become
the property of the Owner.

PUBLIC WORKS BOND:

For projects over $100,000, before starting work on a contract or subcontract for a public works
project, a contractor or subcontractor shall comply with the requirements of ORS 279C.836, and
related Oregon Administrative Rules, pertaining to the filing of a Public Works Bond.

P REVAI LI NG WAG E STATEM ENT :

The undersigned Bidder declares by the signing of this Bid that the provisions required by ORS
279C.840, or by the U.S. Secretary of Labor, whichever is greater, pertaining to prevailing wage
rates are included in this Bid, and that the Bidder will comply with said requirements throughout
the duration of the contract.

'VO'V.D'SC 
RI M I N ATI O N STATEM ENT :

By signing and submitting a Bid to the City, Bidder certifies that bidder has not discriminated and
will not discriminate against a disadvantaged business enterprise, a minority-owned business, a
woman-owned business, a business that a service-disabled veteran owns or an emerging small
business in awarding a subcontract.

ADDENDA:

By signing and submitting this Proposal fo the Owner, the Bidder represenfs thatthe Bidder
has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents, and other data identified in
the Contract Documents, and the following Addenda, receipt of which is hereby
acknowledged:

ADDENDUM NO. ADDENDUM DATE

1 05/09t2025

2 05/12t2025

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL-8of20 FEBRUARY zozs | *tz+os.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 86 of 216 



GERTIFICATION OF NONSEGREGATED FACILITIES

The federally-assisted construction contractor certifies that she or he does not maintain or
provide, for his employees, any segregated facilities at any of his establishments and that she or
he does not permit his employees to perform their services at any location, under his control,
where segregated facilities are maintained. The federally-assisted construction contractor
certifies that she or he will not maintain or provide, for his employees, segregated facilities at any
of his establishments and that she or he will not permit his employees to perform their services at
any location under his control where segregated facilities are maintained. The federally-assisted
construction contractor agrees that a breach of this certification is a violation of the Equal
Opportunity Clause in this contract.

As used in this certification, the term "segregated facilities" means any waiting rooms, work areas,
restrooms, and washrooms, restaurants and other eating areas, time clocks, locker rooms and
other storage or dressing areas, parking lots, drinking fountains, recreation or entertainment
areas, transportation, and housing facilities provided for employees which are segregated by
explicit directives or are, in fact, segregated on the basis of race, color, religion, or national origin
because of habit, local custom, or any other reason. The federally-assisted construction
contractor agrees that (except where she or he has obtained identical certifications from proposed
subcontractors for specific time periods) she or he will obtain identical certifications from proposed
subcontractors prior to the award of subcontracts exceeding $10,000 which are not exempt from
the provisions of the Equal Opportunity Clause and that she or he will retain such certifications in
his files.

Certification: The information above is true and complete to the best of my knowledge and belief

Josiah Thomas / Owner
Name and Title of type)

ost15/2025
Signature Date

NOTE:The penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.C. 1001

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 10 of20 FEBRUARY zozs | *tz+osooo.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 87 of 216 



BIDDER'S STATEMENT ON PREVIOUS
CONTRACTORS SUBJECT TO EEO CLAUSE

The Bidder (proposer) nas 7 has not participated in a previous contract
subject to the nondiscrimination clause prescribed by Section 202 of Executive Order No. 11246
dated September 24, 1965.

The Bidder (proposer) nas { had not submitted compliance reports in
connection with any such contract as required by applicable instructions.

lf the Bidder (proposer) has participated in a previous contract subject to the nondiscrimination
clause and has not submitted compliance reports as required by applicable instructions, the
Bidder (proposer) shall submit Standard Form 100 (forfederal construction contracts) with the bid
or proposal indicating current compliance.

Josiah Thomas / Owner
Name and Title of

Signature Date

tvpe)

05t15t2025

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 11 ot 20 FEBRUARY zozs | +rzaos.oos.or

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 88 of 216 



RESTRICTION ON FEDERAL PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS

(a) General: This clause implements provisions contained in the Airport and airway Safety and
Capacity Expansion Act of 1987, Public Law No. 100223.

(b) Restrictions on Contract Award: No contract will be awarded to a bidder (1) who is owned or
controlled by one or more citizens or nationals of a foreign country included on the list of
countries that discriminate against U.S. firms, published by the United States Trade
Representative (USTR) or (2) whose subcontractors are owned or controlled by one or more
citizens or nationals of a foreign country on such USTR list or (3) who incorporates in the
project any production of a foreign country on such USTR List; unless a waiver to these
restrictions is granted by the President of the United States or the Secretary of Transportation.
(Notice of the granting of a waiver will be published in the Federal Register.)

(c) Certification: By this page the bidder certifies that with respect to this solution, and any
resultant contract the bidder:

1. ls 

- 

ls not y' 
^contractor 

of a foreign country included on the USTR list;

2. Has 

- 
Has not y'entered into any contract with a subcontractor of a foreign country

included on the USTR list;

3. Has 

- 
Has not y' entered into any contract for any product to be used on this project

that is produced in a foreign country included on the USTR list.

(d) The bidder may rely upon the certification of a prospective subcontractor for the above
conditions unless the bidder has knowledge that the certification is erroneous.

(e) Erroneous Certification: This certification is a material representation of fact upon which
reliance was placed when making the award. lf it is later determined that the bidder knowingly
rendered an erroneous certification, the sponsor may cancel this contract for default at no cost
to the sponsor.

(f) Subcontracts: The bidder shall incorporate this clause, without modification, including this
paragraph (f) in all solicitations and subcontracts under this contract.

(g) Applicability of 18 U.S.C. 1001: This certification concerns a matterwithin the jurisdiction of
the federal Aviation Administration and the making of a false or fraudulent certification may
render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18, Unites States Code, Section 1001.

Firm Name

Authorized Signature:

Title:

Date: 0511512025

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 13 of 20 FEBRUARY zozs | +tzaoe.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 89 of 216 



BIDDER'S CERTIFICATION

The Bidder hereby certifies that neither the Bidder nor the Bidder's principals are presently
debarred, suspended or proposed for debarment by any federal agency. Bidder further agrees to
include this clause in all subcontracts. Where the Bidder or any subcontractors is unable to certify
to this statement on explanation shall be attached to this proposal.

Firm Name: Western United CivilGro LLC

Authorized Signature:

Title

Date: 0511512025

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 14 of 2O FEBRUARY 2ozs | +tzaos.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 90 of 216 



Gertificate of Buv America Compliance for Manufactured Products
(Non-build ing construction projects, equ ipment acquisition projects)

PROJEGT NAME: Runway 1 5-33 Rehabilitation Project

AIRPORT NAME: Scappoose Airport

AIP NUMBER 3-41-0056-034-2025

Certificate of Buy American Compliance for Manufactured Products

As a matter of bid responsiveness, the bidder or offeror must complete, sign, date, and submit
this certification statement with their proposal. The bidder or offeror must indicate how they
intend to comply with 49 USC S 50101 by selecting one on the following certification
statements. These statements are mutually exclusive. Bidder must select one or the other
(not both) by inserting a checkmark (/) or the letter "X".

El eidOer or offeror hereby certifies that it will comply with 49 USC S 50101 by:

a) Only installing steel and manufactured products produced in the United States;
b) lnstalling manufactured products for which the Federal Aviation Administration

(FAA) has issued a waiver as indicated by inclusion on the current FAA
Nationwide Buy American Waivers lssued listing; or

c) lnstalling products listed as an Excepted Article, Material or Supply in Federal
Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25. 1 08.

By selecting this certification statement, the bidder or offeror agrees:
L To provide to the Owner evidence that documents the source and origin of the

steel and manufactured product.
2. To faithfully comply with providing U.S. domestic product.

3. To furnish U.S. domestic product for any waiver request that the FAA rejects
4. To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract,

unless extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.

E ttre bidder or offeror hereby certifies it cannot comply with the 100 percent Buy
American Preferences of 49 USC S 50101(a) but may qualify for either a Type 3 or
Type 4 waiver under 49 USC S 50101(b). By selecting this certification statement, the
apparent bidder or offeror with the apparent low bid agreesl

1. To the submit to the Owner within 15 calendar days of the bid opening, a

formalwaiver request and required documentation that supports the type of
waiver being requested.

2. That failure to submit the required documentation within the specified
timeframe is cause for a non-responsive determination may result in rejection

of the proposal.

3. To faithfully comply with providing U.S. domestic products at or above the
approved U.S. domestic content percentage as approved by the FAA.

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 15 of 20 FEBRUARY2ozS | +tzaos.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 91 of 216 



To refrain from seeking a waiver request after establishment of the contract,
unless extenuating circumstances emerge that the FAA determines justified.

Required Documentation

Type 3 Waiver - The cost of the item components and subcomponents produced in the
United States is more that 60 percent of the cost of all components and subcomponents of the
"item". The required documentation for a Type 3 waiver is:

a) Listing of all product components and subcomponents that are not comprised of
100 percent U.S. domestic content (Excludes products listed on the FAA
Nationwide Buy American Waivers lssued listing and products excluded by
Federal Acquisition Regulation Subpart 25.108; products of unknown origin must
be considered as non-domestic products in their entirety).

b) Cost of non-domestic components and subcomponents, excluding labor costs
associated with final assembly at place of manufacture.

c) Percentage of non-domestic component and subcomponent cost as compared to
total "item" component and subcomponent costs, excluding labor costs
associated with final assembly at place of manufacture.

Type 4 Waiver - Total cost of project using U.S. domestic source product exceeds the total
project cost using non-domestic product by 25 percent. The required documentation for a Type
4 of waiver is:

a) Detailed cost information for total project using U.S. domestic product
b) Detailed cost information for total project using non-domestic product

Fafse Statements: Per 49 USC S 47126, this certification concerns a matter within the
jurisdiction of the Federal Aviation Administration and the making of a false, fictitious or
fraudulent certification may render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18, United
States Code

05/15/2025
Date Signature

Western United Civil LLC Owner
Company Name Title

4

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 16 of 20 FEBRUARY 20zs | +tztos.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 92 of 216 



CERTIFICATION OF OFFERER/BIDDER REGARDING TAX DELINQUENCY AND FELONY
CONVICTIONS

The Bidder must complete the following two certification statements. The Bidder must indicate
its current status as it relates to tax delinquency and felony conviction by inserting a
checkmark (./) in the space following the applicable response. The Bidder agrees that, if
awarded a contract resulting from this solicitation, it will incorporate this provision for
certification in all lower tier subcontracts.

Certifications

1) The Bidder represents that it is ( ) is not ( t ) a corporation that has any unpaid
Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which alljudicial and administrative
remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, and that is not being paid in a timely
manner pursuant to an agreement with the authority responsible for collecting the tax
liability.

2) The Bidder represents that it is ( ) is not ( '/ ) is not a corporation that was convicted of
a criminal violation under any Federal law within the preceding 24 months.

Note

lf a Bidder responds in the affirmative to either of the above representations, the Bidder is
ineligible to receive an award unless the sponsor has received notification from the agency
suspension and debarment official (SDO) that the SDO has considered suspension or
debarment and determined that further action is not required to protect the Government's
interests. The Bidder therefore must provide information to the owner about its tax liability or
conviction to the Owner, who will then notify the FAA Airports District Office, which will then
notify the agency's SDO to facilitate completion of the required considerations before award
decisions are made.

Term Definitions

Felony conviction: Felony conviction means a conviction within the preceding twenty-
four (24) months of a felony criminal violation under any Federal law and includes

conviction of an offense defined in a section of the U.S. code that specifically classifies

the offense as a felony and conviction of an offense that is classified as a felony under
18

u.s.c. s 3559.

Tax Delinquency: A tax delinquency is any unpaid Federal tax liability that has been
assessed, for which alljudicial and administrative remedies have been exhausted, or
have lapsed, and that is not being paid in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement
with the authority responsi ble for collectin g the tax liability

Firm Name

Authorized Signature:

Title

Date: 05/15/2025

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 17 ot 20 FEBRUARY zozs | +tz+os.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 93 of 216 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY
SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT

RUNWAY 1 5-33 REHABILITATION PROJECT
At P #3-41 -0056-034-2025

FIRST.TIER SUBCONTRACTOR D'SCIOSURE FORM

Bid Closing: Month nC 2025 / 3:00pm (Local time)

For projects with a contract value of more than $100,000, this form must be submitted at the
located specified in the lnvitation to Bid on the advertised bid closing date within two (2) working
hours after the advertised bid closing time.

List below, the "Name" "Dollar Value" and "Category of Work" of each subcontractor that:

(A) Will be furnishing labor or will be furnishing labor and materials in connection with
the public improvement; and

(B) Will have a contract value that is equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the
total project bid or $15,000, whichever is greater, or $350,000 regardless of the
percentage of the total project bid.

Enter "NONE" if there are no subcontractors that need to be disclosed (if needed attach
additional sheets).

FAILURE TO SUBMIT THIS FORM BY THE DISCLOSURE DEADLINE WILL RESULT IN A
NONRESPONSIVE BID. A NONRESPONSIVE BID WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED FOR
AWARD.

Form submitted by (Bidder name):
Weslorn I Civil GrorrnllC

SUBCONTRACTOR NAME DOLLAR VALUE CATEGORY OF WORK

LaKe Sr4e
f,n dugtni e, s

{$l ysgo,t 1 6, so Paving

A & H RoadWurx ($) 56,074.21 Asphalt Milling

NorIh E*9t
Eld cfri e LL c r$) 67g,3Ao,o- Electrical

Specialized Pavement
Marking, LLC

($) 62,649.20 Pavement Striping

C&R Tractor and
Landscaping, lnc.

($)1\0,00a,oo
Landscape, Trucking

O'Bunco Engineering
I nternational I ncorporated

($) 48,095.00 Survey

($)

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 19 of 2O

(360)

FEBRUARv zozs | +tz+os.ooe.o't

Contact Name: *r""ro"'u..."rror,.,rerro*r*orr"ro,ru..o.,-oouu-ora-roru Phone #:

NOTE: Faxed copies of this form will not be accepted.

309-7114

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 94 of 216 



STATEM ENT OF PROPOSED SUBCONTRACTORS :

The Bidder will list all proposed subcontractors by their proper corporate name and the portion of
the work the subcontractor intends to perform in the spaces provided below.

The Owner reserves the right to reject any subcontractor that the Owner deems unfit for the scope
of the work proposed.

Subcontractor

Lakeside lndustries

Work to be performed

Paving

A&H Roadwurx Asphalt Milling

Soecialized Pavement Markino- LLC Pavement Marking

O'Bunco Enoineerino lnternational lncorooraled Survey

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

I

C&R Tractor & Land scaoino- lnc. Landscape

C&R Tractor & Landscaping, lnc. Trucking

NorthEast Electrical LLC Electrical

10

UNIT PRICES;

The Bidder further proposes to accept as full payment for the work proposed herein the
amounts computed under the provisions of the Contract Documents and based on the following
lump sum price or unit price amounts. The Bidder agrees that the lump sum prices or unit prices
represent a true measure of the labor and materials required to perform the work, including all
allowances for overhead and profit for each type and unit of work called for in these Contract
Documents. The amounts shall be shown in both words and figures. ln case of discrepancy, the
amount shown in words shall govern.

All blanks on the Proposal must be completed by clearly printing in ink or by typewriter
Changes may be made provided that the Bidder initials all changes.

All items in the proposalform shall be completed in full showing a unit or lump sum price or
prices for each and every item. The price per item shall be clearly shown in the space provided
The pricing shall be extended to show the total when required.

The extensions in the column headed "EXTENDED TOTAL'are made for the sole purpose of
facilitating bid comparisons and if there are any discrepancies between the unit prices and the
total amount shown, the unit prices shall govern.

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL -4of20 APRIL 2025 | +rz+os.ooe.or

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 95 of 216 



Firm Name Address
CERTIFIED

DBE
(Y or N)

Aqe of
Firm

GRS*

Northeast Electric, LLC
1780 DOWN RIVER DRIVE
WOODLAND, WA . 98674

N 20 Years 5

A & H RoadWurx 26819 173rd St E
Buckley, WA 98321 Y 2 Years 1

O'Bunco Engineering
I nternational I ncorporated

33650 6th Ave S Suite 102
Federal Way, WA 98003-4606

Y 27 Years 3

4101 SE lnternational Way, Suite
406, Milwaukie, Oregon 97222 N

57
Yeo'(S

3
Specialized Pavement
Marking, LLC

11095 SW lndustrialWay
Tualatin, OR 97062 N 25 Years 5

C&R Tractor &
Landscapinq, lnc.

3829 Pleasant Hill Rd
Kelso, WA 98626 Y tq

Years +
LaKeS iAe

x,rn dVSl(ieS hJ
70
lecrS 5

Bidders List

All firms bidding or quoting on subcontracts for this DOT-assisted project are listed below:

*GRS - Annual Gross Receipts
Enter 1 for less than $1 million
Enter 2 for more than $1 million, less than $5 million
Enter 3 for more than $5 million, less than 910 million
Enter 4 for more than $10 million, less than 915 million
Enter 5 for more than $15 million

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL -'18 ot 2O FEBRUARYzozS | *rz+os.ooe.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 96 of 216 



BID BOND

PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY
SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT

RUNWAY 1 5-33 REHABILITATION PROJECT

A.l.P. PROJEcT No. 3-41 -0056-034-2025

KNOW ALL PEOPLE BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the undersigned,

Western tlnited Cirril Grorrn I I C
as Principal and

Markel lnsurance Comoanv
as Surety are hereby held and firmly bound unto

Port of Columbia Countv
as OWNER in the penal sum of Ten Percent of Total Amount ftOo/ol

for the payment of which, well and truly to be made, we hereby jointly and severally bind
ourselves, successors and assigns.

Signed this 13th day of 25

The Condition of the above obligation is such that whereas the Principal has submitted to

Port of Columbia Countv
a certain BID attached hereto and hereby made a part hereof to enter into a contract in

writing, for the

Scappoose Airport, Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation Project. AIP Project No. 3-41-0056-034-2025

NOW, THEREFORE,
(a) lf said BID shall be rejected, or

(b) lf said BID shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a
contract in the Form of Contract attached hereto (property completed in accordance with
said BID) and shallfurnish a BOND for his faithful performance of said contract, and forthe
payment of all persons performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith,
and shall in all other respects perform the agreement created by the acceptance of said
BlD, then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect;
it being expressly understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all
claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the penal amount of this obligation as herein
stated.

The Surety, for value received, herby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said
Surety and its BOND shall be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time
within which the OWNER may accept such BID; and said Surety does herby waive notice
of any such extension.

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety have hereunto set their hands and
seals and such of them as are corporations have caused their corporate seals to be hereto
affixed and these presents to be signed by their proper officers, the day and year first set
forth above.

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING BID BOND - 1 of 2 APRTL 2025 | *tz+os.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 97 of 216 



Western United Civil G (1.s.) Markel lnsurance Com

Principal

By:
Signature Attorney-l n-Fact

IMPORTANT- Surety companies executing BONDS must appear on the Treasury
Department's most current list (Circular 570 as amended) and be authorized to trarisact
business in the state where the project is Iocated.

Leti

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING BID BOND - 2 of 2 APRIL2025 | *tzaos.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 98 of 216 



POA# 3710009

JOINT LIMITED POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN By THESE PRESENTS: That SureTec lnsurance Company, a Corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Texas and having its

principal office in the County of Harris, Texas and Markel lnsurance Company (the "company"), a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws ofthe state

of lllinois, and having its principal administrative office in Glen Allen, Virginia, does by these presents make, constitute and appoint:

Brent Olson, Gloria Bruning, Vicki Mather, Joel Dietzman, Andrew Choruby, Casey Geske, Richard Kowalski, Sterling Drew Roddan,

Justin Cumnock, Christopher A. Reburn, Leticia Romano, Chloe Lyons, Philip O. Forker, Patrick Dooney, Ashlee Pingree, Jessi Wimer

Their true and lawful agent(s) and attorney(s)-in-fact, each in their separate capacity if more than one is named above, to make, execute, seal and deliver for and on

their own behalf, individually as a surety or jointly, as co-sureties, and as their act and deed any and all bonds and other undertaking in suretyship provided, however,

that the penal sum of any one such instrument executed hereunder shall not exceed the sum of:

Fifty Million and 00/100 Dollars ($50,000,000.00)

This power of Attorney is granted and is signed and sealed under and by the authority of the following Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of sureTec

lnsurance Company and Markel lnsurance Company:

"RESOLVED, That the president, any senior Vice president, vice President, Assistant vice President, secretarv, Assistant secretary, Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer

and each of them hereby is authorized to execute powers of attorney, and such authority can be executed by use of facsimile signature, which may be attested or

acknowledged by any officer or attorney, of the company, qualifyinE the attorney or attorneys named in the given power of attorney, to execute in behalf of, and

acknowledge as the act and deed of the SureTec lnsurance Company and Markel lnsurance Company, as the case may be, all bond undertakings and contracts of

suretyship, and to affix the corporate seal thereto."

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, Markel lnsurance Company and SureTec lnsurance Company have caused their official seal to be hereunto affixed and these presents to be

signed by their duly authorized officers on the 1st day of october t 2024 .

SureTec lnsurance Company Markel nce

By: By:

Michael C. Keimig, Jenn Presid ent

State of Texas

County of Harris:

On this 1st day of october 2024 A.0., before me, a Notary Pu blic of the State of Texas, in and for the County of H arris, duly commissioned a nd qualified,

came THE ABOVE OFFICERS OF THE COMpANIES, to me personally known to be the individuals and officers described in, who executed the preceding instrument, and

they acknowledged the execution of same, and being by me duly sworn, disposed and said that they are the officers of the said companies aforesaid, and that the

seals affixed to the proceeding instrument are the Corporate Seals of said Companies, and the said Corporate Seals and their siSnatures as officers were duly affixed

and subscribed to the said instrument by the authority and direction of the said companies, and that Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of said Companies

referred to in the preceding instrument is now in force,

lN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand, and affixed my the day and year first above written

By:

Chelsea Turner, Notary Public

My commission expires 7 / 6/ 2028

that the original POWER OF ATTORNEY of which theWe, the undersigned Officers of SureTec lnsurance Company and Markel

foregoing is a full, true and correct copy is still in full force and effect and

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands, and affixed the

SureTec lnsurance Company

M. Beaty Secretary

has tl\,rrrlrrart tl

sealsofsaidCompanies,6nlhs 13th day ofl{sy- 2025

By:

Markel lnsurance Company

Any lnstrument lssued in excess ofthe penalty stated above is totally void

For verification of the authority of this Power you may call (7131812-0800

/ .,,.,.'. ..

". ;. -./,
and withoirt'dny,validity. 371qooQ

on any business dai betivbbn 8:30 AM

SEAL

and 5:00 PM CST

Marquis,

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 99 of 216 



PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY
SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT

RUNWAYI 5-33 REHABILITATION PROJ ECT

A.l.P. PROJECT No. 3-41 -0056-034-2025

APPENDIX

BUY AMERICA CONFORMANCE LISTING

BUY AMERICA WAIVER REQUEST

CoNSTRUCTTON SAFETY AND PHASTNG PLAN (CSPP)

GEOTECHNICAL REPORT

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING APPENDIX 1 of 4 APRTL 20251 #1 2409.009.01

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 100 of 216 



Buy America Waiver Request
Title 49 U.S.C Section 50101 (b)

For Airfield Development Projects funded under the
Ai rp o rt I m p rovem e nt P rog ra m

lnstructions for Permissible Waivers

Nationwide Waivers: The FAA Office of Airports publishes national waivers for equipment and products that meet
Buy American requirements under 49 USC 50101. Nationwide waivers are published at:
http:/lwww.faa.gov/airports/aip/procuremenUfederal_contract_provisionsimedia/buy_american_waiver.xls

Section 50101(bXl) & (bX2l Waivers:
The bidder may request a waiver based upon the best interests of the public, Section 50101 (b)(1) or request a
waiver based upon insufficient supply of U.S. manufactured products, Section 50101 (bX2), however approval is
rare and waivers may only be approved by the FAA Office of Airports in Washington DC.

Section 50101 (bl(3) Waiver:
The bidder may request a waiver if 60% or more of the components are produced in the United States and
final assembly occurs in the U.S. Bidder is hereby advised that the Owner's approval with the bidder's
waiver request is contingent upon FAA approval.

1. "Equipment" in Section 50101 shall mean the following:

a) lndividual Vpe "L" items (Airfield Lighting Equipment) as listed in FAA Advisory Circular 150/5345-53.

b) lndividual bid items as established within FAA Advisory Circular 150/5370-10.

c) A waiver request may only address one specific equipment item. Submit separate requests for each
equipment item for which a waiver.

d) ltems listed under the Nationwide Waiver referenced above do not require further review.

2. The bidder must base the U.S. percentage upon the value that results from completing a component cost
calculation table similar to the attached format. The Bidder must submit the component cost calculation table
as an attachment to the waiver request.

3. Components/subcomponents are the material and products composing the "equipment".

4. The final assembly of the A|P-funded "equipment" must be within the USA (Section 50101(b)(3)(B)). Final
assembly is the substantial transformation of the components and subcomponents into the end product.

5. All steel used in the "Equipment" must be produced in the United States.

6. The Buy American requirements apply to all tier contractors and subcontractors. All
contractors/subcontractors are required to provide appropriate documentation that indicates origin of
manufacturer and percentage of domestic made product.

7. The bidder is hereby advised there is no implied or expressed guarantee that a requested waiver will be
issued by the FederalAviation Administration (FAA). Less than 60% USA componenUsubcomponent
proposed for this facility CANNOT be waived. Products made with foreign steel are not eligible for a waiver.

8. North America Free Trade Act (NAFTA): Free Trade Agreements such as NAFTA do not apply to the AlP.
Products and material made in Canada or Mexico must be considered as foreign made products.

9. Preparation of a Component Cost Calculation Table is not necessary for equipment listed on the FAA
national listing:
http://wunv.faa.gov/airports/aip/procuremenVfederal_contraclcrovisions/media/buy_american_waiver.xls.
Bidder however shall submit a listing of any equipment it proposes to install on the project that is included on
the National Buy American conformance list.

lnstructions for Section 50101(bX4) Waiver:

1 . The bidder may request a waiver if application of Buy America preferences results in a 25% cost
increase in the overall project. This waiver is rarely applicable. Consult the Owner before making this

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING APPENDIX 3 of 4 APR|L 20251 #1 2409.009.01

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 101 of 216 



a

Buy America Conformance Listing
Title 49 U.S.C Section 50101 (b)

For Airfield Development Projects funded under the
A i rpo rt I m p rovem ent P rog ra m

Preparation of a Component Cost Calculation Tableis nof necessa{f for equipment
listed on the FAA national listing:

https://wvvw.faa.sov/airports/aip/bUvflamerican/media/nationwide-buy-american-
waivers-issued.pdf

Bidder shall submit a 4isting of equipment it proposes fo rnsfa// on the project that is
included on the current National Buy American conformance list.

This formis fo be filled out and submitted to the Owner within 7 days of the notice of
apparent low bid.

Equipment Tvpe Name of Manufacturer Product Number
1828 CCR HUGHEY & PHILLIPS L8282211111230

LBsB GUIDANCE SIGNS LUMACURVE AS REQUESTED

S1 EXTERNALCUTOUT HUGHEY & PHILLIPS A3-06-3177-002

1821 CONTROL PANEL RURAL ELECTRIC CUSTOM

1854 RADIO CONTROLLER RURAL ELECTRIC RDL8541A

STEEL PRODUCTS MILLERBERND AS REOUESTED

RUBBER PRODUCTS INTEGRO AS REQUESTED

1861 LIGHT FIXTURES HUGHEY & PHILLIPS AS REOUESTED

TRANSFORMERS INTEGRO AS REQUESTED

1861 SE LIGHT FIXTURES HUGHEY & PHILLIPS AS REQUESTED

1849 REIL HUGHEY & PHILLIPS L-849t-L-1-0

L88O PAPI HUGHEY & PHILLIPS L-880-LB-1-0

#8L824 CABLE DRAKA 3891 71

#6 COPPER WIRE HARGER 6 SOLID

Gertification Siqnature:
Bidder hereby certifies that the above listed equipment, which we propose for installation
on the subject project, are on the current National Buy America Conformance list as
established at:

https://www.faa.gov/airports/aip/b+rvllamerican/media/nationwide-buy-american-
waivers-issued.pdf

I hereby certify the above information is accurate and complete.

AIRSIDE SOLUTIONS, INC 5t15t2025
Bidder's Firm Name Date

MARNI STAMM Diodly Sd by MFNI STAMM
oab:e5.6.1s@27r9{7@

a

a

Signature

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING APPENDIX 2 of 4 APR|L 20251 #1 2409.009.01

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 102 of 216 



a

Buy America Waiver Request
Title 49 U.S.C Section 50101 (bX3)

For Airtield Development Projects funded under the
Ai r port I m provem ent Prog ra m

COMPONENT COST CALCULATION TABLE (Type 3 Waiver)

ln lieu of completing this table, bidder may prepare a spreadsheet that addresses the same information and
calculations as presenfed herein.

Preparation of a Component Cost Calculation Table is not necessary for equipment listed on the FAA national
listing: http://www.faa.qov/airports/aip/procuremenVfederal contract provisions/media/buv american waiver.xls.

The component breakout shall be along major components of the equipment. Submit separate calculation for
each different equipment types. Do not combine the componenf cosf calculations of different types of equipment

For Airfield development projects, equipment is defined as the "L" items (Aifield Lighting Equipment) as listed in
FAA Advisory Circular 150/5345-53 and the b) individual bid items as esfab/ished within FAA Advisory Circular
150/5370-10. The individual bid item method may not be applied to the "L" type items.

An authorized person shall aftest under signature and date that the submifted information is accurate and
complete.

a

a

a

Equipment Type:

Sum of US Manufactured ComponenUSubcomponent Costsl
Sum of all Equipment Components and Subcomponents:
Percentage of Equipment Components Manufactured in the United States
Place of Final Assembly:

Certification Siqnature

Bidder hereby requests a waiver to Buy America preferences based upon Section 50101(b)(3) for the equipment
identified above. The bidder certifies that _ % of the cost of components and subcomponents comprising the
equipment are produced in the United States and that final assembly occurs within the United States.

I hereby certify the above information is accurate and complete.

Bidder's Firm Name Date

Signature

ComponenUSubcomponen
ts Name of Manufacturer

Country of
Oriqin

Cost of Foreign
Manufactured

Components/Subco
moonents

Cost of USA
Manufactured

Components/Subco
mponents

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING APPENDIX-4of4 APR|L 2025 | +tZ+OS.OOO.O1

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 103 of 216 



LETTER OF INTENT

Name of Bidder's Firm: Western United Civil Group LLC

Bidder's Address: PO Box 236

City Yacolt State: WA Zip Code 98675

Name of DBE Firm C&R Tractor & Landscapinq, lnc.

Address: 3829 Pleasant Hill Rd.

Kelso State WA Zip Code 98626

Telep hone: (360) 577-B2BB Area Code: 360

State DBE Certification Number: 14922

Description of work to be performed by DBE firm:

Dump trucking of rubble or brush with collection or disposal

Landscapinq Services

Bidder intends to utilize the above-named minority firm for the work described above. The
estimated amount of work is valued at LLO o6 lf the above-named
bidder is not determined to be the succespful bidder, the Letter of lntent shall be null and void.

(Copy this page for each DBE subcontractor)

(Letter of intent is not required if no DBE firms participate in the project)

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 12 ot 2O FEBRUARY zozs | +tz+os,ooe,o't

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 104 of 216 



LETTER OF INTENT

Name of Bidder's Firm e L

Bidder's Address: O o

City ol state: \y'A Zip code qs.a7 r
Name of DBE Fi Mobile Electrical Supplier

Address: 14050 Lake City Way NE

City Seattle State WA zip Qsfls 98125

Telephone: 363-2400 ff1s6 Q6fls' 206

State DBE Certification Nu 143677

Description of work to be performed by DBE firm:

Electrical Supplier

Bidder intends to utilize the above-named minority firm for the work described above. The
estimated amount of work is valued at $ 120,s66.27 (60% of $200,943.79) lf the above-named
bidder is not determined to be the successful bidder. the Letter of lntent shall be null and void.

(Copy this page for each DBE subcontractor)

(Letter of intent is not required if no DBE firms participate in the project)

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL -12of2o FEBRUARY zozs | +rz+os.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 105 of 216 



Name of Bidder's Firm:

LETTER OF INTENT

Western United Civil Group LLC

Bidder's Address: PO Box 236

Yacolt State WA Zip Code 98675

Name of DBE Firm A&H Roadwurx

Address: 26819 173rd St E

City Buckley State: WA Zip Code 98321

Telephone: (253) 329-0184 Area Code'. 253

State DBE Certification Num 15612

Description of work to be performed by DBE firm:

Specialized Freight (except Used Goods)Trucking, Local; Asphalt paving (i.e., highway, road, street,

public sidewalk); asphalt milling; bituminous planning; street sweeping, Construction management,

highway, road, street and bridge; Culverts, hig . road and street. construction: Gradinq. hiohwav,

road, street and airport runway; Hiqhwav construction; Hiqhway, Street, and Bridge Construction

Bidder intends to utilize the above-named minority firm for the work described above. The
estimated amount of work is valued at $59.074.21 lf the above-named
bidder is not determined to be the successful bidder. the Letter of lntent shall be null and void.

(Copy this page for each DBE subcontractor)

(Letter of intent is not required if no DBE firms participate in the project)

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 12 of 20 FEBRUARY zozs | +tz+oo.ooo.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 106 of 216 



LETTER OF INTENT

Name of Bidder's Firm: Western United Civil Grouo LLC

Bidder's Address: PO Box 236

City: Yacolt State: WA Zip Code 98675

Name of DBE Firm O'Bunco Enoineerino lnternational lncoroorated

Address: 33650 6th Ave S Suite 102

FederalWay State WA Zip Code 98003-4606

Telephone: 425-451-7300 Area Code'. 425

State DBE Certification Nu 12183

Description of work to be performed by DBE firm:

Land surveying: GPS control, boundary and construction, layouVstaking

Bidder intends to utilize the above-named minority firm for the work described above. The
estimated amount of work is valued at .00 lf the above-named
bidder is not determined to be the successful bidder. the Letter of lntent shall be null and void.

(Copy this page for each DBE subcontractor)

(Letter of intent is not required if no DBE firms participate in the project)

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL -12ol2O FEBRUARY zozs | *tz+os.oos.ot

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 107 of 216 



Or.gon
Tina Kotek, Governor

Department of Transportation
ODOT Procurement Office - Construction

355 Capitol Street NE, MS#33
Salem OR, 97301

Phone: (503) 986-2710

March 12,2025

WESTERN UNITED CIVIL GROUP LLC
KAELEY MULL

22414 NE SAINT HELENS VIEW RD

YACOLT, WA 98675

Your prequalification application has been approved. This prequalification pertains only to the submission of bid proposals

and does not cover your financial ability.

Your bids will be considered responsive on ODOT projects on or after: May 01, 2025
Your prequalification application is valid through: April30,2027
Your vendor number is; CV30024537
Work Classifications:

(AB)-AGGREGATE BASE

(EART)-EARTHWORK AND DRAINAGE

(LS)-LANDSCAPTNG

(PAVE)-PAVEMENT MARKTNGS

(srGN)-srGNrNG (PERMANENT)

(I\GP)-ASPHALT CONCRETE PAVING AND OILING

(ELEC)-ELECTRTCAL

(MHA)-MISC. HIGHWAY APPURTENANCES

(PCP)-PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVING

(TTC)-TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL

Applicants must update their prequalification application with ODOT when information changes. An addendum change form
and instructions are available on our Bid and Award lnformation website at:

https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/Business/ProcuremenUPages/Bid_Award.aspx

This prequalification application covers Oregon Department of Transportation projects that are advertised on the ODOT
Procurement Office - Construction Contract Unit website:

https ://www.oregon. gov/ODOT/Business/ProcuremenVPages/NTC.aspx

This prequalification application does not cover Oregon Department of Transportation projects advertised in OregonBuys
which may be posted on our website.

ODOT eBIDS provides free downloading of plans and specifications and related bid documents. You will need to self register
as a holder of bidding plans in order for your bid to be responsive for each project for which you submit a bid.

https://ecmnet.odot.state.or.us/ebidse/

lf you wish to appeal any of the conditions of this prequalification you must notify this office in writing in accordance with ORS
279C.445 and ORS 279C.450 within three business days after receipt of this notice.

BW Ytary

Oregon Department of Transportation
Procurement Office - Construction Contracts Unit, MS#33
355 Capitol Street NE

Salem, OR 97301-3870
Phone: 503-986-271 0

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 108 of 216 



rementOfficeConstruction@odot.oreqon. gov

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 109 of 216 



SIGNATURE OF BIDDER:

Name of Bidder:

Signature of Authorized Agent:

Date

Title: ownor

bL
{xg. r

(sEAL)

L" 16. L0 rg

Business Address: PO Box 236 wA 98675

Phone # (360) 309-7114

Construction Contractors Board Registration No 23/9P,6'7

Workers Comp. lnsurance Company: .SAIF Cnrnoratinn

Workers Comp. Policy/Binder Number: #100062471

CENTURY WEST ENGINEERING PROPOSAL - 9 of20 FEBRUARY zozs | +rz+os.oos.or

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 110 of 216 



wo$ra#irNIrtIl
CWIL GROUP

EST. 2021

May 15,2025

To: Port of Columbia County/ Scappoose Airport

RE: Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation Project

Evidence of Financial Responsibility

please see the attached 2023 reviewed financial statement for Western United Civil Group, LLC as evidence of our

financial responsibility. We certify that we expect the 2024 financial statements to be consistent with prior years and

that we will be in a good financial position to complete this project.

Thank you,

h Thomas, Owner/Estimator

PO Box 236,Yacolt, WA 98675 | (360) 450.7378 | josiah@westernucg'com

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 111 of 216 



wEsTaRN UNITEI) CIWL GROUP, LLC

Financial Statements

December 3I, 20Zg and, 2022

(with Independent Accountant's Review Report Thereon)

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 112 of 216 



WESTERN UNITED CIWL GROUP, LLC
Financial Statements

December 3 1, 2023 and 2022

Table of Contents

Independent Accountant's Review Report

Balance Sheets

Statements of Income and Retained Earnings

Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

Suppl emental Information

schedule I: Schedule of Earnings from construction contracts

Schedule II: Schedule of Construotion Contracts in Progress and Total Earnings

Schedule III: Schedule of Completed Construction Contracts

Schedule IV: Schedule of Contract Costs

schedule v: schedule of General and Administrative Expenses

Schedule W: Sohedule of Othor Income (Expenses)

Page

2

3*4

5

6

7-t3

15

16

l7

l8

19

20

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 113 of 216 



-*fiI
}lrtssic &
{,{ llllprut\
; .,. .,.:. :f:;..;{; i,-:
.r;i; .;r 1;. .,, , i. r'::; .::iit;j . ,

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REVIEW REPORT
To the Members
Westem United Civil Group, LLC
Yaoolt, WA

we have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of westem united civil Group, LLC (a limited liability
company), which comprisc the balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and2022,and the related statemints of income and
ytaingd eamings and cash flows for the years thon ended, *d ttr. related noies to the financial statements. A review
includes primarily .arnlvW analytical procedures to management's financial data una *uking inquiries of company
management' A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is tne ixpression of an opinionregarding the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, ws do not oxpress such an opinion.
Management's Responsibllity for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of intsrnal contol relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement whether due to fraud or effor.

Accountant's Responsibility

Our-responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting aud
Review Services promulgated by the Accounting anA Review Servicos Committee of the AICpA. Those standards ,uq,ri"" u,to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are awaro of any material
modifications that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with accounting principles
genorally aocepted in the United Statos of America. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasJo|ble basis
for our conclusion.

We are required to be independent of Western Unlted Civil Group, LLC and to meet our other ethical rosponsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to our review.

Accountant's Conclusion

Based on ow rgview, we- are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying financial
statsments in order for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the-uniteJ Shtes ofAmerica.

Supplementary Information

The- supplementary infonnation included. in Schedules I, II, III, IV, V, and vI are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financiel staiEmants. suoh information is the responsibility of managementand was derived fiom, and relate-s dAeody to, the underlying accountiqg and other reeords used to prepara the ff-ancial
statemcnts' The supplemeilaxy infomeflon has been subjected to the review procedures applied in our review of the basicfinancial statemsnts. We are not aware of any material midifications that should be made to the supptementary information.we have not audited the supplementary information and do not express an opinion on such infonnation.

n4aan fs A Conpa+g,t, pLlC
May23,2024

n

Massie & company PLLC | 109 sw l$street, Battle Ground, wA 9g604 1360-6g7-1562

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 114 of 216 



WESTERN UNITED CIVII GROUP, LLC
Balance Sheets

December 3 l, 2023 and 2022

2023Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Contracts reoeivablo, nst (note 2)
Current billings

Retainage

Deferred tax asset, current (note 1(D)

Other curent assets (note 4)

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on
unconrpleted conkacts

Total current assets

Properly,plant, and equipment (note 1(f)):
Construction e quipment

Trucks and autos

Land

Gross properly, plant, and equipment

Less : Accumrlated depreciation
Net property, plant, and equipment

Total assets

2022

$ 1,032,118 $ 345,191

1,085,115

t4,567

70,000

114,265

464,932

2J80,E97

593,387

s37Jgt
52,336

1,193,504

. (13+,249\-

1.049.255

e91282

61,6t3

90,000

seA3l

60J36

I ,853

318,023

251,ffi
0

569,667
(.39.144\

530,523

$ 3,830,152 $: 2.r38,376

See Independent Accountant's Review Report and Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

3

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 115 of 216 



Liabilities and Members' Equity

Cunent liabilities:

Trade accounts payable

Subc ontractor retention payable

Other curent liabilities (note 5)

Billings in excess of costs and estimated eanrings on
uncompleted contracts
Defened tax liabiliry, current (note 1(i))
Current portion of longterm debt

Total cunent liabihties

Long term liabilities:

Deferredtax liabilfiy, net of curent portion (note l(i))
Long-term liabilities, net of current portion (note T)

Total long term liabilities

Total liabfties

Members'equiby

Member c ontrlbute d c apital
Retained earnings

Total mernbers' equity

Total liabilities and membors' equity

2023

801,905 $

152,666

2672r0

124,907

170,000

t0,g12

2022

344,415

46,714

181,050

10420

220,000

17A8's

820,094

110,000

45,510

155510

975,594

100,000

1,062,792

l,lQ,,lgL
$ 2.138.376

E*-_

$

,600

210,000

17,910

227,910

l0

100,000

1,974,742

2.W4J42

$ 3,830,152

See Independent Aocountant's Reviow Report and Accompanying Notes to Financial Satements
4

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 116 of 216 



WESTERN UNITED CIVIL GROUP, LLC
Statements of Income and Retained Eamings
Years ended December 3l,Z0Z3 and}}Zi

2023 2022

Contract revonues eamed
Contract costs

Gross Profit

General and adminisfiative expenses

Operating income

Other income (expense) :

Interost exponse

Othet income (expense)

Income before income taxes

Income tax (expense) benefit

Net income

Retained earnings, beginning

Retained earnings, snding

$$ 10,r72,331

9,652,932
6,539,029

4879,589

t5r9Age

342,ggg

1,559,440

369,1 i3

1,176,600 r,190,327

(4,775)

(9,309)

(4A1s)

557

1,162,516

Qsu,5s6)

l,Tg6469

(242,264)

911,960

r,0a,792

94420s

n9,577

$ I,n4,7n $

-

1,062,792

See Independent Acoountant's Review Report and Accompanyrng Notes to Finanoial Statements

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 117 of 216 



WESTERN UNITED CIVIL GROUP, LLC
Statements of Cash Fiows

Years ended December 31,2023 and}l2}

Cash fbws provided by (used in) operating activities:

Net income

Adjustrnents to reconcile net income to cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation

(Gain) loss on disposal of assets

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in confracts receivable
(Increase) decrease in defened tax assets
(lncrease) dEcrEase in other current asssts
(Increase) decrease in costs and estimated earnings
in excess of billings on uncompleted conffacts
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

Increase (decrease in pther ourent liabilities

Increase (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities

Increase (decrease) in billings in excess of costs
and estimated earnings on uncompleted oontaots

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing actMties:

Capital expendihres

Proceeds from sales of assets

Cash provided by (used in) investing activiries

Cash flows from fmancing activities:

Proceeds from new loans

Prinoipal payments on debt
Principal payments on short-term borrowings

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in oash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end ofyear

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid during the year
lncome taxes paid during the year

2023 2022

$ 9i1,960 $ 944205

9521t
3,895

(46,787)

20,000

(54,834)

$M/9'61
563,M2

86,160

50,000

tI4A87

1,339,039

37,842

0

(1,0332s8)

(72Ast)
(szJ43)

62,696

323,r15

134f,67

285,147

fi,n0
639,630

(627,838)

10,000

(4e7A38)

0

(34,273)

62,009

686,9n

345,191

$ _1,032,11!_ $ 345.191

0

0

$

$

$

$

- (6.17,838), (497438\

94,351

(31,356)

(e87)

204200

140.99t

4,775

ss3t2
4Ars
8,587

See Independent Accountant's Review Report and Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

6

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 118 of 216 



(1) Summary of Significant Accounting policies

(u) Desuiption of Business

Western United Civil Group, LLC ("the Company'') is a heavy civil excavation and utilities
construction contractor operating in Washington and Oregon. TLe Company was incorporated
February 26' 202I and previously operated under the name Jei Construction Nw; LLC.

(b) RevenueRecognition

The Company recognizes revenues from fixedarico and modified flxed-price consffuction cgnffacts
using the cost-to-cost input method, which measures progress toward- completion based on the
percentage of cost incured to date to estimated total cost for eaoh contraot. That method is used
because management considers total cost to be the best available measure of progress on the
contracts' Because of inherent uncertainties in estimating costs, it is at least reasonaL$lossible that
estimates used will change within the near term,

The Company recognizes contract revenue over the satisfaction of each performance obiigation
within the respective contract. Typically, the excavation, underground utilities, or site preparatTol of
an induskial or commerciat building project is a single perfordance obligation that is satisfied over
time' Payment is also duo over time in installmenis, based on project !hrs.* as specifieJ in the
contract, with a final payment due at the time the construction projeot is iompleted and accepted by
the owner.

Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract
performance, such as indirect labor, suppliesn tools, repairs, and depreciation. Costs of inefficiencies
or wasted resources (material or labor) are excluded when measuring progress and are expensed as
incurred. Selling, general, and administrative costs are charged to explnse as incurred. provisions for
estimated fosses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are
determined. changes_in job performance, job oonditions, and esiimated profitabilrty may ru*ott i1
revisions to costs and income, which are generally recognized in the period in which the revisions
are determined. Changes in estimated job profitability resulting from nutiubt. consideration (such as
incentives for compJeting a conffact early or on time, penaltieJfor not completing a contract on timeo
claims for which t\ ComganY has enforceable rigtrts, or conhaot modificatiois/change orders in
whioh the soope of modification has been approved, but the price has not been delermined or
approved) are accounted for as changes in estimates in the correot period, but limited to an amount
that will not result in a significant reversal of revenue in future periobs.

The contraot asset, "Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts,,,
repreDento reYenueD rEoognizcd in excess of amounB billed. The contfact liability, ..Billings in excess
of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted conhacts,'n represents billings itr 

"*crrrif 
revenues

recognized.

In accordancg with normal praotice in the oonskuction indusfy, the Company includes in current
assets and liabilities amounts realizable and payable over a perioC in excess of one year. Consistent
with this practice, asset and liability accounts relating to construotion gontagts arg classified as
current. The lives of contracts entered into by the Company generally range from 1 to 18 montls.

WESTERN UNITED CIVIL GROUP, LLC
Notes to Financial Statements

Years ended December 31,2023 and2022

See Independent Accountant's Review Report

7

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 119 of 216 



k)

(d.)

(e)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted acoounting
prineiptes requires management to make estimates and assumptions titut affect the reported amountsof assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent asseis and liabilities at the date of theconsolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during thereporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant items subject to suchttpultt and assumptions include the useful lives of fixed assets; alliwances tor douUtru accounts
and sales returns; fixed assets, inventory, environmental liabilities, and other contingencies.

Cash und Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less whenpurchased to be cash equivalents. The Cash and cash equivalentj were secured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 at Dicember 3I, Z.OZi-ia-iOiz 

^naar 
times

exceeded the federally insured limit dwing 2023 and2022.

Trade Aecounts Receivabl,e

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The
Company does not find it neces$ary to maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses inherent in its accounts receivable po1t!Ii9. The Company follows the practice of filing a
contractor's lien against the properly or bond of the party ftom whom paynrent is due, so accounts
receivable are generally collectable and therefore presinted at invoice amount.

Property, Plant and Equipnent

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost.

Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated on the shaight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The usefirl lives of plant and equipmeniare;

0

Consffuction equipment
Trucks and autos
Land is not depreciated

5 - 10 Years
5 - 10 Years

Land used for staging of equipment and storage jobsite tools is stated at historical cost, with no
markup for app19-clation or depreciation reflecting ourront market conditions. Market conditions
oould refleot a difforent value than historical cos* ifthe land has depreciated or in appreciated in
value. Management expects the value of land to generally increase, and doos not oonsider the
historical cost to be materially different than the cash flows generated from a sale of the Land.

(g) Major Maintenunce Activities

The Comfran5r incurs maintenmce coBts on ite mejor equitrrurent And fApilitigs. Rcpalf and
maintenance costs are expensed as incuned.

(h) Advertising

Advertising costs.are expensed as incurred. Advertising oosts amounted to $0 and $1,0g2 in2023
and, 2022, respectively.

See Independent Accountant's Review Report
8

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 120 of 216 



ft) Incone Tosces

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the
rocognition of defened tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequenses of eventsthat have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, defened tax assets andliabilities are determined on the basis of the differences between the financial statement and tax
bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in *ni"r, tn, difference
are expected to reverse. The effect ofa ohange in tax rates on defened hx assets and liabilities is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactrnent date.

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that management believes that these assets
are more likely than not to be rsalized. In making suoh determination, management considers all
available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existiig taxable temporary
llfferences, projected futute taxable inoome, tax planning strategies, and results 6f ,e"ent operations.If the Company determines that it would be abG to reafize thJ defened tax assets in the future in
excess of their net recorded amount, an a{ustment would be made to the deferred tax asset valuation
allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

The Company's federal income tax retum treats various items different$ from the financial
statements- The cumulative amounts of these differences between tax and financial statement
methods of accounting are summarized as follows as of December 31, Z0Z3 and1022:

z0z3 2022
Retained Earnings $ 1,974,742
Timingof accruedincome andexpenses 326i76
Timing of depreciation (998,921)
Timing of oonfiaot rovenue recognition (7g5,I74)

Inconre recognized andtaxed, net of dividends issued $ - 50ffi

These temporary differences reflect an accumulated deferred tax liability and asset as follows as of
December 3 I, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Defenedtax asset

Timing of accrued income and expenses

Total defened tax asset

Dsferrod tax liability

Timing of depreciation

Timing of conhact revenue recognition

Toral deferred tax liability

$ 70,000 $ 90,000

$ 380000 $ 330,000

See Independent Accountant's Review Report

210,000

170,000

$ 1,062,?92

41sp70

(532,525)

(1,060,232)

$ (114.90s)

90,000

110,000

220,000

70,000

(il Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and
other souroes are recorded when it is probable that a liability has beei incurred and the amount can
be reasonably gstimated. Legal costs incuffed in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as
incurred.

9

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 121 of 216 



(k) Reclassificafion

Certain 2A22balances have been reolassified to conform to Z0Z3 presentation.

(2) ContractReceivables

contract receivables as of Decemb er 31,2023 andz}zzoonsist of the following:

2023

Completed conhacts

Contracts in progress
$

1,085,115

14,567

694/,,999
1,531,110

2022

7,931 $

t,w72w
79,32r

gtl,96t

Retainage

Total conhact rec eivables $ 1,099.682 $ I

The Company_ follows the practice of filing statutory liens on all projects where colleotion pr.oblems
are anticipated. The liens serve as collateral for contract receivables.

(3) Construction Contracts in progress

Revenues recognized on confraction contracts in progress contrast the relatedbillings as follows:

2023 2022

Cost incurred on uncompleted contracts
Estimated earnings

8,476,009

(8,136,094)

$ 339,925 $ 49,916

The foregoing balance is inchded in the accourpanying balanoo sheet under tlre following captions:

Costs and estimated oamings in excess of billings
on uncompleted contracts S 4@,932 $ 60,336
Billings in excess of costs and estimated eamings
on uncompleted contracts (lz4g07) (10$20)

Under (Over) billings $ 339,925 $ 49,9T6

See Independent Accountant's Review Report
10

991,282

61,613

$$ 3,621.,&g

1,024,129

Less billings to date

Under (Over) billinS

4,645J77

(4,595,961)

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 122 of 216 



(4) Other Current Asseh

Other current assets as of December 31,2023 and2A22 consist of the following:

2023

Due from related parties (note 9)

Prepaid expenses

Other reoeivables

Employee advances

Prepaid taxes

Other

Total other current assets

2022

23,037

35,567

0

400

0

427

$$ 66Jzt

38,927

6267

2JsA
200

0

$ n426s $

2023

s9431

(5) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current iiabilities as of December 31, 2AZ3 and,2022 consist of the
following:

2422

Federal income taxes payable

Payroll taxes

Accrued wages

State and localtaxes payable

Paidtime off
Credit cards

Retirement plan payable

Sales and excise tax
Inswance payable

Total other current liabilities

150,556

40,126

35,149

20,129

rc,nA
3,5&
1,134

126

0

25,3t2
36,189

t4426
0

6,559

14,569

0

79A80

4,516

$ 2672r0 $ 181,050

(6) Short-Term Note Payable

In202l, the Company borrowed $2,400 to fund annual inswance premiums. payments of $252 are
due monthly with interest payable at 6.Oyo. The note matured on May B, Z02Z.

(7\ Long Term Liabilities

On Jannary 0l,2M2,the Company borrowed $65,000 from a menrber (note 9) to purchase a vehicle.
The terms are Z.ooYo interest with 60 monthly paym.ents of $1,139. This debt matures over the next
5 years as follows:

2A24 $ 6,353

$ 6,353

See Indepondent Acoountant's Review Report

$$

11

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 123 of 216 



On April 26,2022, the Company borrowed $29351 to purchase a vehicle. The terms are g.Z4o/o

interest wrth7? monthly payments of $520. This debt mahres over the next 5 years as folbws:

2024 $ 4,559

2025 4,955

2026 5,379

2W 5,839
2029 1,637

$ n36e

(8) Contract Backtog

The following schedule summarizes the contract backlog on contracts during the year ended
December 3I,2A23:

Contract
Revenue Gross profit

Contract backlog balance at December 3l,ZA22 $

Plus: New contracts and confiact adjustments dwing
the year

Less: Contract revenus earned during the year

Contract backlog balance at December 31,2023 $

(9) Related Parties

1,835,071 $ lz4ago

16,044,955

(10,172,331)
2,86tgM

(2,107466)

7,74,695 $ 1,079,329

The Company borrowed $65,000 from a mernber to purchase a vehicle in2022,see note Z. The
balance was $6,353 and $36,304 as of DecemberZtlZOZl and,20LL,respectively.

P*i"g 2A22 and2023,the Company bonowed funds to a member to consffuct a shop building. The
funds are not secured and do not bear interest. The balance due from mombers was $6e,ZZt aiO
923,037, as of Decembet 3L,2023 and2)2lrrespectively. The Momber expects to repay these funds
in2024 when the company begins using the shop for its operations.

(10) Retirement Plan

Company adopted a salary reduction plan under the provisions of the Internal Revenuo Code Section
401(k) on January 1,2023. Employees are immediaiely eligible to participate in the plan. Umploye,
contributions under the plan are discretionary. The Company made non-elective contributions of
$14,780 for the year ended December 31,2023.

The plan also provides for prevailing wage contributions. The Company oontributes to the plan those
loudy benefits subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for employees p"rroomit g prewailing 'rx,age-oonrracte.
The Company made prevailing wage contributions of dsg,SbS for the-year ended Dfuember 31,
2023.

(11) Customer Concentration

For the years ended December 31,2023 and2022,55% and62% of theCompany's revenue was
attributable to three customers, respectively.

See Independent Accountant's Review Report
t2

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 124 of 216 



(12) Litigatlon

Management is of the opinion that any potential litigation will not have a materiat effect on thefinancial statEments.

(13) SubsequontEvenh

The Company has evaluated zubsequent events &om the balance sheet date thrcugb May 23,2Q24,
the date on whioh the financial statements were available to be issueal, *a a*.n-iued there are no
other items to disclose.

See Independent Accountant,s Review Report

13

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 125 of 216 



SUPPLEMENTAL INF'ORMATION

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 126 of 216 



wEsTERr\ UNITED CM GROUP, trc
schedule of Earnings from construotion confiaots - sohedule I

Year ended December 31",2023

Contract
Revenue Contract Costs Gross Pruflt

Construction contracts, completed
Consbuotion contacts, in progress
Under(over) allocated direct costs
Undor(over) allocated indirect costs

IJ4sg+s
8,426,396

0

0

$

$ 10,172,33I $

See Indopondent Accountant's Review Report

$ l,L62,l6g
6902,697

15Alt
572,536

$ 5E3J77

1,523$99

(15,431)

(572,536)

$ t,5lgAgg8,6s2.832

I5

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 127 of 216 



WESTERN UMTED CIVIL GROUP, LI,f
Schedule ofConstruotion Contacts in Progress and Total Eamings fron Contracts- Schedule E

Year endeil December 31" 2023

Cm{}dtuhcb

See Independent Accountant's Review Roport

l6

lJ{lj{s t.l6tl6t JEl.rtT tt?.

0e
J&

Efu[d kdd$d GC
P@f

tu
PoIh l.M

CGI o[ 8!6nsE lhdrrd &b to

hro BE$e Eeqol Cde e(of q6Psfi G$I}d

'l0t5sil
!s!
209
sts
?J0r0
w
g$
lt009

ff59J1!
umglo
eJ{,?a
r:s.15!
ue380
8td6
45Jtl
{rr50t
{otgt
nosr

19697t

&J00
l{a.ts
?6a.tn
tm
57St

6tI9E
sl{
El/lt

116

lffi
nI
1r!€s

llq

4t.i

coR - s- Rdrb Rd.. g llu s b & nh t'
oDoT -Gd CadycunRls
cogv - H.E YiEyP!&pbye[uFds
COFDirne RadBbrL d p.d.Siosf.ry [\'
CO$ -m Rc WrtD RafiOr
cov'grmPhblhstq
$.4 DES - GC-S'.h h( brs cwd
CnI dx.to - flEritstslts $$ Rd6 to tctsd
e . gndbaqBd*E Bd t?
CoC -Cffi& SrlrhFFqdnio.d S&ola.[

Pr+$r*rslm

ffi?lt
13000m
tstB
9s.tu

u6LO
7{S

I2IJG
:Qtfrt
lot6

r8i0! lo.stt rs9

sej$
t!0.{2

!!fl83
t.ls,lr
tlduf,t
&:n
6.gl
]}3.11t
ifl.m
tars

xtl!3
cluol

tfir'j
9U?

t.ts:ts
?{x010
{got:
lllJot
t62tl
EA8

t550$
58511

torja
s6l7
9170
Gr?6t
lslt
o,Eo
wl9
dJz

lSr
tnr
w
9S

tsl

?6rj
lta
?H

lFitE 6X lotll ?.8t0

,1il:00
ilt rr9
tll.ts
fi.r!t
lffi
ffi
$t

100tr
{t.45!
l4.ls

rt3s
ry

MJ€
E9-€
ustt
Etalfi
stll
r0lioa
3Jtfit
l{w

80d

&919
G92{

uo
l3$

aJ6

ll!

6'

6b

{gil6

{0 ts&

re9r
ml?

mf{3
t.t@l
lf,tls
EDf,'
@$!
ttdn
35tim
ld?Jts

?Jr$t
6rol

r.ffi.a
@

t.wg5
Trt3t0
rg0!
t4g
166$l
8r3$

rSst
6ilr

MJS
s.ts
9n
nta
[0:t9
tt.?$
etgl9
6451f

rn;
lft
2t?i
:Fi
8?i

8r
:v6
ltlr
2$a
{4!i

l&623 l0,8lt 73n 471a

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 128 of 216 



WESTERN UMTAD CIVIL GROUP, LLC
Schedule ofCompleted Construction Conhacts * Schedule III

Year ended December 31,2023

Prtf, to De.e$ber I l- zYr? Fd {F Ycd eDdrd Daceub.r 31, 2023

Xob
G{Gs

lmfit
Gms
ProftCsffact Cmltact

G!o$s Grogs
Coollact

Re\eltrE
Cofract
Ccts

Pro&
Ger)

Plofi
Pcrccil

Gms
Pmfs

Gcs
PlofitCsract C$lmcr

cOV - LoBer Crud llrdBtrbl Arc{ LID RetIoiB
POV - Tentual 2 Eenls l-{ Udad pa}irg proFar

ChltCqily^NE l{lrhRd
COC " NW Siem S- p{€oFtrt rtdADA
vPS - Hamey paddog Ld Addiijn
CO\r - Colubil Sm€r Saftry & I\iobi&y prqi$r
COC - 2022 SidewakAces$ R@pRephce@r
City oflrcey - 2d!1-!J Li$ Srari@ A
COV - 26{2NTSA TrEffr Cct'ntg
CRqryD-FhsFirE & Tralfc C(srd Senices 20?2
CC - P&ddetrPadsry FGilt & Bor
SHEU c6hKin - Srshuft
Ciry sf Kebo - SW SrA Reei@l Airp

Prqmk udcl t2o.000

22009

t2014

220t0
23013

2!008

22007

?201t

23006

230t.r
27W2
23003

2!002
2r0t5

t_l8tj(H
896.18!

801.t30
790.889

707,n1

667234

342318

16.t930

111227

lt9,nl
{9.m0
43.tt3

33.000

lIl&00?
797,t96

5?{37d
553.L58

510.6{l
s67J73

257.911

t03328
86.079

25J55

?3.r02

1.1.672

6.6il

369.49?

99t86

128054

23?,631

197130

9938t
84J0t
6r.102

5t.ld8
94226

25"898

28-l0l
26389

?f,96

u%
2896

30Yo

?sf.ao

150.5

259.c

37j6

3e6
?9s6

5396

669a

m9i

73+r,r4.t9l 1x.083 32Jm

lJ61l0?
877.71J

?93J67

1,185306

77694t

56?.749

37690r

100.7I{

2?5-6lr

u15
I 10.6

2895

703.8r4

5+4.,to.t

114.627

49lt,tt
468346

87t6,{

2r0593
76.058

26J51

30'.i
l4%
239!o

43J5t 9l)7? 3.1.6?4 7991

(7.4Or) "29c6
(1.488) -8ei

?.416 zt",i
2]r.61 30ei
(13.,163) -3.1!0.6

23-823 l9e6

5?,5{4 259i
61.102 3?n
51.148 379'o

59.53' 7896

24.898 53qA

28J01 6696

26389 80e6

25297

r8.?67

9063

7908S9

3937
t2eE50
??759t

t&1s30

137227
?60t0

d9000

43.1?3

33S00

32-?01

20355

6.627

-<53J59

t?.400

99.t27
t?0.0{?

103.s28

s6.07t
16.{78

23.101

t4.67!
6$lr

44^I9l tL0E3 32.108 ?3ti

4.639.t0S 3J88J?.{ lr5lj6t 23i6 1.7419{5 1.162.168 5$3n 3396
Tmh 1.635.158 26S6

See Independent Accountant's Review Report

t7

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 129 of 216 



WESTERN UNITED CIVII cRouP, LLC
Schedule of Contraot Costs - Sohedule IV
Years ended December 31,2023 andZ}ZZ

2023 2422
Direct Costs

Subcontractors

Labor

Materials

Equipment rental
Other direot costs

Total direct costs

Indirect Costs

Salaries, wages and benefrts
Repairs and maintenance

Equipment depreciation

Liability inswanoe

Small tools and consumables

B&O and state use taxes
Fuel

Continuing education

Other indirect costs

Plans andpermits

Licenses and taxes

Total indirect costs

Totral conhact costs

$$ 4,166,693

1,659,57r

r,3&,94
ss6339

332,859

z,gw,gr2
864,301

537,922

326,333

135,533

8,080.296

145,151

rn;7$
95,21t

672ss

6327
34,503

1821s

7,777

6,740

5,125

1,567

8,546

40261

37,842

5i,506

30,82i

n,822
t3,617

3,101

3216

r2r1
2,5M

572,536

See Independent Accountant's Review Report

220,597

$$

l8

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 130 of 216 



WESTERN UNITED CIVII cRouP, trc
schedule of General and Administrative Expenses - schedule v

Years ended December iI,2023 and}}zl

2023 2n22

General and adninisffative expenses

Officer wages

Salaries, wages and benefrts
Computer and intenret
Professional fees
State and local taxes

Office and shop rent
Travel and entertainment

Communications

Utilities

Office supplies

Charitable contnbutions

Membership dues

Business licenses

Bank and credrt card fees

Offise repairs and maintenance
Bad debt

Advertising and promotbn

Total general and adnrinisffative expenses

$$ r39,642

69:743

29,slo
24,661

22,992

14419

1r//7
7,911

5,358

4,949

4,&5
3,502

2,162

1,633

966
lCI0

0

2A2?-n

85,507

6,548

31,617

0

9,5A2

792r
4,503

3,807

1,699

10,205

2,136

wzs
527

0

0

1,092

$ 3M.899

See Lrdependent Accountant's Reviow Report

$ 369,113

19

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 131 of 216 



wEsTAnN UNITED CIWL GROUP, trc
&hedule of Otherlncome @xpenses) -ScheduleVI

Years ended December 3 t, Z0Zg and 2022

2023 2022
Other income (expense)

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets

Penalties

Other income

Net other income (eryenses)

$ 0

0
55?

$

$$

(3,895)

(5,414)

0

557

See Independont Aooountant,s Review Report
20

Document ID: ab782b57993667d5b99c3df84214222f89e9c3d5a6790010e8d864091b1d9348

Page 132 of 216 



                                 

Res. 2025-14 
STAFF REPORT

 

DATE:  June 11, 2025 

TO:  Commission Board 

FROM: Lacey Tolles, Airport Manager  

RE: Airport East Side Pavement Maintenance: Century West Design Service 
 

Discussion 

The Port intends to move forward with a pavement maintenance project at Scappoose 
Airport to address deferred maintenance items identified in the 2021 Oregon Department 
of Aviation Pavement Evaluation Program Report. The project will focus on preserving the 
integrity and extending the lifespan of existing airport pavements by addressing critical 
areas in need of attention. 
 
Century West Engineering has been retained to provide engineering design, bidding, and 
project closeout services related to the pavement maintenance work. The scope of 
services includes all necessary technical support and project management to ensure a 
successful outcome.  
 
Total Project Cost: $98,166.00 
FAA Share (95%): $93,257.70 
Local Match (ODAV): $2,800.00 
Sponsor Match (Port): $2,109.00 
 
The proposed improvements include: 

• Minor crack repair on Taxiway A and three connector taxiways extending to the hold 
lines; 

• Surface sealing of Taxiway A and the same three connector taxiways, as needed, 
based on field condition assessments; 

Scappoose Airport 

East Side Pavement Maintenance - Phase I 

Scope of Work with Century West 

Page 133 of 216 



• Installation of updated taxiway markings in compliance with current FAA standards. 

These maintenance activities are aimed at improving surface condition, increasing 
pavement longevity, and ensuring safety for airport users. 
 
Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution 2025-14, authorizing the Executive Director to execute a contract for the 
East Side Pavement Maintenance project with Airport Engineer,  
Century West. 
 

Page 134 of 216 



 
 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

  
 

    
 

AYES: _____             NAYS: _____  Port of Columbia County 
 

ABSTAIN: _______     By:  __________________________ 
President 

 
Attested By: 
 
__________________________ 
Secretary 
 

RESOLUTION NO 2025-14
A RESOLUTION APPROVING CENTURY  WEST  SCOPE OF WORK FOR
  EAST SIDE PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE  –  DESIGN SERVICES

  WHEREAS, the Scappoose Airport has prioritized  pavement maintenance in the
Airport Master Plan and Capital  Improvement Plan; and

  WHEREAS, the Oregon Department of Aviation commissioned a 2021 study to 
evaluate the pavement at the Scappoose Airport and the  east side taxiways, taxi lanes,
and aprons were determined to require seal coat treatment, minor crack repair, and
wide crack repair; and

  WHEREAS,  Century West, the Port’s Airport Engineer, submitted a Scope of Work
for  design services; and

  WHEREAS, Port staff finds the Century West Scope of Work reasonable and 
necessary at $98,166.00 and recommends approval of the attached Scope of Work to
submit a grant to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).  The FAA will reimburse
95% or $93,257.70.00 and  the Oregon Department of Aviation COAR grant will match
$2,800.00 and  the Port will be responsible for $2,109.00  of the total project costs; Now,
therefore; and

  BE IT RESOLVED  by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia County
as follows:

  The Board authorizes the Executive Director to sign the attached Scope of Work
with Century West for  Design Services for the East Side Pavement Maintenance Project
at Scappoose Airport in the total amount of $98,166.00, with FAA reimbursement to the
Port of 95% or $93,257.70  and the Port responsible for $2,109.00.

PASSED AND ADOPTED  this 11th  day of  June  2025, by the following vote:

Page 135 of 216 



           
ENGINEERING STATEMENT OF SERVICES 

FOR 
SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT 

EAST SIDE PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE PROJECT 
PHASE I – DESIGN SERVICES 

  
PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY 

  
Updated April 14, 2025 

  
GENERAL 
  
The general scope of the project is to provide engineering design services for Port of Columbia 
County (“POCC or Owner”) for the maintenance of airport pavements at Scappoose Airport 

(“SPB”). The extent of the sealing will be based on deferred maintenance identified in the 2021 
Oregon Department of Aviation PEP Report. 
  
This Scope of Work details activities and work elements needed for Century West Engineering 
(“the Consultant”) to perform design, bidding, and project closeout services for the work. 
  
The improvements include: 
  

1. Minor crack repair on Taxiway A and three (3) connector taxiways to hold lines; 
2. Surface seal (as needed) of Taxiway A and three (3) connector taxiways to hold lines; 
3. Installation of taxiway markings. 

  
The seal coat treatment may consist of either a slurry seal or fog seal, as determined through 
preliminary design evaluation of existing conditions. FAA Specifications will be used. 

Minor crack repair is anticipated to consist of routing, cleaning, and preparation of small 
quantities of narrow cracks less than 1 inch. Minor crack repair will also consist of a “burn and 

seal” treatment of existing cracks, by heating existing crack fill material with a heat lance and 
“topping off” with additional, new, crack seal material. 

Wide crack repair (if required) is anticipated to consist of 12”-24” wide pavement removal, 

centered on wide cracks greater than 1 inch, and repair with new pavement, centered over wide 
cracks, as necessary.  In addition, pavement dig outs and patching may be needed on a limited 
basis to repair larger areas of alligator cracking or minimal areas of depressions. 

Page 136 of 216 



Services to be performed are as follows: 

  
PHASE I  – DESIGN SERVICES 
  
Task 1 Project Management 
   

1. Finalize work scope and negotiate contract.   
  
2. Carry out project administration including, but not limited to, monitoring design and 

project schedules, coordination of project with the POCC and FAA, monitoring and 
reporting technical and budget issues to the POCC and FAA, preparation of monthly 
Consultant invoices for submittal to the POCC. 
  
Administrative activity for the project is expected to occur over a 6-month period, an 
allowance of 2 hours per month of activity is provided. 
  

3. Assist the POCC as necessary with preparation of grant application including updated data 
sheet and sponsor certifications for the project and submit to the POCC for review and 
signatures. 
  

4. Provide a project schedule to the POCC and FAA. Up to 2 revisions are anticipated. 
  

5. Prepare FAA form 7460 for submittal to FAA for overall construction. 
  

6. Coordinate project team and sub-consultants. 
  

7. Conduct in-house QA/QC review of design elements and project deliverables. 
  

8. Prepare and submit FAA Quarterly Performance Reports throughout the project. 
  

Deliverables: 
• Scope of work 
• Budget  
• Project Schedule 
• Grant Pre-Application 
• Monthly Invoices 
• FAA QPRs 

  
Task 1 Due:  May 30, 2025, with invoices for the project duration 

Page 137 of 216 



  
 
Task 2  CatEx Review 
  
FAA environmental staff have indicated that this project will be performed under an 
undocumented Categorical Exclusion under the National Environmental Policy Act 
(“CATEX”) . As a result, no environmental work is included in this scope of work. 

  
Task 3 Design Surveying 
  

1. Establish horizontal (NAD 83 2011 EPOCH 2010) and vertical control (NAVD 88) for 
survey work at the airport.  Establish one benchmark for elevation control and a minimum 
of two additional points for horizontal control. The survey will be tied to Scappoose Airport 
PACS and SACS, if they exist. 
  

2. Consultant will perform one site visit during the topographic survey.  
  

3. Conduct limited surveying of the Scappoose Airport pavement (excluding the Runway and 
connectors from hold lines to Runway). The purpose of the survey is to identify existing 
pavement markings, surface features/structures, building edges, edge lights, and guidance 
signs so that the existing layout and geometry can be accurately reestablished. 
  

4. Limited surveying shall include edges of pavement for tapers, radii, runway centerline, 
taxiway centerlines, and pavement markings. For tangent pavement edges, the survey may 
be captured on approximately 200 ft intervals. The survey shall note the color and width 
of all existing pavement markings. 
  

5. The survey shall also include physical surface features such as edge lights, guidance signs, 
catch basins, inlets, trench drains, manholes, valve boxes, vaults, duct bank markers, 
buildings, and other structures that could be impacted by the project. 

  
6. Using the data collected from the topographic survey, develop a model of the area surveyed 

in AutoCAD Civil 3D format. 
  

7. Develop a base map at a scale of 1”=50’ for use in the design.  
  

Deliverables: 
• Survey Map  

  

Page 138 of 216 



 
 

Task 3 Due:  August 1, 2025 
  
Task 4 Preliminary Design 
  

1. Review past mapping, plans, documents, and other available information pertaining to the 
project. 

2. A site visit will be performed by the Designer and an Inspector to quantify the pavement 
distresses to be repaired. The quantities will be separated into the various bid items 
including (but not limited to): small crack repair, wide crack repair, burn-and-seal crack 
repair, and AC patching. Senior Project Manager will review photos and notes on the 
condition of the pavement as it relates to the available treatment options. 

3. Complete 50% preliminary design of the proposed improvements to provide sufficient 
information related to the location, limits, material quantities, and construction 
requirements of the proposed improvements to perform evaluations based on the various 
impact categories. The preliminary plan view for the proposed improvements and the 
survey base map will be used to complete a 50% preliminary design of the proposed 
improvements. The level of design will allow the consultant to identify locations and limits 
of work and ensure that FAA design standards can be met to complete the proposed 
improvements. The preliminary design will also include finalization of project access and 
staging limits, preliminary material quantities, and a detailed construction cost estimate 
commensurate with the level of design. This preliminary design will be submitted to the 
FAA for review and comment, along with contract documents, and a list of anticipated 
FAA Technical Specifications. FAA comments from this submittal will be used to advance 
the work to the 90% submittal package. 

4. Prepare up to (2) two phasing alternatives for consideration by POCC . 
  

5. Prepare a preliminary Construction Safety and Phasing Plan (CSPP) and recommendations. 
Safety plan is to be reviewed by the FAA and Sponsor. Solicit comments and incorporate 
into final form for approval by FAA. Final version shall be submitted via the OE/AAA 
portal for approval a minimum of 90 days prior to bid opening. 
  

6. Prepare preliminary quantity and construction estimates for the project.  
  

7. Prepare preliminary (90%) plans. The plan set is expected to consist of approximately 18 
drawings and will include the following components: 

  
• Cover Sheet (1 Sheet) 
• Site & Safety Plans (4 Sheets) 
• Construction phasing/work area plan and details (2 Sheets) 
• Crack repair/sealing and seal coat plans and details (7 Sheets) 
• Pavement marking plan and details to replace all current pavement markings 

impacted by the project. (4 Sheets) 

Page 139 of 216 



  
8. Prepare a 90% preliminary Engineer’s Design Report to the established FAA requirements. 

  
9. Prepare 90% preliminary specifications manual using Advisory Circular 150/5370-10 

(latest edition), Standards for Specifying Construction of Airports. It is anticipated that the 
project bidding documents will be developed as a Base Bid with Additive Alternates, if 
necessary, so the work to be constructed can be matched with available project funding. 
  

10. Provide electronic files of 90% preliminary contract documents (plans, specifications, 
design report, and cost estimate). One copy will be sent to the FAA, and one copy will be 
sent to the POCC. 
  

11. Solicit, receive, and record and incorporate into the final form of the 90% preliminary 
contract documents, all comments provided by the POCC and FAA.  
  
Deliverables: 

• Preliminary (50%) exhibits, cost estimate, and plan sheets 
• CSPP 
• FAA Form 7460-1 
• Project Documents (90%) plans, specifications, estimated quantities and costs  
• Engineer’s Design Report (90%) 

  
Task 4 Due:  November 14, 2025 

  
Task 5 Final Design 

  
1. Incorporate preliminary design comments and respond as necessary to requests for 

additional information. 
  
2. Provide final construction drawings. 
  
3. Provide the final contract specifications. 
  
4. Complete final quantity calculations and prepare an Engineer’s detailed estimate of 

construction costs for the project. 
  
5. Submit final construction documents to POCC and FAA for review and approval. 
  
6. Provide electronic files for POCC to distribute for bidding. 

Page 140 of 216 



  
Deliverables: 

• Final Construction Drawings 
• Final Bid Documents and Specifications 
• Final Engineer’s Construction Cost Estimate 

  
Task 5 Due:  February 6, 2026 

  
Task 6  Bidding 
  

1. Assemble and coordinate bid advertisement for public bidding of the project. It is assumed 
the bid documents will be distributed by utilizing QuestCDN for distribution and document 
control. POCC will place ads for the project in the Daily Journal of Commerce and other 
media outlets as appropriate. Advertising costs will be paid by the POCC. 

  
2. Assist in answering technical questions from potential bidders during the bidding period.   

  
3. Prepare addenda as necessary to clarify bid documents and any technical-related content. 

This scope assumes one addendum will be prepared and distributed. Any additional 
addenda will be considered additional work and may require a subsequent agreement. 
Addenda will be submitted to the POCC for review and approval prior to posting to the 
online distribution center. 

  
4. Prepare for and attend the pre-bid conference at the POCC Office. Consultant will arrange 

and conduct the pre-bid conference. The Senior Project Manager and Project Manager will 
attend the pre-bid conference. 

  
5. Prepare a bid tabulation and analysis for POCC and FAA review. 

  
6. Prepare recommendation of award to the FAA and solicit FAA concurrence. POCC will 

prepare a Notice of Award to be submitted by the POCC to the Contractor. 
 
7. Prepare draft FAA construction grant application for FAA comment and review. 

  
8. Prepare final FAA construction grant application for POCC signature and submit to FAA. 

  
Deliverables: 

• Addenda, as necessary  
• Prebid Conference Agenda & Meeting Minutes  

Page 141 of 216 



• Bid Tab  
• Recommendation of Award Letter 
• FAA Grant Application 

  
Task 2 Due:  March 31, 2026 

  
Task 7  Grant Closeout 
  

1. Provide final report to include administrative tasks/costs and engineering fees, as well as 
FAA Final Payment Summary Sheet. 
  
Deliverables: 

• Final Closeout Report 
• FAA Final Payment Summary Sheet 

  
Task 3 Due:  May 15, 2026 

  
PHASE II ‑ CONSTRUCTION 
  
Construction services are not included.  These services will be performed under a separate 
agreement or work order. 
  
  
 
 

Page 142 of 216 



 

 

 

 

    Res. 2025-19 

STAFF REPORT  

DATE:  June 11, 2025 
TO:   Port Commission 

FROM:  Bob Salisbury, Port General Counsel  

RE:  Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with Clatskanie Fire District 
 

Discussion 

The attached IGA allows Clatskanie Fire District (“Clatskanie Fire”) to take over ownership and 

maintenance of the Clatskanie Business Center located at 520 Tichenor St. in Clatskanie.  

Clatskanie Fire provides Fire, Rescue and Emergency Medical Services to the City of 

Clatskanie and over 135 square miles of rural area. Clatskanie Fire will take over the 41,000 

square foot building and 1.54-acre property in AS IS condition. If the property is sold within 5 

years, Clatskanie Fire and the Port will split any net proceeds of the sale after subtracting up to 

$200,000 in capital improvement costs paid by Clatskanie Fire.  

 

By owning the property, Clatskanie Fire will be better able to serve the citizens of Clatskanie 

and the surrounding area.  

 

 

Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution No. 2025-19, authorizing the Executive Director to sign the attached IGA.   

Intergovernmental Agreement with  

Clatskanie Fire District  

Page 143 of 216 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-19 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
AGREEMENT WITH CLATSKANIE FIRE DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, the Port currently owns the Clatskanie Business Center located at 

520 Tichenor in Clatskanie Oregon; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Clatskanie Fire District (“Clatskanie Fire”) provides Fire, Rescue 

and Emergency Medical Services to the City of Clatskanie and over 135 square miles of 
rural area; and  

 
WHEREAS, the attached Intergovernmental Agreement (“IGA”) allows 

Clatskanie Fire to take over ownership and maintenance of the Clatskanie Business 
Center in AS IS condition; and 

 
WHEREAS, this IGA will allow Clatskanie Fire to better serve the citizens of 

Clatskanie and the surrounding area; Now, therefore 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia 

County as follows: 

The Board authorizes the Executive Director to sign the attached IGA and any 
other documents necessary to transfer ownership and maintenance of the Clatskanie 
Business Center to Clatskanie Fire.  

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025, by the following vote: 
 
 
AYES: _____ NAYS:_____   Port of Columbia County 
 
ABSTAINED: _____    By:  ________________________ 

                President 
 

Attested By:  
 
________________________ 

Secretary 
 
 

Page 144 of 216 



Page 145 of 216 



Page 146 of 216 



Page 147 of 216 



   

 

 

 
 
    RES. 2025-17 
STAFF REPORT 

DATE:      June 11, 2025 

TO:   Port Commission 

 

FROM:  Amy Bynum 

      Real Estate & Business Development Manager, Deputy Executive Director 

 

RE:           American Jet Center – Purchase and Sale Agreement 

Discussion 

The Port of Columbia County listed the commercial hangar located at the Scappoose Airport at 

34090 Sky Way Drive, Scappoose, Oregon for sale in 2024. The hangar was built-to-suit for a 

prospective tenant that unfortunately went bankrupt during Covid-19. American Jet Center, a 

commercial aviation business headquartered in Chino, California sent a purchase proposal to 

buy the commercial hangar for $3,760,000 in April 2025.  

American Jet Center intends to make Scappoose Airport its West Coast hub for their health 

transport division, FlyNow Health. They will also use the hangar for commercial jet management 

and maintenance, with associated delivery of Jet-A fuel via vehicle mounted fuel dispensing 

tanks. They plan to hire 20 employees initially and operate 24/7. 

The Port has worked in good faith to negotiate a Purchase and Sale Agreement (PSA) which 

was executed, subject to Commission approval, on May 23rd and attached as an Exhibit to 

Resolution 2025-17. The associated Ground Lease is presented as Resolution 2025-18. The 

Port will retain a mortgage interest in the hangar until all the agreed upon non-refundable 

payments have been made (scheduled for May 2028). 

Summary of PSA terms: 

1. Purchase Price: $3,760,000 to be paid to the Port over a 36-month Non-Refundable 

Payment Schedule 

2. Earnest Money: $20,000 deposited with the Port at the execution of the PSA 

American Jet Center New 

Purchase and Sale Agreement  

 

Page 148 of 216 



   

 

 

3. Contingencies: If the Port Commission does not approve the PSA and/or the associated 

ground lease, the agreement will be rendered null and void  

4. Assignment: The building may not be assigned without prior written approval by the Port  

5. Terms: The agreement contains late fees, events of default, and opportunities to cure 

 

Recommendation  
Adopt Resolution No. 2025-17, authorizing the Executive Director to execute a new Ground 
Lease with American Jet Center. 

Page 149 of 216 



   

 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-17 
 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PORT TO SELL A HANGAR 
BUILDING LOCATED AT 34090 SKY WAY DRIVE, SCAPPOOSE 

OR  
 

  WHEREAS, the Port owns a commercial hangar located at the Scappoose 

Airport, 34090 Sky Way Drive, Scappoose, Oregon (the Property); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Port received a purchase offer for three million seven hundred 

and sixty thousand ($3,760,000) from American Jet Center; and 
  

WHEREAS, the Port wishes to move forward with the sale; now, therefore 

 

  BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board approves the executed and incorporated 

Purchase and Sale Agreement and associated Promissory Note. The Board also authorizes the 
Executive Director to execute all closing documents related to the sale. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June, 2025 by the following vote:  

 
 
 
AYES: _____             NAYS: _____ Port of Columbia County 

 
ABSTAIN:       By:  __________________________ 

President 
 
 

Attested By: 
 

__________________________ 
Secretary 

 
  

Page 150 of 216 



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREE,MENT
34090 Sr(YWAY DRTVE, SCAPPOOSE, OREGON

This Purchasey'\^y 
,2025

and Sale Agreement ("Agreement") effective this 231/ruy ot
("Effective Date") is by and between the Port of Columbia County, 100 E

Street, eghmbia City, OR 97018 an Oregon municipal corporation ("Seller") and American Jet
Center, 7000 Menill Avenue, Unit B, Chino, CA 91710, a California Corporation ("Purchaser")
Seller owns a corporate hangar building located at34090 Skyway Drive, Scappoose, Oregon
97056 at the Scappoose Airport as depicted on Exhibit A attached hereto ("the Property").
Purchaser and Seller engaged in mutually beneficial negotiations the result of which was that
Purchaser offered to purchase the Property, and Seller has accepted Purchaser's offer ("the
Sale"), as follows:

1. PURCHASE PRICE. The purchase price for the Property shall be Three Million Seven
Hundred and Sixty Thousand Dollars ($3,760,000) to be paid from Purchaser to Seller
("Purchase Price"). The Purchase Price is due in escalating installments as outlined in the
schedule below and are non-refundable ("Non-Refundable Payments"). The Port shall remain the
owner of the Property, including all rights, priviieges and appurtenances belonging to or
pertaining thereto, until such time as all Non-Refundable Payments have been paid in full by
Purchaser to Seller. This Agreement is secured by the attached Promissory Note, incorporated by
reference. Separately, basic rent shall be paid monthly as outlined in a Ground Lease
Agreement, also referred to in section 3 below.

Month/Year
Non-Refundable

Monthlv Pavments Balance

Iun-25 $ 20,000 $ 3.740.000

Iul-25 $ 20,000 s 3,720.000

Aue-25 $ 20,000 $ 3,700,000

Sep-25 $ 35.000 $ 3,66s,000

Oct-25 $ 35,000 $ 3,630,000

Nov-25 $ 35,000 $ 3,59s,000

Dec-25 $ 50,000 $ 3,s4s,000

Ian-26 $ 50,000 $ 3,495,000

Feb-26 $ 50,000 $ 3.445.000

Mar-26 $ 70,000 $ 3.37s.000

Apr-26 $ 70.000 $ 3.30s.000

\rIav-26 $ 70,000 $ 3.23s.000

I:on-26 $ 100,000 $ 3,13s,000

IUI-26 $ 100,000 $ 3,03s,000

Nus-26 s 100,000 $ 2.93s,000

Sep-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,83s,000

Oct-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,73s,000

Nov-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,635,000

Page I of6 PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT: 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE
Page 151 of 216 



Dec-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,535,000

Jan-27 $ 100,000 $ 2,435.000

Feb-27 $ 100.000 $ 2,335,000

Mar-27 $ 140,000 $ 2,19s,000

Lpr-27 $ 140,000 $ 2,0s5,000

VIay-21 s 140,000 $ 1,91s,000

Iun-27 $ 140,000 $ I,775,000

Id-27 $ 140,000 $ l,63s.000

Lns-27 $ 140,000 $ I,49s.000

Sep-21 $ 140,000 $ l,3s5,000

Oct-27 $ 140,000 $ 1,21s,000

Nov-27 $ 140,000 $ 1,07s.000

Dec-27 $ 140,000 $ 935,000

Ian-28 $ 140,000 $ 795,000

Feb-28 $ 140,000 $ 65s.000

Mar-28 $ 140,000 $ s 15.000

Apr-28 $ 140,000 $ 375,000

May-28 $ 375,000 $

2. EARNEST MONEY DEPOSIT. Eamest money in the amount of Twenty Thousand
Dollars ($20,000) ("Earnest Money") shall be delivered by the Purchaser to the Seller within
three (3) business days of the Effective Date ("Commencement of Due Diligence Period"). The
Earnest Money will be credited as the first Non-Refundable Payment after a fifteen (15) business
day due diligence period starting from the Commencement of Due Diligence Period ("Due
Diligence Period"), unless accelerated by mutual agreement of the Parties. The Earnest Money
will become nonrefundable on the third business day at 5 pm Pacific Standard Time after the
Due Diligence Period expires if, by that time, the Purchaser has not communicated their intent to
terminate this Agreement per section 14 Notices ("Termination Deadline)".

3. CONTINGENCIES. Seller's ob ligation to sell the Property is contingent upon approval
of this Agreement by a majority vote in a public meeting by the Port of Columbia County
Commission ("the Port Commission"). The Port Commission is a five-member local government
that govems sale and leasing activities of Seller. Seller's obligation to sell the Property is also
contingent upon a successfully negotiated Ground Lease between Seller and Purchaser ("a
Ground Lease"), signed by Seller and Purchaser and approved by a majority vote of the Port
Commission in a public meeting prior to Closing. If the Port Commission does not approve this
Agreement and a Ground Lease in its sole and absolute discretion, this Agreement will be
rendered null and void without further liability or cause of action available to either party and the
Earnest Money will be returned to Purchaser.

4. CLOSING. Closing shall occur as soon as practicable after the final Non-Refundable
Payment (cunently scheduled for May 1,2028) is made by Purchaser ("Closing Date").

Page 2 of 6 PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT: 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE
Page 152 of 216 



7

5. CLOSING COSTS AND LIENS. Purchaser and Seller shall each pay one-half (Il2) of
all costs and fees related to this Agreement.

6. COMMISSIONS. Neither party will pay a commission for a broker representing the
other party in connection with this transaction.

REPRESENTATIONS.
7.1 Purchaser takes Property "As Is": Purchaser represents that it accepts and

executes this Agreement based on their own examination and personal knowledge
of the Property; that except for as provided in this Agreement, Seller has made no
representations, warranties, or other agreements concerning matters relating to the
Propeffy; that Seller has made no agreement or promise to alter, repair, or
improve the Property; and that Purchaser takes the Property "AS IS," with all
faults, and without any representations, guarantees, or warranties from the Seller,
either expressed or implied, as to suitability or condition. Seller makes no
representation as to the exact size of the Property. Purchaser is advised, if desired,
at its sole cost and expense, to obtain a survey of the Property to determine the
size and boundaries.

7.2 Purchaser's Compliance with FAA: Purchaser represents that the Property
use is aeronautical and will comply with Federal Aviation Administration
(FAA) Order 5190.68 - FAA Airport Compliance Manual. Further, the
Purchaser acknowledges receipt of the Scappoose Airport Minimum
Standards, both of which will be included as exhibits to the Ground Lease.

8. TAXES/PRORATIONS. There shall not be any proration of taxes, as Seller is a tax-
exempt entity. Purchaser will be responsible for all property taxes from the Closing Date. Annual
Property Insurance premiums shall be billed to the Purchaser as a prorated charge based on the
Closing Date and annually after the first year.

9. UTILITIES. Seller shall pay all utility bills accrued until the Closing Date and any
necessary payments shall be handled outside of escrow.

10. POSSESSION. Purchaser is entitled to possession on the Closing Date, unless otherwise
agreed to in writing between the parties.

11. BINDING EFFECT/ASSIGNMENT RESTRICTED. This Agreement is binding on
and will inure to the benefit of Seller, Purchaser, and their respective heirs, legal representatives,
successors, and assigns.

11.1 Assignment of Interest or Rights: Except for Transfers to Affiliates as outlined
herein, Purchaser shall not sell, assign, or otherwise transfer its interest in this
Agreement either voluntarily or by operation of law, without the prior written
consent of the Port. Any such transfer or assignment, or attempted assignment
without such consent, shall be null and void.

ll.2 Transfers to Affiliate: Purchaser may transfer this Agreement to any entity that
Purchaser controls, directly or indirectly, is under common control with, or is
controlled by the Purchaser ("AffiIiate") by providing prior written notice to the
Port for review and approval by Port staff. Purchaser shall promptly notify Port of

Page 3 of6 PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT: 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE
Page 153 of 216 



any such proposed transfer and take no fuither action until such time as Port staff
complete their review and approvai process. Any such review is not required to
be taken before the Port of Columbia County Commission. Any such Affiliate
shall assume all obligations and liabilities of the Purchaser under the associated
Promissory Note and Ground Lease which shall be separately reassigned.

12. ESCROW DEPOSITS. Escrow is authorized to hold, apply and/or release the Earnest
Money as provided for in this contract.

13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the
parties regarding the Sale of the Property. This Agreement may not be modified or amended
except by a written agreement signed and executed by both parties. The parties were represented
by legal counsel andlor had the opportunity to be represented by legal counsel. This contract was
negotiated between the parties and is voluntarily executed.

14. NOTICES. All notices and communications in connection with this contract must be
given in writing and transmitted by first class mail and/or email to Purchaser and to Seller at the
address provided by each party below. Notices given in accordance with this paragraph are
deemed given upon the date of receipt or the date of mailing, with proof of mailing. Either party
may, by written notice, designate a different address for purposes of this contract. For email
delivery purposes, receipt is only confirmed with a reply by the recipient acknowledging receipt
of the message.

15. APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement is construed, applied and enforced in accordance
with the laws of the State of Oregon. Venue is in Columbia County Circuit Court, St. Helens,
Oregon.

16. WAIVER BY PURCHASER.If Purchaser, with knowledge of (i) a default in any of the
covenants, agleements or obligations to be performed by Seller under this Agreement and/or (ii)
any breach of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty of Seller made in this Agreement,
nonetheless elects to proceed to Closing Date, then, upon the consummation of the Closing,
Purchaser shall be deemed to have waived any such default and/or breach or inaccuracy and shall
have no claim against Seller with respect thereto.

17. SEVERABILITY. Should any term, provision, or portion of this contract at any time be
in conflict with any law, ruling or regulation, or be unenforceable, then such provision will
continue in effect only to the extent that it remains valid. In the event that any provision of this
contract becomes less than fully operative, the remaining porlion of that provision and all other
provisions of this contract will nevertheless remain in fuIl force and effect.

THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THIS INSTRUMENT MAY NOT BE WITHIN A FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT PROTECTING STRUCTURES. THE PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO LAND USE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS THAT, IN FARM OR FOREST ZONES, MAY NOT AUTHOzuZE CONSTRUCTION OR
SITING OF A RESIDENCE AND THAT LIMIT LAWSUITS AGAINST FARMING OR FOREST PRACTICES,
AS DEFINED IN ORS 30.930, IN ALL ZONES. BEFORE SIGNING OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRUMENT,
THE PERSON TRANSFERRING FEE TITLE SHOULD INQUIRE ABOUT THE PERSON'S RIGHTS, IF ANY,
LINDER ORS 195.300, 195.301 AND 195.305 TO 195.336 AND SECTIONS 5 TO 11, CHAPTER 424, OREGON
LAWS 2007, SECTIONS 2 TO 9 AND 17, CHAPTER 855, OREGON LAWS 2009, AND SECTIONS 2 TO 7,
CHAPTER 8, OREGON LAWS 2010. BEFORE SIGNING OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRTIMENT, THE
PERSON ACQUIRING FEE TITLE TO THE PROPERTY SHOULD CHECK WITH THE APPROPRIATE

Page 4 of 6 PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT:34090 SKYWAY DRIVE
Page 154 of 216 



CITY OR COUNTY PLANNING DEPARTMENT TO VERIFY THAT THE UNIT OF LAND BEING
TRANSFERRED IS A LAWFULLY ESTABLISHED LOT OR PARCEL, AS DEFINED IN ORS 92.010 OR
215.010, TO VEzuFY THE APPROVED USES OF THE LOT OR PARCEL, TO VERIFY THE EXISTENCE OF
FIRE PROTECTION FOR STRUCTURES AND TO INQUIRE ABOUT THE RIGHTS OF NEIGHBORING
PROPERTY OWNERS,IF ANY, UNDER ORS 195.300, 195.301 AND 195.305 TO 195.336 AND SECTIONS 5
TO 1I, CHAPTER 424, OREGON LAWS 2007, SECTIONS 2 TO 9 AND 17, CIIAPTER 855, OREGON LAWS
2009, AND SECTIONS 2 TO 7, CHAPTER 8, OREGON LAWS 2010,

18. INTENT TO BE BOUND. This Agreement sets forth the essential terms of the
transaction contemplated between the Seller and Purchaser, and all parties hereto intend to be
bound by this Agreement.

19. ATTORNEY'S FEES. If either Party incurs attorney fees, costs, or other legal expenses
to enforce the provisions of this Agreement against the other party, all such fees, costs and
expenses shall be recoverable by the prevailing party.

20. DOCUMENT EXECUTION. This Agreement may be executed in identical
counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become
effective when counterparts, have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party. In
the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or by an e-mail which contains
an electronic file of an executed signature page, such signature page shall be deemed to
constitute an original instrument, with the same force and effect as execution and delivery of an
original and shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing the Agreement.

AGREED AND ACCEPTED BY THE GNED AS OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE:

SELLER:
PORT OF IA COLINTY

By:
Sean P.
Executive Director
PO Box 190
Columbia Ciry, OR 97018
clark@co lumbi acounty.org

PURCHASER:
AMERICAN JET CENTER

By:
Denis Oliver
Pres CEO

errill Avenue
8210-8, Chino, CA 91710

Denis@americanj etcenter. com

Page 5 of6 PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT: 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE
Page 155 of 216 



Exhibit A

Page 6 of 6 PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT: 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE
Page 156 of 216 



   

 

 

 
 
    RES. 2025-18 
STAFF REPORT 

DATE:      June 11, 2025 

TO:   Port Commission 

 

FROM:  Amy Bynum 

      Real Estate & Business Development Manager, Deputy Executive Director 

 

RE:           American Jet Center – Ground Lease 

Discussion 

American Jet Center operates a commercial jet management and maintenance business with 

affiliated businesses involved in fire safety, drone technology, and health transport. Working 

through our real estate agent, Brendan Clarke, American Jet Center sent a purchase proposal 

to buy the commercial hangar located at 34090 Sky Way Drive, Scappoose, Oregon. The Port 

has worked in good faith to negotiate a sale of the hangar building and must have an associated 

ground lease with building ownership reversion to stay in compliance with Scappoose Airport 

grant assurances related for the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). The proposed ground 

lease adheres to the grant assurances and is attached as an Exhibit to Resolution 2025-18. 

Summary of Lease terms: 

1. Premises: 77,500 square feet (SF) of land including the building footprint, buffer, parking 

courtyard, and adjacent apron with an option to expand and build an additional apron at 

the tenant's expense. 

2. Use of Premises: To operate a commercial business engaged in maintenance and 

storage of jets, sale of Jet A jet fuel via a vehicle mounted fuel storage and dispensing 

tank, as well as ancillary office and administrative activities related to the conduct of an 

aviation business. 

3. Term: Thirty-year lease with two successive ten-year renewal terms. 

4. Rent: Rent is structured in tiers with the initial tier set at $0.15 per SF ($989 per month) 

until the building purchase schedule is completed after a pre-determined 36-months per 

American Jet Center New 

Ground Lease  

 

Page 157 of 216 



   

 

 

Resolution 2025-17 and the title transfer is complete, at which point the rent will increase 

to $0.50 per SF ($3,229 per month). Rent includes annual rent adjustments of 4% and a 

5-year comparable rate adjustment. 

5. Additional Charges: Fuel Flowage Fees are set at $0.06 per gallon of Jet Fuel delivered 

to the Premises. American Jet Center will report fuel sold and pay the associated Fuel 

Flowage Fee by the 5th of each month.  

6. Reversion: At the end of the final term (50- years maximum) the ownership of the hangar 

building will revert to the Port of Columbia County. 

7. Structure: Net Net Ground Lease. Property Insurance, maintenance, and utilities are the 

obligation of American Jet Center Note that property taxes are not assessed at 

Scappoose Airport. A security deposit will be kept on file.  

8. Insurance: Property Insurance, General Liability Insurance, Workers Compensation 

Insurance, Pollution Liability Insurance, Automobile Insurance, and Aircraft Insurance are 

required per the terms of the ground lease. 

Recommendation 

Adopt Resolution No. 2025-18, authorizing the Executive Director to execute a new Ground 

Lease with American Jet Center. 

Page 158 of 216 



   

 

 

RESOLUTION 2025-18 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A GROUND LEASE 
WITH AMERICAN JET CENTER AT THE 

SCAPPOOSE AIRPORT 
 

WHEREAS, American Jet Center, a commercial jet management and 

maintenance company has been working with Port Staff to negotiate a new ground lease; 
and 

  

WHEREAS, American Jet Center has made a purchase offer for a commercial 

hangar located at the Scappoose Airport, 34090 Sky Way Drive, Scappoose, OR; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Port is ; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Purchase and Sale Agreement between American Jet Center 

and the Port is predicated on an executed ground lease for the adjacent property, Airport 
apron, and parking lot; and  

 

WHEREAS, American Jet Center and Port staff have successfully negotiated a 

ground lease on terms agreeable to both parties; and 
 

WHEREAS, Port staff recommends the adoption of the ground lease, which is 

attached; now, therefore 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Columbia 

County as follows:  
 
The Board authorizes the Executive Director to execute a ground lease with 

American Jet Center. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of June 2025, by the following vote: 

 
 
AYES: _____             NAYS: _____ Port of Columbia County 

 
ABSTAIN:       By:  __________________________ 
        President 
 
 

Attested By: 
 

__________________________ 

Secretary 

Page 159 of 216 



GROUND LEASE
BETWEEN

PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY

AMERICAN JET CENTER, INC.

AND

Page 160 of 216 



1. AGREEMENT TO TEASE; DESCRIPTION OF PREMTSES ......................5

RIGHT oF FIRST REFUSAL oII AoIncTIIr AooITIoNAL LAND ...............5

...............5

...............5

Usr or rne PREMTSES

CowpLtnrucr wtrH THE LAW

1.t
r.2
1.3

2,1 LEASE EFFECTIVE DATE

2.2 1EAS8YEAR..............

2.3 ExrENstoN OploNs..
2.4 HolDovER...............

Rrrur nruo AoorTloNAL RENT

Rrrur AotusrveNT.............
Rrrur Payverurs

DELINQUENcY CHARGE

RETURNED CHEcrs.....

AccEPTANcE oF RENr.............

SrcuRrrv Deposrr..................
TAXES .............
NoN-REMoNSTRANCE.............

4. LESSEE'S OTHER OBUGATTONS ...........13

.6

.6

.6

,7

10

10

10

10

T7

t2
t2

13

13

13

13

13

14

74

15

15

15

15

15

15

16

16

t6
16

16

3.1
3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9

5.1

5.2

5,3
5.4
5.5

6.1
6.2

6.3

.7

.8

4.7
4.2

4.3
4.4

4.5

4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9

4.10
4.Lt
4.12
4.13

IMPRovEMENTS

OwNERSHtp or lvpRovrvrruTs ................
TrrLE To |MPRoVEMENTS.........

WETLANDS PREVENT|oN.....

Sre rus

No LrENS.....

UTtLtTlES AND Srnvtces

Snrrw ReeurReMENrs ............
FIRE SAFETY

SEcuRrw...

Wnsre, RevovAL AND DEMoLtloN .....................
MAtNTENANcE..

CoNDUcr oF BUSTNESS

5. PORT AUTHOR|TY AND OBUGATIONS .................... 16

Qurer EuovveNT.................
DEL|VERY oF PREMtsES............

Coruorttoru oF PREMtsES.........

PoRr CorusrRucfloN AND REpAtR OBLtcATtoN oN PREMtsES .........
Ponr aruo TnrRo-PARTy AccESS

6. ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT AND COMPTIANCE ................. 17

DEFtNtTloNS. ',,,.,,,,,77
.......... 18

..........20

ENVTRoNMENTAL lNSpEcroN.......

GrrueRal ENVTRoNMENTAL OBLtGAT|oNS oF LESSEE .........

2 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 161 of 216 



HnznRoous SuasrANcES UsE oN PREM|SES....................

OFF-SrrE WAsrE-LrKE MATERTALS....................

LrssrE's 1tA8t1try...................

INSURANcE REQUIREMENTS.

GENERAL.,.,.

RESToRATIoN

TERMI NATIoN oF LEASE FoLLowIruE CASUALW ........

9.1 DUTIES oF TERMINATIoN

10. DEFAULT

6.4
6.5
6.6

6.7
6.8

6.9
6.10

7.r
7.2

7.3

7.4
7.5
7.6

.20

.22

.22

ENVTRoNMENTAL REMEDtATtoN. ......22

NorcE....................
Splrr Snuplrrue........
PonT.S RIGHT To PERFoRM oN BEHALF OF LESSEE

LEsser's Ge ruERnl lNDEMNtry; RETMBURSEMENT oF DAMAGES.. .25

.25

24

24

24

26

28

28

29

31

32

33

.33

.33

.34

.34

.29

.29

.29

31

31

Rreurnro lNSURANCE.......

WATvER oF SUBRoGATToN ........................
PERIoDIc REVIEW

Sunvrvnl or INDEMNTTES

8.1
8.2
8.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

70.4
10.5

10.6
r0.7

t4.r
74.2
14.3
14.4

L4.5
14.6
74.7
14.8

EVENT oF DEFAU 1T............

REMEDIES oN EVENT oF DEFAULT .

No WAtvER oF DEFAULT.............

REMEDTES Cuvuurtvr nNo NoNrxc1usrvE...................

CuRrrue LesseE's DEFAU1T...................

AowrwrsrnnttvE Cosrs...........

11.

t2.

!2.1

13.

L4.

TRANSFERS To AFFTLIATE: Ponr Srnpr REVTEW AND AppRovAL........... 34

ASSIGNMENT OF INTEREST OR RIGHTS ..............35

GENERAL

DEFrNrTloNs........

PARTIAL TAKING

......37

......37

CLATMS AGA| NST CoNDEMNTNG AurHoRrry

ADJUSTMENT oF AWARD ...........
EFFEcT oF TERMINATIoN

NorcE oF TAKTNG ...................

36

Tornl Tnurue

38
38

38

15. PORT CONDEMNATTON RTGHTS ............,............38

J American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 162 of 216 



76.t
L6.2

16.3

16.4
16.5

16.6
76.7

16.8
16.9
16.10

L6.II
16.72
16.73

16.14
16.15
16.16
16.77

16.18
L6,I9
16.20
16.2t
16.22
16.23
L6.24
16.25

Coverunruls, CoNDtTloNS, AN D RESTRtcTloNs.........

GoVERNING LAW

NO IMPLIED WARRANTY..........,

NorcES..
TrME oF THE Essrrucr

SuRvrvn1..................

Not{-WclveR...

Pnnrrnt lruvnltorty

40

4Q

40
40
40

47

LtMtrATroN oN LtABtLtry

HEADINGS, TABLE oF CoNTENTS AND TABLE oF DEFINITIoNS.............

ExHrBtrs lNcoRpoRATED gv RErrRence...

MODIFICATIoNS

PROVISIoNS APPLICABLE To OTHERS,.,...,.......,,

..41
,,47
,,41

..47

..41

Cnlcunrroru or Trvr
BRoKERS.............

AfioRNEy Fees.......................

RIGHT oF PARTIES AND SuccrssoRs IN INTEREST,.....,,....

J orrur aru o SEvrRnL OsLrenrrorus ...............................
Drrrrueo Tenvs
Execulolt oF MULTtpLE CoUNTERPARTS ................

.41

.42

.42

.42

.42

.42

.42

.43

.43

.44

ESToPPEL CERTtFtcATES

FORCE MAJEURE EVENT

MEDtATtoN

ErurrRr AGnrrvENT..................
CApAcrry ro ExEcurE...............

4 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 163 of 216 



GROUND LEASE

This GROUND LEASE (the "Lease"), entered into this _ day of
2025 (the "Lease Date") by and between THE PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY, a Municipal
corporation of the State of Oregon ("the Port"), and American Jet Center, Inc., A South Dakota
Corporation ("Lessee").

1. AGREEMENT TO LEASE; DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Purchase and Sale Agreement ("PSA"), attached
and incorporated herein by reference, dated May 23,2025,between the Port and Lessee , and this
Lease, the Port hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee leases from the Port the real property located
at and adjacent to 34090 Skyway Drive, Scappoose, Columbia County, Oregon as shown on
Exhibit A (the "Premises"). The Premises are located within the Port owned property known as

the Scappoose Airport and are therefore subject to the Airport Minimum Standards attached and
incorporated by reference.

1.1 Right of First Refusal on Adjacent Additional Land

Subject to the Lessee's not being in Default per the terms of this Lease, Lessee shall have
the continuing right of first refusal to lease 26,000 square feet of land owned by the Port and
adjacent to the Premises ("Additional Land") as specified in Exhibit A during the Term and any
exercised Extension Term of this Lease. Lessee may exercise their right to lease the Additional
Land by notifying the Port in writing their intent to do so, in which case the Additional Land shall
be incorporated into the Premises under this Lease, subject to the same terms (including rent
adjustments proportionate to the added square footage). The parties shall execute a lease

amendment within 60 days formalizing the expansion.

1.2 Use of the Premises

Lessee's use of the Premises shall be limited to operating a commercial business engaged
in aircraft and unmanned aircraft systems management, upgrades, engineering, maintenance,
storage, offrce and administrative, and other activities directly related to the conduct of an aviation
business. Lessee may perform medical procedures on the Premises aligned with their health
transportation activities. Lessee may make customary use of the apron within the Premises as

depicted in Exhibit A; however, they shall not permanently store any items on the apron without
prior written approval by the Port. Lessee is allowed to maintain a vehicle mounted fuel storage
and dispensing tank on the Premises in accordance with Section 6.4 and all applicable fire
codes. Associated Fuelage Rates are defined and specified per Section 3. Per Section 6.1.2,
Hazardous Substances may not be used, stored, or otherwise handled on or near the Premises
except as authorized by Section 6.4 of this Lease.

1.3 Compliance with the Law

Lessee's use of the Premises must comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules and
regulations of the State of Oregon and the United States, and all city, county or other public
government authorities or agencies, including, but not limited to, building permit requirements,

5 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 164 of 216 



local fire code, zoning and occupancy codes. Lessee shall also comply with all Port Rules, as
amended and updated from time to time, a copy of which the Port shall provide Lessee within 60
days of such amendments or updates. Lessee shall promptly provide to the Port copies of all
written communications (including electronic communications) from any such government
entities which relate to Lessee's noncompliance or alleged noncompliance with any law or other
government requirements. Lessee shall be permitted to seek or obtain approval to rezone, change
the use of, or obtain other land use or land division approvals for, the Premises with the Port's
prior written approval, which may be granted, conditioned or denied at the Port's sole discretion.

2. TERM

2.1 Lease Effective Date

The term ofthis Lease ("Term") shall commence on the Effective Date ("Effective Date")
and shall continue for thirty (30) years from the Effective Date ("Expiration Date") unless sooner
terminated or extended pursuant to the terms of this Lease. The Term shall be split into two
separate periods with different respective rent, per Section 3. The period from the Effective Date
through the final payment of the Non-Refundable Payment Schedule outlined in the separate
Promissory Note attached as Exhibit B, shall be known as the "Payoff Period". The remaining
term after the Payoff Period ends shall be known as the 66Remaining Lease Period".

2.2 Lease Year

As used in this Lease, "Lease Year" shall mean, in the case of the first Lease Year, the
period beginning on the Effective Date and ending June 30 of that year, and thereafter, each
successive twelve (12) month period beginning July I and ending June 30 during the Initial or any
Extension Term. Lease Years do not affect the Initial Term or any Extension Terms of the Lease.

2.3 Extension Options

So long as no uncured Event of Default (defined in Section 10) exists under this Lease,
Lessee shall have options to extend ("Extension Options") the Expiration Date of this Lease for
two (2) successive terms (each an "Extension Term"). Each Extension Term shall be for ten (10)
years.

2.3.1 Lessee's Notice of Intent to Extend

Lessee must notify the Port in writing of Lessee's intent to exercise any Extension
Option, subject only to Lessee's acceptance of: (i) the Port's proposed new Rent (as defined in
Section 3.1.2 and pursuant to Section 3.2); (ii) any proposed Extension Amendments (defined in
Section 2.4.2); and (iii) any proposed adjustment to the Security Deposit pursuant to Section 3.7.
Such notice by Lessee must be given not more than three hundred sixty (360) days and not less
than one hundred eighty (180) days prior to expiration ofthe then current Lease Term or Extension
Term, as applicable. Failure of Lessee to deliver such notice to the Port as provided in this
Section2.4.l shall automatically extinguish the then applicable Extension Option and any
remaining Extension Options.

6 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 165 of 216 



2.3.2 Conditions of Extension

The terms and conditions of the Lease for each Extension Term shall be the same

as those for the initial Lease Term except that: (a) Rent shall be increased at the beginning of each

Extension Term in accordance with the formula set forth in Section 3.2; (b) the Security Deposit
will be adjusted to reflect adjustment in Rent or Additional Rent as provided in Section 3; (c)
insurance provisions will be updated, subject to the provisions of Section 7.5; (d) environmental
provisions will be updated, as necessary, to comply with then current Environmental Laws,
Environmental Audit requirements and Best Management Practices as those terms are defined in
Section 6; and (e) the Port will require any modifications or changes legally required to bring the
Lease into compliance with then current law, government regulations or government mandates
(except that any improvements the use or design of which are grandfathered or otherwise permitted
under then existing law or regulations need not be modified or upgraded) (collectively, items (c)
through (e) in this Section 2.4.2 are the "Extension Amendments"). Upon receipt of Lessee's

notice of intent to extend pursuant to Section 2.4.l,the Port shall have sixty (60) days thereafter
to notifli Lessee, in writing, of the proposed Rent, any proposed adjustments to the Security
Deposit, including the basis for the adjustment, and any Extension Amendments required by the
Port as a condition of granting the then applicable Extension Option, together with a proposed
Amendment to the Lease ("Amendment Form") (collectively, "Notice of Amendments and
Proposed Rent"). Lessee shall have sixty (60) days from receipt of the Notice of Amendments
and Proposed Rent to notify the Port in writing of Lessee's disapproval of any term thereof. If
Lessee fails to deliver written notice of Lessee's disapproval of any term in the Notice of
Amendments and Proposed Rent, then Lessee shall be deemed to have approved the Extension
Amendments, Rent, and adjusted Security Deposit and shall be obligated for the Extension Term.
Lessee shall be responsible for completing all general maintenance, repair and clean-up
requirements set forth in Section 4.10, on or before the first day of any Extension Term.

2.4 Holdover

If Lessee does not vacate the Premises at the time required (upon expiration or termination
of the Lease), the Port shall have the option to treat Lessee as a tenant from month to month and

Lessee shall pay Rent at an increased rate of 150% or at arute to be determined by the Port, above
the then-applicable Rent as outlined in Section 3 ("Holdover Rent Increase"), subject to all the
provisions of this Lease except the provisions for term. The Holdover Rent Increase shall take
effect immediately on the first day of the month afterthe expiration ortermination of the Lease.

The holdover tenancy shall be terminable at the end of any monthly rental period on written notice
from Lessor given not less than 30 days prior to the termination date, which shall be specified in
the notice. Lessee waives any notice which would otherwise be provided by law with respect to a
month-to-month tenancy.

3. RENT

3.1 Rent and Additional Rent

3.1.1 Payoff Period Rent

During the thirty-six (36) months of the Payoff Period, Lessee shall make payments
to the Port per Exhibit B for the purchase of the building. In addition, Lessee shall pay "Payoff

7 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 166 of 216 



Period Rent" on or before the first of each month calculated as follows ("Payoff Period Rental
Rate"): the total square feet (SF) ofthe hangar building footprint, building buffer, adjacent parking
lot, and apron (77,500 SF) multiplied by $0.15 per SF per year and divided by twelve (12) and
rounded to the closest dollar for a total monthly ground lease rent of Nine Hundred Sixty-Nine
Dollars ($969.00) per month. Throughout the Term, and not more than once per calendar year, the
Port reserves the right to remeasure the SF of the Premises. If Lessee is found to be occupying area
different than the SF provided in this Section 3.1 and Exhibit A, Lessee's monthly Rent shall be
adjusted to reflect the actual SF occupied using the then current rate per SF.

3.1.2 Remaining Lease Period Rent

Commencing on the Thirty-seventh (37th) month from the Effective Date, also
known as the Remaining Lease Period, Lessee shall pay to the Port a monthly "Remaining Lease
Rent" calculated as follows ("Remaining Lease Rental Rate"): the total number of square feet
of the land established and agreed by the Port and Lessee multiplied by a price of fifty cents ($0.50)
per year divided by 12 and rounded to the closest dollar amount ("Remaining Lease Period Rent".
In no case shall Rent be less than the Payoff Period Rent. All other sums which become payable
by Lessee under this Lease shall be considered "Additional Rent".

3.1.3 Additional Rent: Fuel Flowage Fees

Lessee shall pay to the Port "Fuel Flowage tr'ees" of Six Cents ($0.06) per gallon
ofjet fuel delivered to the Premises. All fuel delivered to the Premises shall be deemed to be sold
or dispensed at the time of delivery. Fuel Flowage Fees are payable in accordance with the terms
of this Lease and specifically this Section 3 including Due Dates and Delinquency Charge. Fuel
Flowage Fees shall be a separate payment from Rent. By the fifth day of each month, Lessee shall
submit a report to the Port at finance@portofcolumbiacounty.org ("Flowage Report"). The
Flowage Report must include the total number of delivered gallons of fuel for the preceding month
and include an estimate of the amount of Fuel Flowage Fees based on the rate in this section. The
Port reserves the right to examine, inspect, and audit the fueldelivery records and receipts of the
Lessee, with l0 days advanced notice. If a discrepancy is identified, the Lessee shall pay the Port
the amount found to be underreported.

3.2 Rent Adjustment

Except as provided below, after the initial year, on the first day for each successive Lease
Year ("Adjustment Date") subsequent to the Effective Date, the amount of Rent for each such
Lease Year period will be adjusted by a set 3Yo.ln no event will said Rent be less than the Rent
paid per month during the immediately preceding year.

Every Five (5) years and at the beginning of each Extension Term monthly Rent may be adjusted
by comparable rates provided by the Port and confirmed by the Lessee. This adjustment may be
made in lieu of the stipulated 3% Rent Adjustment described above in this Section. Should no
comparable leases be available, the Port may use Fair Market Value, as defined in Section 3.2.l,
multiplied by ten percent (10%) divided by twelve (12).

3.2.1 Fair Market Value

8 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 167 of 216 



As used in this Lease, "Fair Market Value" shall mean the most probable sale or
lease price in terms of money which the land and improvements should bring in a competitive
and open market under the condition's requisite to a fair sale or lease, the buyer/lessee and

seller/Port each acting prudently, knowledgeably and assuming the price is not affected by undue
stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale/lease as of the applicable
Adjustment Date and the passing of title from seller/Port to buyer/lessee under the conditions
whereby: (a) the buyer/lessee and seller/Port are typically motivated; (b) each party is well
informed or advised and is acting in what it considers its own best interests; (c) a reasonable time
is allowed for exposure in the open market, not to exceed 12 months; (d) payment is made in
terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial affangements comparable thereto; (e) the
price represents the normal consideration for the property sold or leased unaffected by special or
creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale/lease; and (f)
the land and improvements are clean and uncontaminated. Fair Market Value further means the
value of the land and improvements based on: (a) its use as an commercial hangar property; and
(b) the value of the land exclusive of any improvements except those installed and paid for solely
by the Port and not reimbursed solely by Lessee. Furthermore, sale/lease transactions used in the
determination of Fair Market Value shall be of property with comparable infrastructure
improvements, including, but not limited to, road access and utilities, common areas and other
comparable site amenities.

If Lessee disagrees with the Port's new Rent using Fair Market Value, the Port and Lessee will
each have thirty (30) days from the date the Port receives Lessee's notice objecting to the Port's
new Rent to select an independent Oregon licensed appraiser to determine the current Fair
Market Value. The selected appraisers shall be licensed members of the Appraisal Institute
("MAI") and be in good standing, unless otherwise agreed upon, in writing, by the parties, and

shall be experts in the appraisal of industrial property in Oregon, with at least five (5) years of
commercial appraisal experience. Each party must notifu the other, within the thirty (30)-day
period, of the name, address, and telephone number of such party's selected appraiser. The
selected appraisers, within sixty (60) days of being selected, must complete their final appraisal
reports, and deliver copies ofthe appraisal reports concurrently to the Port and to Lessee ("First
Appraisal"). If the two appraisers and the parties cannot come to an agreement concerning the
Fair Market Value within fifteen (15) days of issuance of both appraisal reports, the two
appraisers will select a third MAI appraiser to determine which appraisal comes closest to the
Fair Market Value. The appraisers shall conduct a full and independent appraisal of the Property
and deliver the report documenting his/her findings concurrently to the Port and to Lessee
("Final Appraisal"). The Final Appraisal will take into consideration all information contained in
both the Port's and Lessee's appraisals and the third appraiser's own independent analysis, upon
which the third appraiser will then choose, as the Fair Market Value, either the Port's appraisal or
Lessee's appraisal, based on which one comes closest to the third appraiser's independent
appraisal. The third appraiser shall not propose a middle ground or any modification of either of
the two proposed determinations of Fair Market Value. The determination of Fair Market Value
by the third appraiser shall be final and binding upon the parties. All court costs and appraisal
costs incurred pursuant to this Section 3.2.1 shall be shared equally by the Port and Lessee.

9 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 168 of 216 



3.2.2 Effective Date of Adjustment; Payment of Adjustments

Lessee acknowledges that adjustments to the Rent will be effective as of the
Adjustment Date, even though the new rate may not be able to be calculated until after the
Adjustment Date. Lessee agrees to (i) begin paying the increased Rent upon notification by the
Port; and (ii) pay any difference between the Rent actually paid to the Port after the Adjustment
Date and the adjusted Rent due for such period within thirty (30) days of notification by the Port.

3.3 Rent Payments

3.3.1 Due Dates \
Lessee shall make payment of the Rent on or before the first (1't) day of each and

every calendar month thereafter during the Term and any Extension Terms ("Due Date"). In the
event that proration of Rent is required under this Lease, Rent shall be prorated based on the
number of days in said month. All other Additional Rent shall be paid within thirty (30) days of
the issuance by the Port of an invoice submitted to Lessee or within the time period otherwise
expressly provided in this Lease. Payment of Rent shall be made without demand, notice, offset,
abatement, or deduction of any kind, to the Port at the following address or such other address as

the Port may later designate as provided herein, or by direct deposit to an account specified by the
Port:

Port of Columbia County
PO Box 190

100 E. Street
Columbia City, OR 97018

3.4 Delinquency Charge

All Rent and other amounts not paid when due shall bear a "Delinquency Charge" of one
and a half percent (1.5%) per month, if rent remains unpaid for five (5) or more days following its
due date. Such interest shall be charged from the date due until the Rent or other amount is paid
in full. This Delinquency Charge is subject to periodic change, subject to any limitation on the
maximum rate of interest allowed by law, at the Port's sole discretion. No change shall occur,
howeveq without prior written notice to Lessee. Imposition of a Delinquency Charge shall not
constitute a waiver of any other remedies available to the Port for failure to timely pay Rent.

3.5 Returned Checks

If Lessee's check for payment of Rent due under this Lease is retumed to the Port for any
reason, the payment shall be considered not to have been made and shall be delinquent. In addition
to the Delinquency Charge set forth in Section 3.4, the Port may charge Lessee a returned check
fee of Twenty-Five Dollars ($3S.OO;, per returned check. The Delinquency Charge shall continue
to accrue until the returned check fee is paid, the check can be cashed, and the Port receives all
funds due.

3.6 Acceptance of Rent

The Port's acceptance of a late or partial payment of Rent andlor a Delinquency Charge
shall not constitute a waiver of any Event of Default nor shall it prevent the Port from exercising

10 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 169 of 216 



any of its other rights and remedies granted to the Port under this Lease or by law. Any
endorsements or statements on checks of waiver, compromise, payment in full or any other similar
restrictive endorsement shall have no legal effect. Lessee shall remain in violation of this Lease

and obligated to pay all Rent due even if the Port has accepted a partial or late payment of Rent.

3.7 Security Deposit

On or before the Effective Date Lessee shall deposit with the Port the sum equal to two-
months worth of Rent equal to One Thousand Nine Hundred and Thirty Eight Dollars ($1,938.00)
as Security Deposit. The Security Deposit shall secure Lessee's full and faithful performance and

observance of all of Lessee's obligations under this Lease. The Security Deposit shall not be
considered to be held in trust by the Port for the benefit ofLessee and shall not be considered an

advance payment of Rent or a measure of the Port's damages in the case of an Event of Default by
Lessee. The Port may, but shall not be obligated to, draw upon and apply the Security Deposit to:
(a) pay any Rent or any other sums due to the Port by Lessee and not paid on or before the date it
is due and the Port shall not be required to give notice or opportunity to cure before drawing on
the Security Deposit; or (b) to pay attorney fees and costs for any legal work which has been
requested by Lessee as outlined in Section 3.7.1; or (c) to remedy any other Event of Default of
this Lease, after Lessee has received notice and opportunity to cure, if such notice and opportunity
to cure is required under this Lease. If the Port applies any of the Security Deposit to any of the
above, Lessee shall, immediately upon demand, replenish the Security Deposit to its full amount.
If Lessee fully performs all of its obligations under this Lease, the Security Deposit, or any balance
remaining, will be released within thirty (30) days from the Expiration Date or termination of this
Lease and delivery of the Premises to the Port. However, if any question exists conceming
Lessee's full compliance with the Lease or if there is any obligation under this Lease to be
performed after the Expiration Date or earlier termination of this Lease, the Port shall be entitled
to require that the Security Deposit remain in place until the Port is fully satisfied that there has

been no Default of the Lease and all obligations due under this Lease have been fully performed.
In addition to any other remedy provided in this Lease or at law, the Port shall have the option but
not the obligation to use the Security Deposit or a portion thereof to offset any costs or damages
incurred as a result of Lessee's failure to perform its obligations at the termination or expiration of
the Lease. The Port shall have the right at any time during the Lease Term or any Extension Term
to require Lessee to deposit additional Security Deposit with the Port and/or provide additional
financial assurance reasonably acceptable to the Port, in an amount or amounts reasonably
determined by the Port to be commensurate with any increased risk associated with any of the
following events: (i) as a condition of Port approval, as provided in Section 6.4, of Lessee's or any
Sublessee's use, storage, handling, processing, manufacturing or recycling of Hazardous
Substances not authorized under Section 6.4.1;or (ii) if the Port has given notice of violation of
any provision of this Lease more than three (3) times during any consecutive twelve (12) month
period.

3.7.1 Attorney Fees to be Paid by Lessee During Term of Lease

Lessee hereby acknowledges and agrees that, in the event Lessee requests that the
Port incur attomey fees for legal work or staff time which is solely the result of Lessee requesting
that such work be completed, then Lessee shall bear the responsibility to pay for any and all Port

ll American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 170 of 216 



costs associated with such a request made by Lessee. Prior to the commencement of any work,
Lessee agrees to sign an Agreement to Pay Costs Agreement provided by the Port.

3.8 Taxes

If the Premises are subject to Taxes, the Lessee shall pay all taxes and assessments of any
public authority levied against the Premises or upon any taxable interest of Lessee acquired
pursuant to this Lease or any taxable possessory right Lessee may have in or to the Premises or
the improvements located thereon, as well as all taxes on all taxable Premises, real or personal,
owned by Lessee in or about the Premises, including any other tax or charge levied wholly or
partly in lieu thereof (together, the "Taxes'o). Lessee shall make all payments on or before the
date payment is due. Lessee shall supply the Port with proof that Taxes have been paid timely if
requested by the Port. Lessee shall be permitted to pay Taxes in installments, as allowed by the
tax assessing authority. In the event that the Port is billed directly for the Taxes by the tax
assessing authority or Lessee fails to pay Taxes on or before their due date, then, in addition to
all other remedies set forth in Section l0.2,the Port shall automatically have the right, but not the
obligation, to pay the Taxes and any interest and penalties due thereon, and Lessee shall
immediately reimburse the Port for any sums so paid upon receipt from the Port of: (i) written
notice that the Port has paid the Taxes; and (ii) documentation of such payment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall also be allowed to contest the validity of any
assessment on the Premises without the Port stepping in and paying Taxes on Lessee's behalf as
long as monies sufficient to pay the Taxes and interest are placed in escrow with an escrow agent
approved by the Port, with inevocable escrow instructions to pay the Port the funds immediately
upon demand by the Port (which demand shall not be made until the earlier of: (a) the
conclusion of such contest and exhaustion of appeals; or (b) the termination of this Lease. In any
case, all Taxes must be paid prior to any foreclosure proceeding by a taxing authority being
instituted or before the Port incurs any liability as a result of such failure to pay the Taxes.
Lessee understands that should this Lease expire, or be terminated prior to the end of any given
fiscal tax year ("Tax Year") that Lessee will nonetheless be responsible to pay real Premises
taxes assessed for the entire Tax Year. The Tax Year for Columbia County is currently July 1

through June 30.

3.9 Non-Remonstrance

Lessee waives any right to remonstrate against and shall support local improvement
districts or similar shared funding mechanisms to fund future utility and roadway improvements
pertaining to the Premises, should such mechanisms be used. Lessee and the Port shall cooperate
in working with the city, county and/or state on the allocation of costs among the benefited
properties and Lessee shall promptly sign the necessary waiver forms requested by the city, county
and/or state.

12 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 171 of 216 



4. LESSEE'S OTIIER OBLIGATIONS

4.1 Improvements

Lessee shall own the hangar building located on the Premises, assuming all obligations are

satisfied according to Exhibit B during the Term. Upon Termination of this Lease, all
Improvements located on the Premises (including the hangar building) shall revert to Port
ownership, free of any claim of the Lessee. Lessee may alter existing improvements with prior
written approval from the Port. Unless otherwise agreed, it shall be the obligation of the Lessee to
construct and pay for and Improvements to the Premises except as allowed in Section 4.2. All
proposed new Improvements must have prior written permission from the Port.

4.2 Ownership of Improvements

The Port shall be the sole owner of Improvements made or paid for by the Port ("Port
Improvements") and Lessee shall not take depreciation or any other form of tax deduction, based
on any Port Improvements. The Lessee shall be the sole owner of Improvements made or paid for
by the Lessee ("Lessee Improvements"). In the event that (a) Lessee requests and the Port agrees
to construct a specific improvement on the Premises for Lessee's use; (b) Lessee reimburses the
Port in full for such improvement; and (c) the parties agree in writing prior to such construction
that Lessee shall become the owner of the improvement upon the Port's completion and Lessee's
reimbursement to the Port for such improvement, then upon completion such improvement shall
be considered Lessee Improvements owned by Lessee, subject to the Port's reversionary rights as

set out in Section 9.

4.3 Title to Improvements

Upon Termination of this Lease the Port shall assume ownership and take title to all
Improvements on the Premises.

4.4 Wetlands Prevention

Lessee shall not create any "wetlands" (as defined under any federal, state, regional or local
jurisdiction) on the Premises during the term of this Lease or extension thereof; or on any adjacent
Port-owned Premises. Lessee shall also manage the Premises so that no wetlands are allowed to
form on the Premises and so that Lessee's development and use of the Premises does not cause the
formation of wetlands on any adjacent Port owned or non-Port owned Premises. If the Port
believes that wetlands are likely to form on the Premises and Lessee has not taken corrective
action, the Port shall have the right, but not the obligation, upon ten (10) days prior written notice
to Lessee (except in the case of an emergency), to enter onto the Premises to correct the situation
and charge Lessee for such work. Lessee shall reimburse the Port for such work within thirty (30)
days of receipt of invoice from the Port. Lessee shall cooperate with and perform any obligations
required under any wetlands remediation plan.

4.5 Signs

Lessee shall contact the Port in order to place any signage at the Scappoose Airport. Lessee
shall not erect, install, nor permit upon the Premises any sign or other advertising device without

l3 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 172 of 216 



first obtaining the Port's written consent, which the Port may withhold or condition in its sole
discretion. Lessee shall remove all signs and sign hardware upon termination or expiration of this
Lease and restore the sign location to its former state, unless the Port elects to retain all or any
portion ofthe signage.

4.6 No Liens

Lessee agrees to pay, when due, all sums for labor, services, materials, supplies, utilities,
furnishings, machinery, or equipment which have been provided or ordered with Lessee's consent
to the Premises. Lessee shall not suffer or permit any liens to attach to all or any part of the
Premises by reason of any work, labor, services, or materials done for, or supplied to, or claimed
to have been done for or supplied to, Lessee or anyone occupying or holding an interest of Lessee
in all or any part of the improvements through or under Lessee. If any lien is filed against the
Premises which Lessee wishes to protest, then Lessee shall promptly deposit cash with the Port,
or procure a bond acceptable to the Port, in an amount sufficient to cover the cost of removing the
lien from the Premises or file a bond or deposit money and cause the Premises to be freed of the
lien pursuant to ORS 87.076 et. seq. Notwithstanding any notice and cure periods provided in
Section 10.1, failure to remove the lien or fumish the cash or bond acceptable to the Port or to
cause the Premises to be freed of the lien pursuant to ORS 87.076 et. seq. within thirty 90 days of
receipt of notice of the lien shall constitute an Event of Default under this Lease and the Port shall
automatically have the right, but not the obligation, to pay the lien off with no further notice to
Lessee and Lessee shall immediately reimburse the Port for any sums so paid to remove any such
lien. Except as provided herein, Lessee shall not encumber the Premises or any Lessee
Improvements thereon without prior written approval of the Port, which may be withheld or
conditioned in the Port's sole discretion.

4.7 Utilities and Services

The Port makes no representations or warranties regarding the availability and/or quality
of utilities and other services available to the Property. Lessee is responsible for veriffing,
obtaining and paying for any additional utility installations and connections and all utility services
necessary for Lessee's operation. Lessee shall be responsible for paying all fees and charges
imposed by the various utilities, including those paid for and apportioned by the Port. Fees shall
include, but are not limited to, all installation and connection fees and charges and monthly or
periodic fees and assessments charged by the utilities and by any governmental agencies having
jurisdiction over the Premises. Before Lessee installs any other utility lines on, under, or above
the Premises, Lessee must first obtain the Port's written approval to do so. Before approval is
granted Lessee must provide the Port with a detailed survey showing the exact location of such
lines, along with a precise metes and bounds description of the same. In no event shall the Port be
obligated to use any of its powers to acquire easement or utility access for Lessee. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Port represents and warrants to the Lessee that: (a) sewer, water, electric,
propane tank, and broadband are available directly at the Premises; (b) separate meters for
measuring all utilities to be paid for by the Lessee are currently available and installed at the
Premises.

t4 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 173 of 216 



4.8 Safety Requirements

Lessee shall conduct its operations, activities and duties under this Lease in a safe manner
and shall comply with all safety standards imposed by applicable Laws. Lessee shall ensure
compliance with the same by all customers, subcontractors, and all other persons transacting
business with or for Lessee in any way connected with the conduct of Lessee pursuant to this
Lease. Lessee shall comply with any safety rules adopted by the Port after thirty (30) days' notice
of such adopted rules to Lessee, unless exigent circumstances require immediate compliance
therewith.

4.9 F'ire Safety

Lessee shall exercise due and reasonable care and caution to prevent and control fire on the
Premises and, to that end, shall provide and maintain any fire suppression and other fire protection
equipment as may be required or appropriate for Lessee's use of the Premises pursuant to
applicable Laws and the Port's fire insurance carrier for the purpose of protecting the Premises and
restricting the spread of any fire from the Premises. Lessee shall comply with any fire safety rules
adopted by the Port after thirty (30) days' notice of such adopted rules to Lessee, unless exigent
circumstances require immediate compl iance therewith.

4.10 Security

Lessee shall be fully responsible for security of the Premises and the Port shall have no
responsibility or liability under this Lease for security of the Premises.

4.11 Waste, Removal and Demolition

Lessee shall not cause or permit any waste or damage, disfigurement or injury to the
Premises or the Improvements. Subject to Section 8, Lessee shall not remove or demolish, in
whole or in paft, any Port Improvements on the Premises without the prior written approval of the
Port, which the Port may condition upon the obligation of Lessee to replace the same by an equal
or better Port Improvement or other improvement specified in such approval.

4.12 Maintenance

Lessee shall keep and maintain the Premises (including buildings, adjacent pavements,
parking lot, foundation, all improvements, and Lessee Improvements, systems, utilities and
equipment) in good condition and shall carry out preventive maintenance, repairs, and
replacements necessary and appropriate to maintain such condition. Lessee may be asked to
provide a written record to the Port of all maintenance performed on the Premises at any point
during the Lease. The Port shall not be responsible for any maintenance of the Premises.

4.13 Conduct of Business

At all times during the Lease Term and any Extension Terms, Lessee shall be registered
and in good standing to do business in Oregon. Lessee shall notifu the Port of any cessation in
operations that are expected to last more than eight (8) weeks and must continuously secure and
maintain the Premises at all times during the Lease Term and any Extension Terms. In the event
Lessee's cessation in operations lasts longer than eight (8) weeks, the Port shall have the right, but
not the obligation, to terminate this Lease.

l5 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 174 of 216 



5.

5.1

PORT AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS

Quiet Enjoyment

Subject to Lessee performing all of Lessee's obligations under this Lease and subject to the
Port's rights underthis Lease and its rights of condemnation under Oregon law, Lessee's possession
and quiet enjoyment of the Premises will otherwise not be disturbed by the Port or its officers,
commissioners, agents, employees and contractors.

5.2 Delivery of Premises

Lessee shall have the right to possession of the Premises on the Effective Date. The Port
shall have no liability to Lessee for any delay in delivering possession; however, all of Lessee's
monetary obligations hereunder, including without limitation Lessee's obligation to pay Rent, will
be abated, delayed and forever excused until possession is actually delivered to Lessee. Lessee
shall have a right to terminate this Lease if possession is not delivered by Effective Date.

5.3 Condition of Premises

The Port makes no warranties, guarantees or averrnents regarding the condition of the
Premises, including, without limitation, the suitability of the Premises for Lessee's intended uses
or the availability of accessible utilities or roadways needed for Lessee's intended purposes, or
zoning, development, or occupancy requirements. Prior to the Effective Date Lessee may inspect
the Premises and accepts the Premises in "AS IS" condition, with all defects and conditions known
and unknown, upon taking possession. The Port shall have no liability to Lessee and Lessee shall
have no claim against the Port for any damage or injury caused by any condition of the Premises.
Unless otherwise agreed to, in writing, by the Port, the Port shall have no responsibility to bring
the Premises into compliance with any laws, including, without limitation, any building or
occupancy codes. Lessee shall be solely responsible for thoroughly inspecting the Premises and
ensuring that it is in compliance with all laws.

5.4 Port Construction and Repair Obligation on Premises

The Port shall have no responsibility for the repair or maintenance of the Premises or for
construction of any roadways, utilities or any other improvements on or off of the Premises unless
otherwise specifically provided in this Lease. Should the Port undertake any repair or maintenance
work on the Premises, the Port shall have no liability for interference with Lessee's use of the
Premises which might result from the Port's repair and maintenance efforts and no such efforts
shall be construed as a constructive eviction or other eviction of Lessee. Notwithstanding the
foregoing and to the extent allowed by law, the Port will be responsible to Lessee for any actual
damages caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Port or any agent, employee
or contractor of the Port who performs work which damages Lessee's Premises (but in no event
for lost profits or consequential damages). Any repair of damage caused by negligence or breach
of this Lease by Lessee, employees, agents, contractors or invitees, shall be Lessee's responsibility
and shall be made at Lessee's sole expense.

5.5 Port and Third-Party Access

The Port shall have the right to enter upon the Premises for the purposes of: (a) confirming
the performance by Lessee of all obligations under this Lease; and (b) doing any other act which

l6 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 175 of 216 



the Port may be obligated or has the right to perform under this Lease. Such entry shall be made
with reasonable advance written notice of at least twenty-four (24) hours and conducted during
normal business hours to Lessee, except in cases of emergency. In an emergency, the Port shall
have the right to use any and all means which the Port may deem reasonable to obtain entry onto
the Premises or into any building located on the Premises without liability to Lessee. Lessee may
have its representative, if such a representative is reasonably available, accompany the Port. If
prior notice of an inspection is not provided under the circumstances set forth in this Section 5.5,
the Port shall notify Lessee of the scope and findings of the inspection as soon as practicable after
it occurs.

6. ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT AND COMPLIANCE

6.1 Definitions

For the purposes of this Lease, the following definitions shall apply:

6.1.1 Environmental Laws

"Environmental Laws" shall include any and all federal, State of Oregon, regional
and local laws, regulations, rules, permit terms, codes, ordinances and guidance documents now
or hereafter in effect, as the same may be amended or recodified from time to time, and applicable
decisional law, which govern materials, substances, regulated wastes, emissions, pollutants, water,
storm water, ground water, wellfield and wellhead protection, , animals or plants, noise, or
products and relate to the protection of health, natural resources, or the environment.

6.1.2 Hazardous Substance

"Hazardous Substance" shall include any and all substances defined or designated
as hazardous, toxic, radioactive, dangerous wastes or materials or any other similar term in or
under any applicable Environmental Laws. Hazardous Substance shall also include, but not be

limited to, fuels, petroleum and petroleum-derived products.

6.1.3 Environmental Audit

"Environmental Audit" means an environmental site assessment or compliance
audit conducted of the Premises consistent with CERCLA Section 9601(35XB), 42 U.S.C., 40
C.F.R. part3l2, ORS 465.255(6), and any other applicable or relevant and appropriate assessment

or auditing standard, including ASTM Standard E2107-00 Standard Practice for Environmental
Regulatory Compliance Audits, or its successor, as the same may be amended or recodified from
time to time.

6.1.3.1 Initial Environmental Audit

Lessee will have, at its own cost, the option of conducting an Environmental
Audit assessment and work before the Effective Date. The Environmental Audit ("Initial Audit"),
shall document the onsite environmental condition ofthe Premises as ofthe Effective Date. Lessee

and the Port acknowledge that the Initial Audit may establish a presumption of conditions as of
the Effective Date ("Baseline Conditions") and may be used to determine (but shall not be

completely determinative of; Lessee's environmental liability or lack thereof in connection with
the Premises.

l7 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 176 of 216 



6.1.3.2 Special Environmental Audit

If the Port, at any time during the term of the Lease or any extension thereof,
has reason to suspect that there has been a Hazardous Substance Release or there is an imminent
threat of a Hazardous Substance Release caused by Lessee, Lessee's employees, agents,
contractors, licensees, or invitees (including occurring in connection with their occupancy,
possession or use of the Premises), the Port may, after written communication of those reasons to
Lessee, without limiting its other rights and remedies, conduct an Environmental Audit of the
Premises ("Special Audit"). If the Special Audit confirms aHazardous Substance Release which
Lessee, Lessee's employees, agents, contractors, licensees, or invitees caused (including occurring
in connection with their occupancy, possession or use of the Premises), then Lessee will be
required to reimburse the Port for the reasonable costs of the Special Audit as an Environmental
Cost. If no Material Violation is found, the Port will pay for the Special Audit.

6.1.3.3 Exit Environmental Audit

At the expiration or termination of this Lease, the Lessee will conduct, at
Lessee's expense, an Environmental Audit ("Exit Audit") of the Premises and related property to
determine: (i) the environmental condition ofthe Premises; (ii) whether any Hazardous Substance
Release which Lessee, Lessee's employees, agents, contractors, licensees, or invitees caused
(including occurring in connection with their occupancy, possession or use of the Premises) has
occurred or exists on or about the Premises; and (iii) whether there is evidence of any violation of
Environmental Laws or the environmental provisions of this Lease which Lessee, Lessee's
employees, agents, contractors, licensees, or invitees caused (including occurring in connection
with their occupancy, possession or use of the Premises). If Lessee fails to conduct an Exit Audit
as required, Port has the option to conduct such Exit Audit at Lessee's expense. The Exit Audit
shall be performed not more than sixty (60) days after the later of, (i) the Expiration Date of this
Lease or (ii) the completion of the removal of any Lessee Improvements as required under this
Lease. A complete copy of the results of the Exit Audit shall be provided to each party no later
than 45 days after the Exit Audit is performed unless approved in writing by Port staff . In the
event this Lease is terminated prior to the scheduled Expiration Date for any reason, Lessee may
complete the Exit Audit within sixty (60) days of such actual termination date of this Lease. The
Port shall have the right to approve the scope of and consultant for the Exit Audit, though such
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

6.2 Environmental Inspection

The Port reserves the right, at any time and from time to time, after reasonable advance
written notice to Lessee, of two (2) Business Days or more (except that no notice to Lessee shall
be required in the event the Port reasonably believes that there exists a condition constituting an
imminent and substantial endangerment to human health or the environment) to inspect the
Premises and Lessee's operations on and use of the Premises: (i) for the presence of or Lessee's
management of Hazardous Substances not allowed under this Lease; (ii) for the purpose of
sampling Lessee's storm water discharge; (iii) for compliance with Environmental Laws or the
environmental provisions ofthis Lease; and (iv) to facilitate the Port's environmental management,
permitting and analysis related to the Premises or any other premises of the Port. Lessee shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to arrange these inspections on behalf of the Port. The Port agrees

l8 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 177 of 216 



to use commercially reasonable efforts to conduct such inspections in a manner that will minimize
disruption to Lessee's use of the Premises. Lessee may have its representative, if such a

representative is reasonably available; accompany the Port during an inspection authorized by this
Section 6.2. The Port shall notifr Lessee of the scope and findings of the inspection as soon as

practical after it occurs.

6.2.1 EnvironmentalCost

"Environmental Cost" shall include, but is not limited to, costs and damages
arising from or relating to: (a) any actual or claimed violation of or noncompliance with any
applicable Environmental Laws; (b) claims for damages, response costs, any audit costs, fines,
fees or other relief relating to matters addressed in any applicable Environmental Laws; (c)
injunctive relief relating to matters addressed in any applicable Environmental Laws; (d)
Hazardous Substance Releases; and (e) violations of any environmental provisions of this Lease.

"Environmental Cost" as used in this Section 6 and elsewhere in this Lease shall include but not
be limited to: (i) costs of preliminary assessment, evaluation, testing, analysis, remedial
investigation, feasibility study, removal, remedial action, disposal, monitoring and maintenance,
natural resources injury assessment, restoration and compensation; (ii) the cost of
decommissioning and removing any underground or aboveground storage tank(s); (iii) Port,
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ"), United States Environmental Protection
Agency ("EPA") and Natural Resource Trustees oversight costs related to violations of
environmental laws; (iv) fees of attorneys, engineers, consultants, experts, and Port employees and
costs, whether or not taxable as costs, incurred at, before or after trial, on appeal or petition for
review, or in any bankruptcy or administrative proceedings; (v) lost revenue; and (vi) diminution
of value, loss, or restriction on use of Premises, including diminution of value resulting from the
residual risk associated with a risk based cleanup.

6.2.2 Hazardous Substance Release

"Hazardous Substance Release" shall include the spilling, discharge, deposit,
injection, dumping, emitting, releasing, leaking or placing of any Hazardous Substance into the air
or into or on any land or waters. However, Hazardous Substance Release excludes a release
specifically authorized by a valid permit or authorization or a de minimis release of Hazardous
Substances on an impervious surface that does not and will not likely, either individually or
cumulatively with other releases of Hazardous Substances, come in contact with surface water
contained in a river water body, or with groundwater, that is appropriately responded to under
Environmental Laws and that is promptly reported to the Port under Section 6.8.

6.2.3 Best Management Practices

"Best Management Practices" shall mean those environmental or operational
standards which are either: (a) applicable to a particular business or industry group as a matter of
common and accepted practices; (b) adopted or articulated by any of the following: trade
associations or professional associations for the particular business or industry group; the business
or industry group's own standard operating procedures; or (c) practices specifically defined or
identified for a particular business operation or industry group by regulatory agency guidelines.

l9 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 178 of 216 



6.2.4 UST Facility

"UST Facility" shall include underground storage tanks, underground piping,
dispensers, related underground and aboveground structures and equipment, including without
limitation spill containment features and oil water separators, and the surrounding area used in
connection with the operation, activity or purpose for which the entire system is designed,
including without limitation the fueling of motor vehicles and the containment of Hazardous
Substances or other materials. A UST Facility shall not include piping that is placed underground
solely for purposes of a road crossing, railroad crossing, or similar crossing.

6.2.5 AST Facility

"AST Facility" shall include mobile storage tanks and aboveground storage tanks,
aboveground piping, dispensers, related underground and aboveground structures and equipment,
including without limitation spill containment features and oil water separators, and the
surrounding area used in connection with the operation, activity or purpose for which the entire
system is designed, including without limitation the fueling of motor vehicles or airplanes and the
containment of Hazardous Substances or other materials.

6.3 General Environmental Obligations of Lessee

Lessee shall manage and conduct all of its activities on or relating to the Premises: (a) in
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and the environmental provisions of this
Lease; (b) in reasonable cooperation with the Port (but at no significant additional cost to Lessee)
in the Port's efforts to comply with applicable laws and regulations; and (c) in compliance with
Best Management Practices applicable to Lessee's use of the Premises. Lessee shall manage and,
as appropriate, secure the Premises and Lessee's occupation or use of the Premises so as to prevent
any violation of law and regulations by any party.

6.4 Hazardous Substances Use on Premises

Lessee shall not use, store, handle, manage, generate, manufacture, dispose of, recycle, or
process on the Premises any Hazardous Substances ("Hazardous Substance Use") except as
provided in Section 6. Lessee shall maintain Safety Data Sheets ("SDS Materials") for each
Hazardous Substance Use by Lessee, Lessee's agents, employees, contractors, licensees, invitees,
to the extent required under Environmental Laws and shall provide them to the Port if requested
in writing. Lessee agrees to provide a list of Hazard Substance Use on Premises to the Port if
requested in writing. Lessee shall dispose of all Hazardous Substances according to applicable
Environmental Laws. Except as specifically allowed by state or federal discharge permits, Lessee
shall not dispose ofany Hazardous Substance, regardless ofthe quantity or concentration, into any
storm or sanitary sewer systems within the Premises or on other Premises ofthe Port, to the ground,
into surface water or groundwater.

6.4.1 Permitted Use of Hazardous Substances

In accordance with Section l.l above, Lessee's permitted use of the Premises
involves use, storage, and distribution of Hazardous Substances. Lessee shall be permitted to store,
handle, or use such quantities ofHazardous Substances as are necessary for the Lessee to conduct
ongoing operations in accordance with, and as allowed under, all permits held by Lessee for use

20 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 179 of 216 



of Hazardous Substances. All storage and use of Hazardous Substances shall be in compliance
with any Environmental Law and shall be limited to quantities necessary for the Lessee to conduct
its business and operations (each such use a "Permitted Use of Hazardous Substances"). Such
Permitted Use of Hazardous Substances shall include: (a) petroleum products or lubricants
removed from aircraft under maintenance and being temporarily preserved in appropriately labeled
containers for eventual retum to those aircraft; (b) chemicals, solvents, lubricants, paints, primers,
adhesives, sealants, anti-corrosives, chemicals and any and all other materials that are routinely
used in the course of Lessee's business activities or in the maintenance of aircraft; (c) Hazardous
Substances contained in office, janitorial and landscape supplies and cleaning fluids of types and
quantities ordinarily used for maintenance of the Premises; (d) petroleum products and lubricants
fully contained in equipment, machinery and vehicles on the Premises; and (e) Hazardous
Substances contained in equipment, machinery and materials used in the construction and

installation of any improvements on the Premises, excluding any stockpiling of Hazardous
Substances in connection with such construction or of Off-Site Waste-Like Materials (defined
in Section 6.5) containing any Hazardous Substances; (f) Medical biohazard related Hazardous
Substances reasonably necessary for the conduct of Lessee's Use on the Premises.

6.4.2 Conditional Hazardous Substances Use with Port Approval

If Lessee's proposed Hazardous Substance Use falls into one or more of the
following categories, such use shall be in the Port's sole discretion: (a) a conditionally exempt
small quantity generator or small quantity generator of hazardous waste under the Resources
Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"); (b) requires an Operating Permit under either
federal or state Clean Air laws; (c) requires a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System
(NPDES) permit; (d) requires response planning or reporting under the Emergency Planning
and Community Right-To-Know Act,42 U.S.C. $$ I l00l-11050; (e) materials regulated under
the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, Rodenticide Act (FIFRA); and (0 any other use that creates a
material risk to human health or the environment, including, but not limited to, uses that may
result in explosion, evacuation, or imminent threat to the waterways, groundwater, land, or air
(each such use under items (a) through (f) of this Section 6.4.2 is a "Conditional Hazardous
Substance Use").

6.4.3 Above Ground and Mobile Hazardous Substances Storage Tanks

Lessee may install, maintain and operate an AST Facility (including fueling trucks),
or use fueling entities based offsite for the storage, transportation, transfer and dispensing on the
Premises of Hazardous Substances. Any material change in the use of above-ground or mobile
storage tanks on the Premises shall be reviewed by the Port on a case-by-case basis and subject
to the Port's prior written approval at the Port's sole discretion.

6.4.5 Discharge and Treatment of Industrial Wastewater

No industrial wastewater discharge shall be made by Lessee into the ground, any
surface waters, other body of water, or any Port-owned conveyance or storage system unless such
discharge meets the requirements of all applicable laws and regulations. The Port shall have the
right, but not the duty, in its sole discretion, to review and approve or disapprove any industrial
waste water management, treatment or discharge system constructed or modified by or on behalf
of Lessee on the Premises during the term of this Lease.

2l American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 180 of 216 



6.5 Off-Site Waste-Like Materials

Lessee shall not allow any person to store, manage, treat, deposit, place or dispose of slag,
debris, recycled concrete, recycled asphalt, construction or demolition debris, wood waste,
dredged material, Hazardous Substance-contaminated material, or other wastes from off of the
Premises ("Off-Site Waste-Like Materials") on the Premises without the prior written approval
of the Port. In the event that the Port in its sole discretion is not satisfied with the origin and likely
contents of such Off-Site Waste-Like Materials, the Port may require Lessee, at Lessee's cost, to
test such materials to ensure that, in the Port's sole opinion, such materials contain no unacceptable
levels of Hazardous Substances.

6,6 Lessee's Liability

6.6.1 HazardousSubstanceReleases

Except as provided in Section 6.6.2, Lessee shall be responsible for any Hazardous
Substance Release occurring on the Premises or emanating and originating from the Premises onto
or into other properties, or in the air or in adjacent or nearby waterways (including ground water)
and any Environmental Cost resulting therefrom, which results from or occurs in connection with
Lessee's occupancy, use or possession of the Premises (including acts of uninvited third parties
who cause a Hazardous Substance Release to occur on the Premises) (a) occurring at any time
during the Lease Term or extension thereof; (b) occunin g at any time during any holdover period;
or (c) occurring during the Lease Term or extension thereof and continuing after the Lease Term
or extension thereof (the "Triggering Environmental Event").

6.6.2 Limitation of Lessee's Liability
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary provided in Section 6.6 of this

Lease, Lessee shall have no responsibility or liability for any Triggering Environmental Event that:
(a) existed on the Premises prior to the Effective Date of this Lease (except if caused by Lessee or
Lessee's agents, employees or contractors); (b) is caused by the Port or its agents, employees or
contractors after the Effective Date of this Lease; (c) results exclusively from a Hazardous
Substance Release that constitutes a contiguous properties situation, as defined in 42 U.S.C.A.
$ 9607(q) or similar state law, involving a release that occurred from an off-site location not
owned, operated, leased or otherwise controlled by Lessee, and migrated onto the Premises; or (d)
first occurred after Lessee's vacation of the Premises. The Port shall be responsible, to the extent
required by law, for any Triggering Environmental Event caused by the Port, its agents, employees,
contractors, or other tenants whether occurring before or after the Effective Date of this Lease.

6.7 Environmental Remediation

6.7.1 Immediate Response

In the event of a violation of applicable Environmental Laws for which Lessee is
responsible under this Lease, a violation of an environmental provision of this Lease for which
Lessee is responsible under this Lease, a Hazardous Substance Release for which Lessee is
responsible under this Lease, or the threat of or reasonable suspicion of a Hazardous Substance
Release for which Lessee is responsible under this Lease, Lessee shall immediately undertake and
diligently pursue all acts necessary or appropriate to do the following: (a) eliminate the threat or

22 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 181 of 216 



reasonable suspicion of such Hazardous Substance Release; (b) correct the violation of
Environmental Laws or of environmental provisions of this Lease; and/or (c) investigate, contain,
stop, and accomplish source control (if the source is on the Premises) for, Hazardous Substance
Releases for which Lessee is responsible under this Lease and remove such Hazardous Substance
Releases to the extent required by Environmental Laws and consistent with the permanent
remediation requirements of Section6.7.2. If the source is off the Premises, Lessee will
immediately notify the Port upon becoming aware of the Hazardous Substance Release.

6.7.2 Remediation

Lessee shall promptly undertake all actions necessary or appropriate to ensure that
any Hazardous Substance Release for which Lessee is responsible under this Lease is permanently
remediated and that any violation of any applicable Environmental Laws for which Lessee is
responsible under this Lease or any violation by Lessee of an environmental provision ofthis Lease
is corrected. In addition, with respect to any Hazardous Substance Release for which Lessee is
responsible under this Lease, Lessee shall restore the Premises or other affected Premises or water
to such condition that: (a) a determination of "No Further Action" which may include conditions,
has been obtained from the Oregon DEQ or other pertinent authority such as the EPA, or site
closure acceptable to the Port in its sole discretion; (b) no ongoing monitoring of Hazardous
Substances on the Premises is required under applicable Environmental Laws unless approved by
the Port and at the sole cost ofLessee; (c) no Hazardous Substances are left in place and capped
with either soil or other material; and (d) there are no restrictions or institutional controls under
applicable Environmental Laws on the use or development of the Premises other than those
consistent with current and reasonably anticipated future land uses at the Premises and surrounding
properties. Nothing in this Section 6.7.2 shall require Lessee to remediate any Hazardous
Substance Release for which Lessee is not responsible under Section 6.6.1 or for which Lessee's
liability is limited as provided in Section 6.6.2.

6.7.3 Natural Resources Damages Assessment and Restoration

Lessee shall promptly undertake, at Lessee's sole expense, all actions necessary to
ensure that any natural resources damages associated with the violation of Environmental Laws
on or associated with the Premises for which Lessee is responsible under this Lease, and the
environmental provisions of this Lease or any Hazardous Substance Release by Lessee,
contractors, invitees, agents, or employees, is investigated, determined, quantified, assessed, and
permanently restored and compensated for, such that a final resolution, settlement, or "No Further
Action" determination is obtained from all involved natural resources trustees with jurisdiction
over the Hazardous Substance Release.

6.7.4 Report to the Port

Within thirty (30) days following completion of any assessment, investigation,
feasibility study, containment, removal, or remedial action required by this Lease, Lessee shall
provide the Port with a written report outlining, in detail, what has been done and the results
thereof.

LJ American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 182 of 216 



6.7.5 Port's Approval Rights

Except in the case of an emergency or an agency order requiring immediate action,
Lessee shall give the Port advance notice before beginning any investigatory, remediation or
removal procedures. The Port shall have the right to approve or disapprove the proposed
investigatory, remediation and removal procedures and the company(ies) and/or individuals
conducting such procedures which are required by this Lease or by applicable Environmental
Laws, whether on the Premises or on any affected Premises or water. The Port will have the right
to require Lessee to request oversight from the DEQ or other pertinent authority such as the EPA
or to require Lessee to participate under an agreement in DEQ's voluntary cleanup program, if
applicable, regarding any investigatory, containment, remediation and removal activities or require
Lessee to seek a formal determination from DEQ of No Further Action or site closure.

6.8 Notice

Lessee shall promptly notiSz the Port upon becoming aware of: (a) a violation or alleged
violation of any applicable Environmental Laws related to the Premises or to Lessee's occupation
or use of the Premises or any environmental provision of this Lease; and (b) any Hazardous
Substance Release on, under or adjacent to the Premises or threat of or reasonable suspicion of any
of the same. If Lessee fails to notify the Port of a matter as required in this Section 6.8, and if the
Port does not otherwise acquire knowledge ofthe matter, Lessee shall be liable for any aggravation
of aHazardous Substance Release that could reasonably have been avoided if such notification by
Lessee had been provided.

6.9 Split Sampling

Except in the case of an emergency or an agency order requiring immediate action, Lessee
shall notify the Port at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of any proposed sampling associated
with a Hazardous Substance Release in order to allow the Port to be present or to collect duplicate
(or "split") samples so that the Port may conduct its own analysis. Lessee shall provide the Port
with copies of any sampling results and associated chain-of-custody and quality assurance and
quality control information within ten (10) days of request by the Port.

6.10 Port's Right to Perform on Behalf of Lessee

In the event Lessee is in default of any of its obligations under this Section 6 or any
Environmental Laws, the Port shall have the right, after written notice to Lessee and a period of
thirty (30) Business Days provided for Lessee to cure, to perform such obligations and charge
Lessee all resulting Environmental Cost, together with interest at the Delinquency Rate, from the
date the expense is incurred by the Port until the date paid. The Port may not commence
performance on behalf of Lessee under this Section 6.10 ie during the thirty (30) day period,
Lessee promptly begins and diligently pursues to completion the performance of the obligations
set forth in the Port's notice. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Port determines that
an emergency exists and Lessee is either unwilling or unavailable to take immediate and
appropriate action, the Port may take commercially reasonable action, and charge Lessee all
resulting Environmental Cost from the date the expense is incurred by the Port until the date paid.
If such Environmental Cost is not reimbursed within thirty (30) days of written demand, the
Delinquency Charge will be imposed retroactive to the date the Environmental Cost was incurred.

24 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 183 of 216 



The Port agrees to make a good faith effort to attempt to notiSr Lessee before beginning any clean-
up operation.

7 INDEMNITY, INSURANCE

Lessee's General Indemnity; Reimbursement of Damages7.1

Lessee agrees to defend (using legal counsel reasonably acceptable to the Port), indemnify,
and hold harmless the Port from and against and reimburse the Port for any and all actual or alleged
claims, damages, expenses, costs, fees (including, but not limited to, attorney, accountant,
paralegal, expert, and escrow fees), fines, Environmental Cost and/or penalties (collectively
"Costs") which may be imposed upon, claimed against or incurred or suffered by the Port and
which, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, arise from the following, unless exclusively
resulting from the Port's gross negligence or willful misconduct: (a) any act, omission or
negligence of Lessee; (b) any use, occupation, management or control of the Premises by Lessee,
whether or not due to Lessee's own act or omission and whether or not the resulting damage occurs
on the Premises; (c) any condition created in or on the Premises by any party (other than the Port),
including without limitation any accident, injury or damage occurring in or on the Premises after
the Effective Date; (d) any Triggering Environmental Event for which Lessee is responsible under
this Lease, including without limitation any injury or damage occurring therefrom; and (e) any
breach, violation or nonperforrnance of any of Lessee's obligations under this Lease. For purposes

of this Section 7.l (a) through (e), Lessee shall be deemed to include Lessee and Lessee's partners,

officers, directors, employees, agents, invitees, suppliers, subcontractors and contractors, and the
Port shall mean the Port, its commissioners, directors, agents, employees and volunteers. Neither
Lessee's partners, officers, directors, employees, and agents nor the Port's commissioners,
directors, agents and employees shall be held personally liable under the provisions of this
Section 7.1 .

7.2 InsuranceRequirements

Insurance requirements set forth below do not in any way limit the amount or scope of
liability of Lessee under this Lease. The amounts listed indicate only the minimum amounts of
insurance coverage the Port is willing to accept to help insure full performance of all terms and
conditions of this Lease. All insurance required by Lessee under this Lease shall meet the
following minimum requirements.

7 .2.1 C ertificates l Notice of Cancellation

Prior to the Effective Date and at all times thereafter during the Lease Term (and
any extension thereof), but in any event and all times prior to Lessee being allowed on the
Premises, Lessee shall provide the Port with current certificates of insurance, including a copy of
the additional insured endorsement required in Section 7.2.2, executed by a duly authorized
representative of each insurer, evidencing the existence of all insurance policies required under
this Section 7. The Port shall receive at least thirty (30) days' written notice prior to cancellation,
non-renewal, or material change in any policy required under this Section 7. Insurance must be

maintained without any lapse in coverage during the Lease Term. The Port shall also be given
copies of Lessee's policies of insurance, upon request. Failure of the Port to demand such
certificates or other evidence of full compliance with these insurance requirements or failure of

25 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 184 of 216 



the Port to identi$r any deficiency or noncompliance with coverage requirements shall not be
construed as a waiver of Lessee's obligation to maintain the insurance required by this Lease.

7.2.2 Additional Insured; Separation of Insureds

The Port shall be named as an additional insured in each general liability policy,
other than employer's liability. Such insurance shall provide cross liability coverage equivalent to
the standard Separation of Insureds clause published by the Insurance Services Ofhces ("ISO") or
a successor organization.

7.2.3Primary Coverage

The required policies shall provide that the coverage is primary and will not seek
any contribution from any insurance or self-insurance carried by the Port.

7.2.4 Company Ratings

All policies of insurance must be written by companies having an A.M. Best rating
of "A-" or better, or equivalent. The Port may, upon ninety (90) days' written notice to Lessee,
require Lessee to change any carrier whose rating drops below an "A-" rating.

7.2.5 Deductibles and Retentions

Any deductible or self-insured retention of the per-occuffence or per-accident limit
of a required policy in excess of the following is subject to approval by the Port: three percent
(3%) of the insured value for earthquake with ONE HTJNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS
($100,000) minimum per occurrence; ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($100,000) for
flood and pollution; and FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($50,000) for any other coverage
required in this Section 7.

7.3 Required Insurance

On or before the Effective Date, but in any event and at all times prior to Lessee being
allowed on the Premises, Lessee shall provide and maintain the following types of coverage:

7.3.1 General Liability Insurance

Lessee shall maintain an occunence form commercial general liability policy or
policies insuring against liability arising from premises operations, independent contractors,
products completed operations, personal injury and advertising injury, and liability assumed under
an insured contract (including the tort liability of another assumed in a business contract) occurring
on or in any way related to the Premises or occasioned by reason of the operations of Lessee in an
amount of not less than TWO MILLION DOLLARS ($2,000,000) or the Lessee's policy limits,
whichever is greater, per occurrence. The Port requires and shall be entitled to any broader
coverage and/or higher policy limits maintained by the Licensee. Any and all available insurance
proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be made
available to the Port. The Port may pursue additional limits from the Lessee, and Lessee will be
required to provide additional requested coverage, if the policy is exhausted or inadequate in case
of a loss.

26 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 185 of 216 



7.3.2 Property Insurance

Lessee shall throughout the Lease Term keep the Premises and all other structures,
improvements, and buildings on the Premises insured against loss by fire and other casualties as

may be included in risk insurance as available. Coverage shall be in an amount equal to one
hundred percent (100%) ofthe replacement value. Such insurance shall include the insurer's waiver
of subrogation in accordance with Section 7.4. Lessee shall bear the expense of any insurance
insuring the property of Lessee on the Premises against such risks.

7.3.3 Automobile Liability Insurance

In the event that automobiles are used in connection with Lessee's business or
operations at the Premises, Lessee shall maintain an automobile liability policy or policies insuring
against liability for bodily injury, death, or damage to Premises, including loss of use thereof, and
occurring in any way related to the use, loading or unloading of any of Lessee's automobiles
(including owned, hired and non-owned vehicles) on and around the Premises. Coverage shall be
in an amount of not less than TWO MILLION DOLLARS ($2,000,000) each accident. The Port
requires and shall be entitled to any broader coverage and/or higher policy limits maintained by
the Licensee. Any and all available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits
of insurance and coverage shall be made available to the Port.

7.3.4 Workers' Compensation Insurance

Lessee, Lessee's contractors and subcontractors shall all maintain in force Workers'
Compensation insurance in accordance with all requirements of Oregon law. Lessee shall also
maintain employer's liability coverage in an amount of not less than ONE MILLION DOLLARS
($ 1 ,000,000) per accident and ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($ I ,000,000) per employee for disease.
In lieu of such insurance, Lessee may maintain a self insurance program meeting the requirements
of the State of Oregon and a policy of excess workers' compensation and employer's liability
insurance.

7.3.5 PollutionLiabilitylnsurance

Lessee shall provide and maintain Pollution Liability Insurance for bodily injury and
property damage carrying limits of not less than TWO MILLION DOLLARS ($2,000,000) per
occurrence or per claim, and in the aggregate. The Port requires and shall be entitled to any
broader coverage and/or higher policy limits maintained by the Licensee. Any and all available
insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be
made available to the Port.

7.3.6 Aircraft Liability Insurance
Lessee shall provide and maintain Aircraft Liability Insurance for property

damage, bodily injuries, or death of any owned or hired aircraft on the Premises with a minimum
combined single limit of ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000) per occurrence.

27 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 186 of 216 



7.3.7 Personal Property Insurance

Lessee will be responsible for insuring all Lessee's own Personal Property on the
Premises.

7.3.8 Lessee's Risks

Lessee shall be responsible for obtaining any insurance it deems necessary to cover
its own risks, including without limitation: (a) personal property, and/or (b) automobile physical
damage and/or theft. In no event shall the Port be liable for any: (i) business interruption or other
consequential loss sustained by Lessee; (ii) damage to, or loss of, personal property; or (iii) damage
to, or loss of, an automobile, whether or not such loss is insured, even if such loss is caused by the
negligence of the Port.

7.4 Waiver of Subrogation

Lessee waives any right of action that it and/or its insurance carrier(s) might have against
the Port (including the Port's commissioners, employees and agents) for any loss, cost, damage, or
expense (collectively "Loss") covered by any property insurance policy or policies maintained or
required to be maintained pursuant to this Lease. Lessee also waives any right of action it and/or
its insurance carrier(s) might have against the Port (including the Port's commissioners, employees
and agents) for any Loss to the extent such Loss is a property loss covered under any applicable
automobile liability policy or policies required by this Lease. If any of Lessee's applicable
insurance policies does not allow the insured to waive the insurer's rights of recovery prior to a
Loss, Lessee shall cause such policies to be endorsed to allow the waivers of subrogation required
by this Section 7.4.

7.5 Periodic Review

The Port shall have the right to periodically review, including at the beginning of each
Extension Term, the types, minimum coverage, limits and terms of insurance coverage for
consistency with then current types, minimum coverage, limits and terms of insurance coverage
for similar operations. If the Port determines that certain types of insurance are not generally
available in the marketplace at reasonable terms and pricing for similar operations, Lessee shall
not be required to carry such insurance until such insurance becomes available for similar
operations. In the event the Port reasonably determines that such types, minimum coverage, limits,
and/or terms should be changed to be consistent with then current types, minimum coverage, limits
and terms of insurance coverage generally available in the marketplace at reasonable terms and
pricing for similar operations, the Port will give Lessee a minimum of ninety (90) days' notice of
such determination and Lessee shall modifu its coverage to comply with the new insurance
requirements of the Port. Lessee shall also provide the Port with proof of such compliance by
giving the Port an updated certificate of insurance within fifteen (15) calendar days of Lessee's
receipt ofsuch updates. Lessee shall have the right to periodically request the Port to conduct a
review of the then current types, minimum coverage, limits and terms of insurance coverage
generally available in the marketplace at reasonable terms and pricing for similar operations if
Lessee believes the current types, minimum coverage, limits and terms of insurance coverage
generally available in the marketplace at reasonable terms and pricing for similar operations have
changed. The Port shall reasonably consider such request to determine if Lessee's current

28 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 187 of 216 



coverage comports with what is generally available in the marketplace at reasonable terms and
pricing for similar operations and make changes to the insurance requirements under this Lease
accordingly.

7.6 Survival of Indemnities

The indemnity agreements set forth in this Section 7 shall survive the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease and be fully enforceable thereafter.

8. DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

8.1 General

Lessee shall promptly notify the Port of damage or destruction to any Port or Lessee
Improvements located on the Premises ("Casualty"). The Port reserves the right to make proof of
loss to the insurance carrier in the event Lessee fails to do so within thirty (30) days of any
Casualty. Lessee shall fully cooperate with the Port and the Port's insurance carrier in connection
with any Casualty.

8.2 Restoration

In the event of any Casualty, Lessee shall restore the Lessee Improvements and Premises
and cooperate with the Port with the same. If Lessee is unable to operate on the Premises for any
period of time following a Casualty, Lessee must take appropriate measures to secure the
Premises during any period of such non-use and to prevent unauthorized parking or other
unauthorized uses on the Premises.

8.3 Termination of Lease Following Casualty

8.3.1 Funds to Restore; Restoration Standards

If Lessee elects to restore or replace the damaged Premises in lieu of terminating the Lease,

insurance proceeds shall be used by Lessee to promptly restore the damaged Premises. All costs
and expenses of restoration of the Premises shall be paid by Lessee, whether or not the insurance
proceeds are sufficient to accomplish such restoration. Any restoration, rebuilding, repair and
cleanup shall be at Lessee's expense and shall comply with all provisions of this Lease.

If any building or structure should be totally destroyed by fire, earthquake or other casualty, or if
it should be so damaged thereby that rebuilding or repairs cannot in the Lessee's estimation be
completed within two (2) years after the date upon which the Port is notified by Lessee of such
damage, this Lease may be terminated, at Lessee's option, and the Rent shall be abated during
the unexpired portion of this Lease, effective upon the date of the occurrence of such damage.
The Lessee shall give notice to Port in writing of its determination to complete the restoration or
terminate this Lease within ninety (90) days following the date of the occuffence of such
damage. If Lessee elects to restore or replace the Improvements then the Rent shall continue
during the restore and rebuild period.
If Lessee fails to rebuild the Premises, then all insurance proceeds shall be retained by the Port.
The Port may but shall not be obligated to rebuild the improvements. To the extent the cost to
rebuild the improvements exceeds the insurance proceeds, Lessee shall pay the difference to the
Port.

8.3.2 Right to Terminate

29 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 188 of 216 



In lieu of repairing, restoring or replacing damaged Improvements or damage to the
Premises and allowing this Lease to continue, Lessee may elect to terminate this Lease in the event
of a Casualty in which over 50 Yo of the Premises are destroyed by written notice to the Port given
within ninety (90) days after the date of the Casualty, provided that prior to such termination
Lessee must first remove and properly dispose of damaged Improvements and other Improvements
as provided in Section 9; restore the Premises by thoroughly removing all debris and surface
Improvements; regrade the Premises to a rough grade condition and plant with grass or other
ground cover acceptable to the Port; remove all foundations, vaults, tanks and other underground
Improvements; remove all utilities; and remediate any environmental damage for which Lessee is
responsible under this Lease in accordance with the standard provided in Section 6.7, and
otherwise meet with alltermination requirements underthis Lease including without limitation the
requirements in Section 9. All removal and restoration provided in this Section and all other
termination obligations under this Lease shall be completed no later than three-hundred sixty (360)
days from the termination date set forth in Lessee's written termination notice to the Port of
Lessee's election to terminate Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Lessee reasonably requires
additional time to perform the requirements of the preceding sentence, Lessee shall notify the Port
and, provided that Lessee has been diligently pursuing the restoration following the date of
Casualty and can demonstrate that such additional time is reasonably required, the termination date
shall be extended by a time period determined by the Port in its reasonable discretion, but in no
event shall such termination date as extended exceed the earlier of (a) five-hundred forty (540)
days after the date of the Casualty; or (b) the Expiration Date. If Lessee does not elect to terminate
under the provisions of this Section, Lessee shall be obligated to rebuild the Improvements. In
such event, the Port will oversee the reconstruction of the Port Improvements and expend the
insurance proceeds to complete any such restoration, and Lessee will oversee the rebuild of the
Lessee Improvements, provided that Lessee agrees to safeguards reasonably required by the Port
to assure that the work is completed in a timely fashion and according to plans approved by the
Port.

8.3.3 Effect of Election to Terminate

In the event that Lessee elects to terminate under Section, this Lease shall terminate
as soon as Lessee has removed all liens and encumbrances affecting the Premises (other than those
created by the Port or already existing at the Effective Day of this Lease) and has satisfied all
obligations arising upon expiration ortermination of this Lease, including but not limited to the
obligations set forth in this Section and in Section 9. In the event of such termination, Lessee shall
be responsible for payment of all Taxes due and owing through the end of the then current Tax
Year.

If Lessee does not give the Port notice of its election to terminate this Lease under this Section
within the required time period, Lessee will be conclusively deemed to have elected to promptly
restore and/or replace the Improvements and this Lease will remain in full force and effect.

30 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 189 of 216 



9. TERMINATION

9.1 Duties of Termination

Upon the Expiration Date or earlier termination of this Lease for any reason, Lessee shall
complete all of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, including, but not limited to, meeting all of
Lessee's environmental requirements under Section 6 (including without limitation the payment of
all Environmental Costs for which Lessee is responsible under this Lease), delivering to the Port
all keys and all manuals, warranties and other information in Lessee's possession relating to any
of the improvements and surrendering the Premises and all improvements in good clean condition,
reasonable wear and tear excepted (subject to the requirement to remove the improvements as set

forth in this Lease). All Lessee Improvements shall, at the Port's sole option, be deemed Port
Premises (including any buildings, additions, and pavements constructed on the Premises) and

shall not be removed unless the Port directs Lessee to remove such Lessee Improvements, in which
case Lessee shall remove the Lessee Improvements and then restore the Premises. All repairs or
removals for which Lessee is responsible shall be completed at Lessee's cost within one (1) year
from the date of termination. Except in the event of early termination pursuant to the terms of this
Lease, the Port shall give Lessee written notice not later than one-hundred eighty (180) days prior
to the end of the initial Lease Term or the then current Extension Term ("Removal Notice") of the
Port's election to have Lessee remove some or all of the Lessee Improvements. If the Port fails to
timely provide such Removal Notice, such failure shall not be deemed a Default under this Lease

and Lessee's obligation to remove the Lessee Improvements, if desired by the Port, shall not be

extinguished; however, the date upon which the Lessee Improvements must be removed and any
damage to the Premises repaired by Lessee shall be extended by the number of days the Removal
Notice was late. If the Lessee Improvements are damaged after the Port has indicated in its
Removal Notice that the improvements could remain, the Port may elect, in its sole discretion, to
require Lessee to remove the Lessee Improvements and restore the Premises.

10. DEFAULT

10.1 Event of Default

The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute an "Event of Default" (also referred
to as a "Default").

f0.1.1 Default of Monetary Obligations

An Event of Default shall occur if Lessee fails to pay any monetary obligation
required under this Lease and such failure to pay is not cured within ten (10) days after written
notice to Lessee by the Port, except that a failure to pay Rent must be cured within ten (10) days
of its due date without notice from the Port. Any default by either party under the terms of the
SDOA will also be considered an Event of Default under this Lease.

10.1.2 Default in Covenants

An Event of Default shall occur if Lessee violates any term, covenant or condition
ofthis Lease or the SDOA (other than as provided in Sections 10.1 .I and 10.2.3) and such violation
is not cured within thirty (30) days after written notice to Lessee by the Port describing the nature
of the violation. If the violation is of such a nature that it cannot be completely cured within the

3l American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 190 of 216 



thirty (30) day period, this provision shall be complied with if Lessee begins diligent correction of
the violation within such thirty (30) day period and, thereafter, proceeds in good faith and with all
due diligence to effect the cure as soon as reasonably possible. If Lessee violates the same
provision of this Lease more than three (3) times in any calendar year, then the Port may declare
an immediate Event of Default for which no opportunity to cure need be given, except as provided
in Section 10.2.1.

10.1.3 Bankruptcy/Insolvency

The Insolvency of Lessee shall be an immediate Event of Default for which no
notice or opportunity to cure need be given. For the purposes of this Lease, and to the extent
permitted by the United States Bankruptcy Code, "Insolvency" shall mean: (a) an assignment by
Lessee for the benefit of creditors; (b) the filing by Lessee of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy;
(c) dissolution of Lessee; (d) the appointment of a receiver of the properties of Lessee and failure
of Lessee to secure discharge ofthe receiver within ninety (90) days; (e) the filing of an involuntary
petition of bankruptcy and failure of Lessee to secure a dismissal of the petition within ninety (90)
days after filing; and (f) attachment of, orthe levying of execution on, the leasehold interest and
failure of Lessee to secure discharge of the attachment, or release of the levy of execution, within
ninety (90) days.

10.2 Remedies on Event of Default

Immediately upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Port may, at its option,
exercise any of the following rights and remedies, in addition to any other rights and remedies
provided elsewhere in this Lease or otherwise at law or in equity.

10.2.1 Termination of Lease

The Port may terminate this Lease and Lessee's right to possession of the Premises.
However, the Port shall provide Lessee with an additional ninety (90) days' prior written notice of
the Port's intention to terminate this Lease for an Event of Default except in the case of Holdover,
during which time period Lessee shall have another opportunity to fully cure the Default and avoid
termination even though an Event of Default has already occurred. If Lessee fails to fully cure the
Default within ninety (90) day notice period, provided under this Section 10.2.1, the Port may
automatically terminate this Lease and Lessee's right to possession of the Premises with no
additional notice. No other extensions of time will be granted, and no partial cure shall be
accepted.

10.2.2 Re-Entry

Either with or without terminating this Lease or accepting surrender, the Port may
re-enter the Premises, or any part thereof, by suitable action or proceeding at law, or as otherwise
permitted by applicable law, without being liable for indictment, prosecution or damages therefor,
and may repossess the Premises and remove any person or Premises therefrom, to the end that the
Port may have, hold and enjoy the Premises.

10.2.3 Reletting

Following such re-entry either with or without acceptance of surrender, the Port
may relet the whole or any part of the Premises from time to time, either in the name of the Port

32 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 191 of 216 



or otherwise, to such Lessees, for such terms ending before, on or after the Expiration Date of this
Lease and upon such conditions as the Port may determine to be appropriate. Acts of maintenance,
preservation or efforts to relet the Premises, or the appointment of a receiver upon initiative of the
Port to protect the Port's interest under this Lease, shall not constitute a termination of the Lease
or an acceptance of surrender ofthe Lease. The Port, at its option, may make such physical changes
to the Premises as the Poft, in its discretion, considers advisable and necessary in connection with
any such reletting, without relieving Lessee of any liability under this Lease or otherwise affecting
Lessee's liability.

10.2.4 Right to Sue More than Once

The Port may sue periodically to recover damages and no action for damages shall
bar a later action for damages subsequently accruing.

10.3 No Waiver of Default

No failure by the Port to insist on the strict performance of any agreement, term, covenant,
or condition ofthis Lease or to exercise any right or remedy consequent upon a breach, and no
acceptance of partial Rent during the continuance of any such breach, constitutes a waiver of any
such breach or of such agreement, term, covenant, or condition. No agreement, term, covenant, or
condition to be performed or complied with by Lessee, and no breach by Lessee, shall be waived,
altered, or modified, except by a written instrument executed by the Port. No waiver of any breach
shall affect or alter this Lease, but each and every agreement, term, covenant, and condition of this
Lease shall continue in full force and effect with respect to any other then-existing or subsequent
breach.

10.4 Remedies Cumulative and Nonexclusive

Each right and remedy in this Lease will be cumulative and will be in addition to every
other right or remedy in this Lease, or existing at law or in equity, including, without limitation,
suits for injunctive relief and specific performance. The exercise or beginning of the exercise by
the Port of any such rights or remedies will not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by the
Port of any other such rights or remedies. All such rights and remedies are nonexclusive.

10.5 Curing Lessee's Default

If Lessee fails to perform any of Lessee's obligations under this Lease, and such failure
becomes an Event of Default, the Port, without waiving such failure, fl&y @ut shall not be

obligated to) perform the same for the account of and at the expense of Lessee, with whatever
notice is reasonably possible, if any, in a case of emergency, and in any other cases, only if such
failure to begin cure or diligently pursue cure continues after the expiration of thirty (30) days
from the date the Port gives Lessee notice of the failure. The Port shall not be liable to Lessee for
any claim for damages resulting from such action by the Port except to the extent caused by the
gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Port, its agents, employees and contractors (but in
no event for lost profits or consequential damages). Lessee agrees to reimburse the Port, upon
demand, any amounts the Port spends in curing Lessee's Default.

a1JJ American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 192 of 216 



10.6 AdministrativeCosts

If the Port gives Lessee one (l) written notice of a violation of a specific provision of this
Lease and Lessee violates the same provision again during any twelve (12) month period of the
Lease Term, in addition to all other rights and remedies set forth herein, Lessee agrees to reimburse
the Port for its reasonable administrative costs incurred as a result of any notice of any subsequent
violation. Failure by Lessee to pay such costs shall be deemed an Event of Default.

10.7 Default by Port

In the event of any Default by the Port, prior to being entitled to maintain any action, Lessee
shall give the Port written notice specifying such Default with particularity, and the Port shall have
thirty (30) days within which to cure any such Default, or if such Default is non-monetary and
cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days, the Port shall then be deemed in compliance
with this provision so long as it begins the cure within the thirty (30) day period and diligently
pursues the cure to completion. Unless and until the Port fails to so cure such Default after such
notice, Lessee shall not have any remedy or cause of action by reason thereof. All obligations of
the Port hereunder shall be construed as covenants, not conditions, and all such obligations shall
be binding upon the Port only during the period of its ownership of the Premises and not thereafter.

1I. TRANSF'ER BY THE PORT

At any time after the Effective Date of this Lease, the Port shall have the right to transfer its interest
in the Premises or in this Lease. In the event of such a transfer, Lessee shall attorn to said transferee
and recognize transferee as the new lessor under the Lease. Thereafter, the Port shall be relieved,
upon notification to Lessee of the name and address of the Port's successor, of any obligations
accruing from and after the date of the transfer so long as the transferee agrees to assume all
obligations of the Port under this Lease.

12. TRANSF'ER BY LESSEE

l2.l Transfers to Affiliate: Port Staff Review and Approval

Lessee may transfer all or any parts of this Lease or the Lessee Improvements
("Leasehold Estate") to any entity that Lessee controls, directly or indirectly, is under common
control with, or is controlled by the Lessee ("Affiliate") by providing prior written notice to the
Port for review and approval by Port staff. Lessee shall promptly notifi Port of any such
proposed transfer and take no further action until such time as Port staffcomplete their review
and approval process, such approval not to be unreasonably denied or withheld. Any such
review is not required to be taken before the Port of Columbia County Commission. Any such
Affiliate shall assume all obligations and liabilities of the Lessee under this Lease. From and
after Lessee's assignment of this Lease and assumption of this Lease by Affiliate, Lessee shall be
relieved, released and discharged from any obligation or liability under this Lease accruing after
the date of such Transfer. If Lessee transfers this Lease, then as between Port and Lessee,
Lessee shall be deemed to have transferred to the Affiliate all claims against Port then
existing, together with all liabilities and obligations of Lessee then existing or thereafter arising
under this Lease (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease).

34 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 193 of 216 



12.2 Transfer to Non-Affiliates: Port Commission Review and Approval

Lessee may transfer all or any parts of the Leasehold Estate to any non-affiliated entity
("Change of Control") by providing prior written notice to the Port for Port staff review and

approval. 'oChange of Control" means a transfer of control to a person, entity or group of
persons or entities acting in concert which has acquired, directly or indirectly, control over all
or any parts of the Leasehold Estate and such person, entity or group of persons or entities was

not already the ultimate controlling party ("Transferee"). Lessee shall promptly notify Port of
any such proposed Change of Control and take no further action until such time as the Port of
Columbia County Commission approves the Change of Control by majority vote at a regularly
scheduled meeting. From and after Lessee's assignment of this Lease and assumption of this
Lease by the Transferee, Lessee shall be relieved, released and discharged from any obligation
or liability under this Lease accruing after the date of such transfer. If Lessee transfers this
Lease after approval by majority vote of the Port of Columbia County Commission, then as

between Port and Lessee, any such Transferee shall assume all obligations and liabilities of the

LesseeunderthisLease.Lessee shall be deemed to have transferred to the
Transferee all claims against Port then existing, together with all liabilities and obligations
of Lessee then existing or thereafter arising under this Lease (except as otherwise expressly
provided in this Lease)

Any transfer made to a Transferee without the consent by majority vote of the Port of Columbia
County Commission as outlined herein shall be null, void, and of no valid legal force or effect.

13. ASSIGNMENT OF INTERBST OR RIGHTS

Except for Transfers to Affiliates or Non-Affiliates as outlined herein, Lessee shall not sell,
sublease, assign, or otherwise transfer its interest in this Lease, the Port Improvements, the Lessee

Improvements and or/the Premises, either voluntarily or by operation of law, without the prior
written consent of the Port, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, but may be reasonably

conditioned to the extent necessary or appropriate to protect Port's interest in the Premises. Any
such transfer or assignment, or attempted assignment, subletting or attempted subletting, without
such consent, shall be absolutely null and void and shall, at the option of the Port, terminate all
rights of the Lessee under or by virtue of this Lease. Lessee's interests, in whole or in part, cannot

be taken by operation of law, nor under or by virtue of any execution or legal process, attachment,

or proceeding instituted against the Lessee, or under or by virtue of any bankruptcy or insolvency
proceedings had in regard to the Lessee, or in any other manner except as above mentioned. The
Port may, in its discretion, consent to an assignment or sublease provided the following conditions
are satisfied: a) Lessee has satisfied all conditions of the Lease precedent to assignment or
sublease; b) Lessee and its assignee have completed an assignment form provided by the Port and

assured the Port that the assignee the capacity to perform on the Lease; c) The Port has determined
that such assignment or sublease is in the best interest of the Port.

35 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 194 of 216 



14. CONDEMNATION

14.1 General

In the event any public or private entity having the power of eminent domain exercises its
right or power of eminent domain, the parties' rights and obligations shall be governed by the
common law of the State of Oregon, the applicable Oregon statutes, and this Lease. To the
extent allowed by law, in the event of conflict among the statute, common law and this Lease,
this Lease shall prevail. If the condemning authority is the Port, Lessee agrees that it will not
contest the Port's right to condemn the Premises, or any portion thereof, for whatever purpose the
Port deems necessary, but Lessee may contest the value payable to Lessee due to such
condemnation. In cases where the condemning authority is an entity other than the Port, Lessee
and the Port agree to cooperate, in good faith, to resolve any issues relating to value and/or
authority to condemn.

14.2 Definitions

As used in this Lease, the following definitions shall apply:

l4.l.l Partial Taking

"Partial Taking" means the taking by right of eminent domain or other authority
of law, or a voluntary transfer under the threat of the exercise of the right of eminent domain or
other authority, of any portion of the Premises which does not constitute a Total Taking.

14.2.2 Total Taking

"Total Taking" means the taking by right of eminent domain or other authority
of law, or a voluntary transfer under the threat of the exercise of the right of eminent domain or
other authority, of so much of the Premises as is necessary for Lessee's occupancy that the
Premises, after the taking, is no longer suitable for Lessee's intended use.

14.2.3 Taking

"Taking" refers to either a Partial Taking or a Total Taking.

14.2.4 Date of Taking

"Date of Taking" means: (i) the date on which the condemning authority takes
legal ownership or actual physical possession of the Premises being condemned; (ii) the date given
in a written notice from the condemning authority as the date that it is deemed to have taken
possession or is granted possession by a court; or (iii) such date as is agreed to, in writing, in the
event of a sale in lieu of condemnation.

L4.2.5 Premises Award

denned in Section,l}';r-";"#1HffiJi;J3i:'ff;JJff:fiLH:f.TJ"1yilJl$"'J: ,Tfi"f:
to the Premises by any party and including the Port's Reversionary Interest in Lessee
Improvements but excluding the Leasehold Award, described in Section 16.2.6, which Lessee
shall be entitled to claim. The Premises Award shall also include any consequential damages to
any part of the Premises that may not be taken. The Premises Award is payable solely to the Port.

36 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 195 of 216 



14.2.6 Leasehold Award

The "Leasehold Award" shall mean the sum of: (i) the present value, determined
as of the Date of Taking, of Lessee's Improvements; (ii) the present value, determined as of the
Date of Taking, of Lessee's interest in the leasehold estate, including any claim for reimbursement
of any prepaid Rent including prepaid Rent; and (iii) provided the Lease is not terminated, any
consequential damages such as the cost of any alterations, modifications, or repairs which may be

reasonably required by Lessee in order to place the remaining portion of the Premises not taken in
a suitable condition for the continuance of Lessee's occupancy. The Leasehold Award is payable

solely to Lessee. No portion of the value attributable to the Premises or improvements owned,
made by or paid for by the Port or other government authority, or any infrastructure improvements,
or the Port's residual interest in other improvements, shall be considered a part of the Leasehold
Award.

14.2.7 Port's Reversionary Interest

The "Port's Reversionary Interest" shall mean the present value, determined
as of the Date of Taking, of any right of the Port under this Lease to receive the taken Lessee

Improvements at the end of the Lease Term.

14.2.8 Distribution of Takings Award

fhe Port shall have the right to and shall be entitled to receive directly from
the condemning authority, in its entirety and not subject to any trust, the entire Premises Award.
Lessee shall have the right to and shall be entitled to receive directly from the condemning
authority, in its entirety and not subject to any trust, the entire Leasehold Award. It is the intent
of the parties that the Premises Award and the Leasehold Award will equal the totalamount of the
award paid as a result of a Taking of the Premises.

14.3 Total Taking

If a Total Taking occurs during the Lease Term, this Lease will terminate as of the Date of
Taking.

14.4 Partial Taking

If a Partial Taking occurs during the Lease Term, this Lease shall terminate as of the Date
of Taking as to the portion of the Premises taken. The Lease will continue in full force and effect
as to the remainder of the Premises unless Lessee reasonably determines that the remaining portion
of the Premises is inadequate for Lessee's purposes, in which event Lessee may elect to terminate
the Lease within thirty (30) days of the date of the Taking by providing the Port written notice of
termination, to be given in accordance with Section. If notice of termination is not received by the
Port within thirty (30) days of the Partial Taking, the Lease will continue in full force and effect
as to the remainder of the Premises. Unless the Taking is by the Port, there shall be no refund of
any prepaid Rent by the Port to Lessee, but Lessee may make a claim for such prepaid Rent against
the condemning authority, as part of the Leasehold Award. Lessee shall promptly make, at

Lessee's sole expense, all necessary repairs or alterations to restore the remaining Premises after a
Partial Taking.

37 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 196 of 216 



14.5 Claims Against Condemning Authority

In any case where the Port is not the condemning authority, Lessee and the Port agree to
work together, in good faith, in making their respective claims against the condemning authority,
in accordance with the provisions of this Section. The Port also agrees to work together, in good
faith, with any of Lessee's Permitted Leasehold Mortgagees, in making their respective claims
against the condemning authority, in accordance with the provisions of this Section. Each party
shall be responsible for making its own claim for court costs and attorney fees incurred in the
condemnation proceedings.

14.6 Adjustment of Award

To the extent that the court does not distribute the Takings award in accordance with the
distribution rights set forth in this Section, the parties agree, upon receipt of the award, to promptly
pay to the other any amount of the award belonging to the other in accordance with the distribution
set forth in this Section. If the parties cannot agree upon the distribution within twenty (20) days
of the date the judgment or decree is entered in the condemnation proceedings, the controversy
shall be resolved in the same court as the condemnation action was brought. The cost of resolving
any such controversy, including the prevailing party's attorney fees, shall be paid by the losing
party, as determined by the court. The award allocation may also be resolved by mediation or
arbitration if the Port and Lessee both agree to submit the issue to mediation or arbitration.

14.7 Effect of Termination

If this Lease is terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Section, then all charges
payable by Lessee to the Port under this Lease, if applicable, will be paid up to the Date of Taking.
In the event of termination as a result of a Total Taking, the Port and Lessee will then be released
from all fuither liability under this Lease or, in the event of a Partial Taking, from all further
liability under this Lease with respect to the portion of the Premises so taken, except such liability
which survives termination.

14.8 Notice of Taking

Either party receiving any notice of intended taking, any service of legal process relating
to condemnation, or any other notification in connection with any taking, condemnation, or sale
or transfer in lieu of condemnation, shall promptly give the other party notice of such receipt. No
sale, transfer, agreement, or settlement with the condemning authority shall be made without the
written consent of the Port and Lessee.

15. PORT CONDEMNATION RIGHTS

Nothing in this Lease shall in any way limit the powers and rights of the Port to exercise
its govemmental rights and powers, including its powers of condemnation and eminent domain.
Lessee hereby agrees to waive any right it may have to contest the Port's right or authority to
condemn, or its rights of condemnation based on a qualif,ing public purpose. Lessee agrees that
it shall limit any contest with the Port relating to the Port's condemnation/eminent domain rights
or authority only to the issue of Lessee's interest in the value of the Premises and Lessee
Improvements being condemned. Lessee hereby agrees that the Port will have the full right and
authority to condemn this Leasehold interest as long as Lessee is paid for its value.

38 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 197 of 216 



16. GENERAL PROVISIONS

16.1 Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions

This Lease is subject and subordinate to the effect of any covenants, conditions,
restrictions, easements, mortgages, deeds of trust, rights of way, and any other matters of record
imposed upon the Premises and to any applicable land use or zoning laws or regulations. This
Lease is also subject to the Port's right to grant, in the future, underground utility easements
through the portions of the Premises not covered by buildings or other structures. Lessee shall,
upon request of the Port, execute and deliver agreements of subordination in the form requested
by the Port respecting matters covered by this Section. The Port agrees to make reasonable
attempts to minimize any disturbance to Lessee that may result from installation of any
underground utility lines and will be responsible for prompt restoration of the Premises.

16.2 Governing Law

This Lease shall be governed and construed according to the laws of the State of Oregon,
without regard to its choice of law provisions. Venue shall be in Columbia County.

16.3 No Implied Warranty

In no event shall any consent, approval, acquiescence, or authorization by the Port be
deemed a warranty, representation, or covenant by the Port that the maffer approved, consented to,
acquiesced in or authorized is appropriate, suitable, practical, safe or in compliance with any
applicable law or this Lease. In no event shall the Port be deemed liable therefor. Lessee shall be
solely responsible for such matters.

16.4 Notices

All notices required or desired to be given under this Lease shall be in writing and may be
delivered by hand delivery, by email, or by placement in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, as certified
mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the Port at:

Real Estate Manager
Port of Columbia County
if by US mail: P.O. Box 190, Columbia City, OR 97018
bynum@portofcolumbiacounty.org

and to Lessee at:
American Jet Center
7000 Merrill Ave Hangar 82l0
Chino, CA 91710
Attention: Denis Oliver
denis@americanj etcenter.com

Any notice delivered by hand delivery shall be conclusively deemed received by the addressee
upon actual delivery; any notice delivered by facsimile shall be conclusively deemed received by
the addressee upon receipt of a confirmation of facsimile by the party sending the notice; any
notice delivered by email shall be conclusively deemed received by the addressee upon
acknowledgement by return email; any notice delivered by certified mail as set forth herein shall

39 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 198 of 216 



be conclusively deemed received by the addressee on the third Business Day after deposit in the
United States mail.

16.5 Time of the Essence

Time is of the essence in the performance of and adherence to each and every covenant
and condition of this Lease.

16.6 Non-Waiver

Waiver by the Port or Lessee of strict performance of any provision of this Lease shall not
be deemed a waiver of or prejudice the Port's or Lessee's right to require strict performance of the
same provision in the future or of any other provision.

16.7 Survival

Any covenant or condition (including, but not limited to, indemnification agreements), set
forth in this Lease, the full performance of which is not specifically required prior to the expiration
or earlier termination of this Lease, and any covenant or condition which by its terms is to survive,
shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and shall remain fully enforceable
thereafter.

16.8 Partiallnvalidity

If any provision of this Lease is held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this
Lease, or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those to which
it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each provision of this Lease
shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

16.9 Limitation on Liability

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, and without limiting the
protections against liability stated elsewhere in this Lease, the parties acknowledge that it is in
their mutual interests to limit their liability to each other, and expressly bargain for and agree to
the following:

(a) The Port shall have no liability to Lessee for loss, damage or injury suffered by
Lessee on account of theft or any act or omission of any third party (other than Port
commissioners, employees, agents, and contractors), including other lessees. References in this
Section 16.9(a) to the Port's agents shall be limited solely to those agents acting within the
authority of their agency relationship with the Port, and references in this Section 16.9(a) to Port
contractors shall be limited solely to those contractors acting on the Premises and within the
express scope of their contract with the Port.

(b) Although this Lease gives the Port certain rights of inspection, such rights shall
impose no obligation on the Port to make any inspections, nor impose liability on the Port if the
Port fails to make such inspections, or makes inspection, but fails to disclose or require
correction of any defect.

(c) With respect to any liability of the Port under this Lease, the Port shall only be liable
for any injury or damage to Lessee to the extent of actual damages and only to the extent allowed
by law, and shall not be liable for consequential damages (including without limitation lost
profits).

40 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 199 of 216 



(d) With respect to any liability of Lessee under this Lease, Lessee shall only be liable for
any injury or damage to the Port to the extent of actual damages and only to the extent allowed
by law, and shall not be liable for consequential damages (including without limitation lost
profits).

(e) With respect to claims made by entities or persons who are not parties to this Lease,
the Port and Lessee, as between them, shall retain all rights to common law indemnity, statutory
contribution, and sovereign immunity available under applicable Oregon law. This Section 16.9
is not intended to confer any benefit or right to any entity or person who is not a party to this
Lease.

16.10 Headings, Table of Contents and Table of Definitions

The article and section headings, table of contents and table of definitions contained in this
Lease are for convenience in reference and are not intended to define or limit the scope of any
provision of this Lease.

16.11 Exhibits Incorporated by Reference

All Exhibits attached to this Lease are incorporated by reference in this Lease for all
purposes.

16.12 Modifications

This Lease may not be modified except by a writing signed by the Port and Lessee.

16.13 Provisions Applicable to Others

All provisions of this Lease goveming Lessee's use of the Premises and Lessee's activities
and conduct on, about or from the Premises shall apply to Lessee's officers, agents, employees,
invitees, contractors, and assignees.

16.14 Calculation of Time

All periods of time refened to in this Lease shall include Saturdays, Sundays, and Legal
Holidays. However, if the last day of any period falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or Legal Holiday,
then the period shall be extended to include the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or Legal
Holiday. "Legal Holiday" shall mean any holiday observed by the Federal Government. As used
in this Lease, "Business Days" shall exclude Saturdays, Sundays, Legal Holidays and the week
between December 25 and January l. Unless specifically identified as Business Days, all
references to days shall be calendar days.

16.15 Brokers

Lessee and the Port each represent to one another any commission owed to any agent or
broker in connection with this Lease shall not be paid on behalf of the other party.

16.16 Attorney Fees

If a suit, action, or other proceeding of any nature whatsoever (including any proceeding
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code), is instituted in connection with any controversy arising out of
this Lease or to interpret or enforce any rights or obligations hereunder, the prevailing party shall
be entitled to recover attorney, paralegal, accountant, and other expert fees and all other fees, costs,
and expenses actually incurred and reasonably necessary in connection therewith, as determined

4l American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 200 of 216 



by the court at trial or on any appeal or review, in addition to all other amounts provided by law.
Payment of all such fees shall also apply to any administrative proceeding, trial, and/or any appeal
or petition for review. Whenever this Lease requires Lessee to defend the Port, it is agreed that
such defense shall be by legal counsel acceptable to the Port.

16.17 Right of Parties and Successors in Interest

The rights, liabilities and remedies provided for herein shall extend to the heirs, legal
representatives, successors and, so far as the terms of this Lease permit, successors and assigns of
the parties hereto. The words 'Port' and 'Lessee' and their accompanying verbs or pronouns,
wherever used in this Lease, shall apply equally to all persons, firms, or corporations which may
be or become such parties hereto.

16.18 Joint and Several Obligations

The named Lessee consists of one entity. If, in the future, Lessee consists of more than
one individual or entity, the obligations of all such individuals and entities shall be joint and
several.

16.19 Defined Terms

Capitalized terms shall have the meanings given them in the text of this Lease.

16.20 Execution of Multiple Counterparts

This Lease may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be an original,
but all of which shall constitute one instrument.

16.21 EstoppelCertificates

Each party (the "Certiffing Party") agrees to execute and deliver to the other (the
"Requesting Party"), at any time within thirty (30) days after written request, a statement
certifring, among other things: (a) that this Lease is unmodified and is in full force and effect (or,
if there have been modifications, stating the modifications); (b) the dates to which Rent has been
paid; (c) to the best of the Certifying Party's knowledge, whether or not the Requesting Party is in
Default in performance of any of its obligations under this Lease and, if so, speciffing the nature
of each such Default; and (d) to the best of the Certifying Party's knowledge, whether or not any
event has occurred which, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute
a Default by the Requesting Party and, if so, specifuing the nature of each such event (referred to
herein as an "Estoppel Certificate"). The parties agree that any statement delivered pursuant to
this Section may be relied upon by the Requesting Party and by potential or actual purchasers
and/or lenders with whom the parties may be dealing, regardless of independent investigation. The
Requesting Party agrees to pay to the Certifiing Party any administrative and legal costs related
to providing such Estoppel Certificate.

16.22 Force Majeure Event

If the performance by Lessee of its obligations under Section 8.2 of this Lease (excluding
monetary obligations, including, but not limited to taxes and insurance) is delayed or prevented by
any extraordinary acts of nature (including floods, explosions, earthquakes), or fires, epidemic,
war, terrorism, labor strikes, material shortages, riots, orders of restraint by governmental authority

42 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 201 of 216 



which prevent Lessee from meeting such obligations under this Lease, or other extraordinary
casualty which is not reasonably within Lessee's control, and is not due to the fault or negligence
of Lessee, one or more of which is defined as a "Force Majeure Event", then Lessee shall be

temporarily excused from performance to the extent that performance is delayed by any of the

foregoing, without liability under this Lease. Lessee agrees, however, to proceed with all
reasonable dispatch to perform such obligations under this Lease after the Force Majeure Event
preventing Lessee from carrying out such obligations under this Lease ceases to exist.

16.23 Mediation

Should any dispute arise between the parties to this Lease related to maffers set forth in
Section6.10 of this Lease, then it is agreed that such dispute will be submitted to non-binding
mediation prior to any litigation. The provisions of this Section shall also apply to any non-binding
mediation with respect to matters covered under Section if the parties have agreed to such

mediation as provided in Section. The parties shall exercise good faith efforts to select a mediator
who shall be compensated equally by both parties. Mediation will be conducted in Columbia
County, Oregon, unless both parties agree otherwise. Both parties agree to exercise good faith
efforts to resolve disputes covered by this Section through the mediation process. If a party
requests mediation and the other party fails to respond within ten (10) days, or if the parties fail to
agree on a mediator within ten (10) days, a mediator shall be appointed by the presiding judge of
the Columbia County Circuit Court upon the request of either party. The parties agree that
mediation shall occur on an expedited schedule and that they will not attempt to delay mediation,
the scheduling of the mediation or continue the mediation once it has been set. The parties shall
retain all rights at law or in equity with respect to any dispute not covered by this Section and also
with respect to those disputes covered by this Section after mediation has been completed. In no

event shall the provisions of this Section limit the Port's right to seek immediate injunction relief
following an Event of Default to stop an activity or use on the Premises prohibited under this
Lease. Nothing in this Section shall be deemed to prevent the Port from taking immediate
injunctive or other action in response to an emergency or in response to third-party acts or
omissions that pose an imminent threat to the environment or to the health, safety, or security of
Port Lessees or of the public.

16.24 Entire Agreement

This Lease and the SDOA represent the entire agreements between the Port and Lessee

relating to Lessee's leasing and development of the Premises. It is understood and agreed by
Lessee that neither the Port nor the Port's agents or employees has made any representations or
promises with respect to this Lease or the making or entry into this Lease, except as expressly set

forth in this Lease. No claim for liability or cause for termination shall be asserted by Lessee

against the Port for, and the Port shall not be liable by reason of, any claimed breach of any
representations or promises not expressly set forth in this Lease or the SDOA. All oral agreements
with the Port are expressly waived by Lessee. This Lease has been negotiated at arm's length
between the parties, with both parties being represented by legal counsel. Therefore, no alleged
ambiguity or other drafting issues of the terms of this Lease shall be construed, by nature of the

drafting, against either party.

43 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 202 of 216 



16.25 Capacity to Execute

The Port and Lessee each warrant and represent to one another that this Lease constitutes
a legal, valid and binding obligation ofthat party. The individuals executing this Lease personally
warrant that they have full authority to execute this Lease on behalf of the entity for whom they
purport to be acting.

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the parties have subscribed their names hereto effective as of the year
and date first written above.

AMERICAN JET CENTER THE PORT OF COLUMBIA COUNTY

By: {
Deo<t4outerde (Jun 6,2025 13t48 l\4DT) By:

print Name. Denis Mouterde Print Name:

As lts: CEO As Its:

REVIEWED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
FOR THE PORT

By:

Print Name:

As Its:

44 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 203 of 216 



EXHIBIT A

Pink area: the defined Premises including the apron, parking lot, building footprint, and 5-foot
building buffer

Yellow area: the defined Additional Land

Sars

45 American Jet Center Ground Lease

Page 204 of 216 



EXHIBIT B

PURCHASE AI{D SALE AGREEMEI{T
34090 SKyWAy DRIVE, SCAPPOOSE, OREGON

'I'his Purchasey'h^y 
,202s

Street, eoilrmbia City,

and Sale Agreemcnt ("Agreement") eftbctive this 2fday of
("Effective Date') is by and befween the Porl of Columbia County, 100 E
OR 97018 zur Oregon municipal corporation ("Seller") and American Jet

Center, 7000 Menill Avenue, Unit B, Chino, CA 91710, a California Corporation ("Purchaser").
Seller owns a corporate hangar building located at 34090 Skyway Drive, Scappoose, Oregon
97456 at the Scappoose Aitport as depicted on Exhibit A altached hereto ("the Property").
Purchaser and Seller engaged in mutually beneficial negotiations the result of which was that
Purchaser offered to purchase the Property, and Seller has accepted Purchaser's otlbr ("the
Sale"), as follows:

l. PURCHASE PRICE. The purchase price for the Properly shallbe Three Million Seven
Hundred and Sixty Thousand Dollars ($3,760,000) to be paid tiom Purchaser to Seller
("Purchase Price"). The Purchase Price is due in escalating installments as outlined in the
schedule below and are non-refundable ("Non-Refundable Payments"). The Port shall remain the
owne( of the Property, including all rights, privileges and appurtenances belonging to or
pertaining thereto, until such time as all Non-Refundable Payments have been paid in full by
Purchaser to Seller. This Agreement is secured by the attached Promissory Note, incorporated by
ref'erence. Separately, basic rent shall be paid monthly as outlined in a Ground Lease
Agreement, also refered to in section 3 below.

MonthlYear
Non-Refundable

Monthlv Pavments Balance
Iun-25 $ 20,000 $ 3.740.000

Iul-25 s 20.000 $ 3.720.000

Aug-25 $ 20,000 $ 3,700,000

Serr-25 $ 3s,000 $ 3,66s,000

Jct-25 $ 35.000 $ 3,630.000

),lov-25 $ 35,000 $ 3,59s,000

Dec-25 $ 50,000 $ 3,s4s.000

Ian-26 $ 50,000 $ 3,495,000

i;eb-26 $ s0.000 $ 3.445.000

Vlar-26 $ 70.000 $ 3,375,000

Apr-26 $ 70.000 $ 3,30s.000

Vlav-26 $ 70,000 $ 3.23s.000

lun-26 $ 100,000 $ 3,13s,000

Iul-26 $ 100,000 $ 3,o3s.ooo

Aus-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,93s.000

Sep-26 $ 100,000 $ 2.835.000

Oct-26 $ 100,000 $ 2.735.000

Nov-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,63s,ooo

Pagc I of6 Ptil{CHASlt AND SAI-ll AGRIIEMENT: 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE
Page 205 of 216 



Dec-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,535,000

Ian-27 $ 100,000 $ 2.43s.000

Feb-27 $ 100,000 $ 2,335.000

VIar-21 $ 140,000 $ 2.19s.000

t pr'27 $ 140,000 $ 2,055,000

Vay-27 $ 140.000 $ l ,9 15,000

Iun-27 $ 140,000 $ I,775,000

Itl-27 $ 140,000 $ 1.635.000

Lue-27 $ 140,000 $ r.495.000

Sep-27 $ r40,000 $ 1,355,000

Oct-2'7 s 140.000 $ l ,21 5,000

Nov-27 $ 140,000 $ 1,075,000

Dec-27 $ 140,000 $ 935,000

ian-28 $ 140,000 $ 795,ooo

Feb-28 $ I40,000 $ 655.000

Mar-28 $ 140,000 $ s 15,000

Apr-28 $ 140,000 $ 37s,000

Mav-28 $ 37s,000 $

2. EARNEST MONEY DEPOSIT. Earnest money in the amount of Twenty Thousand
Dollars ($20,000) ("Eamest Money") shall be delivered by the Purchaser to the Seller within
three (3) business days of the Efl-ective Date ("Commencement of Due Diligence Period"). The
Earnest Money will bc credited as the l-rrst Non-Refundable Payment after a fifteen (15) business
day due diligence period starting from the Commencement o1'Due Diligence Period ("Due
Diligence Period"), unless accelerated by mutual agreement of thc I'arties. The Eamest Money
will becorne nonrefundable on the third business day at 5 pm Pacitrc Standard I'imc a{ter the
Due Diligence Period expires i{ by that time, the Purchaser has not communicated their intent to
tcrminate this Agreernent per section l4 Notices ("'I'ermination Deadline)".

3. CONTINGENCIBS. Seiler's obligation to sell the Propcrty is contingent upon approval
o1'this Agreement by a rnajority vote in a public meeting by the Port of Columbia County
Comrnissiou ("the Port Comrnission"). The Port Commission is a five-member local govcmmerrt
that govems sale and leasing activities of Seller. Seller's obligation to sell the Properfy is also
contingent upon a successfully negotiated Ground Lease between Seller and Ptirchaser ("a
Ground Lease"), signed by Seller and Purchasel and approved by a majority vote of the Port
Commission in a public meeting prior to Closing. If the Port Commission does not approve this
Agreemenl and a Ground Lease in its sole and absolute discretion, this Agreement will be
rendered null and void without further liabiliry or cause of action available to either party and the
Earnest Money will be returned to Purchaser.

4. CLOSING, Closing shall occur as soon as praclicable after the final Non-Refundable
Payment (currently scheduled for May 1,2A28) is made by Purchaser ("Closing Date").

Pagc 2 of(r PtJRCrlASli AND SAL]], AGRFIFIMIIN'I': 14090 SKYWAY DRIVF.
Page 206 of 216 



5:. CLOSING COSTSANp LIENS. Purchaser and Seller shall each pay one-half (l/2) of
all costs and fees related to this Agreement.

6., COI4MISSIqNS. Neither party wilt pay a commission for a broker representing the
other party in connection with this transaction.

7. REPRESENTATIONS.
7.1 Purchaser takec Pronertv "As Is": Purchaser represents that it accepts and

executes this Agreement based on their own examination and personal knowledge
of the Property; that except for as provided in this Agreement, Seller has made no
representations, warranties, or other agreements concerning matters relating to the
Property; that Seller has made no agreement or promise to alter, repair, or
improve the Property; and that Purchaser takes the Property "AS IS," with all
faults, and without any representations, guarantees, or warrantics from the Seller,
either expressed or implied, as to suitability or condition. Seller makes no
representation as to the exact size of the Property. Purchaser is advised, if desired,
at its sole cost and expense, to obtain a survey of the Property to determine the
size and boundaries.

7.2 Purchaser's C.oqpliancp with f,'AA: Purchaser represents that the properfy
use is aeronautical and will comply with Federal Aviation Administration
(FAA) Order 5190.68 - FAA Airport Compliance Manual. Further, the
Purchaser acknowledges receipt of the Scappoose Airport Minimum
Standards, both of which will be included as exhibits io the Ground Lease.

8. TAXESiPRORATIONS.. There shall not be any proration of taxes, as Seller is a tax-
exempt entify. Purchaser.will be responsible for all property taxes from the Closing Date. Annual
Property Insurance premiums shall be billed to the Purchaser as a prorated charge iased on the
Closing Date and annually after the first year.

9- UTILITIES. Seller shailpay all utility bills accrued until the Closing Date and any
necessary payments shall be handlcd outside of essrow,

10. . P9SSESSION. Purchaser is entitled to possession on the Closing Date, unless otherwise
agreed to in writing befween the parties.

11.. EINDNG EFFE9TIASSIGNMEN . This Agreement is binding on
and will inure to the benefit of Seller, Purchaser, and their respective heirs, legal representatives,
successors, and assigns.

11.1 Assignment of Interest or Rights: Except for Transfers to A{filiates as outlined
herein, Purchaser shall not sell, assign, or otherwise transfer its interest in this
Agreement either voluntarily r:r by operation of law, without the prior written
consent of the Port. Any such transfer or assignmenl, or attempted assignrnent
without such consent, shall be null and void.

17.2 Transfers to Affiliatc: Purchaser may transl'er this Agreement to any entity that
Pulchaser controls, directly or indirectly, is under common control with, oiis
conlrollcd by the Purchaser ("Affiliate") by providing prior written notice to the
Port for review and approval by Port staff. Purchaser shall prornptly notify Port of

Pagc 3 o1'6 PURCT lAsll AND SALE AGRF.EMEN'I': 34090 SKyWAy DRtVIl
Page 207 of 216 



any such proposed transfcl and take no furthel action until such tine as Port staff
complete tJreir review and approval process. Any such review is not required to
be taken before the P<lrt of Columbia County Comrnission. Any such Aftlliate
shall assume all obligations and liabilities of the Purchaser under the associated
Promissory Note and Ground Lease which shall be separately reassigned.

12. ESCROW DEPOSIT$. Escrow is authorized to hold, apply and/or release the Earnest
Money as provided for in this contract.

13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the
parties regarding the Sale of the Property. This Agreement may not be modified or amended
except by a written agreement signed and executed by both parties. The parties were represented
by legal counsel and/or had the opporlunity to be represented by legal counsel. This contract was
negotiated between the parties and is voluniarily executed.

14. NOTICES. All notices and communications in connection with this contract must be
given in writing and transmitted by first class mail andlor email to Purchaser and to Seller at the
address provided by each party below. Notices given in accordance with this paragraph are
deemed given upon the date of receipt or the date of mailing, with proof of mailing. Either parly
may, by written notice, designate a different address for purposes of this contract. For email
delivery purposes, receipl is only confirmed with a reply by the recipient acknowledging receipt
of the message.

15. APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement is consfrued, applied and enforced in accordance
with thc laws of the State of Oregon. Venue is in Columbia Counly Circuit Court, St. Helens,
Oregon.

16. WAIVER BY PURCHASER.If Purchaser, wilh knowledge of (i) a default in any of the
covenants, agreements or obligations to be perfonned by Seller under this Agreernent and/or (ii)
any breach of or inaccuracy in any representation or warranty of Seller made in this Agreement,
nonetheless elects to proceed to Closing Date, then, upon the consumrnation of the Closing,
Purchaser shall be deemed to have waived any such default andlor breach or inaccuracy and shal1

have no claim against Seller with respect thereto.

17. SEVERABILITY. Should any term, provision, or porlion of this contract at any time be
in conflict with any law, ruling or regulation, or be unenforceable, then such provision will
continue in effect only to the extent that it remains valid. In the event that any provision of this
conhact becomes lcss than fully operative, the remaining porlion of that provision an<1 all other
provisions of this contract will nevertheless remain in full fbrce and eff'ect.

TIIE PROPERTY DESCI{IBED TN ]'HIS INS'|ITUMLNI'MAY NOT BE WII'HIN A FIRE PRO'I'EC|ION
DISTRICT PROTECTING STRUCTURES. THE PROPERTY IS S{'I]JECT TO LAND USE LAWS AND
REGUI.ATIONS TTIAT,IN I.'ARM OR I.'OREST ZONES, MAY NOT AUTHOzuZE CONSTRUCTION OR
SI'I'ING OF A RIjSDI]NCI]i AND TIlA'f LTMI'| LAWSUITS AGAINST FARMING OR I'ORtiST PRACTICES.
AS DEF'INED IN ORS 30.930, iN ALL ZONSS. BEFORE SIGNING OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRUMENT,
THE PERSON TRANSFF]RRING PEE TITLE SHOULD INQUIRE ABOUT 'fHF, PERSON'S RIGFITS, I}' ANY,
ttNDEit oRS 195.300, 195.301 AND 195.305',fO 195.336 AND SECTTONS 5 TO 11, CIIAP'j'F]R 424, OI{BGON
LAWS 2007, SECTIONS 2 I'O 9 AND I7, CIIAP'I'ER 855, ORI]GON LAWS 2009, AND SEC'fIONS 2'IA 7,
CIIAPTER 8, ORIGON LAWS 2OIO. BEF-ORE SI(}NIN(i OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRUMENT, TI{E
PEnSON ACjQUIRING FEE'['ITLE'r'O 'flIE PROPF:,R-I.Y SIIOULD CHF.CK WITI{'fHF. APPROPRTATFI

Page 4 of 6 PURCIIASE AND SALB AGREF,MEN'I': 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE,
Page 208 of 216 



CITY OR COUNTY PI,ANNING DEPARTMF]NT'fO VERIT,Y 1'FIA1']'FIF] UNIT OF LAND tsEING
TRANSI,'ERRED tS A LAWFULLY trSTABLISHED LO'f OR PARCEL, AS DEFINED IN O]TS 92.OIO OR
2I5.OIO, TO VERIFY THE APPROVED USES OF T}IE LOT OR PARCEL, TO VERIF'Y TIIE EXISTENCE OF
F'IRE PROTECTIONFOR STRUCTURES ANI) TO INQUIRE ABOUI'TFIF:RIGHTS OFNEIGFItsOITING
PROPERTY OWNERS,II.'ANY, UNDER OITS I95.300, 195.30i AND 195.305 TO 195.336 AND SECTIONS 5
TO I I, CHAPTER 424, OREGON LAWS 2007, SECTIONS 2 TO 9 AND 17, CFIAPTER 855, OREGON LAWS
2009, AND SECTIONS 2TA 7, CHAPTER 8, OREGON LAWS 2OIO,

18. INTENT TO BE BOUND. This Agreemcnt sets forth the essential terms of the
transaction contemplated between the Seller and Purchaser, and ali parties hereto intend to be
bound by this Agreement.

19. - ATTORNEY'S FEES.If either Party incurs attorney fees, costs, or othcr legal cxpenses
to enforce lhe provisions of this Agreement against the other parry, all such fees, costs ancl
expenses shall be recoverable by the prevailing party.

20. DOCUMENT EXECUTION. This Agreement may be executed in identical
countcrparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become
effective when counterparts, have been signed by each parfy ancl delivered to the other party. In
thc event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or by an e-mail which contains
an eleckonic file of an executed signature page, such signature page shali be deemed to
constitute an original inslrument, with the same force and effect as execution and delivery of an
originai and shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing the Agreement.

AGREED AND ACCEPTED BY THE UNDERSIGNED AS OI'TTIE EFFECTIVE DATE:

SELLER:
PORT OF COUNTY

PURCHASER:
AMERICAN JET CENTF]R

By
Denis Oliver

CEO
Avenue

82l0-B, Chino, CA 9t710
Dcn isfdnnrericaqj ctcenter. corrl

By:
Sean P.
Executive Dircctor
PO Box 190
Columbia City, OR 97018
c l4t'k@)co lunr [riacounry. org

Page 5 ol'6 PURCIIASE AND SALE AGREEMEN'I'; 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE,
Page 209 of 216 



Exhibit A

B$grbg

Page 6 of 6 PURCHASIi AND SALE AGREEMENT: 34090 SKYWAY DRIVE Page 210 of 216 



INSTAI,LMENT PROMISSORY NOTE

$3,760,000.00
May 21,2025

For value received, the undersigned American Jet Center ("Borrower"), at 7000 Merrill Avenue, Unit B,
Chino, CA 91710 promises to pay to the order of Port of Columbia ("the Port ), at PO Box 190, 100 E Street,
Columbia City, Oregon 97018 (or at such other place as the Port may designate in writing), the sum of
$3,760,000.00 with no interest except as set forth in section 1.1.

1. TERMS OF REPAYMENT

1.1 Non-Refundable Payments. The unpaid principal shatl be payabte in non-refundable monthly
installments ("Non-Refundable Payments") according to the attached schedule (Exhibit A) beginning in
Iune2025 and continuing until May,2028 (the "Final Due Date"). The Non-Refundable Payments are due
on the l't day of each month (the "Due Date"). On the Final Due Date, the remaining unpaid principal shall
be due in full. Unpaid principal after the Due Date shall accrue interest atarate of t0% annually until paid.
All monthly installrnent payments are non-retirndable when paid by Purchaser to the Port.

1.2 Late Fees. The Borrower promises to pay a late f'ee of l.SYo fbr each Non-Refundable Payment that
remains unpaid more than 5 business days (excluding weekends and holidays) after lts Due Date ("Late
Fees"). Late Fees shall be paid as liquidated damages in lieu of achral damages, and not ur u p"naity.
Payment of Late Fees shall, under no circumstances, be construed to cure any default arising from or
relating to such late payment.

1.3 Port Fees and Expenses. Borower agrees to pay to the Port, immediately upon written notice from the
Porl, all actual costs, expenses, disbursements, and legal fees and expenses incurred by the Port and its
counsel in connection with: (a) the collection, attempted collection, or negotiation and documentation of
any settlement or workout of any payment due hereunder, and (b) any suit or proceeding whatsoever in
regard to this Note or the protection or enforcement of the lien of any instrument securing this Note, if
applicable, including, without limitation, in connection with any litigation, mediation, arbitration,
bankruptcy or administrative proceeding, and including any appellate proceeding or judicial or non-juciicial
foreclosure proceeding in connection therewith. It is the intent of the parties that Bonower pay all eipenses
and attorneys' fees incurred by the Port as a result of the Port's entering into the transaction evidenced by
this Promissory Note.

2. PREPAYMENT. The Borrower reserves the right to prepay this Note (in whole or in part) prior to the Due
Date with no prepayment penalty.

3. COLLECTION COSTS and ATTORI\EY FEES. If any payment obligation under this Note is not pai<t
when due, the Borrower promises to pay all costs of collection, including reasonable attorney fees and ai real
estate commissions paid for by the Port in association with this Note, whether or not a lawsuit is commenced
as pan ofthe collection process.

4. DEFAULT.
4.1 Events of Default. If any of the following events of default occur, this Note and any other

obligations of the Borrower to the Port, shall become due immediately:

IusI;rI IrrrenI Pt'onris.sttr.,y Norc: .,\rrrrrirtrn,lct Ccntcrlli'ager

Page 211 of 216 



A)

B)

c)

D)

E)

F)

G)

the failure of the Bon'ower to pay Non-Refundable Payments when due;

any uncured default on the Ground Lease related to the property located at 34090 Skyway
l)rivc, Scappoose, Oregon 97056;

the filing of banknrptcy proceedings involving the Borrower as a debtor;

the application for the appointment of a receiver for the Borrower;

the making of a general assignment for the beneflt of the Bonower's creditors;

the insolvency of the Borrower; or

a misrepresentation by the Borrower to the Port for the purpose of obtaining or extending
medit.

4.2 Opportunity to Cure. ln the event of any Def'ault by the Borrower, the Port may send a formal
notice of Default, specifuing the breach, the required cure, and the timeline ("Notice of Default"). Whether the
Port allows an opportunity to cure is solely in the Port's discretion. Within the Notice of Default, the Port will
specify a timeframe by which point the Borower must cure the Default ("Cure Period"). During the Cure
Period, the Bonower must take the necessary actions to recti$r the breach. If the lbreach is resolved during the
Cure Period, no further action will be taken or required. If the Bomower f'ails to resolve the bre ach during the
Cure Period, the Port shall notiff the tsorower of the ir intended course of action including eviction and
termination of this agreement including but nol iimited to imposition of damages. ln some cases, a Default
may be considered incurable. Late Fees pursuant to Section 1 still apply at all times.

5. SEVTIRABILITY OF PROVISIONS. If any one or rnore of the provisions of thrs Note are determined to
be unenforceable, in whole or in part, fbr any reasor, lhe remaining provisions shall remain fully operative.

6. MISCELLANEOUS. All paymcnts of principal and any interest on this Note shall be paid in the legal
culTency of the United States. The Borrower waives presentment for payment, protest, and notice of protest
and demand of this Note. No dclay in enforcing any right of the Port under this Note, or assignment by thc Port
of this Note, or t'ailure to accelerate the debt evidenced hereby by reason of default in the payment of a
monthly installment or the acceptance of a past-due installment shall be construed as a waiver of the right of
the Port to thereafter insist upon strict compliance with the terms of this Note without notice being given to
Borrower. All rights of the Port under this Note are cumulative and may be exercised concurrently or
consecutively at the Port's option.

7. GOVERNING LAW. This Note shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State ol'Oregon with
venue in Columbia County Circuit Court, Sf. Helens, Oregon. Nothing contained herein shall prevcnt the Port
from bringing any action or exercising any rights against any security given to the Port by Bonower, or agailsl
any properf of Borrower, within any other state. Commencement of any such action or prcceeding in any
other state or cofiunonwealth shall not constitute a waiver of the agreement as to the laws of the state or
oommonwealth which shall govern the rights and obligations of Borrower and the Port hereunder.

8. WAIVERS. Borower and each present or fulure maker, surety, endorser, and signatory to this Note, in
whatever capacity, waives presentment, demand, protest, notice of dishonor, and all suretyship defenses, and
agrees that ihe Port may exercise its rights under the Note in any order and at any time. Without notice to any
such person (except for any notice to Borrower specified in this Note and without the need to obtain further
consent from any parry), and without in any way diminishing the obligations of any person, The Port may (a)
deal with any such person with reference to this Note by way of fbrbearance, extension, modification,

2lPage lnstallrnent Pronrissor'1,\otc: .{rncricarr Jct Ccntcr

Page 212 of 216 



compromise, or othcrwise; (b) extend, release, surrender, cxchange, compromise, discharge, or modity any
right or obligation
secured by or provided in this Note, or any other document securing this Note; and (c) take any other action
that the holder may deem rcasonably appropriate to protect its interest in the collateral under any security
document.

9. BORROWER NOT RELEASED. No delay or omission of the Port to exercise any of its rights and
remedies under this Note at any time fbllowing the happening of an Event of Default shall constitute a waiver
of the right of the Port to exercise such rights and remedies at a later time by rcason of such Event of Default
or by reason of any subsequently occurring Event of Default. The acceptance by the Port of payment of any
sum payable hereunder after the due date of such payrnent shall not be a waiver of the Po*'J right to either
require prompt payment when due of all other sums payable hereunder or to declare a default frtr failure to
make prompt payment.

10. BANKRUPTCY. Borrower agrees that, notwithstanding ORS 73.0602 and,7'3.0604, any payment under
this Note that is avoided in a later bankruptcy proceeding or otherwise will not be deemed a plyment, and
Boffower's obligations under the Note will be reinstated andlor supplemented to the extent of any payment so
avoided. In that eveni, Borrower will not be disoharged even if this Note has been canceled, ret ounced, ,rr
surrendered.

11. BUSINESS PURPOSE. Bonower represents and warrants to the Port that the in<lebtedness evidenced by
this Note is a business ioan lransacted solely for the purpose of carrying on the business of Borrower and not a
consurner transaction.

12. DISBURSEMENT. Funds representing the proceeds of the indebtedness evid,enced hereby are deemed
advanced and received by Borrower.

13. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. The provisions of this Note shall be binding upon Borrower and its
successors and assigns and shall inure to the benet'it of the Porl and ils successors and assigns. As used herein
the words "successors and assigns" shall also be deerncd to include the heirs, representatives, administrators
and executors of any natural person who is a parfy to this Note.

14. REMEDIES CUMULATrVE. The remedies of the Porl as provided in this Note and the waranties
contained herein or therein shall be cumulative and concurrent, may be pursued singly, successively or
together at the sole discretion of the Port, may be exercised as often as occasion for their exercise shall occur
and in no event shall the failure to exercise any such right or remedy be construed as a waiver or release of
such right or remedy. No remedy under this Note conferred upon or reser.,zed to the Port is intend.ed to be
exclusive of any other remedy provided in this Note or provided by law, but each shall be curnulative and shall
be in addition to every other remedy given under this Note or now or hereatler existing at law or in equity or
by statute.

15. NO ORAL MODIFICATION. This Note may not be modified or discharged orally, but only by an
agreement in writing signed by the Port and Borrower.

16. JOINT AND SEVERAL LIARILITY. ln the event that this Note is madc by more than one Borrower,
the promises and agreements herein sha{l be construed to be and are hereby declared to be the joint and several
promises and agreements of all Borowers and shall constitute the joint and several obligations of each of
Borrowers and shall be fully binding upon and enforceable against each of Borrowers. Neither the death nor
release of any person or parly to this Note shall affect or release the joint and scveral liability of any other
pe$on or party. The Port may at its option enforcc this Note against one or all of Borrowers, and the Port shall

IrtsIiiIIrtrc:rI Itloruissor.y \tiIet: .\rrtcrie:rl ,lct ( cntrr3lPage

Page 213 of 216 



not be required to resofi to enforcement against each of Borrowers and the failure to proceed against or join
any Borrower shall not affect the joint and several liability of any other Borower.

17. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. T}IE PORT BY ITS ACCEPTANCE I]RREOF AND BORROWER
HEREBY VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE ANY AND ALL zuGHTS
TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING UNDER TI.IIS NOTE OR
CONCERNING THE INDEBTEDNESS EVIDENCED HEREBY AND/OR ANY COLLATERAL
SECURING SUCH INDEBTEDNESS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER SUCFI ACTION OR PROCEEDING
CONCERNS ANY CONTRACTUAL OR TORTIOUS OR OTHER CLAIM. BORROWER
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THIS WAIVER OF JI.IRY TRIAL IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO THE
PORT IN EXTENDING CREDIT TO BORROWER, THAT THE PORT WOULD NOT HAVE EXTENDED
SUCI{ CREDIT WITHOUT THIS ruRY TRIAL WAIVER, AND TIIAT tsORROWER HAS BEEN
REPRESENTED BY AN ATTORNEY OR HAS HAD AN OPPORTL'NITY TO CONSUIJ W]TH AN
ATTORNEY IN CONNECTION WITH THTS JURY TRIAL WAIVHR AND UNDERSTANDS THE
LEGAL EFFECT OF THIS WAIVER.

18. ORS 82.150 DISCLOSURE: COMMERCIAL LOAN.
THE LOAN IS NOT A LOAN OF MONEY THAT IS PRIMARILY FOR PERSONAL, FAMILY OR
HOUSEHOLD USE WITIIIN 1TIE MEANING OF ORS 82.I5O.

19. ORS 4I.s80 DISCLOSURE: ORAL AGREEMENTS NoT SNFORCEABLE.
UNDER OREGON LAW, MOST'AGREEMENTS, PROMISES AND COMMITMENTS MADE BY US
CONCERNING LOANS AND OTHER CREDIT EXTENSIONS WHICH ARE NOT FOR PERSONAL,
FAMILY OR HOUSEHOLD PURPOSES OR SECURED SOLELY BY THE GRANTOR'S RESIDENCE
MUST BE IN WRITING, EXPRESS CONSIDERATION AND BE SIGNED BY US TO BE
ENFORCEABLE.

The undcrsigned caused this Installment Promissory Note to be duly executed on the day and year first written
above.

BORROWER

Printed Name: Denis Oliver
Title: President and
Signature:

Irtstallrlcnt Ptonrissrlrv Notc:,\rlcricln .let tientcr4lPagc

Page 214 of 216 



Exhibit A

lrtstallrnenl {'ronrissot'y Notci .4.mrric*n Jet Ccutcr

Month/Year
Non-Refundable Monthly

Purchase Pavments Balance
Jun-25 $ 20,000 $ 3,740.000

Jul-25 $ 20.000 $ 3.720,000

Aug-25 $ 20.000 $ 3,700,000

Sep-25 $ 35,000 $ 3.665.000

Oct-25 $ 35.000 $ 3,630.000
Nov-25 $ 35,000 $ 3.595.000

Dec-25 $ 50.000 $ 3"s4s.000
Ian-26 $ 50,000 $ :,495,000
Feb-26 $ 50,000 $ 3.445.000

Mar-26 $ 70,000 $ 3,375,000
Apr-26 $ 70,000 $ 3.30s.000
Mav-26 $ 70.000 $ 3,235,000
Jun-26 $ 100,000 $ 3.13s.000

5lPage

Page 215 of 216 



Jul-26 $ 100,000 $ 3.03s.000

Aus-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,93s,000

Sep-26 $ 100.000 $ 2.83s.000

Oct-26 $ 100,000 $ 2.73s.ooo

Nov-26 $ 100,000 $ 2,635,000

Dec-26 $ 100.000 $ 2.535.000

Jan-27 $ 100,000 $ 2.43s,000

Feb-27 $ 100,000 $ 2.335.000

Mar-27 $ 140.000 $ 2.195.000

Apt-27 $ 140.000 $ 2.055.000

Mav-27 $ 140,000 $ t.gts.ooo

Iw-27 $ 140,000 $ t,17s,ooo

Iul-27 $ 140,000 $ 1.635.000

Aue-2'l $ 140,000 $ 1.495,000

Seo-27 $ 140,000 $ I,355,000

Oct-27 $ 140.000 $ 1.215.000

Nov-27 $ 140.000 $ 1.07s,000

Dec-27 $ 140,000 $ 935,000

Jan-28 $ 140,000 $ 79s.ooo

Feb-28 $ 140,000 $ 655,000

Mar-28 $ 140.000 $ s 15.000

Apr-28 $ 140,000 $ 375,000

Mav-28 $ 375,000 $

Installment Pronrissory Notc: Arncriclu Je t Ccntcr6ll'age

Page 216 of 216 


	STAFF REPORT  Res 2025-12    SBM Acceptance of OSMB Grant #2425-24 Pavement Maintenance.docx
	Discussion
	Recommendation

	STAFF REPORT  Res 2025-13    Scappoose Airport Western United Contract.docx
	Discussion
	Recommendation

	STAFF REPORT  Res 2025-14    SA East Side Pavement Maintenance - Design SOW.docx
	Discussion

	2025.05.14 Minutes DRAFT.docx
	President Brian Fawcett called the Port of Columbia County Commission Meeting to order at  8:30 a.m. All Commissioners were present.
	Additions To Agenda
	Consent Agenda
	Comments From the Public
	Betsy Johnson asked to reserve her comment for later in the meeting. The Commission agreed.
	New Business
	Executive Director Review Discussion
	The Commission held a discussion on the Executive Director review process. Port General Counsel Bob Salisbury outlined the current policy which states that the Commission President and one other Commissioner conduct the final review. However, historic...
	Old Business
	Marina Update: Marina Study Sub-Committee
	Port Executive Director Sean Clark provided an update on the Scappoose Bay Marine Park (SBMP) following the recent study by BST Associates. At the Marina Advisory Committee on March 4, many ideas were brought up to address marina challenges, including...
	Lignetics/Neighbors Update
	Mr. Clark noted that Lignetics Plant Manager Steve Nelson was unable to attend the meeting, but Mr. Nelson reported that he spoke with Columbia City resident Jan Schollenberger who had experienced some dust issues. Mr. Nelson speculated that the dust ...
	New Business
	Berry Global Rail Agreement
	Port Deputy Executive Director Amy Bynum informed the Commission that the Port recently signed a Rail Agreement with Berry Global outlining their share of future maintenance costs of the Multnomah rail spur. Berry Global utilizes a small portion of th...
	Budget Discussion & Community Giving Program
	Mr. Clark stated that Executive Finance Manager Guy Glenn was available to answer any questions about the budget. Mr. Clark also requested that the Commission decide on an amount to budget for the Community Giving Program. Mr. Salisbury stated that Re...
	Resolution 2025-08
	APPROVING CENTURY WEST SCOPE OF WORK FOR RUNWAY REHABILITATION PHASE III – BIDDING AND CONSTRUCTION SERVICES
	Airport Manager Lacey Tolles presented Resolution 2025-08 for approval to submit a grant application to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) for the Century West scope of work for Runway Rehabilitation Phase III in the amount of $279,614.00. Ms. ...
	Committee member Betsy Johnson provided public comment. Ms. Johnson stated that Airport Use Permits, or TTF agreements, should be negotiable and not based on a one-size-fits-all approach. Ms. Johnson proposed that the Airport Use Permit template be cl...
	Executive Director’s Report
	Commissioner Reports
	THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, THE MEETING ADJOURNED AT 10:43 A.M.

	2025.06.11 Agenda DRAFT.pdf
	June 11, 2025
	8:30 A.M.
	The Port Commission Meeting will be in person. In accordance with state law, the meeting will be accessible via telephone or Zoom. Members of the public may attend the meeting electronically by:
	https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81782074730
	Call-In: (253) 215-8782 Meeting ID: 817 8207 4730 Passcode: 299106
	PUBLIC BUDGET HEARING:  FISCAL YEAR 2026 BUDGET
	I. CALL PUBLIC BUDGET HEARING TO ORDER (President, Brian Fawcett)
	A. Flag Salute
	B. Roll Call
	II. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
	(Limited to 2 min. per person unless prior authorization is obtained)
	THE COMMISSION MEETING WILL BEGIN IMMEDIATELY
	FOLLOWING THE BUDGET HEARING
	II. ADDITIONS TO AGENDA
	IV. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC
	V. NEW BUSINESS
	VI. OLD BUSINESS
	VII. NEW BUSINESS (cont.)
	The Board will hold an Executive Session to deliberate with persons designated to negotiate real property transactions under ORS 192.660 (2)(e) and to consider exempt public records, including written legal advice from Port General Counsel, which is p...
	XI. CONTINUED NEW BUSINESS
	A. Resolution 2025-17      Amy J. Bynum
	XII. ADJOURNMENT

	Approved Budget FY26 (25-26) 06.11.25.pdf
	EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE
	EXECUTIVE FINANCE MANAGER’S MESSAGE
	Vision
	Mission Statement
	Guiding Principles
	Major Assumptions


	STAFF REPORT Res 2025-17 American Jet Center Purcahse and Sale Agreement.docx
	Discussion

	STAFF REPORT Res 2025-18 American Jet Center Lease.pdf
	Discussion
	Recommendation

	IGA with Clatskanie Fire   060225.pdf
	scan0122
	scan0123
	scan0124




